Drug Class Review on Thiazolidinediones

Final Report Update 1

September 2008

The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality has not yet seen or approved this report

Original Report Date: May 2006 A literature scan of this topic is done periodically

The purpose of this report is to make available information regarding the comparative effectiveness and safety profiles of different drugs within pharmaceutical classes. Reports are not usage guidelines, nor should they be read as an endorsement of, or recommendation for, any particular drug, use or approach. Oregon Health & Science University does not recommend or endorse any guideline or recommendation developed by users of these reports.

Susan L Norris, MD, MPH Susan Carson, MPH Sujata Thakurta, MPA:HA Benjamin KS Chan, MS

Oregon Evidence-based Practice Center Oregon Health & Science University Mark Helfand, MD, MPH, Director

Copyright © 2008 by Oregon Health & Science University Portland, Oregon 97239. All rights reserved.



Note: A scan of the medical literature relating to the topic is done periodically (see <u>http://www.ohsu.edu/ohsuedu/research/policycenter/DERP/about/methods.cfm</u> for scanning process description). Prior version of this report can be accessed at the DERP website.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	5
Diabetes	5
Diabetes treatment	6
Prediabetes	6
Metabolic syndrome	7
Thiazolidinediones	8
Other uses of thiazolidinediones	9
Scope and Key Questions	10
METHODS	12
	10
Study Selection	12
Data Abstraction	12
Quality Assessment	13
Data Analysis and Synthesis	
	10
Findings of Prior Systematic Reviews	20
Efficacy and effectiveness	20
Adverse events	
	23
Key Question 1. For persons with type 2 diabetes, do pioglitazone and rosiglitazone differ from	n each
lovels?	
Key Ougstion 2. For notionts with time 2 dispetes de this soliding dispess differ from each other	
Rey Question 2. For patients with type 2 diabetes do thazolidinediones differ from each other	
complications, and mortality from diabetes?	53
Key Question 3 (NOT LIDDATED)	
For patients with prediabetes or metabolic syndrome, do thiazolidipediones differ from one an	other or
from placebo in improving weight control	56
Key Question 4. For patients with prediabetes or the metabolic syndrome, do thiazolidinedion	es differ
from one another or from placebo in delaying the occurrence of clinical diabetes?	57
Updated Key Question 4: For persons with prediabetes or the metabolic syndrome do	
thiazolidinediones differ from one another or from placebo in delaying or preventing the occur	rence of
type 2 diabetes?	
Key Question 5 (NOT UPDATED).	
For patients with prediabetes or metabolic syndrome, is the use of different thiazolidinediones	
associated with reversal or slower progression of cardiac risk factors, including lipid levels, ce	ntral
obesity, or elevated blood pressure?	58
Key Question 6. For persons with type 2 diabetes what are the adverse events related to piog	litazone
and rosiglitazone, and how do these differ from each other, from placebo, and from other oral	
hypoglycemic agents?	63
Key Question 7 (NOT UPDATED)	75
How do thiazolidinediones compare to sulfonylureas in serious hypoglycemic events, function	al status,
and quality of life?	75
Key Question 8. Are there subgroups of persons with type 2 diabetes based on demographic	
characteristics or co-morbidities for which the benefits and adverse effects of pioglitazone or	
rosiglitazone differ form those in general populations, compared to each other and to other	
hypoglycemic agents?	77
CONCLUSIONS	90
REFERENCES	93
	-

TABLES

Table 1. National Cholesterol Education Program's Adult Treatment Panel III definition of the metabolic	
syndrome	7
Table 2. Characteristics of thiazolidinediones approved for use in the United States and Canada	8
Table 3. Inclusion criteria for the original and updated reports	14
Table 4. Head-to-head trials comparing pioglitazone with rosiglitazone in persons with type 2 diabetes	26
Table 5. Pioglitazone placebo-controlled trials: Study and population characteristics	28
Table 6. Meta-analysis results for A1c	31
Table 7. Rosiglitazone placebo-controlled trials: Study and population characteristics	35
Table 8. Indirect comparison of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone for A1c (%)	40
Table 9. Pioglitazone active-control trials: Study and population characteristics	43
Table 10. Pioglitazone active-control studies: Change in A1c	45
Table 11. Rosiglitazone active-controll trials: Study and population characteristics	48
Table 12. Rosiglitazone active-control studies: Change in A1c	50
Table 13. Use of thiazolidinediones in prediabetes and the metabolic syndrome	60
Table 14. Weight gain reported in placebo-controlled trials	69
Table 15. Range of weight gain reported in comparative observational studies	71
Table 16. Observational studies comparing adverse events associated with thiazolidinediones to advers	se
events associated with active controls	72
Table 17. Comparisons of pioglitazone to sulfonylureas for the outcomes of serious hypoglycemic event	ts,
functional status, and quality of life	76
Table 18. Comparisons of rosiglitazone to sulfonylureas for the outcomes of hypoglycemic events,	
functional status, and quality of life	77
Table 19. Studies examining subgroups based on demographic characteristics or comorbidities	82
Table 20. Summary of the evidence by Key Question	90

FIGURES

Figure 1. Literature search results	19
Figure 2. Pioglitazone compared with placebo for A1c (%)	33
Figure 3. Rosiglitazone compared with placebo for A1c (%)	34
Figure 4. Withdrawals due to adverse events in placebo-controlled trials of pioglitazone	65
Figure 5. Withdrawals due to adverse events in placebo-controlled trials of rosiglitazone	65
Figure 6. Incidence of edema in placebo-controlled trials of pioglitazone	66
Figure 7. Incidence of edema in placebo-controlled trials of rosiglitazone	67
Figure 8. Incidence of hypoglycemic episodes in placebo-controlled trials of pioglitazone	68
Figure 9. Incidence of hypoglycemic episodes in placebo-controlled trials of rosiglitazone	68

APPENDIXES

109
113
116
120
132
144
172
176
181

EVIDENCE TABLES

Published in a separate document

Suggested citation for this report:

Norris SL, Carson S. Drug class review: Thiazolidinediones. 2008. http://www.ohsu.edu/drugeffectiveness/reports/final.cfm

Funding:

.

The funding source, the Center for Evidence-based Policy, is supported by 17 organizations, including 15 state Medicaid programs. These organizations selected the topic and had input into the Key Questions for this review. The content and conclusions of the review are entirely determined by the Evidence-based Practice Center researchers. The authors of this report have no financial interest in any company that makes or distributes the products reviewed in this report.

More information on the Drug Effectiveness Review Project is available at http://www.ohsu.edu/drugeffectiveness/

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes

Diabetes mellitus (diabetes) is a group of diseases characterized by high levels of blood glucose resulting from defects in insulin production, insulin action, or both.¹ There are 4 main categories for the etiology of diabetes. Type 1 diabetes accounts for 5% to 10% of all diagnosed cases of diabetes and is the result of a failure of the pancreatic beta cells to produce insulin. The onset of type 1 diabetes is often in childhood or in young adulthood, but can occur in adults as well. Insulin treatment is required to supplement the body's abnormally low or nonexistent endogenous insulin. Gestational diabetes is a form of glucose intolerance that is diagnosed during pregnancy and has important implications for the health of the mother (who has an increased risk of having or developing type 2 diabetes) and of the fetus and newborn. The third category consists of other specific types of diabetes caused by genetic defects in insulin action or beta cell function, diseases of the exocrine pancreas, endocrinopathies, and various other causes of impaired insulin secretion or action.²

The fourth category, type 2 diabetes, accounts for 90% to 95% of all diagnosed cases of diabetes. It is characterized by insulin resistance initially, but over time inadequate pancreatic production of insulin occurs. Type 2 disease is associated with obesity, family history of diabetes, history of gestational diabetes, impaired glucose tolerance or impaired fasting glucose, physical inactivity, and race or ethnicity.¹

The prevalence and incidence of diabetes is increasing both in the United States and worldwide. The prevalence of diabetes in the United States for all ages is estimated at 7.8%, or 23.6 million people. Approximately 5.7 million of those cases are undiagnosed.¹

The prevalence of type 2 diabetes varies among racial and ethnic groups: In non-Hispanic blacks 20 year or older the prevalence is 14.7%; Hispanic/Latino Americans, 9.5%; American Indians and Alaska natives, 14.2%; and non-Hispanic whites, 9.8%.¹ The prevalence of type 2 diabetes is increasing among children and adolescents. True prevalence data are not available as yet; however, the percentage of children with newly-diagnosed diabetes who are classified as having type 2 diabetes has risen from <5% before 1994 to 30% to 50% subsequent to that year.³

Diabetes has a major impact on the health and welfare of affected individuals. Diabetes was the seventh leading cause of death listed on United States death certificates in 2006. This statistic likely underestimates the mortality rates from diabetes, which is often not listed on the death certificate of an affected person.¹ Individuals with diabetes have an overall risk of death about twice that of individuals without diabetes.¹ Heart disease is the leading cause of diabetes-related deaths. Adults with diabetes have a death rate from heart disease that is 2 to 4 times higher than adults without diabetes.¹ The risk for stroke is 2 to 4 times higher among people with diabetes and two-thirds of people with diabetes die of heart disease or stroke. Diabetes is associated with other diseases and cardiovascular risk factors including hypertension.¹

In addition to macrovascular sequelae, diabetes leads to numerous microvascular complications: Diabetes is the leading cause of end-stage renal disease and new cases of blindness among adults age 20-74 years; 60% to 70% of people with diabetes have peripheral neuropathy; more than 60% of nontraumatic lower limb amputations occur among persons with diabetes; periodontal disease is more common; and pregnancy is complicated.¹ The cost of diabetes in America is enormous. It is estimated that the total costs (2007) are \$174 billion, with direct medical costs accounting for \$116 billion. The remainder of costs are indirect, including those attributed to disability, work loss, and premature mortality.¹

Diabetes treatment

Diabetes is a chronic condition that requires continuing medical care and self-management in order to minimize the risk of complications and mortality. The goals of treatment are to (1) achieve optimal glycemic control; (2) reduce other cardiovascular risk factors, including hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and overweight and obesity; and (3) diminish complications such as heart disease, peripheral vascular disease, renal disease, and neuropathy.

Type 2 diabetes may be treated by diet and exercise, often combined with 1 or more oral hypoglycemic agents. Optimal treatment, however, may require the use of insulin with or without oral agents. Among adults with diagnosed diabetes, the current distribution of types of treatment is as follows: 12% use both insulin and oral drugs, 16% use insulin only, 57% use oral agents only, and 15% do not use pharmacotherapy.¹

Prediabetes

Prediabetes refers to the condition of having impaired fasting glucose, impaired glucose tolerance, or both. The term prediabetes was coined as it was recognized that both impaired fasting glucose and impaired glucose tolerance are associated with a significant risk of developing diabetes.⁴ Impaired fasting glucose is diagnosed when the fasting blood glucose level is elevated (100 to 125 mg/dL) after an overnight fast, but the glucose level does not fit criteria for diabetes (\geq 126 mg/dL). Impaired glucose tolerance is defined as blood glucose level of 140-199 mg/dL after a 2-hour oral glucose tolerance test (diabetes is diagnosed if the blood glucose level is \geq 200 mb/dL).²

Prediabetes has a high prevalence: In 1988-1994, 33.8% of US adults aged 40 to 74 years had impaired fasting glucose, 15.4% had impaired glucose tolerance, and 40.1% had prediabetes (impaired fasting glucose, impaired glucose tolerance, or both).¹ The risk increases with age and reaches a peak in people aged 60 to 74 years. The risk also increases with increased body mass index.⁴

Prediabetes may be the most important risk factor for progression to type 2 diabetes. The cumulative 5- to 6-year incidence of developing type 2 diabetes in persons with either impaired glucose tolerance or impaired fasting glucose is 20% to 34%.⁵ The risk of diabetes is even higher among persons with both impaired glucose tolerance and impaired fasting glucose. Impaired glucose tolerance is associated with an increased risk for cardiovascular and all-cause mortality; the association with impaired fasting glucose is not as strong.⁵

Lifestyle changes can prevent or delay the onset of type 2 diabetes among high-risk persons. In the Diabetes Prevention Project (DPP),⁶ a lifestyle intervention decreased by 58% the development of diabetes at follow-up of over 3 years. Similar results were noted in the Diabetes Prevention Study.⁷

Pharmacotherapy, such as metformin, acarbose, and thiazolidinediones, has also been shown to delay the progression of prediabetes to diabetes. In the Diabetes Prevention Project⁶ metformin was particularly effective in persons 25 to 40 years of age and 50 to 80 pounds overweight. In the STOP-NIDDM trial⁸ acarbose decreased the risk of developing diabetes by 25% over 3 years.

In the Troglitazone in Prevention of Diabetes (TRIPOD) study, troglitazone was associated with a decrease in the progression to type 2 diabetes among Hispanic women with impaired glucose tolerance when compared with placebo after approximately 30 months of treatment and 8 months of post-treatment follow-up.⁹

Metabolic syndrome

The metabolic syndrome has been proposed as a compilation of metabolic disturbances that are risk factors for cardiovascular disease. The concept of the metabolic syndrome has existed for at least 80 years and terminology and definitions have evolved.¹⁰ In 1988 Reaven¹¹ noted that several risk factors for cardiovascular disease commonly cluster together. He called this cluster syndrome X; its components are dyslipidemia, hypertension, and hyperglycemia.

Today the term "metabolic syndrome" is most frequently used for the cluster of cardiovascular risk factors that co-occur in individuals more often than might be expected by chance. The abnormalities involved in the metabolic syndrome include glucose intolerance (type 2 diabetes, impared fasting glucose, or impaired glucose tolerance), insulin resistance, central obesity, dyslipidemia, and hypertension. A variety of definitions have been put forward¹⁰ that vary with respect to specific components as well as criteria.

The National Cholesterol Education Program's Adult Treatment Panel III report (ATP III)¹² identified 5 components of the metabolic syndrome (Table 1). The World Health Organization proposed a working definition of the metabolic syndrome in 1999, which differed somewhat from ATP III in that insulin resistance was a required component for diagnosis and a higher blood pressure was required.¹³ The American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists proposed a third set of clinical criteria, which appears to be a hybrid of the APTP III and the World Health Organization criteria.¹⁴ Efforts are underway to achieve a universal definition.¹⁰

The prevalence of the metabolic syndrome varies widely, in part due to differing definitions. Prevalence also varies between sexes and across ethnicities, geographic settings, and age. The prevalence in the United States was reported as 7% among persons 20 to 29 years, 44% among persons 60 to 69 years (data collected 1988-1994),¹⁵ and 4.2% among adolescents.¹⁶

The metabolic syndrome is associated with an increased risk of diabetes and cardiovascular disease.¹⁰ The risk of cardiovascular disease mortality in persons with the metabolic syndrome compared to those without is 2.26 in men and 2.78 in women.¹⁷

The pathogenesis of the metabolic syndrome has not been defined. It appears to be associated with obesity, insulin resistance, deregulation of adipocyte-derived hormones, a proinflammatory state, and other endocrine factors.¹⁸

Management of the metabolic syndrome involves careful appraisal of cardiovascular risk and appropriate management of the underlying risk factors.¹⁰

Table 1. National Cholesterol Education Program's Adult Treatment Panel III definition of the metabolic syndrome¹⁹

Persons having three or more of the following criteria are defined as having the metabolic syndrome:

- Central obesity: waist circumference >102 cm (male), >88 cm (female)

- Hypertriglyceridemia: triglycerides ≥1.7 mmol/L (150 mg/dL)
- Low HDL cholesterol: <1.04 mmol/L (40 mg/dL) (male), <1.29 mmol/L (50 mg/dL) (female)
- Hypertension: blood pressure ≥135/85 mm Hg or taking medications
- Fasting plasma glucose ≥6.1 mmol/L (110 mg/dL)

Thiazolidinediones

There are 2 thiazolidinediones approved for prescription use in the United States, rosiglitazone maleate (AvandiaTM) and pioglitazone hydrochloride (Actos[®]) (Table 2). A third thiazolidinedione (TroglitazoneTM) was removed from the market in 1999 due to adverse hepatic effects.

Both rosiglitazone and pioglitazone are approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration for use in adults for the treatment of type 2 diabetes, either as monotherapy or in combination with insulin, metformin, or sulfonylurea when diet, exercise, and a single agent does not result in adequate glycemic control. Neither drug is currently approved for use in prediabetes or the metabolic syndrome.

The mechanisms of action of thiazolidinediones in lowering plasma glucose among persons with type 2 diabetes are thought to include the following: increase in insulin sensitivity, decrease endogenous glucose production and postprandial gluconeogenesis, increase fasting and postprandial glucose clearance, and have beneficial effects on beta-cell function.²⁰ In addition to hypoglycemic effects, thiazolidinediones may have cardioprotective effects that are independent of glucose lowering and may be due to anti-oxidant, anti-inflammatory, or calcium channel-blocking properties.²¹ Much of the data for these mechanisms are based on animal models.

The glycemic effects of thiazolidinediones are thought to be mediated by binding to the peroxisome proliferators-activated receptor (PPAR) gamma receptors. These receptors are expressed in the liver, heart, adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, and smooth muscle, and endothelial cells of the vasculature of the kidneys and the gut.²²

Drug	Trade name	Labeled indications	Dosage, how supplied	Boxed warnings
Pioglitazone ²³	Actos®	Type 2 diabetes monotherapy or in combination with a sulfonylurea, metformin, or insulin when diet and exercise plus the single agent do not result in adequate glycemic control.	15-30 mg every day, maximum 45 mg every day; supplied as 15,30,45 mg tablets	Thiazolidinediones cause or exacerbate congestive heart failure in some patients. Observe patients carefully for signs and symptoms of heart failure (including excessive, rapid weight gain, dyspnea, and/or edema). If these signs and symptoms develop, the heart failure should be managed according to the current standards of care. Furthermore, discontinuation or dose reduction must be considered.
				Not recommended in patients with symptomatic heart failure. Initiation in patients with established NYHA Class III or IV heart failure is contraindicated. May be used In combination with
				insulin in patients with insufficient glycaemic control on insulin for whom metformin is not tolerated or contraindicated.

 Table 2. Characteristics of thiazolidinediones approved for use in the United

 States and Canada

	Trade	Labeled	Dosage, how	
Drug	name	indications	supplied	Boxed warnings
Rosiglitazone ²⁴	Avandia	Adjunct to diet and exercise to improve glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus.	4 mg every day or divided into twice a day, maximum 8 mg once a day; supplied as 2,4,8, mg tablets	Thiazolidinediones cause or exacerbate congestive heart failure in some patients. Observe patients carefully for signs and symptoms of heart failure (including excessive, rapid weight gain, dyspnea, and/or edema). If these signs and symptoms develop, the heart failure should be managed according to the current standards of care. Furthermore, discontinuation or dose reduction must be considered.
				Not recommended in patients with symptomatic heart failure. Initiation of Avandia™ in patients with established NYHA Class III or IV heart failure is contraindicated.
				A meta-analysis of 42 clinical studies (mean duration 6 months: 14,237 total patients), most of which compared Avandia™ to placebo, showed Avandia™ to be associated with an increased risk of myocardial ischemic events such as angina or myocardial infarction. Three other studies (mean duration 41 months; 14,067 total patients), comparing Avandia™ to some other approved oral antidiabetic agents or placebo, have not confirmed or excluded this risk. In their entirety, the available data on the risk of myocardial ischemia are inconclusive.
				Coadministration of Avandia™ and insulin is not recommended.

Abbreviations: NYHA, New York Heart Association

Other uses of thiazolidinediones

Thiazolidinediones have been studied in several other clinical conditions where insulin resistance is a central part of the pathophysiology. These conditions are not included in this review, although studies show that thiazolidinediones may be useful in these conditions:²⁵ polycystic ovary syndrome,²⁶ nonalcoholic steatohepatitis,²⁷ and HIV-infected patients using antiretroviral therapy. Persons with these conditions are only included in this review if they have been diagnosied with one or more of prediabetes, type 2 diabetes, or the metabolic syndrome.

Scope and Key Questions

The objectives and scope of the updated report were modified from those of the original report. For this update, our objective was to update the recent Comparative Effectiveness Review produced by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, *Comparative Effectiveness and Safety of Oral Diabetes Medications for Adults with Type 2 Diabetes.*²⁸ The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality report compared available oral medications for the treatment of adults with type 2 diabetes for efficacy, effectiveness, and adverse events. Studies that included comparison with insulin were excluded. The key questions for this Drug Effectiveness Review Project updated report were thus modified from the prior Drug Effectiveness Review Project report in order to address both within- and between-class comparisons encompassing rosiglitazone and pioglitazone.

The participating organizations of the Drug Effectiveness Review Project approved the following key questions for this update:

- 1. For persons with type 2 diabetes, do pioglitazone and rosiglitazone differ from each other, from placebo, and from other oral hypoglycemic agents in the ability to reduce and maintain A1c levels?
- 2. For persons with type 2 diabetes, do pioglitazone and rosiglitazone differ from each other, from placebo, and from other oral hypoglycemic agents in their effects on macrovascular and microvascular complications, and mortality from diabetes?
- 3. (**NOT UPDATED**) For patients with prediabetes or the metabolic syndrome, do thiazolidinediones differ from one another or from placebo in improving weight control
 - a. when used as monotherapy?
 - b. when added to metformin?
- 4. For persons with pre-diabetes or the metabolic syndrome, do pioglitazone and rosiglitazone differ from one another or from placebo in delaying or preventing the occurrence of type 2 diabetes?
- 5. (NOT UPDATED) For patients with prediabetes or metabolic syndrome, is the use of different thiazolidinediones associated with reversal or slower progression of cardiac risk factors, including lipid levels, central obesity, or elevated blood pressure?
- 6. For persons with type 2 diabetes what are the adverse events related to pioglitazone and rosiglitazone, and how do these differ from each other, from placebo, and from other oral hypoglycemic agents?
- 7. (**NOT UPDATED**) How do thiazolidinediones compare to sulfonylureas in serious hypoglycemic events, functional status, and quality of life?
- 8. Are there subgroups of persons with type 2 diabetes based on demographic characteristics or co-morbidities for which the benefits and adverse effects of pioglitazone or rosiglitazone

differ from those in general populations, compared to each other and to other hypoglycemic agents?

METHODS

Literature Search

To identify relevant citations for the original report, 2 independent reviewers identified potentially relevant titles and abstracts from the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (3rd quarter 2005), Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, DARE, MEDLINE (1966 to July, week 4, 2005), and EMBASE (3rd quarter 2005). Search terms included drug names and indications. (See Appendix A for complete search strategies.) To identify additional studies, we also searched reference lists of included studies and reviews and we reviewed dossiers submitted by pharmaceutical companies. All citations were imported into an electronic database (EndNote 9.0.0, Thomson Reuters).

For the update the original search terms were used, but titles and abstracts and then fulltext articles were screened to include additional active-control studies that address the updated key questions and new head-to-head and placebo-controlled studies. Updated searches were conducted in November 2007 (Appendix A). Electronic searches were supplemented by hand searches of dossiers received from the makers of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone, and medical and statistical reviews available on the Food and Drug Administration website.

Articles deemed potentially relevant after review of titles and abstracts were retrieved in full-text form. Two independent reviewers achieved consensus on all included and excluded articles. Excluded articles were coded in the EndNote database with the reason for exclusion.

Study Selection

The pharmacotherapeutic agents reviewed were the 2 thiazolidinediones currently available in the United States: pioglitazone hydrochloride (Actos[®]) and rosiglitazone maleate (AvandiaTM). Muraglitazar (PargluvaTM) was not reviewed as it was not available in the United States as of January 1, 2008.

Participants in included studies were adults with type 2 diabetes, prediabetes, or the metabolic syndrome. As noted above, various definitions exist for the metabolic syndrome. Any study examining persons with the metabolic syndrome was included if the authors used 1 of the widely accepted definitions mentioned above (see Table 1).

Included studies examining type 2 diabetes had to present 1 or more of the primary outcomes of interest to this review: glycemic control (A1c), time to initiation of insulin for glycemic control, progression or occurrence of microvascular disease (nephropathy, retinopathy, and neuropathy), progression or occurrence of macrovascular disease (cardiovascular disease, cerebral vascular disease, amputation), other complications of diabetes, mortality, and quality of life.

Included studies examined either effectiveness or efficacy of the 2 included drugs. The purpose of this report was primarily to examine effectiveness; however, since there were very few data available on effectiveness, efficacy studies were included and reviewed in detail.

For efficacy, effectiveness, and safety, published and unpublished English-language reports in any geographic setting were included if they had a total sample size of ten or more participants. We included letters if primary data were presented and there was sufficient detail to evaluate quality. We excluded abstracts and conference proceedings, as these publications generally do not have sufficient detail to assess internal or external validity. Theses were not included as the full text is frequently difficult to retrieve.

Selection criteria for the original report

For the assessment of efficacy and effectiveness in the original report, we included reports of randomized controlled trials and controlled clinical trials. We included trials comparing rosiglitazone and pioglitazone (head-to-head trials), as well as trials comparing either one of these drugs to placebo. We also included trials comparing these drugs to another pharmacotherapeutic agent (active-control trials) only if they examined effectiveness outcomes or population subgroups.

For examination of efficacy and effectiveness among subgroups, we expanded our inclusion criteria to encompass all study designs (that is, observational, before-after, case-control studies, and time series) where data were available. We used this approach because few controlled trials were available that examined subgroups; therefore, we expanded our inclusion criteria in order to examine the best available evidence, recognizing that study designs that do not involve randomization are weaker designs and are more likely to be biased or confounded by known or unknown factors affecting the outcomes of interest.

For the assessment of tolerability and adverse effects, we included observational studies, including case series with a sample size greater than ten, before-after studies, randomized controlled trials, and controlled clinical trials. Clinical trials are often not designed to assess adverse events, may select low-risk patients (in order to minimize drop-out rates), or may have too short a follow-up period in which to adequately assess safety. Observational studies designed to assess adverse event rates may include broader populations, carry out observations over a longer time period, use higher quality methodological techniques for assessing adverse events, or examine larger sample sizes.

Safety and tolerability were examined using data provided on overall and serious adverse events, withdrawals due to adverse effects, and other relevant specific adverse events including hypoglycemia, liver toxicity, heart failure, pulmonary edema, weight gain, and edema.

Selection criteria for the updated report

For the updated report we expanded our inclusion criteria with respect to study designs for effectiveness outcomes in order to be consistent with criteria used in the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality report. Most notably, we expanded our examination of active-control comparisons, which was previously restricted by sample size, follow-up interval, or outcomes. These criteria are listed in Table 3, where they are contrasted with those of the prior report and of the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality report.

Criteria domain	Onininal DEDD non-ort	Undeted DEDD seasont	
and key question	Original DERP report	Updated DERP report	AHRQ report
Population	Type 2 diabetes: adults ≥ 18 years	Type 2 diabetes: adults ≥ 18 years	Type 2 diabetes: adults ≥ 18 years
	Prediabetes: adults ≥ 18 years	Prediabetes: adults ≥ 18 years	
	Metabolic syndrome as defined by ATPIII criteria: adults ≥ 18 years	Metabolic syndrome as defined by ATPIII criteria: adults ≥ 18 years	
Interventions			
	Rosiglitazone, pioglitazone	Rosiglitazone, pioglitazone	Oral hypoglycemic drugs
			Drugs not on US market if members of their class were in use (voglibose, gliclazide, glibenclamide)
			Combination of 2 included oral agents
			Excluded: 1 st -generation SU, insulin, troglitazone
Comparisons			
Within class	Rosiglitazone compared with pioglitazone	Rosiglitazone compared with pioglitazone	Rosiglitazone compared with pioglitazone
	Rosiglitazone or pioglitazone compared with placebo	Rosiglitazone or pioglitazone compared with placebo	Rosiglitazone or pioglitazone compared with placebo
Between classes	Rosiglitazone or pioglitazone compared with other active hypoglycemic drug when study examined effectiveness outcomes or or population subgroups	Rosiglitazone or pioglitazone compared with other oral hypoglycemic agents Excluded: insulin and 1 st - generation SU	Rosiglitazone or pioglitazone compared with other oral hypoglycemic agents Exclude: insulin and 1 st - generation SU
Study designs			
General features	Excluded: non-English studies, letters, editorials, abstracts, and theses	Excluded: non-English studies, letters, editorials, abstracts, and theses	Study duration and size: ≥3 months, ≥ 40 subjects Excluded: non-English studies, letters, editorials, abstracts, and theses
Efficacy	RCTs or CCTs	RCTs or SRs	RCTs
Effectiveness	RCTs or CCTs	RCTs, CCTs, cohort with comparison group or SRs	RCTs, CCTs or cohort studies with or without a comparison group Excluded: case reports or case series
Adverse events	RCTs, CCTs, cohort studies with or without a comparison group, case- control studies, case series (N>10), or SRs	RCTs, CCTs, cohort studies with or without a comparison group, case- control studies, and SRs Excluded: case reports	RCTs, CCTs, cohort studies with or without a comparison group, or case- control studies Excluded: case reports and

Table 3. Inclusion criteria for the original and updated reports

Criteria domain and key question	Original DERP report	Updated DERP report	AHRQ report
<u> </u>	Excluded: case reports	· ·	case series
Population subgroups	As above for efficacy, effectiveness, or adverse events	As above for efficacy, effectiveness, or adverse events	As above for efficacy, effectiveness, or adverse events
Outcomes			
Efficacy	A1c	A1c	A1c, postprandial glucose, blood pressure, and lipids
Effectiveness	For prediabetes: incidence of type 2 diabetes For type 2 diabetes: durability of control, progression or occurrence of micro- or macrovascular disease, mortality, and QoL	For prediabetes: Incidence of type 2 diabetes For type 2 diabetes: durability of control, progression or occurrence of micro- or macrovascular disease, mortality, and QoL	CVD events, death, stroke, nephropathy, neuropathy, PVD, amputations, QoL, and functional status
Adverse events	Hypoglycemia, liver failure, heart failure, lactic acidosis, anemia, liver function, edema, gastrointestinal effects, weight, macular edema, fractures, and others	Hypoglycemia, liver failure, heart failure, lactic acidosis, anemia, liver function, edema, gastrointestinal effects, weight, macular edema, fractures, and others	Hypoglycemia, liver failure, heart failure, lactic acidosis, anemia, liver function, edema, gastrointestinal effects, and others

Abbreviations: A1c, hemoglobin A1c; AHRQ, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; ATP III, Adult Treatment Panel III of the National Cholesterol Education Program; CCTs, controlled clinical trials; CVD, cardiovascular disease; DERP, Drug Effectiveness Review Project; N, sample size; PVD, peripheral vascular disease; QoL, quality of life; RCTs, randomized controlled trials; SRs, good-quality systematic reviews; SU, sulfonylureas.

Data Abstraction

The following data were abstracted from included trials into a relational database developed for this review: study design; setting; population characteristics (including sex, age, race/ethnicity, diagnosis, duration of type 2 diabetes, A1c, weight, and body mass index); eligibility and exclusion criteria; drug dosage and frequency; treatment duration; comparison group care; numbers screened, eligible, enrolled, and lost to follow-up; and results for each prespecified outcome. Similar data were abstracted for studies that were not controlled trials and which examined adverse events.

We recorded results achieved with an intention-to-treat analytic approach, when reported. If only per protocol results were reported, we specified the nature of these results and reported them. In trials with crossover, outcomes for the first intervention were recorded if available. This was because of the potential for bias due to differential withdrawal prior to crossover, the possibility of a "carryover effect" (from the first treatment) in studies without a washout period, and a "rebound" effect from withdrawal of the first intervention.

Quality Assessment

We assessed the internal validity (quality) of controlled clinical trials using the predefined criteria listed in the quality assessment tool found in Appendix C. These criteria are based on those used by the US Preventive Services Task Force²⁹ and the National Health Service Centre for Reviews and Dissemination.³⁰ For each included trial we assessed methods for the following charateristics: randomization; allocation concealment; blinding of participants, investigators, and assessors of outcomes; the similarity of comparison groups at baseline; adequate reporting of attrition, crossover, adherence, and contamination; post-allocation exclusions; and use of intention-to-treat analysis.

We based assessment of observational and other study designs with adverse event data on unbiased selection of patients, loss to follow-up, unbiased and accurate ascertainment of events, and control for potential confounders (Appendix C).

These criteria were then used to categorize studies as good-, fair-, and poor-quality studies. Studies that had a significant flaw in design or implementation such that the results were potentially not valid were categorized as "poor". Studies that met all quality criteria were rated good quality. The remainder were rated fair. As the "fair quality" category is broad, studies with this rating vary in their strengths and weaknesses.

Studies were not excluded on the basis of poor quality as there is a lack of empirical evidence for a relationship between criteria thought to measure validity and actual study outcomes.³¹ Studies rated as poor-quality were carefully examined and the potential sources of bias and its potential impact are presented in the evidence tables. If data were sufficient, a sensitivity analysis was performed to compare results between studies with high and low risk of bias.

External validity of studies was assessed by examining the following: adequacy of population description; inclusion and exclusion criteria; and whether the treatment received by the comparison group was reasonably representative of standard practice.

Systematic reviews that fulfilled inclusion criteria were rated for quality using predefined criteria (see Appendix C) to ensure the following: clear statement of the questions and inclusion criteria; adequate search strategy; adequate assessment of individual trials; adequate provision of information; and appropriate methods of synthesis.

Data Analysis and Synthesis

Important descriptive information about the population, setting, intervention, and quality assessment of studies are presented in tables, and synthesis is presented in narrative. When there were sufficient data on the primary outcome of A1c and studies were considered to be homogeneous with respect to important variables (population characteristics, drug dosage, follow-up interval, and the application of any co-intervention), we performed a meta-analysis. We also performed a meta-analysis of two key outcomes related to adverse events: the total number of withdrawals and the withdrawals related to adverse events.

We recorded the mean difference between baseline and follow-up measures for control and intervention groups and the standard error of each difference. If the standard error of the difference for each group was not given, it was estimated from the standard error of the groups at baseline, assuming a correlation between baseline and follow-up of 0.75. If data were presented only in graphs, point estimates were determined from published graphs. Pooled effects of the randomized controlled trials were determined with each study weighted by the inverse of the study variance, using a random effects model with the DerSimonian and Laird formula for calculating between-study variance.³² The R statistical environment and Review Manager (RevMan) was used for the meta-analysis.

An adjusted indirect comparison was performed for the outcome of A1c by combining the results of the meta-analysis comparing pioglitazone to placebo with the results of the meta-analysis comparing rosiglitazone with placebo. The variance of the estimate of effect was estimated as the sum of the variances of the 2 meta-analyses being pooled.³³

Heterogeneity between trial results was tested for using a standard chi-squared test using a significance level of alpha=0.1, in view of the low power of such tests.³¹ We also examined inconsistency among studies with I², which describes the percentage of the variability in effect estimates that is due to heterogeneity rather than sampling error (that is, chance).³⁴ A value >50% may be considered substantial heterogeneity. If heterogeneity was found, we attempted to determine potential sources by examining individual study characteristics. If heterogeneity was too great to meaningfully pool the results in a quantitative manner, the results are presented in narrative.

In the original report (and not in the update), meta-regression was performed to determine whether the study-level characteristics duration of intervention and study sponsorship (industry or private) affected between-group change in A1c in placebo-controlled trials. For studies using a combination of a thiazolidinedione and another hypoglycemic agent, we examined the effects of insulin, metformin, and sulfonylurea on A1c. For the meta-regression we used STATA (version 9, StataCorp LP, College Station, Texas).

RESULTS

In the original report our searches identified 87 randomized controlled trials examining the efficacy or effectiveness of pioglitazone or rosiglitazone and 42 studies examining the safety and tolerability of these drugs.

For the updated report we added 3 head-to-head trials of pioglitazone compared with rosiglitazone in patients with type 2 diabetes, 12 placebo-controlled trials in type 2 diabetes, 22 active-control trials in type 2 diabetes, and 2 placebo-controlled trials in patients with prediabetes or the metabolic syndrome. We also identified 11 new systematic reviews, 14 comparative observational studies, and 20 non-comparative observational studies with information about adverse events. The study flow diagram is provided in Figure 1 and studies excluded after review of the full text are listed in Appendix D.

Figure 1. Literature search results



Abbreviations: AC, active-control, PC, placebo-controlled.

Numbers in parentheses () represent number of publications.

Shaded numbers in parenthesis () represent studies pertaining to update 1.

^aWrong publication type (letter, editorial, non-systematic review, case report, case series <10 patients).

Findings of Prior Systematic Reviews

Efficacy and effectiveness

Original report

Ten reviews reporting comprehensive searches were identified (Evidence Tables 1 and 2). Six of the reviews were rated poor quality, as they lacked 1 or more of the following: explicit inclusion criteria, specification of the search strategy, quality assessment of individual studies, or sufficient detail on the individual studies.^{35, 36 37-40} Details of the 4 fair- to good-quality systematic reviews are provided in Evidence Table 1.

In a 2001 publication, Chilcott and colleagues⁴¹ examined pioglitazone exclusively and noted that there were no studies at that time directly comparing pioglitazone to other antidiabetic drugs. Compared to placebo, pioglitazone decreased triglyceride concentrations (30-70 mg/dL), increased HDL (4-5 mg/dL), produced no significant differences in LDL and total cholesterol (with a paucity of data), and was associated with a dose-related increase in weight (up to 4 kg over 16 weeks). These reviewers also noted mild edema (incidence up to 11.7%) and a clinically nonsignificant decrease in hemoglobin concentration.

Three systematic reviews examined both pioglitazone and rosiglitazone.⁴²⁻⁴⁴ Boucher and colleagues⁴² compared the 2 thiazolidinediones to other antidiabetic drugs; they did not directly compare pioglitazone and rosiglitazone. They concluded that as monotherapy these 2 drugs have effects on A1c similar to the other antidiabetic drugs, and when added to one of those drugs significantly improved A1c compared with the original treatment regimen. Both drugs were well tolerated, with a few cases of heart failure and severe hypoglycemia noted with combined therapies. No liver toxicity was observed.

Chiquette and coauthors⁴³ reviewed placebo-controlled trials of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone and noted the need for head-to-head studies. They concluded that both drugs decreased A1c and increased weight to a similar degree. Pioglitazone lowered triglyceride levels (P<0.05), increased HDL concentrations (P<0.05), and had no significant effect on LDL or total cholesterol levels. Rosiglitazone increased HDL, LDL, and total cholesterol (all P<0.05) and had no significant effect on triglycerides. Baseline lipid levels were not adjusted for in these analyses, making it difficult to draw conclusions about the comparative effect of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone on lipid concentrations.

In a systematic review for the Health Technology Assessment Programme of the National Health Service,⁴⁴ Czoski-Murray and colleagues also noted that both pioglitazone and rosiglitazone produced similar improvements in A1c (approximately 1.0%). They did not identify any randomized controlled trials comparing the 2 drugs and noted that there were no peer-reviewed data on long-term effects.

Updated report

For the updated report we identified 11 recent systematic reviews (Appendix E).^{28, 45-54} In these reviews both pioglitazone and rosiglitazone reduced A1c by approximately 1.0 absolute percentage point, similar to the change produced with other oral agents, including metformin, glibenclamide, and glimepiride.^{28, 45, 48, 50, 55} This reduction was also similar to the changes noted in placebo-controlled trials in this report.

These recent reviews did not provide additional direct head-to-head data for A1c change for pioglitazone and rosiglitazone. In placebo-controlled trials, Phatak and Yin⁴⁸ noted a

weighted mean change in A1c from baseline of -1.03% (standard deviation 0.19) for pioglitazone and -0.98% (standard deviation 0.18) for rosiglitazone. Head-to-head studies were not examined and indirect comparisons were not performed. In the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality report,²⁸ Bolen and colleagues examined 4 head-to-head studies comparing pioglitazone with rosiglitazone and did not find a significant difference for A1c between these 2 drugs.

Adverse events

A number of systematic reviews examined adverse effects in both the original^{36, 39, 42-44} and updated reports (See Appendix F). Four of the reviews in this update focused exclusively on adverse effects;^{45, 47, 53, 54} 5 other systematic reviews examined data on adverse effects as well as on efficacy and effectiveness outcomes.^{28, 46, 50-52}

Mortality

Few reviews examined mortality (total or cardiovascular).^{28, 46, 52, 53} Eurich and colleagues⁴⁶ examined the use of various antidiabetic agents in patients with heart failure and diabetes and identified 3409 thiazolidinedione-treated subjects. Pooled odds ratios for thiazolidinediones compared with other hypoglycemic agents for all-cause mortality was 0.83 (95% CI 0.71 to 0.97, P=0.02) when 4 studies of varying designs (three were observational studies) were pooled (I² = 52%, P=0.10). Pioglitazone and rosiglitazone were combined in the studies contributing to these pooled effects. These authors note that the finding of lower all-cause mortality with thiazolidinediones should be interpreted with caution, as 3 of the 4 studies contributing to this estimate were observational in design, and subjects receiving these drugs may have been at lower risk for heart failure due to the commonly perceived risk of using them among persons with higher risk of cardiovascular events and congestive heart failure.

In contrast to Eurich and colleagues,⁴⁶ Singh, Loke, and Furberg⁵³ found no difference in all-cause mortality when they examined only rosiglitazone. In 4 trials, the relative risk for all-cause mortality was 0.99 (95%, 0.80 to 1.23; P=0.92). Cardiovascular mortality rates were similar to all-cause rates (RR 0.90 [95% CI 0.63 to 1.26], P=0.53).

The Singh, Loke, and Furberg⁵³ review differed from that of Eurich and colleagues⁴⁶ as the former review included subjects with either type 2 diabetes or prediabetes, included randomized controlled trials only, and was not restricted to subjects with heart failure. Both of the reviews included active drug and placebo comparisons, and only the randomized controlled trial by Dargie⁵⁶ was included in both the reviews.

In a systematic review of thiazolidinedione use in subjects who underwent coronary stent implantation, at 6-month follow-up mortality rate was 2/259, a death in each the control and rosiglitazone arms.⁵² Bolen and colleagues²⁸ did not identify sufficient studies examining mortality to permit calculation of a pooled estimate.

Cardiovascular morbidity

Only 3 reviews examined the effects of thiazolidinediones on cardiovascular events; 2 focused on rosiglitazone^{50, 53} and the third on both thiazolidinediones.²⁸ Richter and colleagues only identified data from ADOPT⁵⁷ (discussed below). Singh, Loke, and Furburg⁵³ identified 3 randomized controlled trials in type 2 diabetes,⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸ all of which were included in this update. Pooled estimates were obtained for these 3 randomized controlled trials and the DREAM trial of persons with prediabetes.⁵⁹ These studies compared various drugs at a variety of follow-up intervals, although statistical tests for heterogeneity were not significant by usual criteria. The

relative risk for myocardial infarction of rosiglitazone compared with other drugs was 1.42 (95% CI 1.06 to 1.91); as noted above, the relative risk for cardiovascular mortality was not increased.

Bolen²⁸ stratified studies by the drug used for comparison and did not obtain pooled estimates because of clinical and methodological diversity. Three randomized controlled trials comparing thiazolidinediones and metformin and 2 randomized controlled trials comparing thiazolidinediones and sulfonylureas reported similar rates of nonfatal myocardial infarction or coronary heart disease between the thiazolidinedione and the comparison drug. Five short-duration, placebo-controlled studies also found similar rates of cardiovascular disease events and the PROACTIVE placebo-controlled trial also demonstrated no significant difference.⁶⁰ Three randomized controlled trials examining restenosis rates noted fewer cardiovascular disease events with thiazolidinediones than with placebo in patients at high risk.

Congestive heart failure

In a review of persons with diabetes or prediabetes using rosiglitazone,⁵³ the relative risk of heart failure for rosiglitazone compared with various other antidiabetic drugs was 2.09 (1.52 - 2.88), corresponding to a number needed to harm of 383 per year if baseline risk was 0.24% per year (low risk, from the ADOPT trial).⁵⁷

Singh and colleagues⁵⁴ also examined onset of congestive heart failure in both pioglitazone and rosiglitazone compared with placebo in 3 randomized controlled trials with subjects with either type 2 diabetes or prediabetes. The odds ratio for all heart failure adverse events was 2.10 (95% CI 1.08 to 4.08). Four observational studies produced an odds ratio1.55 (95% CI 1.33 to 1.80). These authors also examined case reports, including 162 case subjects with 99 analyzable cases. Among these cases, the median time to onset of congestive heart failure was 24 weeks, although failure could occur early and did not appear to relate to dosage. Heart failure was not limited to the elderly; 26% of cases were in subjects less than 60 years of age.

Hospital admission for heart failure was elevated with thiazolidinediones compared with other treatments (pooled odds ratio 1.13 [95% CI 1.04 to 1.22], P=0.004; 4 studies, including 3 of observational design).⁴⁶

In a Cochrane review of placebo-controlled trials of rosiglitazone,⁵⁰ the authors identified data only from the ADOPT trial.⁵⁷

In a review of oral hypoglycemic agents, Bolen and colleagues²⁸ noted that the risk for congestive heart failure was higher with thiazolidinediones as either monotherapy or combination therapy than with metformin or sulfonylureas, with a range of 0.8% to 3.6% for thiazolidinediones and 0 to 2.6% for nonthiazolidinediones.

In a systematic review of thiazolidinediones use in diabetes and prediabetes,⁴⁷ Lago, Singh, and Nesto noted an increased risk of congestive heart failure compared with controls (placebo-controlled and active-control trials): relative risk 1.72 (95% CI 1.21 to 2.42). For placebo-controlled trials only, the relative risk was 1.97 (95% CI 0.94 - 4.13). When examined separately, the relative risk for pioglitazone was 1.32 (95% CI 1.04 to 1.68); for rosiglitazone the relative risk was 2.18 (95% CI 1.44 to 3.32). The overall event rate for congestive heart failure with thiazolidinediones was 2.3% and with the comparison drugs 1.4%. The number needed to harm for congestive heart failure was 107 over the 29.7-month follow-up (Number needed to harm ranged across studies from 35 to 491). Although the risk of heart failure was increased, the risk of cardiovascular death was not significant: relative risk 0.93 (95% CI 0.67 to 1.29); placebo-controlled trials only: relative risk 1.08 (95% CI 0.66 to 1.76); pioglitazone only: relative risk 1.01 (95% CI 0.51 to 2.09); rosiglitazone only: relative risk 0.91 (95% CI 0.63 to 1.3).

Edema

Bolen and colleagues²⁸ noted that the risk for edema was higher with thiazolidinediones than metformin or second generation sulfonylureas. Although few cases were considered serious, withdrawals secondary to edema were common. Both pioglitazone and rosiglitazone were associated with higher rates of edema than placebo; the between-group difference (in favor of placebo) was 0% to 3.4% for pioglitazone and 2.5% to 17% for rosiglitazone.

In a Cochrane review of pioglitazone,⁵¹ the authors pooled data on all available randomized controlled trials regardless of comparisons and noted a relative risk of edema of 2.86 (95% CI 1.14 to 3.18). Richter and colleagues did a similar review of rosiglitazone⁵⁰ and noted an odds ration for edema of 4.62 (95% CI 2.28 - 9.38).

Berlie and colleagues⁴⁵ examined the risk of edema in a systematic review and the odds ratio for pioglitazone and rosiglitazone combined (from comparisons with various drugs) was 2.26 (95% CI 2.02 to 2.53, P<0.00001). These authors attempted to compare the rates with rosiglitazone and pioglitazone and found the rates higher with rosiglitazone (odds ratio 3.75 [95% CI 2.70 to 5.20]) compared with pioglitazone (odds ratio 2.42 [95% CI 1.90 to 3.08]).

Hypoglycemia

Hypoglycemia was fairly uncommon with both thiazolidinediones. The combination of insulin and a thiazolidinedione increased rates of hypoglycemia.^{28, 51, 61} Hypoglycemia rates with thiazolidinediones were lower than rates with sulfonylureas.^{28, 50, 51} Thiazolidinediones cause less hypoglycemia than second generation sulfonylureas, with risk differences ranging between 0.3 and 0.25 (overall risk difference 0.09, 95% CI 0.03 to 0.25). Rates with metformin were similar to those with thiazolidinediones (obtained from indirect comparisons).²⁸

Elevated serum aminotransferase levels

Bolen and colleagues²⁸ found that rates of significant increases in serum aminotransferase levels (> 1.5 to 2 times normal) were low (<1%) and were similar to rates with metformin and second generation sulfonylureas. Other systematic reviews reached similar conclusions.^{36, 41, 42}

Weight change

Thiazolidinediones caused similar weight gain compared with sulfonylureas either as mono- or combined therapy. Metformin consistently caused weight loss compared with thiazolidinediones and other oral agents.²⁸ These authors identified 2 head-to-head randomized controlled trials and noted similar increases in weight with pioglitazone and rosiglitazone.

Other reviews

In addition to the systematic reviews identified for the updated report, we identified 2 reviews (Appendix G) that were not systematic and therefore did not fulfil our inclusion criteria.^{62, 63}

Nissen and Wolski⁶³ examined the cardiovascular morbidity and mortality associated with rosiglitazone in a meta-analysis of 42 trials which included data from the Food and Drug Administration Web site, a clinical trials registry maintained by GlaxoSmithKline, and a search of the published literature. This paper was not a systematic review and therefore did not fulfil inclusion criteria for this report. Evidence of a comprehensive literature search and data synthesis

was not provided in the publication. Two large trials (DREAM and ADOPT) were the only included trials from the published literature. These authors noted an odds ratio for myocardial infarction of 1.43 (95% CI 1.03 to 1.98) and for death from cardiovascular causes of 1.64 (95% CI 0.98 to 2.74).

Lincoff and colleagues⁶² examined the effect of pioglitazone on ischemic cardiovascular disease complications in diabetes using a database of individual patient data from Takeda Pharmaceuticals, the manufacturers of pioglitazone. The primary composite endpoint (death, nonfatal myocardial infarction, and nonfatal stroke) was decreased with pioglitazone as mono- or combination therapy with a variety of antidiabetic drugs (hazard ratio 0.82 [95% CI 0.72 to 0.94; P=0.005]). For placebo-controlled trials the hazard ratio was 0.09 (95% CI 0.01 to 0.84). The risk of serious heart failure was increased with pioglitazone (hazard ratio 1.41 [95% CI 1.14 to 1.76; P=0.002]).

One additional review by Padwal and colleagues⁶⁴ examined various drugs in the prevention of diabetes and included several studies on troglitazone, but none on pioglitazone or rosiglitazone.

Key Question 1. For persons with type 2 diabetes, do pioglitazone and rosiglitazone differ from each other, from placebo, and from other oral hypoglycemic agents in the ability to reduce and maintain A1c levels?

Summary of the Evidence

Pioglitazone compared to rosiglitazone:

- Prior systematic reviews found both drugs appear to have similar effects on A1c, producing a decrease of approximately 1%, similar to the change produced with other oral agents (including metformin, glibenclamide, or glimepiride).
- 5 head-to-head studies demonstrated no significant difference between pioglitazone and rosiglitazone on A1c.
- Indirect comparison demonstrated no difference between pioglitazone and rosiglitazone (difference: -0.13% (95% CI -0.41, 0.33)].
- Effect of both pioglitazone and rosiglitazone appears to be similar when used in either monotherapy or combination therapy.

Thiazolidinediones compared to other oral hypoglycemic agents:

- In a prior systematic review, there were no between-group differences between thiazolidinediones and metformin (7 randomized controlled trials) or second- generation sulfonylureas (13 randomized controlled trials).
- Thiazolidinedione plus metformin compared with a second-generation sulfonylurea plus metformin (2 randomized controlled trials) did not show a consistent effect favoring 1 of the combinations, nor did 2 randomized controlled trials comparing thiazolidinediones with repaglinide.
- One trial comparing pioglitazone to acarbose favored pioglitazone for A1c reduction.

Detailed Assessment

Head-to-head trials

Three fair-quality, head-to-head, randomized controlled trials (in 4 publications) were identified examining persons with type 2 diabetes (Table 4 and Evidence Table 3).⁶⁵⁻⁶⁸ Quality assessment of all trials is shown in Evidence Table 4. Two randomized, controlled, double-blind trials demonstrated significant improvements in A1c at follow-up^{65 67} with no significant differences between groups. In an open-label trial, Kahn and colleagues⁶⁸ noted no significant change in A1c in either group when the study drugs were used after troglitazone was discontinued with a 2-week wash-out period.

In the updated search, we identified 2 additional head-to-head trials.^{69, 70} We also identified a new companion paper⁷¹ to a trial included in the original report.^{65, 66} The companion paper did not provide any additional relevant information or outcomes; rather it focused on lipoprotein (a) and homocysteine concentrations.

Derosa and colleagues published a new study comparing pioglitazone and rosiglitazone, both combined with metformin 1500-3000 mg daily.^{70, 72-74} A1c decreased in both groups (pioglitazone -1.4%, rosiglitazone -1.3%; within-group P<0.01 for both treatment groups), with no significant difference between groups.

The second head-to-head study identified for the updated report was a small, poorquality, cross-over study (N=17) comparing rosiglitazone and pioglitazone among persons with type 2 diabetes, and no significant difference between groups was noted for A1c (P=0.43) at 12week follow-up.⁶⁹

Study Sample size	Dosages	Combination therapy	Follow-up; Other characteristics	A1c (%) baseline; Change from baseline (mean, SD)	Quality; Funder
Chappuis ⁷¹ 2007 N=17	Pio 30-45 mg daily Rosi 4-8 mg daily	Monotherapy	12 wk for each cross-over period, 8-wk wash-out period	Pio: 7.6 (0.6); -0.3 (0.6) Rosi: 7.6 (0.6); -0.5 (0.6); <i>P</i> =0.43	Poor; Swiss Diabetes Foundation
Derosa 2004 ⁶⁵ , 2005 ⁶⁶ Derosa 2006 ⁷¹ N=87	Pio 15 mg daily Rosi 4 mg daily	Both groups glimepiride 4 mg daily	12 mo follow-up; participants had metabolic syndromePio: 8.2 (0.7); -1.4 (NR) Rosi: 8.0 (0.8); -1.3 (NR) Within groups P<0.01; NSD between groups		Fair; NR
Derosa 2006 ⁷⁰ Derosa 2006 ⁷² Derosa 2007 ⁷³ Derosa 2007 ⁷⁴ N=103	Pio 15 mg daily Rosi 4 mg daily	Both groups metformin 1500- 3000 mg daily	12 mo follow-up; participants had metabolic syndrome	Pio: 8.2 (0.8); - 1.4 (NR) Rosi: 8.1 (0.9); - 1.3 (NR) Within-group <i>P</i> <0.01 both groups Between-group <i>P</i> value NR	Fair; NR
Goldberg 2005 ⁶⁷ N=735	Pio 30-45 mg daily Rosi 4mg daily or twice a day	Monotherapy	24 wk Participants had untreated dyslipidemia	Pio: 7.6 (1.2); -0.7 (1.9) Rosi: 7.5 (1.2); -0.6 (1.9) Between-group <i>P</i> =0.129	Fair; Eli Lilly and Takeda Pharmaceuticals, North America
Kahn 2002 ⁶⁸ N=127	Pio 15- 45mg daily Rosi 2 mg daily to 4 mg twice a day	Monotherapy; troglitazone withdrawn	16 wk Open-label	Pio: 8.0 (1.7); NR Rosi: 7.9 (1.9); NR NSD at follow-up in either group	Fair; NR

Table 4. Head-to-head trials comparing pioglitazone with rosiglitazone in persons with type 2 diabetes

Abbreviations: wk, weeks; mo, months; NR, not reported; NSD, no significant difference; pio, pioglitazone; rosi, rosiglitazone.

In view of the paucity of data allowing direct comparisons between pioglitazone and rosiglitazone for the outcome of A1c, we proceeded with an examination of placebo-controlled trials allowing indirect comparisons.

Placebo-controlled trials of pioglitazone

In the original report, we identified 16 trials comparing pioglitazone to placebo in at least 1 study arm (Table 5 and Evidence table 5). All but 1 of these trials had sufficient data to permit a metaanalysis (Figure 2); a study by Saad and colleagues⁷⁶ did not provide a measure of dispersion.

The mean difference between groups for all good- and fair-quality studies comparing pioglitazone with placebo ranged from -3.0% to -0.5% and the pooled weighted mean difference was -1.06% (95% CI -1.27% to -0.84%) (Table 6). In other words, overall, pioglitazone improved A1c about 1.0% compared with placebo. Heterogeneity among these studies was

significant (P < 0.00001). Poor-quality studies produced a similar improvement in A1c compared with placebo (Table 6).

Results were somewhat more pronounced when pioglitazone monotherapy was compared with placebo than when combined therapy (the addition of pioglitazone to another hypoglycemic drug) was compared with placebo added to the other hypoglycemic drug, although the differences between monotherapy and combined therapy were not significant (Table 6).

The study with the most pronounced net decrease in A1c⁷⁷ was a small study (N=58) where the change in the 45 mg daily group was -1.8% and the placebo group 1.2% (although the table and narrative present inconsistent data). In other words, the placebo group had a large increase in A1c, contributing to the large between-group difference. No co-interventions were reported that might have contributed to the marked effect noted in the treatment group. Two studies did not find a significant change in A1c compared with placebo.^{60, 78}

Dormandy and colleagues,⁶⁰ in PROspective PioglitAzone Clinical Trial in macroVascular Events (PROACTIVE), examined 5238 patients with a mean follow-up of 34.5 months, the largest sample size and the longest follow-up of any study examined. At baseline subjects were taking multiple hypoglycemic medications (including more than 30% taking insulin) which were continued during the study. Throughout the trial, investigators were required to increase all therapy to an optimum, with particular attention to reaching an A1c level below 6.5% in both groups. These researchers noted a decrease in A1c of 0.8% and 0.3% in the intervention and placebo groups, respectively; thus the between-group change was modest. In addition, despite the large sample size, confidence intervals were wide for within-group changes. These factors, in addition to the focus on optimal glycemic control in both groups, contributed to a nonsignificant (P>0.05) between-group difference in change in A1c. The participants in this study were fairly well controlled at baseline (mean A1c 7.8% in the pioglitazone group and 7.9% in the placebo group) on multiple medications (only 4% of both study groups were on diet-only therapy); baseline A1c was 7.8 % and 7.9% in the pioglitazone and placebo groups, respectively. These factors likely also contributed to the relatively small between-group change. The study by Takagi⁷⁸ was small and the control group also improved.

Since the time of the original publication of PROACTIVE⁶⁰ additional subgroup analyses have been published, including for subjects with prior myocardial infarction⁷⁹ or stroke⁸⁰ (see subgroup section on comorbidities, below).

In the updated review we identified 4 new placebo-controlled trials, two of combination therapy^{83, 84} and 2 of monotherapy,^{85, 86} along with a no-treatment comparison⁸⁷ study. A1c improved more than in the control group in 1 small, monotherapy study of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis in persons with either type 2 diabetes or impaired glucose tolerance.⁸⁵ In the pioglitazone plus sulfonylurea arm of a study by Gastaldelli and colleagues,⁸³ A1c improved more in the treatment arm (change -2.0%) than in the placebo arm (change +0.9%; between-group *P*<0.001). A1c did not decrease significantly compared with control in 3 small studies.^{84, 86, 87}

Study	Pioglitazone dosage Combination therapy	Sample size intervention group	Sample size placebo group	Follow- up	^a Mean age (SD) Gender Other population characteristics	^a Baseline mean Weight (SD) BMI (SD) A1c (SD)	Quality Funder
Aronoff 2000 ⁸¹	7.5, 15, 30, 45 mg daily Monotherapy	320	79	26 wk	53.7 (NR) yr 42% female (data for all groups combined)	90.4 (13.1) kg NR 10.4% (2.0%)	Poor Takeda
Belfort 2006 ⁸²	45 mg daily Both groups: 500 kcal/d deficit diet	26	21	26 wk	51 (10) yr 55% female Participants had IGT or DM2 and NASH	90.2 (15.4) kg 32.9 (4.4) kg/m ² 6.2% (1.1%)	Fair National Center for Research Resources, Takeda, VA Medical Research Fund
Dormandy 2005 ⁶⁰ , Charbonnel 2005 ⁸³ PROActive Study	Titrated up to 45 mg daily Combined with various hypoglycemic agents	2605	2633	156 wk (mean 34.5 mo)	61.6 (7.8) yr 34% female All subject had evidence of macrovascular disease	NR 31.0 (4.8) kg/m ² 7.9% (NR)	Good Takeda and Eli Lilly and Company
Gastadelli 2007 ⁸⁴	45 mg daily Combined with various SU Study had another arm with randomization to rosiglitazone or placebo	10	10	16 wk	55 (13) yr 30% female	NR 29.9 (4.4) kg/m ² 8.3% (1.3%)	Poor Takeda, GlaxoSmithKline, NIH, Veterans Administration Merit Award
Herz 2003 ⁸⁵	30, 45 mg daily Monotherapy	99	99	16 wk	58.0 (10.7) yr 51% female All subjects had controlled DM2 on diet only	86.3 (17.4) kg 31.7 (4.5) kg/m ² 7.5% (NR)	Fair Eli Lilly
Kipnes 2001 ⁸⁶	15, 30 mg daily Added to SU	184+189	187	16 wk	56.8 (8.9) yr 42% female	NR 32.0 (4.9) kg/m ² 9.9% (1.4%)	Fair Takeda

Table 5. Pioglitazone placebo-controlled trials: Study and population characteristics

Study	Pioglitazone dosage Combination therapy	Sample size intervention group	Sample size placebo group	Follow- up	^a Mean age (SD) Gender Other population characteristics	^a Baseline mean Weight (SD) BMI (SD) A1c (SD)	Quality Funder
Mattoo 2005 ⁸⁷	30 mg daily Combined with insulin	142	147	26 wk	58.8 (7.4) yr 57% female All subjects were using insulin for ≥3m	NR 32.5 (4.8) kg/m ² 8.9% (1.3%)	Fair Eli Lilly and Takeda
McMahon 2005 ⁸⁸	45 mg daily Combined with insulin	8	8	12 wk	52.5 (NR) yr 11% female Using insulin	NR 32.3 (4.1) kg/m ² 7.7% (0.6%)	Poor Takeda, American Heart Association, NHLBI
Miyazaki 2002 ⁷⁷	7.5, 15 mg daily Monotherapy	47	11	26 wk	58.0 (9.9) yr 73% female	90 (13.3) kg 32.8 (5.3) kg/m ² 8.6% (1.7%)	Fair Takeda
Miyazaki 2001 ⁸⁹ 2004 ⁹⁰ Gastaldelli 2006 ⁹¹	45 mg daily Added to SU	12	11	16 wk	55 (13.3) yr 45% female Generally healthy	82 (16.6) kg 30 (3.3) kg/m ² 8.2% (1.0%) Data from 2004 (2001 baseline data slightly different)	Poor Takeda (in part) Gastaldelli 2006 funded by and NIH grant and a Veterans Administration Merit Award
Negro 2004 ⁹²	45 mg daily Added to metformin	20	20	8 wk	61.9 (6.0) yr NR	NR 26.7 (2.4) kg/m ² 7.7% (0.6%)	Poor NR
NIshio 2006 ⁹³	30 mg daily starting 2w after stent placement Monotherapy Control group no treatment	26	28	26 wk	67.5 (10.3) yr 28% female All subjets had acute coronary syndrome and received coronary stenting	NR 24.6 (3.5) kg/m ² 6.9% (1.6%)	Poor NR
Rosenblatt 2001 ⁹⁴	30 mg daily Monotherapy	101	96	16 wk	55.2 (10.0) yr 44% female	87.2 kg (18.4) 30.7 (5.0) kg/m ² 10.4% (1.7%)	Fair Takeda
Rosenstock 2002 ⁹⁵	15, 30 mg daily Monotherapy	379	187	16 wk	56.7 (9.4) yr 55% female All subjects were using insulin	95.4 (17) kg 33.2 (5.2) kg/m ² 9.8% (0.1%)	Fair Takeda

Study	Pioglitazone dosage Combination therapy	Sample size intervention group	Sample size placebo group	Follow- up	^a Mean age (SD) Gender Other population characteristics	^a Baseline mean Weight (SD) BMI (SD) A1c (SD)	Quality Funder
Saad 2004 ⁷⁶	45 mg daily Monotherapy	147	30	12 wk	54 (NR) yr 40% female	NR 31 (NR) kg/m ² 8.1% (NR)	Fair Funding NR; 1 author affiliation Novo-Nordisk Pharmaceuticals, Princeton, NJ
Scherbaum 2002 ⁹⁶	15, 30 mg daily Monotherapy	76+83	76	26 wk	59.1 (NR) yr 44% female	84.8 (NR) kg 29.2 (NR) kg/m ² 8.8% (1.1%)	Poor Takeda, Europe
Smith 2004 ⁹⁷ Bogacka 2004 ⁹⁸	45 mg daily Monotherapy	21	21	24 wk	53.1 (9.3) yr 53% female	91.5 (14.9) kg 31.9 (5.0) kg/m ² 6.5% (0.7%)	Poor Takeda USA
Sourij 2006	30 mg daily Monotherapy	21	21	12 wk	60.3 (7.5) yr 7.1% female All subjects had newly-detected DM2 with CAD	NR 28.2 (4.1) kg/m ² 6.1% (0.5%)	Poor Takeda Austria
Takagi T 2003 ⁷⁸	30 mg daily Combined with various treatments	23	21	26 wk	65 (9) yr 50% female Known CAD	NR 24.5 (NR) kg (2.9) (NR) kg/m ² 6.7% (1.2%)	Poor NR
Tseng C-H 2005 ⁹⁹	30 mg daily Combined with SU	23	25	12 wk	54.1 (14.9) yr 65% female All subjects were using SU	62.6 (13.3) kg NR NR	Fair-poor NR
Wallace 2004 ¹⁰⁰	45 mg daily Monotherapy	19	11	12 wk	62.6 (10) yr 27% female All subject were diet-controlled DM2	85.2 (4.3) kg 28.9 (2.8) kg/m ² 6.7% (0.9%)	Fair Takeda UK
Summary	7.5 to 45 mg daily	10 to 2605	10 to 2633	8 to 156 wk	51.0-67.5 yr 7.1-73% female	62.6 to 90.4 kg 24.5 to 33.2 kg/m ²	Good: 1 Fair: 10 Poor: 10

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; CAD, coronary artery disease; DM2, type 2 diabetes mellitus; IGT, impaired glucose tolerance; mo, month; NASH, nonalcoholic steatohepatitis; NR, not reported; SD, standard deviation; SU, sulfonylurea; wk, week(s); yr, year(s). ^a Baseline mean values are given for the control group. Standard deviation is given in parentheses (). If standard error was provided in the original study, we

converted standard error to standard deviation.

	Number of studies	Total N 11,148	Weighted mean difference in A1c (95% CI) ^ª	Test for heterogeneity (<i>P</i> value)
Pioglitazone				
Good/fair-quality studies	9	6787	-0.95 (-1.24 to -0.67)	<0.0001
All studies	19	7324	-0.90 (-1.16 to -0.65)	<0.0001
Monotherapy	10	929	-0.92 (-1.33 to -0.51)	<0.0001
Combined therapy	9	6395	-0.90 (-1.26 to -0.55)	<0.0001
Rosiglitazone				
Good/fair-quality studies	23	3417	-0.92 (-1.15 to -0.68)	<0.0001
All studies	27	3824	-0.95 (-1.17 to -0.73)	<0.0001
Monotherapy	11	1196	-0.82 (-1.30 to -0.34)	<0.0001
Combined therapy	16	2628	-1.02 (-1.20 to -0.85)	<0.0028

Table 6. Meta-analysis results for A1c

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; N, sample size.

^a A1c given as %. Net change is the difference in A1c between the end of the study period and baseline.

Placebo-controlled trials of rosiglitazone

In the original report, twenty-five trials compared the efficacy or effectiveness of rosiglitazone to placebo (Table 7 and Evidence Table 6). Four rosiglitazone studies did not provide adequate information for inclusion in the meta-analysis: Honisett et al.¹⁰¹ did not provide a measure of dispersion; the units for A1c in a paper by Raskin and colleagues¹⁰² were difficult to interpret; Wang et al.¹⁰³ provided graphical data only; and Nolan and colleagues¹⁰⁴ provided a measure of fasting glucose but not A1c.

Mean differences are presented in Table 6. Results are similar to those noted for pioglitazone, with a mean change in A1c for all fair-quality studies of -0.94 (95% CI -1.26 to - 0.63). Again, heterogeneity was significant among studies and there were no significant differences between monotherapy and combined therapy.

Adjusted indirect comparisons of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone revealed no significant differences between the 2 drugs for A1c (Table 8).

Using meta-regression, we examined placebo-controlled trials of either pioglitazone or rosiglitazone and found no significant relationships between change in A1c and follow-up interval or funder (industry or other). When studies using combination therapy (either thiazolidinedione combined with insulin, sulfonylurea, or metformin) were examined, there were no significant differences among the various treatment combinations for change in A1c.

In the updated review of placebo-controlled trials of rosiglitazone, we identified 8 new studies,^{56, 84, 105-110} including 3 poor-quality studies.^{84, 107, 108} All but 1 study⁸⁴ were combination therapy studies.

Dargie and colleagues⁵⁶ examined 224 persons with type 2 diabetes and with New York Heart Association congestive heart failure class I and II and with left ventricular ejection fraction $(LVEF) \le 45\%$. Subjects took various other oral hypologycemic agents (excluding metformin).

After 1-year follow-up, A1c was significantly lower in the rosiglitazone group (adjusted mean difference -0.65% (95% CI -0.94 to -0.37).

Lautamaki and colleagues¹⁰⁶ noted a decrease in A1c compared to placebo in a study of combination therapy in patients with coronary artery disease (P<0.0001 compared with placebo).

In a study of older adults with type 2 diabetes, Rosenstock and colleagues¹¹⁰ noted significant improvement in A1c with rosiglitazone plus glipizide 10 mg twice daily compared with glipizide alone titrated to maximal dosage; at 2-year follow-up between-group change in A1c was -0.79% (P<0.0001). Attrition rates were high in both groups (35% overall), primarily due to lack of efficacy in the placebo group and to adverse events in the rosiglitazone group. However, intention-to-treat analyses were performed with 99% of the study population included. Deterioration in glycemic control, defined as the time at which the fasting plasma glucose rose to $\geq 10 \text{ mmol/L}$, occurred in 28.7% of the titrated sulfonylurea group and 2.0% of the rosiglitazone group (P<0.0001).

Pfutzner and colleagues¹¹¹ noted a decrease in A1c with the addition of glimiperide 4 mg daily (1.2%) or 8 mg daily (1.3%) to rosiglitazone over 4 months, compared with glimepiride plus placebo (0%) (within-group comparisons for both rosiglitzone groups P<0.005). In a combination therapy, double-blind trial (N=365), both groups received combination tablets of glyburide/metformin. Addition of rosiglitazone achieved greater reduction in A1c than addition of placebo (between-group difference -1.0%, P<0.001). The percentage of subjects with A1c <7.0% at study end was greater in the rosiglitazone group than with placebo (42% compared with 14%).¹⁰⁵

In addition, 3 poor-quality studies were identified.^{84, 107, 108} A small (N=16) trial demonstrated a decrease in A1c compared with placebo (P=0.024).¹⁰⁸ In the rosiglitazone monotherapy arm of the study⁸⁴ A1c increased 0.6% compared with a decrease of 1.4% (between-group P<0.001). In the third trial, A1c decreased 1.1% with rosiglitazone and increased 0.2% with placebo, both groups receiving metformin.¹⁰⁷

Figure 2. Pioglitazone compared with placebo for A1c (%)

Review:	TZD
Comparison:	01 Pioglitazone versus placebo
Outcome:	01 HbA1c, change from baseline

Study or sub-category	N	Pioglitazone Mean (SD)	N	Placebo Mean (SD)	WMD (random) 95% Cl	WMD (random) 95% Cl
01 Monotherapy						
Aronoff	76	-0.90(1.56)	79	0.70(1.51)		-1.60 [-2.08, -1.12]
Belfort	26	-0.70(0.95)	21	-0.10(1.30)		-0.60 [-1.27, 0.07]
Herz	96	-0.90(2.59)	96	-0.20(0.86)		-0.70 [-1.25, -0.15]
Miyazaki B	11	-1.80(1.32)	11	1.20(1.65)	←	-3.00 [-4.25, -1.75]
Nishio	26	-1.70(3.71)	28	-0.40(2.25)		-1.30 [-2.95, 0.35]
Rosenblatt	100	-0.60(1.70)	93	0.76(1.63)		-1.36 [-1.83, -0.89]
Scherbaum	76	-1.05(1.25)	76	-0.34(0.98)	-	-0.71 [-1.07, -0.35]
Smith	21	-0.96(1.11)	21	-0.11(0.79)		-0.85 [-1.43, -0.27]
Sourij	21	0.00(0.61)	21	-0.20(0.58)		0.20 [-0.16, 0.56]
Wallace	19	-0.30(0.43)	11	0.30(0.33)	-	-0.60 [-0.87, -0.33]
Subtotal (95% CI)	472		457		◆	-0.92 [-1.33, -0.51]
Test for heterogeneity: Chi	² = 59.26, df = 9 (P<0.00001), I ² = 84.8%			-	
Test for overall effect: Z =	4.41 (<i>P</i> <0.0001)					
02 Combined therapy						
Dormandy	2605	-0.80(19.40)	2633	-0.30(19.50)		-0.50 [-1.55, 0.55]
Gastaldelli (pio)	10	-2.00(1.94)	10	0.90(0.87)	←=──	-2.90 [-4.22, -1.58]
Kipnes	182	-1.20(1.37)	181	0.10(1.02)	+	-1.30 [-1.55, -1.05]
Mattoo	142	-0.69(1.07)	147	-0.13(1.81)	-	-0.56 [-0.90, -0.22]
McMahon	8	-0.68(0.45)	8	0.17(0.80)		-0.85 [-1.49, -0.21]
Miyazaki C	12	-1.70(1.03)	11	0.00(0.66)		-1.70 [-2.40, -1.00]
Negro A	20	-0.50(0.29)	20	-0.10(0.46)	+	-0.40 [-0.64, -0.16]
Rosenstock A	185	-1.26(1.08)	177	-0.26(1.06)	+	-1.00 [-1.22, -0.78]
Takagi	23	-0.30(0.68)	21	-0.20(0.89)		-0.10 [-0.57, 0.37]
Subtotal (95% CI)	3187		3208		◆	-0.90 [-1.26, -0.55]
Test for heterogeneity: Chi Test for overall effect: Z =	² = 55.91, df = 8 (4.98 (<i>P</i> <0.00001)	<i>P</i> <0.00001), l ² = 85.7%				
Total (95% CI) Test for heterogeneity: Chi Test for overall effect: Z =	3659 ² = 116.96, df = 1 6.87 (<i>P</i> <0.00001)	8 (<i>P</i> <0.00001), l ² = 84.69	3665 %		•	-0.90 [-1.16, -0.65]
-					-4 -2 0 2	4
					Favors pioglitazone Favors place	bo

Figure 3. Rosiglitazone compared with placebo for A1c (%)

Review:	TZD
Comparison:	02 Rosiglitazone versus placebo
Outcome:	01 HbA1c, change from baseline

Study		Rosiglitazone	Placebo		WMD (random)	WMD (random)
or sub-category	IN	Mean (SD)	IN	wearr (SD)	95% CI	95% CI
01 Monotherapy						
Hallisten	14	-0.30(0.52)	14	-0.20(0.35)		-0.10 [-0.43, 0.23]
lozzo	9	-0.36(0.47)	10	0.01(0.01)		-0.37 [-0.68, -0.06]
Kim	60	-1.20(2.68)	60	-0.10(0.39)		-1.10 [-1.79, -0.41]
Leibovitz	169	-0.60(1.96)	158	0.90(2.83)		-1.50 [-2.03, -0.97]
Miyazaki A	15	-1.30(1.16)	14	0.50(1.12)		-1.80 [-2.63, -0.97]
Natali	24	0.09(0.21)	22	1.30(1.27)		-1.21 [-1.75, -0.67]
Patel	79	-0.10(1.16)	74	0.30(1.12)		-0.40 [-0.76, -0.04]
Phillips	187	-0.70(0.97)	173	1.20(1.32)	+	-1.90 [-2.14, -1.66]
Tan	24	-0.50(0.69)	24	-0.10(0.69)		-0.40 [-0.79, -0.01]
van Wijk	19	0.00(2.04)	19	0.10(2.47)		-0.10 [-1.54, 1.34]
Virtanen	14	-0.30(0.52)	14	-0.20(0.35)		-0.10 [-0.43, 0.23]
Subtotal (95% CI)	614		582		◆	-0.82 [-1.30, -0.34]
Test for heterogeneity: Ch Test for overall effect: Z =	ni² = 147.34, df 3.34 (<i>P</i> =0.000	= 10 (<i>P</i> <0.00001), l² = 9 8)	3.2%			
02 Combined therapy						
Agarawal	255	-0.60(1.60)	259	0.50(1.61)		-1.10 [-1.38, -0.82]
Barnett	84	-1.16(3.12)	87	0.26(0.71)		-1.42 [-2.10, -0.74]
Dargie	108	-0.50(0.74)	110	0.20(0.77)	+	-0.70 [-0.90, -0.50]
Fonseca	110	-0.78(2.42)	113	0.45(1.42)		-1.23 [-1.75, -0.71]
Gastaldelli (rosi)	12	-1.40(1.56)	12	0.60(0.94)		-2.00 [-3.03, -0.97]
Gomez-Perez	36	-1.20(1.96)	34	0.30(1.54)		-1.50 [-2.32, -0.68]
Jones	21	-0.30(1.30)	21	0.30(1.30)		-0.60 [-1.39, 0.19]
Lautamaki	27	-0.40(0.56)	27	0.20(0.51)	-#	-0.60 [-0.89, -0.31]
Negro B	19	-1.10(2.28)	19	0.20(0.41)		-1.30 [-2.34, -0.26]
Pfutzner	41	-1.30(2.34)	30	0.00(0.78)		-1.30 [-2.07, -0.53]
Raskin	103	-1.20(1.10)	103	0.10(1.00)		-1.30 [-1.59, -1.01]
Reynolds	8	-1.10(1.13)	10	-1.30(1.58)		0.20 [-1.05, 1.45]
Rosenstock B	115	-0.65(1.73)	110	0.13(1.03)	-*-	-0.78 [-1.15, -0.41]
Wolffenbuttel	183	-0.90(3.06)	192	0.20(1.50)		-1.10 [-1.59, -0.61]
Yang	30	-0.70(1.00)	34	0.40(1.30)		-1.10 [-1.66, -0.54]
Zhu	210	-1.49(1.48)	105	-0.40(1.31)		-1.09 [-1.41, -0.77]
Subtotal (95% CI)	1362		1266		•	-1.02 [-1.20, -0.85]
Test for heterogeneity: Ch Test for overall effect: Z =	ni² = 34.58, df = 11.43 (<i>P</i> < 0.00	15 (<i>P</i> =0.003), I ² = 56.6 0001)	%			
Total (95% CI)	1976		1848		•	-0.95 [-1.17, -0.73]
Test for heterogeneity: Ch Test for overall effect: Z =	ni² = 184.80, df 8.43 (<i>P</i> <0.000	= 26 (<i>P</i> < 0.00001), l ² = 2 01)	85.9%			
					-4 -2 0 2	4

Favors rosiglitazone Favors placebo

Table 7. Rosiglitazone placebo-controlled trials: Study and population characteristics

Study	Rosiglitazone dosage Combination therapy	Sample size intervent ion group(s)	Sample size placebo group	Follow -up	^a Mean age (SD) Gender Other population characteristics	^a Baseline mean weight (SD) BMI (SD) A1c (SD)	Quality Funder
Agrawal 2003 ¹¹²	4 mg daily, 2 mg twice daily Combined with Various SU	260	263	26 wk	61.6 (NR) yr 38% female Normal renal function (see subgroups for renal-impaired)	NR 30.7 (NR) kg/m ² 9.2% (NR)	Fair (based on secondary data) Funder NR
Barnett 2003 ¹¹³	4 mg twice daily combined with various SU	84	87	26 wk	54.2 (NR) yr 22% female Participants Indian 60% Pakistani 27%	NR 26.4 (NR) kg/m ² 9.1% (NR)	Fair SmithKline Beecham Pharmaceutic als
Dailey 2004 ¹⁰⁵	4-8 mg daily Both groups: glyburide/metfo rmin 1.5/500 to 10/2000 mg daily	181	184	24 wk	57 (10) yr 39% female Inadequately controlled on an oral agent	93 (18) kg 32 (5) kg/m ² 8.1% (0.8%)	Fair Bristol-Myers Squibb Research Institute, Princeton New Jersey
Dargie 2007 ⁵⁶	4-8 mg daily Combined with various other hypoglycemic agents (not insulin or metformin)	110	114	52 wk	63.9 (8.6) yr 20.9 % female NYHA functional class I to II CHF with LVEF \leq 45%	84.3 (14.3) kg 28.6 (3.5) kg/m ² 7.8% (1.3%)	Fair GlaxoSmithKli ne
Fonseca 2000 ¹¹⁴	4,8 mg daily Combined with metformin	226	113	26 wk	58 (NR) yr 32 % female	NR 30.3 (4.4) kg/m ² 8.6% (1.3%)	Fair SmithKline Beecham Pharmaceutic als
Gastaldelli 2007 ⁸⁴	8 mg daily Monotherapy (SU withdrawn) Study has another arm with randomization to pioglitazone or placebo	12	12	16 wk	55(10) yr 50 % female	NR 29.8 (4.2) kg/m ² 8.1% (1.9%)	Poor Takeda Pharmaceutic als, GlaxoSmithKli ne, NIH, Veterans Administration Merit Award
Gomez- Perez 2002 ¹¹⁵	2 mg twice daily, 4 mg twice daily Combined with metformin	71	34	26 wk	53.1 (NR) yr 74 % female	NR 28.5 (3.9) kg/m ² 9.8% (NR)	Fair Funder NR; 3 authors (including corresponding author) from GlaxoSmithKli ne
Study	Rosiglitazone dosage Combination therapy	Sample size intervent ion group(s)	Sample size placebo group	Follow -up	^a Mean age (SD) Gender Other population characteristics	^a Baseline mean weight (SD) BMI (SD) A1c (SD)	Quality Funder
---------------------------------------	---	--	------------------------------------	---------------	---	---	---
Hallsten 2002 ¹¹⁶	4 mg twice daily Monotherapy	14	14	26 wk	58.0 (NR) yr 32 % female Without complications	88.3 (9.4) kg NR 6.3% (0.4%)	Fair Academy of Finland, Novo Nordisk Foundation, Finnish Diabetes Research Society, and GlaxoSmithKli ne
Honisett 2003 ¹⁰¹	4 mg daily Monotherapy	21	10	12 wk	NR 100 % female Postmenopaus al women	NR NR 7.6% (3.2%) (Rosi group)	Poor Funder NR
lozzo 2003 ¹¹⁷	8 mg daily Monotherapy	9	10	26 wk	58 (NR) yr 33 % female No prior pharmacothera py for DM2	NR 31.5 (4.7) kg/m ² 6.1% (0.7%)	Fair GlaxoSmithKli ne
Jones 2003 ¹¹⁸	4,8 mg daily Combined with metformin	80+44	93	26 wk	59.9 (NR) yr 32 % female BMI 25-30 (obese presented in subgroups)	NR 27.7 (1.4) kg/m ² 8.8% (1.4%)	Fair Funder NR; 3 of 4 authors from GlaxoSmithKli ne
Kim 2005 ¹¹⁹	4 mg daily Monotherapy	60	60	12 wk	58.4 (9.1) yr 65% female Taking metformin or SU	62.3 (11.0) kg 24.5 (3.0) kg/m ² 9.3% (1.3%)	Fair National R&D program, Ministry of Science Technology, Republic of Korea
Lautamaki 2005 ¹⁰⁶	4,8 mg daily Combined with metformin or SU	27	27	16 wk	63.2 (7.4) yr 30 % female Known coronary artery disease	89.1 (14.3) kg 26.9 (3.4) kg/m ² 7.1% (0.9%)	Fair Academy of Finland, Turku University Hospital, GlaxoSmithKli ne
Lebovitz HE 2001 ¹²⁰	4,8 mg daily Monotherapy	169+166	158	26 wk	60 (NR) yr 34% female	NR 29.9 (4.1) kg/m ² 9.0% (1.7%)	Poor Funder NR; 5 of 6 authors from SmithKline Beecham Pharmaceutic als
Miyazaki 2001 ¹²¹	8 mg daily Monotherapy	15	14	12 wk	56 (2) yr 36 % female	87.0 (18.7) kg 30.1 (3.7) kg/m ² 8.3% (1.5%)	Fair SmithKline Beecham

Study	Rosiglitazone dosage Combination therapy	Sample size intervent ion group(s)	Sample size placebo group	Follow -up	^a Mean age (SD) Gender Other population characteristics	^a Baseline mean weight (SD) BMI (SD) A1c (SD)	Quality Funder
Natali 2004 ¹²²	8 mg daily Monotherapy	22	24	8 wk	58 (9) yr 18% female	NR 30.2 (3.1) kg/m ² 7.6% (0.8%)	Fair GlaxoSmithKli ne
Negro 2005 ¹⁰⁷	4 mg twice daily Metformin up to 2550 mg daily	19	19	52 wk	59 (8) yr 37% female Blood pressure non dippers	83.6 (4.4) kg 28.7 (1.9) kg/m ² 8.1% (0.5%)	Poor GlaxoSmithKli ne
Osman 2004 ¹⁰⁸	4-8 mg daily Combined with other oral agents or insulin continued	8	8	26 wk	57.3 (NR) yr 38% female Referred for coronary stenting	NR NR 8.7% (1.9%)	Poor Funded in part by NIH
Nolan 2000 ¹⁰⁴	4,8,12, mg daily Monotherapy	276	93	8 wk	62.8 (9.5) yr 39% female	81.3 (14.5) kg 29.6 (4.4) kg/m ² NR	Fair Funder NR; 3 of 4 authors from SmithKline Beecham Pharmaceutic als
Patel 1999 ¹²³	0.05, 0.25, 1.0, 2.0 mg twice daily Monotherapy	74+72+7 9 +90	74	12 wk	56.8 (11.5) yr 31% female	NR 29.1 (4.2) kg/m ² 8.9% (1.5%)	Fair Funder NR; authors from SmithKline Beecham and VA
Phillips 2001 ¹²⁴	2 mg twice daily, 4 mg daily, 4 mg twice daily, 8 mg daily Monotherapy	735	173	26 wk	56.8 (9.2) yr 31% female	NR 29.1 (4.2) kg/m ² 8.9% (1.5%)	Fair Funder NR, author affiliations include SmithKline Beecham Pharmaceutic als, USA
Pfutzner 2006 ¹¹¹ Hammann 2003	4, 8 mg daily Combined with glimepiride 3 mg daily	31+41	31	16 wk	63.7 (9.0) yr 50% female	NR 30.0 (3.4) kg/m ² 7.7% (1.4%)	Fair GlaxoSmithKli ne, Munich, Germany

Study	Rosiglitazone dosage Combination	Sample size intervent ion group(s)	Sample size placebo	Follow	^a Mean age (SD) Gender Other population characteristics	^a Baseline mean weight (SD) BMI (SD) A1c (SD)	Quality
Raskin 2000 ¹⁰²	2,3,6 mg, twice daily	215	69	-up 8 wk	60.1 (9.4) yr 40.6 % female	NR 30.4 (4.2) kg/m ² 0.087% (0.0163%) (reference range <0.065)	Fair Funder NR; 5 of 6 authors from SmithKline Beecham Pharmaceutic als
Raskin 200 ¹²⁵	2, 4 mg twice daily Combined with insulin	103+106	104	26 wk	55.6 (10.3) yr 44 % female	NR 32.7 (4.5) kg/m ² 8.9% (1.1%)	Good Funder NR Individual authors have received support from SmithKline Beecham
Reynolds 2002 ¹²⁶	4 mg daily Combined with insulin	11	10	24 wk	NR NR BMI>27	108.0 (29) kg 36.3 (2.5) kg/m ² 9.8% (1.6%)	Poor Health management Resources and GlaxoSmithKli ne
Rosenstoc k 2006 ¹¹⁰ RESULT Study	4 mg daily Combined with glipizide 10 mg twice daily	116	111	104 wk	68.2 (6.3) yr 28.2% female	NR 30.5 (4.9) kg/m ² 7.7% (1.0%)	Fair-poor NR; data analysis and some coauthors from GlaxoSmithKli ne
Tan 2005(a) ¹²⁷	4 mg twice daily Monotherapy	12	12	12 wk	52.3 (10.1) yr 46% female No prior pharmacothera py for DM2	NR 32.8 (4.9) kg/m ² 7.5% (1.0%)	Fair GlaxoSmithKli ne
Van Wijk 2005 ¹²⁸	4 mg twice daily Monotherapy	19 (cross- over)	19 (cross- over)	8 wk	60 (NR) yr 26% female	NR 29.2 (4.8) kg/m ² 6.2% (0.9%)	Fair GlaxoSmithKli ne
Virtanen 2003 ¹²⁹	4 mg twice daily Monotherapy	14	14	26 wk	58 (7.5) yr 40 % female	88.3 (9.7) kg 30.7 (4.9) kg/m ² 6.3% (0.4%)	Fair Academy of Finland, Novo Nordisk Foundation, Finnish Diabetes Research Society, GlaxoSmithKli ne
Wang 2005 ¹⁰³	4 mg daily Monotherapy	35	35	26 wk	62.2 (8.6) yr 20% female Coronary artery disease; recent	NR 25.6 (2.7) kg/m ² 7.33%	Fair Major National Basic Research

Study	Rosiglitazone dosage Combination therapy	Sample size intervent ion group(s)	Sample size placebo group	Follow -up	^a Mean age (SD) Gender Other population characteristics percutaneous coronary intervention	^a Baseline mean (SD) BMI (SD) <u>A1c (SD)</u> (0.17%)	Quality Funder Program of PR China and Chinese National Natural Science Foundation
Wolffenbu ttel 2000 ¹³⁰	1,2 mg twice daily Combined with various SU	183+199	192	26 wk	61.9 (9.1) yr 43% female Using SU for >6m	NR 28.1 (4.1) kg/m ² 9.2% (1.3%)	Fair Funder NR 1 of 5 authors from SmithKline Beecham
Yang 2002 ¹³¹	4 mg daily Combined with various SU	30	34	26 wk	57.8 (8.9) yr 61.8% female	65.3 (11.2) kg 25.8 (3.5) kg/m ² 9.7% (1.4%)	Fair Smith-Kline Beecham Pharmaceutic als and a grant from the Department of Education of the Republic of China
Zhu 2003 ¹³²	2,4 mg twice daily Combined with various SU	425	105	24 wk	58.9 (7.7) yr 54% female Chinese, no hepatic impairment	NR 25.1(2.8) kg/m ² 9.8% (1.3%)	Fair SmithKlineBee cham Research and Development
Range	1 to 12 mg daily	8 to 735	10 to 263	8 to 104 wk	52.3 to 63.9 yr 18% to 100% female	62.3 to 93.0 kg 24.5 to 36.3 kg/m ²	Good: 1 Fair: 25 Poor: 6

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index, kg/m²; CHF, congestive heart failure; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; NYHA, New York Heart Association; NR, not reported; SU, sulfonylurea; m, months; DM2, type 2 diabetes mellitus; wk, week(s); yr, year(s). ^a Baseline values are given for the control group. If standard error was provided in the original study, we have converted standard error to standard deviation.

	Difference in A1c (%)	
	(pioglitazone-rosiglitazone)	95% CI
Good/fair studies	-0.04	-0.41 to 0.33
All studies	-0.13	-0.46 to 0.19
Monotherapy	-0.30	-0.82 to 0.22
Combined therapy	-0.08	-0.49 to 0.33

Table 8. Indirect comparison of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone for A1c (%)

Active-control trials

For the original report, we did not include active-controlled studies for the outcome of A1c. We did, however, include these studies for examination of effectiveness outcomes anad for examination of patient subgroups (See Key Questions 2 and 3).

For the updated report, we were asked to include active-control studies for both pioglitazone and rosiglitazone for the outcome of A1c in order to update the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality report on oral hypoglycemic agents whose search ended January 2006.²⁸ Bolen and colleagues concluded that there were no between-group differences between thiazolidinediones and metformin (7 randomized controlled trials) or second generation sulfonylureas (13 randomized controlled trials). Thiazolidinedione plus metformin compared with a second-generation sulfonylurea plus metformin (2 randomized controlled trials) did not show a consistent effect favoring 1 of the combinations, nor did 2 randomized controlled trials comparing thiazolidinediones compared with repaglinide. One trial comparing pioglitazone to acarbose favored pioglitazone for A1c reduction.

Pioglitazone compared with an active control

We identified 11 active-controlled trials involving pioglitazone for the updated report (Tables 9 and 10),^{111, 133-142} including 2 poor-quality studies.^{135, 136} Six monotherapy trials compared pioglitazone to a sulfonylurea^{134-136, 138, 140, 142} or to metformin.¹⁴² Trials examining combination therapy compared pioglitazone to a sulfonylurea with both groups receiving various oral hypoglycemic agents or insulin^{111, 133, 137} or metformin.¹⁴¹ Pioglitazone was compared to metformin with both groups receiving gliclazide in 1 trial.¹³⁹ Drug dosing across studies was fairly consistent, with most study populations 50-60 years of age. Studies ranged between 3 and 18 months, with only 3 fair-to-good quality trials with follow-up greater than 6 months.^{137, 138, 142}

Effects on A1c were similar between treatment groups, with no significant difference noted between groups in 9 of the eleven trials. In a small (N=92), monotherapy study in Japan,¹⁴⁰ A1c decreased more with glibenclamide (change in A1c -1.43%) than with pioglitazone (change in A1c -0.80%, between-group P<0.05) at 24 weeks follow-up. In an 18-month trial of glibenclamide compared with pioglitazone in newly-diagnosed diabetic subjects taking a variety of concurrent hypoglycemic agents including insulin,¹³⁷ A1c improved in both groups to a similar degree to week 32, then the improvement was maintained with pioglitazone but not with glimepiride. At the final follow-up (week 72), the between-group difference (in favor of pioglitazone) was 0.32% (95% CI -0.52 to -0.12).

Rosiglitazone compared with an active control

We identified 10 active-control trials involving rosiglitazone for the updated report (Tables 11 and 12),^{57, 143-151} including 1 poor-quality study.¹⁴⁹ There were 3 monotherapy trials comparing rosiglitazone to metformin⁵⁷ or rosiglitazone to a sulfonylurea.^{57, 147, 149} The combined therapy trials compared rosiglitazone to a sulfonylurea with both groups receiving metformin¹⁴³⁻¹⁴⁵ or compared rosiglitazone to metformin with both groups receiving sulfonylureas¹⁵¹ or various hypoglycemic agents.¹⁴⁸ Raskin and colleagues¹⁵⁰ compared rosiglitazone to repaglinide and to the combination of the 2 drugs. Goldstein and colleagues¹⁴⁶ compared rosiglitazone plus metformin alone.

Across active-control studies, rosiglitazone dosing was either 4 or 8 mg daily. Follow-up intervals ranged from 12 weeks¹⁴⁹ to 4 years,⁵⁷ with 4 trials having follow-up of 1 year or more.^{57, 144, 147, 148} Mean age of study subjects was mid 50s, with 2 studies enrolling older subjects, with mean ages 60¹⁴³ and 65 years.¹⁵¹

Among the monotherapy trials, the Diabetes Outcomes Progression Trial (ADOPT) was recently published.⁵⁷ ADOPT was a large (N=4360), multicenter, double-blind, randomized controlled trial designed to evaluate monotherapy with rosiglitazone, metformin, or glyburide among subjects recently diagnosed (within 3 years) with type 2 diabetes and who had failed lifestyle therapy but had not started on oral hypoglycemic agents. The primary outcome was monotherapy failure defined as fasting plasma glucose level of >180 mg/dl. Subjects with significant comorbidities were excluded, including congestive heart failure of any New York Heart Association class. Maximal drug dosages were rosiglitazone 4 mg twice a day, metformin 1000 mg twice a day, and glyburide 7.5 mg twice a day. Randomized subjects numbered 4360, of which 95% were included in the intention-to-treat analysis. Median duration of treatment with rosiglitazone was 4 years. Mean age was 57 years (standard deviation 10) and 57.5% were men.

The cumulative incidence of monotherapy failure at 5 years was 15% with rosiglitazone, 21% with metformin, and 34% with glyburide (P < 0.001 for both rosiglitazone comparisons). A1c decreased in all treatment groups in the first 6 months of treatment, with the greatest effect with glyburide and A1c curves were similar between metformin and rosiglitzone for the first 1 year. A1c rose steadily in all treatment groups, with the rate of increase lowest with rosiglitazone (P < 0.001). At 4-year follow-up, the percentage of subjects with A1c <7.0% was 40% for rosiglitazone, 36% for metformin (P=0.03 compared with rosiglitazone), and 26% for glyburide (P < 0.001 compared with rosiglitazone).

ADOPT was rated fair quality. The proportion of subjects who either reached the primary outcome or completed the study was 63% for rosiglitazone, 62% for metformin, and 56% for glyburide. Subjects who withdrew had similar baseline characteristics to completers. The choice of primary outcome of FPG greater than 180 mg/dl was unusual, as current recommendations are to achieve far lower FPG levels.

The results of 2 smaller rosiglitazone monotherapy trials with active controls were similar to the results from ADOPT when appropriate follow-up intervals are compared. Hanefeld and coauthors found no significant difference between glibenclamide and rosiglitazone at 52-week follow-up.¹⁴⁷ A poor-quality study demonstrated no significant difference between rosiglitazone and glibenclamide at 12 weeks.¹⁴⁹ This follow-up interval is too short to be meaningful when examining thiazolidinediones.

Among the combination therapy trials of rosiglitazone and metformin, 2 trials did not show significant differences between rosiglitazone and metformin.^{143, 144} On the other hand, Garber and colleagues¹⁴⁵ did demonstrate more benefit for the fixed combination of

glibenclamide 5 mg/metformin 1000 mg (once or twice daily) than for rosiglitazone 4-8 mg daily combined with metformin 1500-2000 mg daily (between-group difference in A1c 0.4%, P < 0.001).

Combination therapy studies comparing rosiglitazone to metformin with both groups receiving other oral agents did not show significant differences between treatment groups.^{148, 151} A combination of rosiglitazone and repeglanide¹⁵⁰ demonstrated superiority for the combination product over rosiglitazone monotherapy. Rosiglitazone was superior to repeglanide (each as monotherapy; no statistics provided).

In a substudy of the EMPIRE study examining cardiovascular biomarkers,¹⁴⁶ no significant difference was noted on A1c at 24 weeks between rosiglitazone 4-8 mg daily combined with metformin 1000 mg daily, and metformin titrated up to 2000 mg daily.

In the large trial RECORD⁵⁸ (discussed further in Key Question 2), subjects who were already taking a sulfonylurea were randomized to add-on rosiglitazone 4 mg daily (titrated up to 8 mg daily) or metformin (titrated up to 2550 mg daily). Subjects taking metformin at study entry were randomized to add-on sulfonylurea. If adequate glycemic control (A1c \leq 8.5%) was not obtained on maximal dosage dual therapy, a third drug was added (either a sulfonylurea or metformin to rosiglitazone subjects and insulin in the control group). A1c decreased by approximately 0.5% at 18 months follow-up¹⁵¹ in all 4 treatment groups, with no statistically significant difference between rosiglitazone and other drugs in the background metformin and background sulfonylurea groups.

	Dosage				^a Mean age (SD)	^a Baseline mean	
	-	Sample size	Sample size		Gender	Weight (SD)	
	Combination	intervention	placebo		Other population	BMI (SD)	Quality
Study	therapy	group	group	Follow-up	characteristics	A1c (SD)	Funder
Agarwal 2005 ¹³³	Glipizide: start 5 mg daily; mean maximal dosage 41 mg daily Pio: start 15 mg daily, mean maximal dosage 19 mg daily Combined with various oral hypoglycemic agents or insulin	22	22	16 wk	67 (8.5) yr 0% female % on insulin at baseline: 68 (59% in glipizide group) 100% with overt diabetic nephropathy	97.5 (6.0) kg 32.2 (6.0) kg/m ² 7.7% (2.2%)	Fair (open label) Takeda Pharmaceuticals North America, Inc.
Basu 2006 ¹³⁴	Glipizide: 10 mg daily (median dose) Pio: 45 mg daily Monotherapy	8	11	12 wk	56 (2) yr 33% female	92 (SE 7) kg 32 (SE 2) kg/m ² 6.9% (SE 3)	Fair Takeda Pharmaceuticals
Heliovaara 2007 ¹³⁵	Pio 30-45 mg daily Glibenclamide 1.75- 10.5 mg daily Monotherapy	29	30	52 wk	57.2 (SE 1.8) yr 30% female Failed diet or monotherapy	NR 30.5 (SE 0.9) kg/m ² 8.35% (SE 0.12)	Poor Funder NR Several authors from Eli Lilly and Co.
Jain 2006 ¹³⁶	Pioglitazone 15-45 mg daily Glyburide 5-15 mg daily Monotherapy	251	251	56 wk	52.1 (12.4) yr 44% female Newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes; failed diet and exercise therapy	94.3 (20.0) kg 32.8 (5.7) kg/m ² 9.2% (1.3%)	Poor Takeda Pharmaceuticals North America, Inc.
Mazzone 2006 ¹³⁷	Pio 15-45 mg daily Glimepiride 1-4 mg daily Add-on metformin or insulin as needed (12%-13% took insulin during study)	230	228	72 wk	59.9 (8.2) yr 37% female Newly diagnosed on any therapy	NR 31.9 (5.0) kg/m² 7.4% (1.0%)	Fair Takeda Pharmaceuticals, North America Inc.
Perriello 2006 ¹³⁸	Pio 30-45 mg daily Gliclazide 80-320 mg daily	146	137	52 wk	59 (assume SD 7) yr 36% female A1c>7.5%	78.8 (assume SD 10.7) kg 28.8 (assume SD 2.8) kg/m ² 8.7% (assume SD 0.9%)	Fair Funder NR Oone author was Medical Director

	Dosage				^a Mean age (SD)	^a Baseline mean	
Study	Combination therapy	Sample size intervention group	Sample size placebo group	Follow-up	Gender Other population characteristics	Weight (SD) BMI (SD) A1c (SD)	Quality Funder
	Appears to be monotherapy (some patients on 1 oral agent prior to study)						Takeda, Italy
Pfutzner 2005 ¹¹¹	Pio 24 mg daily Glimepiride 1-6 mg daily Other oral agents permitted in both	92	87	26 wk	63.0 (7.4) yr 38% female Failed various oral agents; no prior TZD	NR 31.8 (4.3) kg/m ²	Fair Takeda Pharma GmbH_Aachen
	groups, except metformin with pio and TZDs with glimepiride				use	7.44% (0.89%)	Germany
Sharma 2006 ¹³⁹	Pio 15-30 mg daily Metformin 1000-2000 mg daily Gliclazide 30-60 mg daily added to both arms if needed	17	18	12 wk	47.7 (9.5) yr 33% female Newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes	70.7 (9.9) kg 28.6 (3.9) kg/m ² 8.03% (0.9%)	Fair Funder NR
Teramoto 2007 ¹⁴⁰	Pio 15-30 mg daily Glibenclamide 1.25- 2.5 mg daily Monotherapy	46	46	24 wk	56.4 (10.5) yr 24% female Triglycerides 150-500 mg/dl	67.7 (14.5) kg 25.2 (4.8) kg/m ² 8.36% (1.29%)	Fair Japan Pioglitazone Study Group
Umpierrez 2006 ¹⁴¹	Pio 30-45 mg daily Glimepiride 2-8 mg daily Add-on to metformin therapy	109	101	26 wk	51.6 (11.8) yr 45% female Inadequately controlled on metformin monotherapy	NR 34.5 (6.7) kg/m ² 8.4% (0.7)%	Fair Sanofi-Aventis, Bridgewater, New Jersey
Yamanouchi 2005 ¹⁴²	Pioglitazone 30-45 mg daily Metformin 750 mg daily Glimepiride 1.0-2.0 mg daily Monotherapy	38	Metformin: 39 Glimepiride: 37	52 wk	Metformin group: 54.7 (9.8) yr 49% female Japanese subjects Not on oral agents previously	Metformin group: NR 26.2 (3.8) kg/m ² 9.9% (0.7)%	Fair Funder NR

	Dosage Combination	Sample size intervention	Sample size placebo		^a Mean age (SD) Gender Other population	^a Baseline mean Weight (SD) BMI (SD)	Quality
Study	therapy	group	group	Follow-up	characteristics	A1c (SD)	Funder
Range	15-45 mg daily	8-251	11-251	12-72 wk	47.7-67.0 yr 0-49% female	67.7-97.5 kg 25.2-34.5 kg/m ² 7.4%-9.9%	9 Fair 2 Poor

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index.; NR, not reported; pio, pioglitazone; SD, standard deviation; SE, standard error; TZD, thiazolidinedione. ^a Baseline data are from the comparison group. Data shown are mean (SD) unless otherwise indicated.

Table 10. Pioglitazone active-control studies: Change in A1c

Study	Follow- up (weeks)	Treatments	A1c baseline pioglitazone group (SD)	A1c at follow-up pioglitazone group (SD)	A1c baseline comparison group (SD)	A1c at follow- up, comparison group (SD)	A1c between- group difference (pioglitazone – compared drug (95% CI)	Between- group <i>P</i> value
Agarwal 2005	16	Glipizide start 5 mg daily, mean maximal dosage 41 mg daily. Pioglitazone start 15 mg daily, mean maximal dosage 19 mg daily.	7.2% (1.4)	7.1% (1.3%) Change: -0.1% (1.2%)	7.7% (2.5%)	7.3% (1.8%) Change -0.4% (1.8%)	0.3% (-0.76 to 1.3)	0.52
Basu 2006	12	Glipizide 10 mg daily (median dose) Pioglitazone 45 mg daily Monotherapy	6.9% (SE 0.3)	7.5% (SE 0.8) Change: 0.6%	6.5% (SE 0.3)	6.9% (SE 0.8) Change 0.4%	0.2% (NR)	<i>P</i> >0.05
Heliovaara 2007	52	Pioglitazone 30-45 mg daily Glibenclamide 1.75-10.5 mg daily Monotherapy	8.2% (SE 0.1)	7.6% (SE 0.2) <i>P</i> <0.05	8.4% (SE 0.1)	7.8% (SE 0.2) <i>P</i> <0.001	0 (NR)	NR
Jain 2006	56	Pioglitazone 15-45 mg daily Glyburide 5-15 mg daily	9.2% (1.2%)	Change: -2.07%	9.2% (1.3%)	Change: -2.02%	-0.05%	0.669

Study	Follow- up (weeks)	Treatments	A1c baseline pioglitazone group (SD)	A1c at follow-up pioglitazone group (SD)	A1c baseline comparison group (SD)	A1c at follow- up, comparison group (SD)	A1c between- group difference (pioglitazone – compared drug (95% CI)	Between- group <i>P</i> value
Mazzone 2006	18 months	Monotherapy Pioglitazone 15-45 mg daily Glimepiride 1-4 mg daily Add-on metformin or insulin as needed (12-13% took insulin during study)	7.43% (0.99%)	Change at week 72 (from graph): -0.35%	7.40% (0.97%)	Change week 72 (from graph): 0	Week 72: - 0.32% (95% CI -0.52 to -0.12)	Week 72: 0.002
Perriello 2006	52	Pioglitazone 30-45 mg daily Gliclazide 80-320 mg daily Appears to be monotherapy (some patients on 1 oral agent prior to study)	8.77% (0.81%) (unclear if SD or SE)	7.98% (1.4%)	8.67% (0.9%)	7.88% (1.2%)	0 (NR)	<i>P</i> >0.05
Pfutzner 2005	26	Pioglitazone 24 mg daily Glimepiride 1-6 mg daily Other oral agents permitted in both groups except metformin in the pioglitazone group and thiazolidinediones in the glimepiride group	7.52% (0.85%) (assumed SD)	6.71% (0.89%) Change: -0.8% (0.9%) <i>P</i> <0.001	7.44% (0.89) <i>P</i> <0.001	6.83% (0.85) Change: -0.6% (0.8%) <i>P</i> <0.001	0.2% (NR)	<i>P</i> >0.05
Sharma 2006	12	Pioglitazone 15-30 mg daily Metformin 1000-2000 mg	7.72% (1.1%)	7.3% (0.8%) <i>P</i> =0.34	8.03% (0.9%)	7.56% (0.8%) <i>P</i> =0.14	-0.05% (NR)	0.43

Study	Follow- up (weeks)	Treatments	A1c baseline pioglitazone group (SD)	A1c at follow-up pioglitazone group (SD)	A1c baseline comparison group (SD)	A1c at follow- up, comparison group (SD <u>)</u>	A1c between- group difference (pioglitazone – compared drug (95% CI)	Between- group <i>P</i> value	
		daily Gliclazide 30-60 mg daily added to both arms if needed							
Teramoto 2007	24	Pioglitazone 15-30 mg daily Glibenclamide 1.25-2.5 mg daily	8.01% (1.29%)	7.21% (1.35%) <i>P</i> <0.05	8.21% (1.29%)	6.93% (0.74%) <i>P</i> <0.05	0.63% (NR)	<0.05	
Umpierrez 2006	26	Pioglitazone 30-45 mg daily Glimepiride 2-8 mg daily	8.31% (0.77%)	Change: - 1.23% (SE 0.073)	8.4% (0.72%)	Change: - 1.30% (SE 0.077)	0.07% (NR)	0.4825	
		Add-on to metformin therapy		A1c ≤ 7.0% in 55% of group		A1c ≤ 7.0% in 56% of group			
Yamanouchi 2005 52	50	Pioglitazone 30-45 mg daily Metformin 750 mg daily		7 9% (1 0%)	Metformin: 9.9% (0.7%)	Metformin: 7.8% (1.0%) <i>P</i> <0.005	Metformin: -0.2% (NR)	NSD among	
	52	Glimepiride 10.2% (0.8%) 1.0-2.0 mg daily		<i>P</i> <0.005	Glimepiride: 9.8% (0.7%)	Glimepiride 7.7% (0.9%) <i>P</i> <0.005	Glimepiride: -0.2% (NR)	the 3 groups	
		Monotherapy				1 -0.000			

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; NR, not recorded; NSD, no significant difference; SE, standard error.

Table 11. Rosiglitazone active-controll trials: Study and population characteristics

	Dosage	Sample size interventi	Sample size placebo	Follow-	^a Mean age (SD) Gender Other population	^a Baseline mean Weight (SD) BMI (SD)	Quality
Study	Combination therapy	on group	group	up	characteristics	A1c (SD)	Funder
Bakris 2006 ¹⁴³	Rosi: start 4 mg daily Glyburide: start 5 mg daily Both groups received metformin ≥ 1000 mg daily	194	180	32 wk	ITT population: 58.8 (SE 9.8) yr 31% female	90.3 (SE 19.0) kg 31.8 (SE 6.0) kg/m ² 8.3% (SE 1.6)	Fair GlaxoSmithKline Pharmaceuticals
Derosa 2006 ¹⁴⁴	Rosi 4 mg daily Glimiperide 2 mg daily Both groups received metformin 1500 mg daily	48	47	52 wk	52 (5) yr 48% female All subjects had the metabolic syndrome (ATPIII definition) in addition to type 2 diabetes	NR 26.8 (1.5) kg/m ² 7.9% (0.6%)	Good Funder NR
Garber 2006 ¹⁴⁵	Rosi 4-8 mg daily and metformin 1500-2000 mg daily Glibenclamide-metformin 5/1000 mg to 10/2000 mg daily (combination product) Combination therapy	158	160	24 wk	ITT population 56 (NR) yr 44% female 80% White Inadequately controlled on metformin at baseline	ITT population 93 (17) kg 32 (5) kg/m ² 8.5% (1.2%)	Fair Funder NR Corresponding author is an employee of Briston-Meyers Squibb Pharmaceutical Research Institute
Goldstein 2006 ¹⁴⁶	Rosi 4-8 mg daily plus metformin 1000 mg/d Metformin up to 1500- 2000 mg/d Monotherapy	71	51	24 wk	Substudy population 56.0 (NR) yr 35.3% female	NR 32.1 (NR) kg/m ² 8.26% (95% CI +/-1.4%)	Fair GlaxoSmithKline Pharmaceuticals
Hanefeld 2007 ¹⁴⁷	Rosi 4 mg daily Rosi 8 mg daily Glibenclamide 2.5-15 mg daily Monotherapy	Rosi 4 mg 195 Rosi 8 mg 189	Glibenclami de 203	52 wk	Glibenclamide group: 60.1 (8.3) yr 32% female Oral agents stopped prior to study	NR 28.7 (3.9) kg/m ² 8.2% (1.3%)	Fair SmithKline Beecham
Home 2007 ¹⁴⁸ RECORD Study	Add-on rosi 4-8 mg daily Add-on metformin (up to 2550 mg daily) or SU	2220	2227	3.75 yr (mean, for interim analysis)	58.5 (8.3) yr 48% female Inadequate control on SU or metformin	NR 31.5 (4.9) kg/m ² 7.9% (0.7%)	Fair GlaxoSmithKline Pharmaceuticals

	Dosage	Sample size interventi	Sample size placebo	Follow-	^a Mean age (SD) Gender Other population	^a Baseline mean Weight (SD) BMI (SD)	Quality
Study	Combination therapy Preexisting SU or metformin continued; SU or metformin or insulin added as needed	on group	group	ир	characteristics monotherapy	A1c (SD)	Funder
Kahn 2006, ⁵⁷ Viberti 2006, 2002 ADOPT	Rosi 4-8 mg daily Glyburide: 2.5-7.5 mg daily Metformin: 500-2000 mg daily Monotherapy	1456	Glyburide: 1441 Metformin: 1454	Median 4.0 yr	Glyburide group: 56.4 (10.2) yr 58% female Failed lifestyle therapy, recently diagnosed, not on oral agents previously	92.0 (20.0) kg 32.2 (6.3) kg/m ² 7.35% (0.92%)	Fair GlaxoSmithKline
Kulenovic 2006 ¹⁴⁹	Rosi 4-8 mg daily Glibenclamide 3.5-10.5 mg daily Monotherapy	10	10	12 wk	53.7 (11.2) yr % female NR Failed to achieve metabolic control with diet	NR 25.9 (1.3) kg/m ² 7.8% (1.1)%	Poor Funder NR
Raskin 2004 ¹⁵⁰	Rosi: 2-4 mg twice daily Repaglinide: 0.5-4 mg per meal Rosi + repaglinide Monotherapy and combination	63	Repaglinide : 62 Rosi+repagl anide: 127	24 wk	Rosi+repaglinide group: 57.5 (10.8) yr 49% female Failed monotherapy (withdrawn for study)	Rosi+repaglanide group: NR 32.3 (5.2) kg/m ² 9.1% (NR)	Fair-poor Funder NR Two authors from Novo Nordisk
Stocker 2007 ¹⁵¹	Rosi 4 mg daily Metformin 850 mg twice daily Monotherapy or combined therapy: could continue SU taken prior to study (unknown %)	45	47	24 wk	65 (10) yr 47% female Failed diet and/or sulfonylurea therapy	84.9 (2.1) kg 29.7 (0.7) kg/m ² 8.5% (0.3%)	Fair GlaxoSmithKline
Range	4 mg-8 mg daily	10-2220	10-2227	12-52 wk	52-65 yr 32%-58% female	84.9-93 kg 25.9-32.3 kg/m ² 7.35%-9.1%	1 Good 7 Fair 1 Fair-Poor 1 Poor

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; NR, not reported; SU, sulfonylurea; BMI, body mass index; rosi, rosiglitazone; wk, week(s); yr, year(s).

^a Baseline data are from the comparison group. Data shown are mean (SD) unless otherwise indicated.

Table 12. Rosiglitazone active-control studies: Change in A1c

Study	Follow-up interval (weeks)	Treatments	A1c baseline rosiglitazone group (SD)	A1c at follow-up rosiglitazone group (SD)	A1c baseline comparison group (SD)	A1c at follow- up, comparison group (SD)	A1c between- group difference (rosiglitazone – comparator) (95% CI)	Between- group <i>P</i> value
Bakris 2006 ¹⁴³	32	Rosi: start 4 mg daily Glyburide: start 5 mg daily Both groups received metformin ≥ 1000 mg daily	8.5% (SE 1.7)	Change -0.72% (SE 0.10)	8.3% (SE 1.6)	Change -0.92% (SE 0.08)	0.2% (NR)	NR
Derosa 2005 ¹⁴⁴	52	Rosi 4 mg daily Glimiperide 2 mg daily Both groups received metformin 1500 mg daily	8.0% (0.7%)	6.8% (0.6)%	7.9% (0.6%)	7.0% (0.7%)	-0.3% (NR)	>0.05
Garber 2006 ¹⁴⁵	24	Rosi 4-8 mg daily and metformin 1500-2000 mg daily Glibenclamid e/metformin 5/1000 to 10/2000 mg daily	8.4% (1.1%)	Change: -1.1%	8.5% (1.2%)	Change: -1.5%	0.4% (NR)	<0.001
Goldstein 2006 ¹⁴⁶	24	Rosiglitazone 4-8 mg daily plus metformin 1000 mg daily	8.18% (95% Cl +/-1.23)	Change: -0.61% (95% Cl +/- 1.16)	8.26% (95% Cl +/- 1.40)	Change: - 0.65% (95% Cl 1.18)	0.04% (NR)	>0.05

Study	Follow-up interval (weeks)	Treatments	A1c baseline rosiglitazone group (SD)	A1c at follow-up rosiglitazone group (SD)	A1c baseline comparison group (SD)	A1c at follow- up, comparison group (SD)	A1c between- group difference (rosiglitazone – comparator) (95% CI)	Between- group <i>P</i> value
		to 1500-2000 daily						
Hanefeld 2007 ¹⁴⁷	52	Rosiglitazone 4 mg daily Rosiglitazone 8 mg daily Glibenclamid e 2.5-15 mg daily	Rosi 4 mg: 8.1% (1.3%) Rosi 8 mg: 8.2% (1.4%)	Change Rosi 4mg: -0.3% (<i>P</i> =0.0003) Rosi 8 mg: -0.5% (<i>P</i> <0.0001) % achieving <7.0%: Rosi 4: 39.5% Rosi 8: 43.9%	8.2% (1.3%)	Change: -0.7% (<i>P</i> <0.0001) % achieving <7.0%: 46.5%	Rosi 8 mg compared with glibenclamide: 0.2% (NR)	Rosi 8 mg compared with glibenclamid e: <i>P</i> >0.05
Home 2007 ¹⁴⁸ RECORD Study	18m (for A1c outcomes)	Rosiglitazone 4-8 mg daily Metformin various to 2550 mg daily Preexisting sulfonylurea or metformin continued; sulfonylurea or metformin or insulin added as needed	Rosiglitazone (background metformin): 7.9% (0.7%) Rosiglitazone (background SU): 8.0% (0.69%)	Change -0.48 % (95% CI -0.59 to - 0.36) -0.55% (-0.67 to -0.44)	SU (background metformin): 7.8% (0.66%) Metformin (background SU): 8.0% (0.77%)	Change -0.55% (CI - 0.66 to -0.44%) -0.61% (-0.70 to -0.51%)	Background metformin: 0.07% (-0.09 to 0.23) Background SU: 0.06% (- 0.09 to 0.20)	Background metformin: <i>P</i> >0.05 Background SU: <i>P</i> >0.05
Kahn 2006, ⁵⁷ Viberti 2006, 2002 ADOPT	Median 4.0 years	Rosiglitazone : 4-8 mg daily Glyburide: 2.5-7.5 mg daily Metformin: 500-2000 mg daily	7.36% (0.93%)	A1c<7.0% at 4 y: 40% Monotherapy failure at 5 y (FPG>180 mg/dl): 15%	Glyburide: 7.35% (0.92%) Metformin: 7.36% (0.935%)	A1c<7.0% at 4y: Glyburide: 26% Metformin: 36% Monotherapy failure at 5y	Treatment difference at 4y: Rosi compared with metformin: -0.13% (-0.22 to -0.05) Rosi compared	Monotherapy failure at 5y: Rosi compared with metformin <i>P</i> <0.001 Rosi

Study	Follow-up interval (weeks)	Treatments Monotherapy	A1c baseline rosiglitazone group (SD)	A1c at follow-up rosiglitazone group (SD)	A1c baseline comparison group (SD)	A1c at follow- up, comparison group (SD) (FPG>180 mg/dl): glyburide:	A1c between- group difference (rosiglitazone – comparator) (95% CI) with glyburide: - 0.42% (-0.50 to -0.33)	Between- group P value compared with glyburide:
Kulenovic 2006 ¹⁴⁹	12	Rosiglitazone 4-8 mg daily Glibenclamid e 3.5-10.5 mg daily	7.7% (1.0%)	6.6% (0.8%) <i>P</i> =0.010	7.8% (1.1%)	34%, metformin 21% 6.5% (1.0%) <i>P</i> <0.01	0.2% (NR)	<i>P</i> <0.02
Raskin 2004 ¹⁵⁰	24	Monotherapy Rosiglitazone : 2-4 mg twice daily Repaglinide: 0.5-4 mg per meal Rosi + repaglinide	9.0% (NR)	8.5% (NR) Change (SE): -0.56 (0.14)	Repaglinide: 9.3% (NR) Repaglinide+ rosi: 9.1%	Change (SE): Repeglanide: -0.17% (SE 0.14) Repeglanide+r osi: -1.43% (SE 0.10) % ≤ 7.0%: Rosi: 16% Repaglinide: 5% Repaglinide+ro si: 39%	Rosi compared with repeglanide: -0.39% Rosi compared with repeglanide/rosi : 0.87% (<i>P</i> <0.001)	Rosi compared with repeglanide/r osi <i>P</i> <0.001
Stocker 2007 ¹⁵¹	24	Rosiglitazone 4 mg daily Metformin 850 mg twice daily	8.5% (0.3%)	Change: -1.08% (0.14%)	8.5% (0.2%)	Change: -1.19% (0.13%)	0.11%	<i>P</i> >0.05

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; NR, not reported; SU, sulfonylurea; BMI, body mass index; rosi, rosiglitazone.

Key Question 2. For patients with type 2 diabetes do thiazolidinediones differ from each other, from placebo, and from other oral hypoglycemic agents in their effects on macrovascular and microvascular complications, and mortality from diabetes?

Summary of the Evidence

- Data were not sufficient to determine the comparative effectiveness of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone on microvascular or macrovascular complications of diabetes.
- There were no head-to-head data
- Two trials of pioglitazone compared to glimepiride that were designed to measure progression of atherosclerosis found a low incidence of cardiovascular events and no difference between groups on clinical endpoints.

Detailed Assessment

None of the head-to-head studies identified in the original or updated review examined macro- or microvascular outcomes. Three placebo-controlled or no-treatment comparison studies identified in the original review examined cardiovascular outcomes; all examined patients with known macrovascular disease and type 2 diabetes,^{60, 103, 152} including the PROACTIVE trial.⁶⁰ studies examined microvascular outcomes. These 3 trials did not provide sufficient data to determine comparative effectiveness of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone on microvascular or macrovascular complications of diabetes. Both studies provided some evidence of positive effects of these drugs on macrovascular outcomes among patients with preexisting coronary artery disease.

In the PROACTIVE trial⁶⁰, a good-quality, European, multicenter, randomized, placebocontrolled trial of 5238 patients with type 2 diabetes and evidence of macrovascular disease, treatment patients received pioglitazone titrated from 15 mg up to 45 mg daily. Ninety-six percent of patients were taking other glucose-lowering agents, including insulin. The average follow-up period was 34.5 months. The primary endpoint was the composite of all-cause mortality, non-fatal myocardial infarction (including silent myocardial infarction), stroke, acute coronary syndrome, endovascular or surgical intervention in the coronary or leg arteries, and amputation above the ankle. The hazard ratio for this endpoint was 0.90 (95% CI 0.80 to 1.02). Congestive heart failure was not included in this composite endpoint, although congestive heart failure was examined as an adverse event. When examined individually (as secondary endpoints), none of the components of the primary endpoint changed significantly (P>0.05). The hazard ratio of the main secondary endpoint (a composite of all-cause mortality, myocardial infarction [excluding silent myocardial infarction], and stroke) was 0.84 (95% CI 0.72 to 0.98).

Wang and colleagues¹⁰³ performed a randomized controlled trial comparing rosiglitazone 4 mg daily to no treatment (N=70) over 6 months. Included patients were aged 50 to 73 years, had a diagnosis of coronary artery disease (>50% stenosis as proven on angiography), had established type 2 diabetes, and had undergone a percutaneous coronary intervention (Evidence Table 9). Forty-one percent took other anti-diabetic medications. At 6-month follow-up the incidence of coronary events was decreased in the rosiglitazone group (between-group P<0.05 for the composite endpoint), with 4 events in the rosiglitazone group (recurrent angina¹⁵³ and coronary artery bypass grafting [1]) and 12 in the control group (recurrent angina [5], repeated angioplasty,¹⁵³ and coronary artery bypass grafting¹⁵³).

A single-center poor-quality study examined the preventive effects of rosiglitazone on restenosis after coronary stent implantation among 95 persons with type 2 diabetes.¹⁵² In this

open-label, randomized controlled trial, the treatment group was placed on rosiglitazone 8 mg before undergoing catheterization and 4 mg daily thereafter, combined with conventional antidiabetic therapy using a variety of agents (details of concurrent therapy were not provided). The comparison group received conventional therapy only. The rate of restenosis was 18% in the rosiglitazone group and 38% in the control group (between-group P=0.03). There was also a significant difference in stenosis diameter between groups at 6 months (P=0.004) in favor of the rosiglitazone group.

The available data provided no information on the comparative effectiveness of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone on macro- and microvascular outcomes when used as monotherapy or when added to or substituted for other oral hypoglycemic agents. Dormandy and colleagues⁶⁰ addressed the question of combined therapy as pioglitazone was added to other anti-diabetic therapy in 96% of patients. In the study by Wang and coauthors¹⁰³ monotherapy and combined therapy patients were aggregated, so conclusions cannot be drawn about each of these 2 approaches.

In the updated review several additional trials provided evidence on macrovascular outcomes and on mortality, with 5 trials providing additional evidence on pioglitazone. Two of these studies were published after the end-date for our searches.^{137, 154}

The CHICAGO trial¹³⁷ was a multicenter study of pioglitazone 15 to 45 mg per day compared with glimepiride 1 to 4 mg per day in 462 adults who were newly diagnosed with type 2 diabetes. The primary endpoint was the change in carotid artery intima-media thickness after 72 weeks. Secondary endpoints included the composite of cardiovascular mortality, non-fatal MI, or nonfatal stroke, and the composite of these outcomes plus coronary revascularization, carotid endarterectomy/carotid stenting, hospitalization for unstable angina, or hospitalization for heart failure. There were few events reported, and no cardiovascular deaths. There were 2 instances of the first composite endpoint in the glimepiride group and none in the pioglitazone group. On the second composite endpoint, there were 10 events in the glimepiride group (8 ofwhich were coronary revascularization) and 4 in the pioglitazone group (3 coronary revascularization).

PERISCOPE was another trial of pioglitazone compared to glimepiride designed to measure progression of atherosclerosis in patients with type 2 diabetes.¹⁵⁴ After 18 months of follow-up, there was no difference between groups in the occurrence of clinical endpoints, including the composite of cardiovascular death, nonfatal MI, or nonfatal stroke (2.2% for glimepiride compared with 1.9% for pioglitazone; P=0.78), the composite of cardiovascular death, onfatal MI, nonfatal stroke, hospitalization for unstable angina, or congestive heart failure 4.8% for glimepiride compared with 4.1% for pioglitazone; P=0.70) or any components of the composite outcomes. There were 3 cardiovascular deaths in the pioglitazone group and 1 in the glimepiride group (P=0.37).

In a small, fair-quality, randomized controlled trial (N=47), patients with impaired glucose tolerance or type 2 diabetes (combined in the analysis) in addition to nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, received either pioglitazone 45 mg daily or placebo, in addition to a weight loss intervention.⁸² Glycemic control improved with pioglitazone compared with placebo (P<0.001), with a decrease in weight and body mass index with treatment compared with placebo (P=0.003 and 0.005, respectively). Plasma aspartate and alanine aminotransferase levels and hepatic fat content all decreased with treatment compared with placebo (P<0.05) and liver aminotransferase levels normalized with pioglitazone. Histologic changes in the liver also improved significantly with pioglitazone.

In another small trial,⁹³ patients with acute coronary syndrome received pioglitazone or no additional treatment starting 2 weeks after percutaneous, bare metal stent placement. At 6months follow-up these researchers demonstrated that late luminal loss was less in the pioglitazone group than in the control group (P=0.0008); the same was found for restenosis rate (between-group P=0.0052; both assessed with quantitative angiography). Major cardiac events (myocardial infarction or revascularization of the target lesion) were significantly decreased in the pioglitazone group at 6 months compared with the control group (7.7% compared with 60.7%, P<0.0001). There were no deaths in either group.

Takagi and colleagues compared pioglitazone with placebo in 44 patients with type 2 diabetes who had undergone coronary stent implantation.⁷⁸ After 6 months of follow-up, angiographic in-stent restenosis (19% compared with 46%; P=0.0994) and target lesion revascularization (12% compared with 38%; P=0.0835) were less frequent in the pioglitazone group, but the differences were not statistically significant. There was no difference in A1c levels at follow-up in this study (See Key Question 1).

The updated search identified several important recent trials of rosiglitazone reporting vascular or mortality outcomes: the RECORD trial¹⁴⁸ and ADOPT.⁵⁷ An interim analysis of the RECORD trial was published by Home and colleagues in 2007.¹⁴⁸ In this open-label, multicenter, noninferiority, randomized controlled trial (N=4458), subjects who were already taking a sulfonylurea were randomized to add-on rosiglitazone 4 mg daily (titrated up to 8 mg daily) or metformin (titrated up to 2550 mg daily). Subjects taking metformin at study entry were randomized to add-on sulfonylurea (glyburide, gliclazide or glimepiride, depending on physician preference). If adequate glycemic control (A1c \leq 8.5%) was not obtained on maximal dosage dual therapy, a third drug was added (either a sulfonylurea or metformin for rosiglitazone subjects and insulin in the control group).

The primary outcome for the RECORD study was hospitalization for any of the following: acute myocardial infarction, congestive heart failure, stroke, unstable angina pectoris, transient ischemic attack, unplanned cardiovascular revascularization, amputation of an extremity for any other definite cardiovascular reason, or death from cardiovascular causes. For the adjudicated primary endpoint of hospitalization or death from cardiovascular disease, the hazard ratio for rosiglitazone (plus metformin or a sulfonylurea) compared with metformin plus a sulfonylurea was 1.08 (95% CI 0.89 to 1.31). The time-to-event curves suggested divergence of treatment effects after 2.5 years of follow-up, but a small number of subjects contributed to that analysis. There were no significant differences between rosiglitazone and the control groups for secondary endpoints of acute myocardial infarction, death, or a composite of cardiovascular death, myocardial infarction, and stroke. The elevated hazard ratio for the primary endpoint was mainly driven by the increase in congestive heart failure in the rosiglitazone group compared with the control group (hazard ratio for adjudicated events 2.24, 95% CI 1.27 to 3.97).

The RECORD study underwent the interim analysis discussed herein due to concerns raised about the safety of rosiglitazone and its potential for causing congestive heart failure and cardiac events.⁶³ Because this was an interim analysis, the study was not powered to detect differences in cardiovascular end points in this follow-up period. Thus interpretation of this interim analysis must be done with great caution.

The large ADOPT⁵⁷, discussed above for the outcome of monotherapy failure, compared rosiglitazone, glyburide, and metformin in subjects newly diagnosed with type 2 diabetes. Subjects with significant renal or hepatic disease, unstable or severe angina, or congestive heart failure of any New York Heart Association class were excluded. Approximately half of subjects

had hypertension, 81% had metabolic syndrome, and 45% were smokers.¹⁵⁵ The number of deaths from all causes was similar across the 3 groups, but more cardiovascular events were reported in the rosiglitazone group (4.3%) than in the metformin (4.0%) or glyburide groups (2.8%; no significant differences among groups). Congestive heart failure events were higher with rosiglitazone than with glyburide (further details are presented in Key Question 8). The lower rates of cardiovascular events in the glyburide group were primarily due to lower rates of nonfatal myocardial infarction and congestive heart failure in this group.

Several additional, smaller rosiglitazone trials were also identified in the updated search.^{108, 110} In a very small (N=16), poor-quality, randomized controlled trial, subjects with coronary stent implantation were randomized to rosiglitazone 4-8 mg daily or placebo for 6 months. Rosiglitazone did not reduce in-stent restenosis and there were no differences in cardiac events between the groups.¹⁰⁸

In a study of older adults with type 2 diabetes, Rosenstock and colleagues¹¹⁰ noted no significant difference between rosiglitazone and placebo (both groups received glipizide) in SF-36 component scores, although the rosiglitazone group had more markedly improved scores on the Diabetes Treatment Satisfaction Questionnaire (DTSQ) than the glipizide only group (P<0.001).

Key Question 3 (NOT UPDATED).

For patients with prediabetes or metabolic syndrome, do thiazolidinediones differ from one another or from placebo in improving weight control

- a. When used as monotherapy?
- b. When added to metformin?

Summary of the Evidence

• It is not possible to conclude whether there is a difference in weight change between pioglitazone and rosiglitazone.

Detailed Assessment

Updated report: This question was not included for the updated report. The effects of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone on weight are reviewed in the section addressing adverse events.

There is a paucity of data on the comparative effect of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone and the effect of these drugs compared with placebo on weight or abdominal obesity. It is not possible to conclude whether there is a difference in weight change with 1 of the thiazolidinediones.

Weight or body mass index was measured in 6 studies of prediabetes or the metabolic syndrome (Table 13), including 2 head-to-head studies. One head-to-head study⁶⁶ reported increased weight with both pioglitazone and rosiglitazone with no significant difference between groups; the other study¹⁵⁶ reported weight gain with pioglitazone (2.5 kg, standard deviation 6.3), rosiglitazone (0.3 kg, standard deviation 5.5), and the control group (2.0 kg, standard deviation 1.6; statistics were not reported).

Pioglitazone, either alone or in combination with metformin or a sulfonylurea was associated with an increase in weight compared with metformin or a sulfonylurea as monotherapy.¹⁵⁷ Rosiglitazone did not produce a significant change in weight compared with

placebo in 1 small study¹⁵⁸ and in an additional poor-quality study.¹⁵⁹ Waist-to-hip ratio¹⁵⁹ and waist circumference¹⁵⁸ also did not change with rosiglitazone compared to placebo.

Key Question 4. For patients with prediabetes or the metabolic syndrome, do thiazolidinediones differ from one another or from placebo in delaying the occurrence of clinical diabetes?

Updated Key Question 4: For persons with prediabetes or the metabolic syndrome, do thiazolidinediones differ from one another or from placebo in delaying or preventing the occurrence of type 2 diabetes?

There were insufficient data to determine whether pioglitazone and rosiglitazone have different effects on the incidence of diabetes among persons with either prediabetes or the metabolic syndrome. Only 2 relevant studies were identified, both involving monotherapy (Evidence Tables 3 and 10, Table 13).^{158, 161} Neither of these studies was designed to investigate the comparative effectiveness of these 2 drugs or to allow a comparison with a placebo group for the outcome of diabetes incidence.

A fair-quality, controlled trial compared a no-treatment group with pioglitazone and rosiglitazone groups (both as monotherapy) in 172 persons with impaired glucose tolerance.¹⁵⁸ At 3-year follow-up the incidence rate of diabetes was 3.0% among participants taking either rosiglitazone or pioglitazone and 26.7% among the placebo group. The study was not powered to compare the 2 thiazolidinediones for this outcome.

In a small, poor-quality trial, Hung and colleagues¹⁵⁹ compared rosiglitazone as monotherapy with placebo among persons with impaired glucose tolerance at 12 weeks followup. They noted a reversal to a normal oral glucose tolerance test in 33% of participants taking rosiglitazone (compared with a placebo rate of 13%). One participant in the placebo group developed type 2 diabetes over the course of the study. This small, short-term study was not designed to demonstrate differences between rosiglitazone and placebo for the outcome of new cases of type 2 diabetes.

For the updated report we identified 1 new large clinical trial and 1 smaller randomized controlled trial comparing rosiglitazone with placebo in persons with prediabetes⁵⁹ the metabolic syndrome.¹⁶⁰ In the Diabetes Reduction Assessment with Ramipril and Rosiglitazone Medication (DREAM) trial,¹⁶¹ a large (N=5269), multicenter, international, randomized controlled trial of adults with prediabetes (impaired fasting glucose and/or impaired glucose tolerance) and no preexisting cardiovascular disease, subjects were randomized to rosiglitazone 4 mg daily for 2 months, then 8 mg daily or to placebo. In addition, subjects were also randomized to ramipril 15 mg daily or placebo in a 2x2 factorial design. Subjects were followed for a median of 3 years. The primary outcome was a composite of incident diabetes or death: hazard ratio 0.40 (95% CI 0.35 to 0.46, P < 0.0001). The hazard ratio for death alone was 0.91 (95% CI 0.55 to 1.49, P=0.7) and the hazard ratio for new onset type 2 diabetes 0.38 (95% CI 0.33 to 0.44, P<0.0001). The rates of progression to diabetes over 3 years were 10.6% with rosiglitazone and 25% with placebo (P < 0.0001).⁵⁹ The groups had similar frequency of the composite cardiovascular outcome (myocardial infarction, stroke, cardiovascular death, new angina, revascularization procedure, heart failure) and all but 1 of the components of the composite: heart failure (hazard ratio 7.03, 95% CI 1.60 to 30.9, P=0.01). The effects of rosiglitazone were the same in all

regions of the world, with different ethnic groups, in both sexes, and across all ages. For every 1000 people treated with rosiglitazone for 3 years, 144 cases of diabetes would be prevented, with an excess of 4 to 5 cases of congestive heart failure.

In a pilot randomized controlled trial (N=200), rosiglitazone was compared with placebo in persons with the metabolic syndrome undergoing percutaneous coronary interventions.¹⁶⁰ Rosiglitazone 4 mg twice daily was given immediately before the intervention and then for 1 year of follow-up. There was no significant difference in rates of death, myocardial infarction, or stroke at 12 months. There were fewer cases of new-onset diabetes in the rosiglitazone group than with placebo, but this did not reach statistical significance (0% compared with 3.3%, P=0.08).

Key Question 5 (NOT UPDATED).

For patients with prediabetes or metabolic syndrome, is the use of different thiazolidinediones associated with reversal or slower progression of cardiac risk factors, including lipid levels, central obesity, or elevated blood pressure?

Summary of the Evidence

- Data are insufficient to determine the comparative effectiveness of Pio and Rosi on cardiovascular risk factors among persons with prediabetes or the metabolic syndrome.
- There were no data to address comparative effect on blood pressure.
- One fair-quality head-to-head study demonstrated improved lipid levels with pioglitazone compared to rosiglitazone.
- Data on both drugs from placebo-controlled trials showed mixed effects on lipid levels.
- Data on the effect of Pio and Rosi on weight and abdominal obesity are few and, as noted above in Key Question 3, it is not possible to conclude if there is a difference between the two drugs for these two outcomes.

Detailed Assessment

This question was not included in the updated report.

Data are insufficient to determine the comparative effectiveness of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone on cardiovascular risk factors among persons with prediabetes or the metabolic syndrome. There were no data to address comparative effects on blood pressure. One fair-quality head-to-head study demonstrated improved lipid levels with pioglitazone compared to rosiglitazone. Data on both drugs from placebo-controlled trials showed mixed effects on lipid levels. Data on the effect of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone on weight and abdominal obesity are few and, as noted above in Key Question 3, it is not possible to conclude if there is a difference between the 2 drugs for these 2 outcomes.

More detailed information on the 6 studies which examined cardiovascular risk factors among persons with prediabetes or the metabolic syndrome are presented in Table 13 and Evidence Tables 2, 9, and 10. Pioglitazone produced a significant (P<0.05) decrease in LDL, total cholesterol, and triglycerides compared to rosiglitazone in a head-to-head study.^{65, 66} Lester and colleagues¹⁵⁷ noted a significant increase in total cholesterol (5.8%), LDL (8.9%), and HDL (20.1%) with pioglitazone monotherapy compared to metformin or sulfonylurea monotherapy, as well as a decrease in triglycerides (12.8%). Combined therapy of pioglitazone and either sulfonylurea or metformin produced similar lipid changes to pioglitazone monotherapy.

In a small study,¹⁵⁸ rosiglitazone increased HDL (P=0.032) and LDL (P=0.025) compared to placebo. Rosiglitazone increased total cholesterol (P<0.001), HDL (P<0.05), and LDL (P<0.05) compared to baseline values in a poor-quality study.¹⁵⁹

Change in Population Change weight^a, BMI Study $(kg/m^2)^a$, or design Total Mean age in blood Drug, dosage Occurrence of Study Combination pressure^a Change in lipid sample size (years) Change in central clinical levels^a (mg/dl) Quality Follow-up Comorbidities A1c (%)^a (mm Hg) obesitv^a diabetes therapy Head-to-head trials Total cholesterol: Pio -11; Rosi 29 (P<0.05) Pio 15 mg daily Derosa G 2004⁶⁵. Metabolic LDL: Pio -15; Rosi BMI: or Rosi 4 mg Pio: -1.4 2005^{66} RCT Pio: 1.2 syndrome 20 (P<0.05) daily Rosi -1.3 NR NA 54 91 HDL: Pio 6: Rosi Rosi: 1.5 Added to P>0.05 DM2 Fair 1 (P>0.05) *P*>0.05 glimepiride TG: Pio -26; Rosi 31 (*P*<0.05) Progression to DM2 at 3 years: number of cases Pio: 3%: Rosi: 3% Pio: -0.12 Control Pio 30 mg or Weight (kg): Rosi: -0.14 Rosi 4 mg daily Prediabetes Pio 2.5(6.3); 19/71=26.7% Controlled Control: 0.43 Durbin R 2004¹⁵⁶ Monotherapy (IGT) Rosi 0.3(5.5); Crude incidence trial TZD compared (treatment 56.4 NR NR control (case per 100 172 with control Fair Insulin 2.0(1.6)groups were person-years): 3 years P<0.001; no on troglitazone resistance No P values TZD 1.4; control comparison previously) reported 9.4 (*P*<0.001) Pio and Rosi Number needed to treat with TZD to prevent 1 case of DM2 in 3 years: 4.2 Pioglitazone Weight (kg) % change: Metabolic Pio: -1.6 Total cholesterol Pio 2.5; 4 RCTs svndrome Pio+SU -1.3 Pio: 5.8: Pio+SU Pio+SU 3.0: Lester JW 2005¹⁵⁷ Pio 15-45 mg (subset NR Pio+metformin 3.2: Pio+metformin daily NR NR analysis) DM2 -1.1 Pio+metformin 5.9 NR Based on 4 fair-Monotherapy Pio compared HDL: Pio 20.1; 3186 inadequately Increased quality studies and combined 16-40 weeks managed with with SU: Pio+SU 17.4: weight in Pio metformin P<0.05 Pio+metformin compared 19.8 with

Table 13. Use of thiazolidinediones in prediabetes and the metabolic syndrome

Study Quality	Study design Total sample size Follow-up	Drug, dosage Combination therapy	Population Mean age (years) Comorbidities	Change in A1c (%) ^ª	Change in blood pressure ^a (mm Hg)	Change in lipid levels ^a (mg/dl) LDL: Pio 8.9; Pio+SU 5.1; Pio+metformin 9.7	Change in weight ^a , BMI (kg/m ²) ^a , or central obesity ^a metformin or SU alone (P<0.05)	Occurrence of clinical diabetes
						Pio+SU -12.0; Pio+SU -12.2; Pio+metformin - 12.8 Total cholesterol		
Rasouli N 2005 ¹⁶² Poor	RCT 23 12 weeks	Pio 45 mg daily With metformin	Prediabetes (IGT) 56.4 healthy; no coronary heart disease	Pio 0.1; metformin -0.1 No between- group <i>P</i> values given	NR	(mmol/L): Pio -0.4; metformin 0 HDL: Pio 0.1; metformin 0 LDL: Pio -0.3; metformin 0.1 TG: Pio -0.2; metformin 0.3 No between- group <i>P</i> values given	BMI: Pio 0.9 Metformin -0.3 No between- group <i>P</i> values given	NR
Bennett S 2004 ¹⁶³ Fair	RCT 18 12 weeks	Rosi 4 mg twice daily Monotherapy	Prediabetes (IGT) 59.7	Between- group difference 0.04% (<i>P</i> =0.76) FPG (mmol/l) Rosi -0.28 Placebo -0.50 <i>P</i> =0.18	SBP: Rosi -7.0; Placebo 2.6 (<i>P</i> =0.007) DBP: Rosi -6.4; placebo 2.5 (<i>P</i> =0.013)	NR	NR	NR
Hung Y 2005 ¹⁵⁹ Poor	RCT 30 12 weeks	Rosi 4 mg daily Monotherapy	IGT 54.8	NR	NR	Total cholesterol: Rosi 21.3; placebo -7.0 HDL: Rosi 7.0; Placebo 0 LDL: Rosi 25.9; Placebo -2.7	BMI: Rosi: 0; placebo -0.3 Waist-hip ratio: Rosi - 0.01; placebo -0.014 Between-	Reversal to normal oral glucose tolerance test: Rosi 33%, placebo 13% Progression to DM2: Rosi: 0

Study Quality	Study design Total sample size Follow-up	Drug, dosage Combination therapy	Population Mean age (years) Comorbidities	Change in A1c (%) ^a	Change in blood pressure ^a (mm Hg)	Change in lipid levels ^a (mg/dl)	Change in weight ^a , BMI (kg/m ²) ^a , or central obesity ^a	Occurrence of clinical diabetes
						Between-group <i>P</i> values NR	group <i>P</i> values NR	cases; placebo 1 case
Wang T 2004 ¹⁵⁸ Fair	RCT 50 8 weeks	Rosi 4 mg daily Monotherapy	Metabolic syndrome 59.5	NR FPG: Rosi - 2.0; Placebo - 1.0 mmol/l <i>P</i> =0.37	SBP: Rosi -10; Placebo 1 (<i>P</i> =0.002) DBP: Rosi -7; placebo 1 (<i>P</i> =0.080)	Total cholesterol: Rosi: 22; placebo -5 (<i>P</i> =0.0.014) HDL: Rosi 2.0; placebo 0 (<i>P</i> =0.032) LDL: Rosi 20; placebo -5 (<i>P</i> =0.025) TG: Rosi -22.0; placebo -11.0 (<i>P</i> =0.717)	BMI: Rosi: 0.1; placebo 0 (<i>P</i> =0.957) Waist circumference (cm): Rosi: 1; placebo 0 (<i>P</i> =0.894)	NR

Abbreviations: IGT, impared glucose tolerance; DM2, type 2 diabetes mellitus; BMI, body mass index; RCT, randomized controlled trial; NR, not reported; SU, sulfonylurea; BMI, body mass index; rosi, rosiglitazone; pio, pioglitazone. ^a Absolute changes unless otherwise noted.

P values given are between-group values.

Key Question 6. For persons with type 2 diabetes what are the adverse events related to pioglitazone and rosiglitazone, and how do these differ from each other, from placebo, and from other oral hypoglycemic agents?

Summary of the Evidence

- Adverse events occurring with pioglitazone and rosiglitazone were similar in 3 head-to-head trials.
- Withdrawals due to adverse events did not differ from placebo in trials of pioglitazone (difference from placebo 0%, 95% CI –2% to 2%) or rosiglitazone (–1%, 95% CI –3% to 0%).
- The incidence of edema was greater for pioglitazaone and rosiglitazone than for placebo, with pooled risk differences from placebo of 4% for pioglitazone (95% CI 2% to 7%) and 8% for rosiglitazone (95% CI 3% to 13%).
- Rosiglitazone use was associated with an increase in fractures in women in the ADOPT trial. Significantly more female patients who received rosiglitazone experienced fractures than did female patients who received either metformin or glyburide (9.3% compared with 5.1% and 3.5% respectively). Preliminary analysis of a second, ongoing trial is consistent with this finding.

Detailed Assessment

Direct evidence comparing pioglitazone to rosiglitazone

Three head-to-head efficacy trials with adverse event data were identified.^{67, 68 65} In 1,⁶⁷ 719 patients with both type 2 diabetes and dyslipidemia were randomized to treatment with pioglitazone 30 mg daily for 12 weeks followed by 45 mg for an additional 12 weeks, or rosiglitazone 4 mg daily followed by 8 mg for the same intervals. There were no differences between the drugs in adverse events including weight change $(2.0\pm0.2 \text{ kg} \text{ for pioglitazone} \text{ compared with } 1.6\pm0.2 \text{ kg for rosiglitazone}, P=0.164)$, liver function tests, creatine phosphokinase level, blood pressure and heart rate, hemoglobin and hematocrit, hypoglycemic episodes, edema, or congestive heart failure. Data on the incidence of specific adverse events were not reported. Total withdrawals (19.0% for pioglitazone compared with 21.9% for rosiglitazone) and withdrawals due to adverse events (2.7% for both drugs) were similar.

A second study included patients who were switched to pioglitazone or rosiglitazone from troglitazone.⁶⁸ There was no information reported about adverse events in this study, with the exception of a similar weight gain in both groups (data not reported).

In a head-to-head trial in patients with type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome,⁶⁵ there was no significant difference in the increase in body mass index after 12 months of treatment with pioglitazone 15 mg (1.2 kg/m²) or rosiglitazone 4 mg (1.5 kg/m²), with both groups receiving glimepiride. Of the 87 patients (96%) who completed the study, 6.7% of subjects in the pioglitazone group and 11.9% in the rosiglitazone group had mild to moderate adverse events (transient headache and flatulence), with none resulting in withdrawal. There were no significant differences between treatment groups in serum alanine (ALT) or aspartate (AST) aminotransferase at 12-month follow-up. In 1 subject in the pioglitazone group (N=45) ALT and AST increased to 1.5 times the upper limit of normal but returned to normal range after 15 days. With rosiglitazone (N=42) 2 subjects increased AST.

One of the head-to-head studies identified for the updated report presented both tolerability and adverse events data. Derosa and colleagues^{70-72, 144} noted among study completers (93% completion rate) that the rate of any side effect was 8.3% in the pioglitazone group and 10.4% in the rosiglitazone group (between-group *P* value >0.05), with both groups also taking metformin. These adverse events were transient headache and flatulence (metformin was new to some of the study subjects).⁷⁴ In this trial, there were no significant differences between treatment groups in ALT or AST at 12-month follow-up. In 2 subjects in the pioglitazone group (N=48) ALT and AST increased to 1.5 times the upper limit of normal, but regressed to normal range after 15 days. With rosiglitazone (N=48) in 3 subjects AST and ALT increased to 2.0 times the upper limit of normal and also regressed. No other adverse events were reported in this study. Hematocrit decreased significantly in both treatment groups (*P*<0.05): Change with pioglitazone was -2.3 umol/L and with rosiglitazone was -2.4 umol/L.

The second new head-to-head trial did not report adverse event data.⁶⁹

Indirect Evidence

Overall withdrawals

Nine placebo-controlled trials of pioglitazone^{60, 76, 82, 85-88, 96, 97} and 16 of rosiglitazone^{56, 101, 102, 104-106, 110, 115, 116, 120-122, 124, 128, 129, 131, 132, 158, 159} reported overall withdrawal rates. Treatment group withdrawal rates ranged from 7% to 33% in pioglitazone trials and 0 to 28% in rosiglitazone trials. Pooled risk differences showed trends for lower overall withdrawals in treatment groups than placebo groups for both pioglitazone (-1.0%; 95% CI -3.0% to 1.0%) and rosiglitazone (-5.0%; 95% CI -10.0% to 0.0%). There was significant heterogeneity among rosiglitazone trials.

Withdrawals due to adverse events

Figures 4 and 5 show withdrawals due to adverse events reported in placebo-controlled trials of pioglitazone and of rosiglitazone. Overall, the proportion of patients who withdrew due to adverse events was similar for the 2 drugs: 4.7% in pioglitazone trials and 5.3% in rosiglitazone trials. Pooled risk differences showed no differences from placebo in either pioglitazone (0%; 95% CI -2% to 2%) or rosiglitazone (-1%; 95% CI -3% to 0%) trials. The proportion of withdrawals due to adverse events in the placebo groups differed between these groups of studies (4.4% in pioglitazone studies compared with 6.8% in rosiglitazone studies), so the pooled risk differences were not directly comparable.

Figure 4. Withdrawals due to adverse events in placebo-controlled trials of pioglitazone

Review: Comparison: Outcome:	TZDs adverse events 01 Withdrawals due to adverse events 02 Withdrawals due to adverse events: pic	oglitazone vs placebo		
Study or sub-category	Pioglitazone n/N	Placebo n/N	RD (fixed) 95% Cl	RD (fixed) 95% Cl
01 Sub-category	/			
Aronoff 2000	12/329	2/79	+	0.01 [-0.03, 0.05]
Belfort 2006	1/26	1/21	_	-0.01 [-0.13, 0.11]
Gastaldelli 200	7 0/10	0/10	+	0.00 [-0.17, 0.17]
Herz 2003	1/19	5/99	+	0.00 [-0.11, 0.11]
Kipnes 2001	11/373	5/187	+	0.00 [-0.03, 0.03]
Mattoo 2005	7/142	3/147	+ - -	0.03 [-0.01, 0.07]
McMahon 2005	1/10	0/10		0.10 [-0.14, 0.34]
Rosenblatt 200	1 1/101	1/96	+	0.00 [-0.03, 0.03]
Rosenstock 20	02 11/379	3/187	+	0.01 [-0.01, 0.04]
Saad 2004	0/28	0/30	_ + _	0.00 [-0.06, 0.06]
Scherbaum 200	30/167	22/84		-0.08 [-0.19, 0.03]
Subtotal (95% C	1584	950	♦	0.00 [-0.02, 0.02]
Total events: 75	(Pioglitazone), 42 (Placebo)			
Test for heterog Test for overall	eneity: Chi ² = 5.71, df = 10 (<i>P</i> =0.84), l ² = 0% effect: Z = 0.12 (<i>P</i> =0.90)	6		
Total (95% CI)	1584	950	•	0.00 [-0.02, 0.02]
Total events: 75	(Pioglitazone), 42 (Placebo)		Ť	
Test for heterog	eneity: Chi ² = 5.71, df = 10 (P=0.84), l ² = 0%	6		
Test for overall	effect: Z = 0.12 (<i>P</i> =0.90)			
		-0	.5 -0.25 0 0.25	0.5
			Favours treatment Favours contro	bl

Figure 5. Withdrawals due to adverse events in placebo-controlled trials of rosiglitazone

Review:	TZDs adverse events			
Outcome:	01 Withdrawals due to adverse events	osiglitazone vs placebo		
Ohisto	Desistitutes	Disaste		
Study	Rosiglitazone	Placebo	RD (fixed)	RD (fixed)
	17/19	TI/IN	33% CI	3576 61
01 Sub-category	y			
Barnett 2003	4/84	9/87		-0.06 [-0.13, 0.02]
Dailey 2004	9/181	5/184	+	0.02 [-0.02, 0.06]
Dargie 2007	14/108	12/110	_ 	0.02 [-0.07, 0.11]
Fonseca 2000	13/232	5/116	_ _	0.01 [-0.03, 0.06]
Gomez-Perez 2	2002 5/77	1/39	- -	0.04 [-0.03, 0.11]
Hallsten 2002	0/14	0/14	+	0.00 [-0.13, 0.13]
Honisett 2003	0/21	0/10	+	0.00 [-0.14, 0.14]
Hung 2005	0/15	0/15	+	0.00 [-0.12, 0.12]
Lautamaki 200	5 0/27	0/27	_ + _	0.00 [-0.07, 0.07]
Miyazaki 2001	0/15	0/14	_	0.00 [-0.12, 0.12]
Natali 2004	0/24	0/22	_ + _	0.00 [-0.08, 0.08]
Nolan 2000	7/185	7/93		-0.04 [-0.10, 0.02]
Phillips 2001	41/735	19/173		-0.05 [-0.10, 0.00]
Raskin 2000	10/214	6/69		-0.04 [-0.11, 0.03]
Raskin 2001	17/212	5/107		0.03 [-0.02, 0.09]
Rosenstock 20	06 11/116	8/111	_ _	0.02 [-0.05, 0.09]
Virtanen 2003	0/14	0/14	+	0.00 [-0.13, 0.13]
Wang 2004	0/19	0/19	_ + _	0.00 [-0.10, 0.10]
Wolfenbuttel 20	20/382	23/192		-0.07 [-0.12, -0.02]
Zhu 2003	14/425	3/105	+	0.00 [-0.03, 0.04]
Subtotal (95% C	3100	1521	•	-0.01 [-0.03, 0.00]
Total events: 16	5 (Treatment), 103 (Control)			
Test for heterog	eneity: Chi ² = 21.71, df = 19 (P=0.30), I ² =	12.5%		
Test for overall	effect: Z = 1.78 (<i>P</i> =0.08)			
Total (95% CI)	3100	1521		-0.01 [-0.03, 0.00]
Total events: 16	5 (Treatment) 103 (Control)		۲	
Test for heteroo	encity: $Chi^2 = 21.71 \text{ df} = 19 (P=0.30) I^2 =$	12 5%		
Test for overall	effect: $7 = 1.78$ (<i>P</i> =0.08)	12.070		
		-0.5	-0.25 0 0.25	0.5

Favours rosigliitazone Favours placebo

Specific adverse events reported in placebo-controlled trials

The quality of reporting of adverse events in randomized controlled trials designed to measure efficacy was fair to poor (Evidence Table 11). Most studies did not prespecify which events were evaluated and did not report details about ascertainment methods.

Appendix H summarizes the specific adverse events reported in placebo-controlled efficacy trials. Details are provided in Evidence Table 12 (pioglitazone) and Evidence Table 13 (rosiglitazone). In most cases, there was no difference from placebo in the number of patients reporting an adverse event. The most frequently reported adverse events were edema, hypoglycemia, and weight gain.

Edema

The incidence of edema reported in 16 placebo-controlled trials ranged from 0% to 27%. The incidence of edema was significantly greater with both pioglitazone and rosiglitazone than placebo.

The pooled risk difference was significantly greater than placebo in pioglitazone trials (4%, 95% CI 2% to 7%) (Figure 6).

Review:TZDsComparison:02 IncOutcome:01 Inc	adverse events idence of edema idence of edema, pioglitazone vs p	olacebo		
Study	Treatment	Control	RD (random)	RD (random)
or sub-category	n/N	n/N	95% Cl	95% Cl
Aronoff 2000	12/329	0/79	-	0.04 [0.01, 0.06]
Herz 2003	30/198	16/99		-0.01 [-0.10, 0.08]
Kipnes 2001	27/373	4/187		0.05 [0.02, 0.08]
Mattoo 2005	20/142	5/147		0.11 [0.04, 0.17]
McMahon 2005	1/8	0/8		0.13 [-0.16, 0.41]
Rosenblatt 2001	5/101	1/96		0.04 [-0.01, 0.09]
Rosenstock 2002	55/362	12/177		0.08 [0.03, 0.14]
Scherbaum 2002	2/167	0/84		0.01 [-0.01, 0.04]
Total (95% CI) Total events: 152 (Trea Test for heterogeneity: Test for overall effect: 2	1680 tment), 38 (Control) Chi ² = 18.23, df = 7 (P = 0.01), l ² = 2 = 3.37 (P = 0.0008)	877	+ -1 -0.5 0 0.5	0.04 [0.02, 0.07]

Figure 6. Incidence of edema in placebo-controlled trials of pioglitazone

Rosiglitazone was also associated with an increased risk of edema (Figure 7). The pooled risk difference in 7 placebo-controlled trials^{105, 110, 112, 114, 115, 124, 132} was 8% (95% CI 3% to 13%). There was significant heterogeneity among the rosiglitazone trials, due to a higher incidence of edema in 2 of the trials (23% and 24%).^{110, 132} The incidence in the other 5 trials ranged from 3% to 8%, with differences from placebo ranging from 2% to 6%.

Study or sub-category	Rosiglitazone n/N	Placebo n/N	RD (random) 95% CI	RD (random) 95% Cl
Agrawal 2003	17/405	0/419	-	0.04 [0.02, 0.06]
Dailey 2004	14/181	4/184	-	0.06 [0.01, 0.10]
Fonseca 2000	7/232	1/116	•	0.02 [-0.01, 0.05]
Gomez-Perez 20	2 4/77	0/34	<mark> </mark> ■-	0.05 [-0.01, 0.12]
Phillips 2001	40/735	3/173	-	0.04 [0.01, 0.06]
Rosenstock 2006	27/116	10/111	-	0.14 [0.05, 0.24]
Zhu 2003	102/425	0/105	-	0.24 [0.20, 0.28]
Total (95% CI)	2171	1142	•	0.08 [0.03, 0.13]
Total events: 211	Treatment), 18 (Control)			
Test for heteroger	eity: Chi ² = 92.89, df = 6 (P<0.00001),	l² = 93.5%		
Toot for overall off	rt = 3.03 (P=0.002)			

Figure 7. Incidence of edema in placebo-controlled trials of rosiglitazone

Hypoglycemia

The incidence of hypoglycemic episodes was reported in 11 placebo-controlled efficacy trials. The incidence ranged from 0 to 37.5% in 7 studies of pioglitazone and from 5.2% to 52.5% in 4 studies of rosiglitazone. The pooled risk difference between treatment and placebo was not significantly different for either drug, however (see Figures 8 and 9).

The trials of rosiglitazone examined combination therapy with sulfonylureas^{110, 112, 113} or triple therapy with sulfonylurea and metformin¹⁰⁵. In pioglitazone trials, 3 used monotherapy,^{81, 85, 94} 1 used combination therapy with sulfonylureas,⁸⁶ and 3 used combination therapy with insulin.^{87, 88, 95} Pooled risk differences were not significantly different from placebo in pioglitazone trials using monotherapy (1%, 95% CI -1% to 2%), combination therapy with sulfonylureas (1%, 95% CI -1% to 2%), or insulin (7%, 95% CI -4% to 19%). The highest rates of hypoglycemic events in pioglitazone studies were noted where pioglitazone was combined with insulin.^{87, 88}

Hypoglycemia is more likely to occur with lower baseline A1c levels, however, we only had access to study-level data, and could therefore not examine the relationship between baseline A1c and rates of hypoglycemia at the individual subject level.

Figure 8. Incidence of hypoglycemic episodes in placebo-controlled trials of pioglitazone

Review:TZDsComparison:03 HyOutcome:01 Hy	adverse events /poglycemic episodes, incidence (/poglycemic episodes: pioglitazon	of ne vs placebo		
Study or sub-category	Pioglitazone n/N	Placebo n/N	RD (random) 95% Cl	RD (random) 95% Cl
Aronoff 2000 (monott Herz 2003 (monother Kipnes 2001 (added 1 Mattoo 2005 (added McMahon 2005 (add Rosenblatt 2001 (mo Rosenstock 2002 (ad	herapy) 4/329 rapy) 11/99 to SU) 7/373 to insulin) 90/142 ed to insulin) 3/8 notherapy) 0/101 Ided to insulin) 44/379	0/79 10/99 1/187 75/147 1/8 0/96 9/87		$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 & [-0.01, & 0.03] \\ 0.01 & [-0.08, & 0.10] \\ 0.01 & [0.00, & 0.03] \\ 0.12 & [0.01, & 0.24] \\ 0.25 & [-0.16, & 0.66] \\ 0.00 & [-0.02, & 0.02] \\ 0.01 & [-0.06, & 0.08] \end{array}$
Total (95% CI) Total events: 159 (Pio Test for heterogeneity Test for overall effect:	1431 glitazone), 96 (Placebo) :: Chi² = 21.69, df = 6 (P = 0.001), Z = 1.12 (P = 0.26)	703 , I² = 72.3% -1	-0.5 0 0.5	0.02 [-0.01, 0.04]
		Fav	ours treatment Favours co	- ntrol

Figure 9. Incidence of hypoglycemic episodes in placebo-controlled trials of rosiglitazone

Review: Comparison: Outcome:	TZDs update 1 01 Hypoglycemic episodes, incidence of 01 Hypoglycemic episodes, rosiglitazone vs placebo								
Study or sub-category	/	Rosiglitazone n/N	Placebo n/N	RD (r 95	andom) % Cl	RD (random) 95% Cl			
Agrawal 2003	(added to SU)	21/405	12/419		•	0.02 [0.00, 0.05]			
Barnett 2003	(added to SU)	10/84	5/87		 -	0.06 [-0.02, 0.15]			
Dailey 2004 (a	added to SU and me	t) 95/181	45/184			0.28 [0.18, 0.38]			
Rosenstock 20	006 (added to SU)	37/116	30/111		- - -	0.05 [-0.07, 0.17]			
Total (95% CI)		786	801		•	0.10 [-0.03, 0.24]			
I otal events: 10	63 (Rosiglitazone), 9	2 (Placebo)	- 12 - 00 - 50/						
Test for heterog	geneity: Chi ² = 39.93 effect: Z = 1.47 (<i>P</i> =	, df = 3 (<i>P</i> <0.00001).14)), I ² = 92.5%						
				-1 -0.5	0 0.5 1				
				Favours treatment	Favours control				

Weight gain

Twenty-six placebo-controlled trials provided information about weight gain in patients taking pioglitazone or rosiglitazone. It was not possible to calculate a pooled estimate for all of these studies to make indirect comparisons, because of differences in the methods of measuring the outcome (for example, body mass index, change in weight, or patients gaining >5% of body weight) and limited reporting of results (for example, means were reported without a measure of dispersion). Table 14 shows the range of weight gain reported in placebo-controlled trials. Trials with several doses found increased weight gain associated with higher doses.

Only 4 trials provided sufficient information to calculate a weighted mean difference. The pooled estimates for these trials were very similar for pioglitazone (3.69 kg, 95% CI 2.48, to 4.89)^{120, 131} and rosiglitazone (3.50 kg, 95% CI 2.25 to 4.75),^{89, 97} indicating that the drugs cause a similar amount of weight gain.

This evidence is consistent with the findings of no difference between the drugs in weight gain reported in head-to-head trials.^{65, 67, 68}

Outcome	Weight gain with pioglitazone	Weight gain with rosiglitazone	
Weighted mean difference compared with placebo (kg)	3.69 kg (95% CI 2.48 to 4.89) ^{120,}	3.50 kg (95% CI 2.25 to 4.75) ^{89, 97}	
Monotherapy trials	0.3 to 0.8 kg ${}^{96}(P \text{ NR})$ 0.35 to 0.82 kg 85a 0.74 kg 100 1.35 kg 94a 1.3 to 2.8 kg 81 2.0 kg, 3.0 kg a 4.5 kg 77a 2.5 kg 82 3.6 kg 60a 4.0 kg 84	0^{129} 0.5 kg 122 (<i>P</i> NR) 0.6 kg 116 (<i>P</i> NR) 1.2 to 3.3 kg 124 (<i>P</i> NR) 1.3 kg 56 1.6 to 3.5 kg 120 (<i>P</i> NR) 1.9 kg 106 3.7 kg 121a 4.3 kg 110	
Combination therapy trials	1.2 kg ⁹⁹ 1.9 to 2.9 kg ^{86a} 2.3 to 3.7 kg ⁹⁵ (<i>P</i> NR) 3.6 kg ⁸⁹ 3.88 kg ⁹⁷ (<i>P</i> NR)	0.26 to 2.42 kg ¹¹⁵ (<i>P</i> NR) 3.0 kg ¹³¹ (<i>P</i> NR) 3.0 ¹⁰⁵	

Table 14. Weight gain reported in placebo-controlled trials

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; NR, not recorded

^a Significantly greater than placebo (*P*<0.05).

A 2004 meta-analysis⁴³ found similar results in an analysis of 11 trials. Within 6 months of initiating therapy, the average weight gain was 2.7 kg (95% CI 1.8 to 3.7 kg), and drug grouping was not a predictor of heterogeneity (P>0.10).

The range of weight gain reported in active control trials is shown in Appendix I. In most trials reporting weight gain, patients taking pioglitazone or rosiglitazone gained more weight than those taking a sulfonylurea or metformin.

Liver function abnormalities

The first thiazolidinedione approved for use in the United States, troglitazone, was withdrawn from the United States market in 2000 due to concerns about liver damage. Elevations in ALT (>3 times the upper limit of normal) were rare in efficacy trials of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone. with either no cases or reported incidences of less than 1% (See Appendixes H and I).

Risk of fracture

Based on data from ADOPT, in February 2007 GlaxoSmithKline issued a safety warning regarding increased risk of fractures associated with use of rosiglitazone. An analysis of these data was recently published.¹⁶⁴ Significantly more female patients who received rosiglitazone experienced fractures than did female patients who received either metformin or glyburide (9.3% compared with 5.1% and 3.5% respectively). The incidence in women was 2.74 per 100 patientyears with rosiglitazone, 1.54 per 100 patient-years with metformin, and 1.29 per 100 patientyears with glyburide. The majority of these fractures were in the upper arm (humerus), hand, or foot. The observed incidence of fractures for male patients in ADOPT was similar among the three treatment groups.

At GlaxoSmithKline's request, an independent safety committee reviewed an interim analysis of fractures in another large ongoing, long-term, controlled rosiglitazone clinical trial, which compared rosiglitazone in combination with either metformin or sulfonylurea to combination therapy with metformin and sulfonylurea. The results of the preliminary analysis were reported to GSK as being consistent with the observations from ADOPT. Final results of this study are anticipated to be available in 2009.

Heart failure and other cardiac adverse events

The product label states that rosiglitazone is not indicated in combination with insulin based on an increased incidence of cardiac failure and other cardiovascular adverse events observed in patients on insulin plus rosiglitazone compared with patients using insulin plus placebo²⁴ Patients who experienced heart failure were on average older, had a longer duration of diabetes, and were for the most part taking rosiglitazone 8 mg daily.

Two placebo-controlled trials of pioglitazone added to insulin reported incidences of congestive heart failure of 12.5%⁸⁸ and 1%.⁹⁵

The pioglitazone product label²³ cites a 24-week postmarketing study comparing pioglitazone with glyburide in patients with New York Heart Association class II and III heart failure. Over the course of the study, overnight hospitalization for congestive heart failure was reported in 9.9% of patients on pioglitazone compared with 4.7% of patients on glyburide. This adverse event associated with pioglitazone was more marked in patients using insulin at baseline and in patients over 64 years of age. No difference in cardiovascular mortality between the treatment groups was observed.

In the PROACTIVE trial,⁶⁰ rates of any report of congestive heart failure were increased with pioglitazone compared with placebo (P < 0.0001), but rates of fatal heart failure were not different between groups (P=0.634)

Adverse events reported in active-control trials

Overall withdrawals, withdrawals due to adverse events, and specific adverse events reported in active-control trials are shown in Appendix I.

Observational studies of adverse events

Direct evidence comparing pioglitazone compared with rosiglitazone

Overview

We identified 12 observational studies that compared adverse events in patients taking pioglitazone with those in patients taking rosiglitazone (Evidence Table 14). Five of these were designed to assess specific adverse events; in the others, adverse events were reported but were not the primary outcome. No new observational studies that directly compared pioglitazone and rosiglitazone were identified for the update.

Observational studies can provide evidence about safety when long-term trials are not available. Few observational studies followed patients for longer than 12 months, however. Quality assessment of these studies is shown in Evidence Table 15.

Lower extremity and pulmonary edema

The prevalence of edema was the primary outcome in a retrospective chart review of 99 patients receiving thiazolidinediones in combination with insulin.¹⁶⁵ The prevalence of edema was 12.7% for patients taking rosiglitazone 4 mg and 5.1% in those taking rosiglitazone 8 mg. Among patients taking pioglitazone, there was an increase in edema with increasing dose (1.3% with 15 mg and 6.3% with 30 mg). There was 1 case of pulmonary edema in a patient taking rosiglitazone.

In a retrospective chart review,¹⁶⁶ pulmonary edema was noted in 2 patients (1.9%) taking pioglitazone and 3 taking rosiglitazone (3.1%). Four of these had existing congestive heart failure treated with diuretics. Another study¹⁶⁷ reported edema in patients with documented heart failure. Fluid retention was seen with the use of both pioglitazone (15.6%) and rosiglitazone (14.3%) across all dosages. Two patients (11%) had physical signs of pulmonary edema, but the study does not report which drug the patients were taking.

Macular edema

The manufacturer of rosiglitazone issued a warning letter in December 2005 regarding postmarketing reports of new onset and worsening diabetic macular edema for patients receiving rosiglitazone.¹⁶⁸ The incidence is not reported, but the warning letter states that reports were very rare. In the majority of these cases, the patients also reported concurrent peripheral edema. We identified no reports of macular edema in placebo-controlled trials or observational studies. Abnormal vision was reported in 2.3% of patients in 1 trial of rosiglitazone in combination with sulfonylureas,¹³² but this was lower than the rate in the placebo group (5.4%).

Heart failure

A retrospective cohort study used claims data to assess the risk of developing heart failure in patients taking pioglitazone (N=1347) or rosiglitazone (1882) for up to 40 months.¹⁶⁹ Compared with a control group of patients who did not take thiazolidinediones, the hazard ratio for pioglitazone was 1.92 (95% CI 1.24 to 2.97), and for rosiglitazone 2.27 (95% CI 1.65 to 3.13). There was no significant difference in the risk of developing heart failure between these 2 drugs (P=0.091).

A retrospective database study designed to assess the prevalence of edema found no documentation of new-onset heart failure or exacerbations of existing heart failure in patients initiating thiazolidinediones therapy plus insulin.¹⁶⁵ The study authors caution, however, that documentation of heart failure was poor and that the data may be unreliable.

Weight gain

Seven comparative observational studies reported weight gain in follow-up periods ranging from 8 weeks to 1 year (Table 15).^{166, 170-175} There was no difference in the amount of weight gain in patients taking pioglitazone compared with rosiglitazone in any study.

Table 15. Nange of weight gain reported in comparative observational studies							
Study ^a	Duration	Weight gain with pioglitazone (kg)	Weight gain with rosiglitazone (kg)				
King 2000 ¹⁷⁵	16 weeks	0.5	2.6				
LaCivita 2002 ¹⁷¹	6 months (range 3-11 months)	1.6	1.5				
Boyle 2002 ¹⁷⁰	18 weeks	2.0	1.6				
Olansky 2003 ¹⁷²	12 weeks or longer	2.0	1.6				
Harmel 2002 ¹⁷⁴	25-27 weeks	2.2	1.6				
Hussein 2004 ¹⁶⁶	8 weeks or longer	2.3	2.9				
Gegick 2004 ¹⁷³	1 year	4.1	3.0				

Table 15. Range of weight gain reported in comparative observational studies

^a There was no significant difference between drugs in any study.
Evidence comparing pioglitazone or rosiglitazone to active controls

Seven observational studies reported adverse events associated with thiazolidinediones compared with other active drugs (Table 16, Evidence Tables 16 and 17).¹⁷⁶⁻¹⁸² The adverse events they examined included mortality, coronary heart disease events, heart failure, cancer incidence, and progression to insulin use. Because these studies did not report results separately for pioglitazone and rosiglitazone or they included only 1 of the thiazolidinediones, they do not provide information about the comparative safety of the thiazolidinediones. They do provide information about thiazolidinediones as a class compared with other antidiabetic agents.

In 2 studies, thiazolidinediones were not associated with increased mortality compared with other oral hypoglycemic agents.^{178, 181} In older patients with heart failure thiazolidinediones, either alone or combined with metformin, were associated with a lower risk of death over a 15-month period compared with patients not treated with an insulin sensitizer.¹⁸¹

Two studies reported the incidence of coronary heart disease events (myocardial infarction or revascularization) with thiazolidinediones compared with metformin or sulfonylureas. A good-quality study using United States health insurance data found no increased risk of coronary heart disease events in patients initiating thiazolidinedione monotherapy compared with those initiating metformin plus sulfonylurea combination therapy.¹⁷⁷ The other found similar risks with rosiglitazone compared with sulfonylureas, metformin, or insulin, either alone or in combination.¹⁸² Both studies also found no increased risk in the individual components of the composite outcome with thiazolidinedione use.

Author, Year (Quality)	Comparison	Sample size	Data source, Population description	Main outcomes	Main results
Kahler 2007 ¹⁷⁸ (Fair)	TZD vs. SU monotherapy vs. metformin monotherapy vs. metformin + SU vs. no drugs	39721	Veterans Health Administration data	All-cause mortality (15 months)	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) SU (reference): 1.00 TZDs: 1.04 (0.75 to 1.46) Metformin: 0.87 (0.68 to 1.10) Metformin + SU: 0.92 (0.82 to 1.05) No drugs: 0.90 (0.74 to 1.09)
Masoudi 2005 ¹⁸¹ (Good)	TZDs vs. metformin vs. no insulin sensitizer	16417	Medicare Older patients with heart failure	All-cause mortality (1 year)	Adjusted hazard ratio (95% CI) TZDs: 0.87 (0.80 to 0.94) Metformin: 0.86 (0.78 to 0.97) SU: 0.99 (0.91 to 1.08) Insulin: 0.96 (0.88 to 1.05) TZD+metformin: 0.76 (0.58 to 0.99)
Johannes 2007	TZDs vs. metformin + SU	25140	US health insurance	Coronary heart disease events	Adjusted hazard ratio (95% CI)

Table 16. Observational studies comparing adverse events associated with thiazolidinediones to adverse events associated with active controls

Author.			Data source.		
Year		Sample	Population		
(Quality)	Comparison	size	description	Main outcomes	Main results
(Good)'''			claims data	(myocardial	TZDs: 1.02 (0.87 to 1.20)
				Intarction or	(reference): 1.00
				revascularization)	(Telefence). 1.00
McAfee 2007 (Good) ¹⁸²	Rosiglitazone vs. metformin vs. sulfonylurea	26931	US health insurance claims data Patients with type 2 diabetes	Coronary heart disease events (myocardial infarction or coronary revascularization)	Adjusted hazard ratio (95% CI) Rosiglitazone vs. metformin: 1.07 (0.85 to 1.34) Rosiglitazone vs. SU: 0.82 (0.67 to 1.02) Rosiglitazone combined with insulin vs. other oral antidiabetics combined with insulin: 0.88 (0.59 to 1.32) Rosiglitazone therapy vs. all other non-
					rosiglitazone therapies:
Karter 2005 (Fair) ¹⁷⁹	Pioglitazone vs. SU vs. metformin vs. insulin	23440	Kaiser Permanente Northern California Diabetes Registry	Hospital admission for heart failure (mean 10.2 months)	0.93 (0.80 to 1.10) Adjusted hazard ratio (95% CI) Pioglitazone: 1.28 (0.85 to 1.92) Insulin: 1.56 (1.00 to 2.45) Metformin: 0.70 (0.49 to 0.99) SU (reference): 1.00
Hartung 2005 (Fair) ¹⁸³	TZDs vs. SU vs. metformin vs. metformin + SU vs. insulin vs. insulin + TZD vs. alpha-glucosidase inhibitor	1940	Oregon Medicaid Claims data	Hospital admission for heart failure (within 60 days)	Adjusted odds ratio (95% Cl) TZDs: 1.37 (0.98 to 1.92 SU: 0.95 (0.73 to 1.24) Metformin: 0.97 (0.72 to 1.30) Metformin+SU: 0.90 (0.60 to 1.34) Insulin: 1.25 (0.92 to 1.69) Insulin+TZDs: 1.35 (0.84 to 2.18) Alpha-glucosidase inhibitor: 0.82 (0.28 to 2.18)
Koro 2007 (Fair) ¹⁸⁰	TZDs vs. other antidiabetic agents	126971	US Integrated Healthcare Information Services database	Cancer incidence	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) TZDs (mono- or combination therapy) compared with other anti- diabetic agents Breast cancer: 0.89 (0.68 to 1.15) Colon cancer:

Author, Year (Quality)	Comparison	Sample size	Data source, Population description	Main outcomes	Main results
					1.03 (0.84 to 1.32) Prostate cancer: 1.04 (0.83 to 1.31)
Hanefeld 2006 (Poor) ¹⁷⁶	Pioglitazone vs. glibenclamide	500	Primary care sites, Germany Patients with type 2 diabetes insufficiently controlled on metformin alone	Progression to insulin	Pioglitazone: 55/250 (22%) Glibenclamide: 138/250 (55%) <i>P</i> <0.001

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; SU, sulfonylurea; TZD, thiazolidinedione.

Hospital admission for congestive heart failure was the main outcome in a fair-quality cohort study that used data from a Kaiser Permanente diabetes registry.¹⁷⁹ Relative to patients initiating therapy with sulfonylrueas, patients initiating therapy with thiazolidinediones were no more likely to experience a hospitalization for heart failure after an average of 10.2 months of follow-up. A case-control study based on Oregon Medicaid claims data, in contrast, found a trend suggesting increased risk of hospitalization for heart failure associated with exposure to thiazolidinediones within the previous 60 days.¹⁸³ Increased risk was also found with exposure to insulin and to the combination of insulin plus thiazolidinediones, but not for other oral antidiabetic agents.

A series of nested case-control studies found no difference in the incidence of breast, colon, or prostate cancer associated with exposure to thiazolidinediones compared with other oral diabetic medications or insulin.¹⁸⁰

A study conducted in 500 primary care patients in Germany found fewer patients progressed to insulin therapy when taking pioglitazone than when taking a sulfonylurea.¹⁷⁶ However, because this study did not control for confounders and did not clearly report its recruitment strategy and other methods, these results may be biased.

We identified 43 additional uncontrolled studies of adverse events associated with individual thiazolidinediones.¹⁸⁴⁻²²¹ These studies are summarized in Evidence Tables 18 (pioglitazone), 19 (rosiglitazone), and 20 (new studies added for the updated report). Their results were consistent with evidence from randomized controlled trials and comparative observational studies. Conclusions that can be drawn from this body of evidence are limited because the studies do not provide information about comparative safety of the drugs.

Key Question 7 (NOT UPDATED). How do thiazolidinediones compare to sulfonylureas in serious hypoglycemic events, functional status, and quality of life?

Summary of the Evidence

Hypoglycemia

Pioglitazone

- 1 fair-quality study reported significantly fewer hypoglycemic events with pioglitazone than with a sulfonylurea (P < 0.05).
- Severe hypoglycemic episodes were not reported in any patient taking pioglitazone.

Rosiglitazone

- The incidence of hypoglycemia was variable compared to a sulfonylurea (4 studies).
- Combination therapy (rosiglitazone + various sulfonylureas or rosiglitazone + glibenclamide) increased rates of hypoglycemia over sulfonylurea monotherapy (2 studies).

Functional status and quality of life

- No evidence upon which to draw conclusions

Detailed Assessment

Update report: This question was not included in the updated report. The effects of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone on hypoglycemic events are reviewed in the section addressing adverse events.

Trials comparing pioglitazone or rosiglitazone to a sulfonylurea are presented in Tables 17 and 18. There were no comparative data on functional status or quality of life from any efficacy or effectiveness trial that compared thiazolidinediones and sulfonylureas for the time period for study inclusion. We did, however, identify a study after our cut-off point for our search, and we discuss this study separately below.¹¹⁰ There were no direct comparisons of the incidence of hypoglycemic events with pioglitazone and rosiglitazone compared with a sulfonylurea. Comparisons of pioglitazone and a sulfonylurea revealed fewer events with pioglitazone. Comparisons of rosiglitazone to sulfonylurea had variable effects on hypoglycemic episodes.

Six trials examined the incidence of hypoglycemic events among pioglitazone and sulfonylurea treatment groups and the incidence was less with pioglitazone in all 6 studies, 2 of which were of poor quality (Table 17). Statistical comparisons were presented in only 3 of these studies, however, and 2 demonstrated significantly lower rates of hypoglycemia with pioglitazone (fair quality, $P=0.024^{222}$ and poor quality, $P<0.001^{223}$). Severe hypoglycemic episodes (variably defined among studies) were not reported in any patient taking pioglitazone.

The incidence of hypoglycemic events among persons taking rosiglitazone monotherapy compared to sulfonylurea monotherapy was only examined in 1 study (Table 18). The incidence was lower with rosiglitazone compared to glyburide.²²⁴ Three additional studies examined combined therapy with rosiglitazone and a sulfonylurea compared with monotherapy with the sulfonylurea. In all 3 studies the rates for hypoglycemic events were higher with the combined therapy.²²⁵⁻²²⁷

Rosenstock and colleagues¹¹⁰ published a study after our cut-off for inclusion, as mentioned above. This randomized controlled trial compared rosiglitazone 4 mg daily to placebo, with both treatment groups receiving glipizide 10 mg twice daily. At 2-year follow-up, the incidence of symptomatic hypoglycemia was similar in the 2 treatment groups (32% with rosiglitazone plus glipizide compared with 27% with glipizide alone). The rosiglitazone group had high scores on the Diabetes Treatment Satisfaction Questionnaire than the control group (P<0.001). Health-related quality of life as measured by the SF-36 deteriorated in the comparison group (suggesting deterioration in health) while there were no significant changes in the rosiglitazone group (no data values or statistics were presented, however).

Study	Dosago	Comparison	Hypoglycemic events (% of patients with an	Functional status	Study
Charbonnel BH 2004 ²²⁸	45 mg daily	Gliclazide up to 160 mg twice daily	Pio: 3.5% Gliclazide: 10.1%, 1/63 required hospitalization No statistics	NR NR	Poor
Langenfeld MR 2005 ²²⁹ Pfutzer A 2005 ²³⁰	45 mg daily	Glimepiride 1-6 mg daily; Average 2.7 mg daily	Pio: 21 episodes in 17/89 patients (19%) Glimepiride: 26 episodes in 17/84 patients (20%) <i>P</i> =0.86 No episodes of severe hypoglycemia (need for external aid)	NR NR	Fair
Matthews 2005 ²³¹	15-45 mg daily 70% on 45 mg daily All received metformin	Gliclazide 80-320 mg daily 33% on 320 mg daily All received metformin	Pio: 1.3% Gliclazide: 11.2%; 2/35 withdrew None reported as severe	NR NR	Fair
Tan 2004 (a ²²³)	30-45 mg daily 75% on 45 mg daily	Glibenclamide: 1.75-10.5 mg daily 62% on 10.5 mg daily	Incidence of any hypoglycemia greater in glibenclamide group (<i>P</i> <0.0001) Number of events NR	NR NR	Poor
Tan 2004 ²²²	15-45 mg daily Mean dosage 37 mg daily	Glimepiride 2-8 mg daily Mean dosage 6 mg daily	Pio: 15.7% Glimepiride: 30.9% <i>P</i> =0.024 No data on severity	NR NR	Fair
Watanabe 2004 ²³²	15 mg or more daily (range NR) Mean 17.3 mg daily	Glibenclamide: 1.25-2.5 mg daily Mean dosage 1.56 mg daily	Pio: no events Glibenclamide: 1 episode in 14 patients (7.1%); led to withdrawal from study; no other details	NR NR	Fair

Table 17. Comparisons of pioglitazone to sulfonylureas for the outcomes of serious hypoglycemic events, functional status, and quality of life

Abbreviations: NR, not recorded; pio, pioglitazone.

			Incidence of		
Study	Dosage	Comparison sulfonylurea	hypoglycemic events (% of patients with an event)	Functional status HRQL	Study quality
Baski A 2004 ²²⁵	4 mg twice daily + gliclazide 160 mg daily	Gliclazide 160 mg daily	Rosi: 6% total; 1% severe Gliclazide: 2% total; 0.4% severe Definition: Inability to perform normal daily activities	NR NR	Fair
Kerenyi A 2004 ²²⁷	8 mg daily + glibenclamide 7.5 mg daily	Glibenclamide 7.5 - 15 mg daily	Rosi + glibenclamide: 18.5% total; 0.6%; 6/165 withdrawals for hypoglycemia Glibenclamide: 4.1% total; 0% severe; no withdrawals for hypoglycemia	NR NR	Fair
St John Sutton M 2002 ²²⁴	4 mg twice daily	Glyburide mean 10.5 mg daily	Rosi: 1.9% had signs or symptoms; none required treatment Glyburide: 7.1% (3/7 required treatment); no withdrawals	NR NR	Fair
Vongthavaravat V 2002 ²²⁶	2 mg twice daily + various SU	Various SU	Rosi: 11.6% total; severe in 1/19 episodes SU: 1.2% total; 0% severe Between-group <i>P</i> <0.001	NR NR	Fair

Table 18. Comparisons of rosiglitazone to sulfonylureas for the outcomes of hypoglycemic events, functional status, and quality of life

Abbreviations: NR, not reported; SU, sulfonylurea; rosi, rosiglitazone.

Key Question 8. Are there subgroups of persons with type 2 diabetes based on demographic characteristics or co-morbidities for which the benefits and adverse effects of pioglitazone or rosiglitazone differ form those in general populations, compared to each other and to other hypoglycemic agents?

Studies examining subgroups based on demographic characteristics or comorbidities are summarized in Table 19. Most studies were conducted in the United States or in Western Europe and examined white populations. Some studies included minority populations but did not present subgroup analyses on these populations.¹⁵⁶ Thus there are very limited data on the comparative effectiveness of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone among persons with various demographic characteristics and no conclusions can be drawn as to which drug is more efficacious or effective, or associated with fewer side effects in population subgroups.

Most of the studies identified in this review examined persons with type 2 diabetes without significant comorbidities such as coronary heart disease, heart failure, or renal insufficiency. Thus there is a paucity of data on the interaction of thiazolidinediones and microand macrovascular diseases that are highly prevalent among persons with diabetes, and no conclusions can be drawn on the comparative effectiveness of the 2 drugs under review among populations with significant comorbidities.

Subgroups based on demographic characteristics

In the original report, only 2 publications examined subgroups defined by age. Kreider and colleagues²³³ pooled the results of 8 randomized controlled trials examining monotherapy with rosiglitazone and examined subgroups of age less than and greater than 70 years. They found no differences between the 2 age groups for A1c and found rosiglitazone well tolerated in both age groups. The percentage of persons with at least 1 adverse event was comparable between the rosiglitazone and placebo groups, and between persons older and younger than 70 years. The incidence of anemia was higher in older patients taking rosiglitazone than in younger patients taking the drug and treatment patients had higher rates of anemia than patients in the placebo group. Weight gain was higher in the under-seventy group (2.14 kg) than the over-seventy group (1.66 kg) and the placebo groups (<70 years, -0.41 kg; >70 years, -1.34 kg).

Rajagopalan and colleagues²⁰² examined the effect of pioglitazone on glucose control and lipid levels in patients <65 and \geq 65 years using data from 5 separate trials (4 trials were unpublished data from Takeda Pharmaceuticals and the fifth study was by Rosenblatt et al.,⁹⁴ a placebo-controlled trial found in Evidence Table 5). The study by Rosenblatt and colleagues⁹⁴ was of fair quality; we were unable to assess the quality of the unpublished trials. Both age groups demonstrated comparable improvements in both A1c and lipid levels with pioglitazone monotherapy or combined therapy. Adverse cardiovascular events and hypoglycemia were similar in the younger and older age groups treated with pioglitazone monotherapy and with pioglitazone combined with metformin. Hypoglycemia was 2-fold higher in the older-aged group using pioglitazone combined with a sulfonylurea or insulin.

Several studies examined racial or ethnic minorities. King compared Mexican Americans with non-Hispanic persons in a retrospective cohort study and found that A1c and weight changed to a similar degree in both populations. Jun and colleagues²³⁴ examined 100% Hispanics, and pioglitazone produced a decrease in A1c of 2.0% at 6 months. Twelve Chinese persons with nephropathy and type 2 diabetes were exposed to rosiglitazone over 15.5 months with improved A1c, a nonsignificant increase in weight, and no adverse events.²³⁵ Pioglitazone was as effective as glimepiride among 244 Mexican patients.²²²

Barnett and colleages¹¹³ examined the use of rosiglitazone in an Indian and Pakistani population in the United Kingdom and noted results and adverse events comparable to other placebo-controlled trials discussed above. Vongthavaravat et al.²²⁶ examined a mixed Asian and white population and their results were also consistent with findings in largely white populations in other studies of rosiglitazone.

In the updated report, several additional studies of rosiglitazone provided data on subgroups based on demographic data.^{57, 105, 110, 145} In a combination therapy, double-blind study (N=365) both groups received combination tablets of glyburide/metformin. The addition of rosiglitazone achieved greater reduction in A1c than the addition of placebo (between-group difference -1.0%, P<0.001). An improvement in A1c was demonstrated across age, sex, and racial subgroups.¹⁰⁵

In a study of older adults with type 2 diabetes,¹¹⁰ A1c improved with rosiglitazone plus glipizide 10 mg twice a day compared with glipizide alone at 2-year follow-up (between-group change in A1c -0.79%, P<0.0001).

In a double-blind study (N=318) in subjects who had failed to achieve adequate control on metformin,¹⁴⁵ metformin 1000 mg/glibenclamide 5 mg was compared with metformin 1500-2000 mg plus rosiglitazone 4 mg daily. Reduction in A1c was greater in the glibenclamide group

at 24 weeks follow-up as noted above. This larger decrease in A1c occurred in the glibenclamide group across strata defined by sex, race, age, baseline A1c, or entry metformin dose.

In ADOPT,⁵⁷ rosiglitazone was more effective than glyburide in all subgroups for the primary outcome of monotherapy failure: age ≤ 50 years, between 50 and 59 years, and ≥ 60 years; males and females; body mass index ≤ 30 kg/m², between 30 and 35 kg/m², and ≥ 35 kg/m²; baseline fasting plasma glucose ≤ 140 mg/dL and > 140 mg/dL; and waist circumference ≤ 99 cm, >99 - 110 cm, and > 110 cm.

Comorbidities and other population characteristics

Patients with impaired renal function were examined in several studies. Agrawal and colleagues¹¹² examined patients with renal impairment (creatinine clearance 30-80 mL/min) and found that rosiglitazone had similar effects on A1c in patients with and without renal impairment. In a retrospective chart review²³⁶ of patients on dialysis with end stage renal disease, rosiglitazone was associated with weight gain and a decrease in hematocrit at 3-month follow-up compared with pioglitazone. Data for pioglitazone, however, were not presented, limiting conclusions that can be drawn.

In a fair-quality study pooling 2 randomized controlled trials that compared rosiglitazone plus metformin combined therapy with metformin monotherapy, Jones and colleagues¹¹⁸ examined subgroups with body mass index < 25 kg/m², 25-30 kg/m², and >30 kg/m². They noted greater improvement in A1c with rosiglitazone 4 or 8 mg daily plus metformin than with metformin monotherapy (*P*=0.025). Safety profiles were similar in all 3 subgroups. Weight gain was noted in the obese group (body mass index > 30 kg/m²) receiving metformin plus rosiglitazone (2.5 kg), while weight loss of 0.9 kg was found in obese patients on metformin alone. Weight change was not reported for the other body mass index subgroups.

Patients with diagnosed coronary artery disease were examined in 3 studies which were described above in Key Question 2, as these were the only studies that reported cardiovascular outcomes. Wang and colleagues¹⁰³ examined 70 Chinese with coronary artery disease and type 2 diabetes and noted significant improvement in A1c with rosiglitazone with change in weight similar to the to no-treatment control group. The primary and composite endpoint of coronary events (including death) was significantly decreased in the rosiglitazone group (*P* value reported as both <0.05 and <0.01). Wang and colleagues¹⁵⁸ also examined Chinese persons with metabolic syndrome and found that fasting plasma glucose did not improve significantly in either the rosiglitazone or the placebo group (A1c was not presented).

In a poor-quality study, Choi and colleagues¹⁵² compared treatment with rosiglitazone plus conventional antidiabetic therapy among patients undergoing coronary catheterization to conventional treatment. At 6-month follow-up there were no significant differences in glycemic control or lipid concentrations between the 2 groups. The rate of restenosis and the stenosis diameter were less in the rosiglitazone group (between-group P=0.03).

Thirty-one postmenopausal women were examined in a poor-quality, placebo-controlled trial of rosiglitazone 4 mg daily.¹⁰¹ Results were similar to other placebo-controlled trials and no adverse events were reported.

No studies explicitly examined populations with a history of hypoglycemic episodes. Nor were studies identified that examined the effect of concomitant medications on the comparative effectiveness of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone. Most studies permitted the use of a variety of antihypertensive, cardiac, and cholesterol-lowering medications among participants. Subgroup or

other stratified analyses were not performed to allow examination of drug-drug interactions with the thiazolidinediones.

In the updated report, we identified new data on the use of thiazolidinediones in persons with comorbidities, particularly with cardiovascular disease. Since the publication of the large PROACTIVE study⁶⁰ (discussed above) which compared pioglitazone with placebo, several additional subgroup analyses have been published, including of subjects with prior myocardial infarction⁷⁹ or stroke.⁸⁰ In the subgroup of patients with a previous myocardial infarction at baseline⁷⁹ (N=2445) pioglitazone had a significant beneficial effect on fatal and nonfatal myocardial infarction (28% risk reduction, P=0.045) and acute coronary syndrome (37% risk reduction, P=0.035). There were no significant differences between groups for cardiovascular death or nonfatal myocardial infarction, or stroke, although event rates in the pioglitazone group were consistently lower than with placebo. Rates of heart failure requiring hospitalization or fatal heart failure occurred in a greater proportion of patients in the myocardial infarction subgroup (11.6%) than in subjects without prior myocardial infarction (7.0%, P<0.0001). The change in A1c was -0.8% (interquartile range -1.6% to -0.1%) in the pioglitazone group P<0.0001).

In another prespecified subgroup analysis of the PROACTIVE trial, pioglitazone was examined in subjects with (N=984) and without (N=4254) a prior stroke.⁸⁰ In subjects with prior stroke, there was a trend towards benefit with pioglitazone for the primary composite endpoint (all-cause death, nonfatal myocardial infarction, acute coronary syndrome, and cardiac interventions, stroke, amputation above the ankle, or revascularization) (hazard ratio 0.78, 95% CI 0.60 to 1.02). Also in the group with prior stroke, pioglitazone reduced fatal or nonfatal stroke (hazard ratio 0.53, 95% CI 0.34 to 0.85). In the subgroup without prior stroke, pioglitazone did not reduce the risk of first stroke.

Several other smaller recent trials also examined comorbidity subgroups with pioglitazone. In a small, open-label study in subjects with overt diabetic nephropathy (mean creatinine 2.6 mg/dL and 2.4 mg/dL in the pioglitazone and glipizide groups, respectively), A1c decreased more with pioglitazone (change -0.1 [standard deviation 1.2]) than with glipizide (change -0.4 [standard deviation 1.8]) (between-group *P* value 0.52).¹³³ A small, placebo-controlled pioglitazone monotherapy study in persons newly diagnosed with type 2 diabetes and coronary heart disease found was no significant difference between groups in change in A1c.²³⁷

In a small randomized controlled trial (N=47) patients with impaired glucose tolerance or type 2 diabetes in addition to nonalcoholic steatohepatitis received either pioglitazone 45 mg daily or placebo, in addition to a weight loss intervention.⁸² Glycemic control improved with pioglitazone compared with placebo (P<0.001), with a decrease in weight and body mass index with pioglitazone compared with placebo (P=0.003 and 0.005, respectively). Liver aminotransferase levels normalized with pioglitazone, and plasma aspartate and alanine aminotransferase levels, along with hepatic fat content, all decreased with pioglitazone compared with placebo (P<0.05). Histologic changes in the liver also improved significantly with pioglitazone. In this fair-quality trial, patients were not stratified with respect to type 2 diabetes or impaired glucose tolerance status.

In another small study, patients with acute coronary syndrome received pioglitazone or no additional treatment starting 2 weeks after percutaneous, bare metal stent placement.⁹³ Determined from quantitative angiography at 6 months, the late luminal loss was less in the pioglitazone group than in the control group (P=0.0008) and the restenosis rate was decreased

(between-group P=0.0052). Major cardiac events (myocardial infarction or revascularization of the target lesion) were significantly decreased in the pioglitazone group at 6 months compared with the control group (7.7% compared with 60.7%, P<0.0001). No deaths occurred in either group.

Several studies in the updated report examined rosiglitazone with comorbidities. In a very small (N=16), poor-quality randomized controlled trial, subjects with coronary stent implantation were randomized to rosiglitazone 4-8 mg daily or placebo for 6 months. Rosiglitazone did not reduce in-stent restenosis. There were no differences in cardiac events between the groups.¹⁰⁸ Lautamaki and colleagues noted a decrease in A1c compared with placebo in a study of combination therapy in patients with coronary artery disease (P<0.0001 compared with placebo).¹⁰⁶

Author, Year Quality	Country Setting	Study design	Race/ ethnicity	Concurrent hypoglycemic treatment	Inclusion criteria Exclusion criteria	Mean age (SD) Gender	Baseline A1c (SD) Weight (SD) or BMI (SD)	A1c outcomes	Adverse events and tolerability
Pioglitaz	one								
Jun JK 2003 Fair, for case series	USA Single center	Time series retrospective chart review	Hispanic 100%	SU 50% Insulin 52% Metformin 70%	Hispanic, >18 y, DM2, uncontrolled hyperglycemia with A1c≥8.0%; have taken Pio for at least 6m; A1c within 1m before start of Pio; have at least 2 A1c measures at 3-m intervals during the 6-m period; lipid panel within 1m before start Exclusion criteria: noncompliant with Pio as noted in chart	54.6 (8.5) yr 83% female	10.4% (1.7%) 78.9 (21.4) kg 32.0 (8.1) kg/m ²	6-month follow-up A1c: -2.0% (<i>P</i> <0.0001)	8 patients (5.6%) withdrew secondary to significant peripheral edema; 1 patient had exacerbation of congestive heart failure, 1 reported myalgias.
King AB 2003 Fair (for cohort study)	USA Single center	Cohort with comparison group Retrospective chart review	98 non-Hispanic Caucasians and 81 Mexican- Americans	SU 55% Insulin 0% Metformin 21%	Clinic patients with DM2, treated with Pio 45 mg/d for 6m or more without interruption; A1c and lipids available on the chart within 4w of starting treatment and approximately 4m into treatment Exclusion criteria: patients whose lipid- lowering medication was changed during study period	Hispanics: 52.7 (15.2) yr Non-Hispanics: 61.2 (12.8) yr % female NR	Hispanics: 8.2% (1.9%) non-Hispanics: 8.0% (1.9%) Hispanics: 89.2 (NR) kg Non-Hispanics: 99.6 (NR) kg	A1c at 3-m follow-up Hispanic: - 1.2(1.8) Non-Hispanic: 1.1(1.4)	No AEs presented Weight gain: Hispanics 1.41 kg, Caucasians 1.64 kg (<i>P</i> =0.54)
Rajagopalan R., 2004 NA (based on 5 other studies, 1 of fair quality; data not available in 4)	Countries NR Multicenter trials	5 RCTs, 1 published (Rosenblatt 2001), others unpublished by Takeda Pharmaceutic als	NR	2 placebo- controlled Pio monotherapy trials; 1trial each of Pio combined with metformin, sulfonylurea, or insulin	Inclusion: Patients 30-75 years, BMI 25-40 mg/m ² , fasting c-peptide >0.331 nmol/L, normal thyroid function Exclusion: NYHA class III or IV status , significant renal or hepatic disease, uncontrolled hypertension, coronary artery disease or stroke in last 6m	Two subgroups examined: <65 and ≥65 years; mean age and % female NR	< and >65 years reported as ranges for the 5 studies combined A1c: 9.8% to 10.9%; 8.9% to 10.3% BMI, weight NR	Mean decrease from baseline in A1c 0.53 to 1.94%; older group had similar response to younger group; both groups also benefits to a comparable degree for lipid levels	Adverse cardiovascular events and hypoglycemia were similar in the younger and older age groups treated with Pioglitazone monotherapy and with Pioglitazone combined with metformin. Hypoglycemia was 2-fold higher in the

Table 19. Studies examining subgroups based on demographic characteristics or comorbidities

Author,				Concurrent		Mean age	Baseline A1c (SD)		
Year Quality	Country Setting	Study design	Race/ ethnicity	hypoglycemic treatment	Inclusion criteria Exclusion criteria	(SD) Gender	Weight (SD) or BMI (SD)	A1c outcomes	Adverse events and tolerability
									older-aged group using Pioglitazone combined with a sulfonylurea or insulin.
Tan M 2004 (glimepiride study) Fair	Mexico Multicenter	RCT, AC, DB	Hispanic 99%, white 1%	None	Patients with DM2 and A1c >7.5% and ≤11.0%in patients who were not receiving oral hypoglycemic agents, and >7.5% and ≤9.5% in patients who were receiving oral agents. Patients must have had a trial of diet and lifestyle interventions before study enrollment Exclusion criteria: significant functional limitation (NYHA class III or IV; triglycerides >400 mg/dl; serum creatinine >2.0 mg/dl; renal transplantation or current renal dialysis; ALT or AST > 2.5 times upper limit of normal; clinical signs or symptoms of liver disease; Hg<115 g/l for women and <115g/l for men; BMI <25 or >35 kg/m ² ; signs or symptoms of substance abuse	55.3 (NR) yr 51% female	NR 74.4 (NR) kg	A1c at 1-year follow-up Pio: -0.8% Glimepiride: - 0.7% Between-group <i>P</i> value = 0.64	Incidence of treatment-emergent and severe AEs was similar in the 2 groups
Rosiglita	zone								
Agrawal, A 2003 Fair, based on secondary data	UK Multicenter	RCT, PC, DB, secondary data from 3 RCTs examined subgroup with decreased renal function	NR	Added to various SU	Patients currently treated with SU Exclusion criteria: patients of child- bearing potential, serum creatinine level >1.8 mg/dl	61.6 (NR) yr 38% female	9.15% (NR) 28.8 (NR) kg/m²	A1c at 6m: Between-group change -1.1% for both renal impaired and nonimpaired patients	% AEs was similar for patients in both treatment groups when comparing those with renal impairment and those without, including incidence

							Baseline		
Author, Year Quality	Country Setting	Study design	Race/ ethnicity	Concurrent hypoglycemic treatment	Inclusion criteria Exclusion criteria	Mean age (SD) Gender	A1c (SD) Weight (SD) or BMI (SD)	A1c outcomes	Adverse events and tolerability
		(creatinine clearance 30- 80 ml/min)							of hypoglycemia; edema more common in patients with normal renal function in both treatment groups (no statistics)
Barnett, A 2003 Fair	UK Multicenter	RCT, PC, DB	Indian: 60%; Pakistani: 27%; Bangladeshi: 9.5%; Sri Lankan: 3%; Mauritian: less than 1%	Added to SU	Patients with DM2 taking SU for at least 4 months with dose unchanged within 2 months before start of study, those taking medications that affect glucose or lipids were eligible if doses remained constant at screening and during study period Exclusion criteria: patients of child- bearing potential, severe hypertension, anemia or blood disorders, congestive heart failure, significant liver disease, a weight variance of >5% between screening baseline	54.2 (NR) yr 22% female	9.13% (NR) 26.6 (NR) kg/m²	A1c at 26 weeks Rosi: -1.16, Placebo 0.26 (<i>P</i> <0.001)	Treatment- emergent AEs in 70% Rosi and 75% with placebo; withdrawals for AEs: Rosi 5%, placebo 10% Weight (kg): Rosi 3.9, placebo -0.1 (<i>P</i> <0.001)
Chan NN 2004 (Observation al study)	USA Single center	Cohort, single group	Chinese	Monotherapy	Twelve insulin-treated DM2 patients with nephropathy who were started on ROSI due to suboptimal glycemic control and progressive weight gain All patients had diabetic nephropathy, with urinary albumin- creatinine ratio >25 mg/mmol; mean serum creatinine 223.1 (68.1) Exclusion criteria: none reported	65 (8.3) yr 58% female	8.6% (NR) 71.7 (NR) kg	A1c at 15.5m: -1.1 (<i>P</i> =0.01)	LFT: no significant increase in ALT Hematocrit: NSD weight gain 2.2 kg (<i>P</i> =0.08)

Author, Year Quality	Country Setting	Study design	Race/ ethnicity	Concurrent hypoglycemic treatment	Inclusion criteria Exclusion criteria	Mean age (SD) Gender	Baseline A1c (SD) Weight (SD) or BMI (SD)	A1c outcomes	Adverse events and tolerability
Choi D 2004 (Observation al study)	Korea Single center	RCT	Korean	Combined therapy with a variety of hypoglycemic agents used by both groups (SU, metformin, α - glucosidase inhibitor, or insulin); % son each drug not specified	95 previously-treated diabetics who had recent acute MI or stable or unstable angina and underwent coronary stent implantation at a Korean university hospital Exclusion criteria: prior treatment with TZDs, ejection fraction <35%, liver or renal disease, pregnancy, reference vessel diameter <2.75mm	59.9 (9.3) yr 30%	7.72% (1.13%) 68.1 (11.0) kg 24.8 (3.35) kg/m ²	6 months: Intervention change: -0.61 (1.15) Control change: -0.75 (1.07)	"No patient had significant side effects, such as an elevation in the liver enzyme levels."
Honisett, S 2003 Poor	Australia NR	RCT, PC, DB	NR	80% continued their use of metformin, SU, or both	Women, diagnosed with DM2 1-12 years prior to study; all postmenopausal Exclusion criteria: none reported	NR 100% female	NR NR	A1c change at 12 weeks: -1.2%, <i>P</i> =0.001	No AEs were reported to the investigators
Jones, T 2003 Fair	USA NR	RCT, PC, open-label	NR	Added to metformin	Patients of non-child- bearing potential, aged 40-80 years, diagnosed with DM2, fasting C- peptide >0.8 ng/ml at screening, maintaining a FPG level (between >140 mg/dL- <300 mg/dL) prior to randomization Exclusion criteria: patients with clinically significant renal or hepatic disease, angina, cardiac insufficiency, symptomatic diabetic neuropathy, significant clinical abnormality on ECG, history of chronic insulin therapy, participation in any previous rosi-related study	59.9 (NR) yr 32% female	8.83% (NR) 28.2 kg/m2	BMI<25: Rosi 8 mg+metformin -0.3; metformin alone 0.3 BMI 25-30: Rosi 8 mg+ metformin: - 0.7; metformin alone 0.1 BMI >30: Rosi: 8 mg+ metformin -1.0; metformin alone 0.2 Data from graphs, exact values NR rosi vs. metformin <i>P</i> <0.025 for all 3 groups	AE profile not different between normal weight, overweight, and obese

Author, Year Quality	Country Setting	Study design	Race/ ethnicity	Concurrent hypoglycemic treatment	Inclusion criteria Exclusion criteria	Mean age (SD) Gender	Baseline A1c (SD) Weight (SD) or BMI (SD)	A1c outcomes	Adverse events and tolerability
Kreider M 2002 NA (based on 8 other studies, primary data not available)	USA Multicenter	Secondary data: 8 studies, either PC or AC, DB	% White: <70years: 79% >70years: 91%	Monotherapy, elderly	DM2, FPG varied among studies, range 7.8-16.9 mmol/l; age varied, range 30-80y; BMI 22-38 kg/m2 Patients stratified by < or >=70y Efficacy data pooled from 3 monotherapy studies of 26w duration Significant renal disease; angina or cardiac insufficiency, symptomatic diabetic neuropathy, hepatic disease, history of diabetic ketoacidosis, history of chronic insulin use, other serious major illness	<70 years: 56 >70 years: 73 37% female	<70 years: Rosi: 8.8% (1.5%); placebo 9.0% (1.7%) >70 years: rosi: 8.6% (1.4%); placebo 8.9% (1.5%) BMI: <70 years: Rosi: 29.8 (4.1) kg/m ² ; placebo 29.8 (4.2) kg/m ² ; placebo 28.4 (4.1) kg/m ² ;	A1c at 26 weeks <70 years: Rosi 4 mg daily: -0.2; 8 mg daily -0.5; placebo 0.8 >70 years: Rosi 4 mg daily: -0.1; 8 mg daily: -0.4; placebo 1.0 NSD between the 2 age groups	Hypoglycemic episodes occurred in <1% on ROSI in either age group; 2 patients <70y in Rosi group discontinued treatment because of hypoglycemia
Vongthavara vat V., 2002 Fair	Various Asia and South AmericaMul ticenter	RCT, no- treatment control, open- label	White (38.3%); Black (3.0%); Asian (57.5%); Other (1.2%)	Added to SU	Patients with DM2 (as defined by the National Diabetes Data group criteria) who had been receiving SU therapy (glibenclamide, glipizide, gliclazide, chlorpropamide, tolbutamide, or glimepiride) for at least 6 months and if SU dose had been constant for at least 2 months before the screening visit; between 40 and 80 years of age and FPG 126 to 270 mg/dl at screening.Exclusion criteria: Significant renal or hepatic impairment, hypertension, anemia, abnormal blood cell counts or hypertension;	56.0 (NR) yr 56% female	NR 68.9 kg 27.1 kg/m²	A1c change at 26 weeks:Rosi+S U: -1.1(95% CI -1.37, -0.89); SU control: 0.1(-0.1-0.2)	Hypoglycemia (%)Rosi+SU: 11.6; SU control: 1.2 (<i>P</i> <0.001) Serious AE (%): Rosi+SU: 2.4; SU control: 5.3

Author, Year	Country	Study	Race/	Concurrent hypoglycemic	Inclusion criteria	Mean age (SD)	Baseline A1c (SD) Weight (SD)	A1c	Adverse events
<u>Quality</u>	Setting	<u>design</u>	ethnicity	treatment	Exclusion criteria severe angina, coronary insufficiency, heart failure, EKG evidence of left ventricular hypertrophy; patients requiring insulin or who had taken investigational drugs within 30 days of	<u>Gèndér</u>	or BMI (SD)	outcomes	and tolerability
Wang G., 2005 Fair	China Single center	RCT, no- treatment control, open- label	Chinese (assumed)	Monotherapy	screening. Aged 50 to 73, with a diagnosis of coronary artery disease (>50% stenosis as proven on angiography) and established DM2 Exclusion criteria: Acute MI during the preceding 12 weeks, cardiac insufficiency, renal function impairment, liver function impairment, systemic inflammatory disease, infectious disease, cancer, or a serious illness that would affect participation; insulin treatment.	61.2 (8.6) yr 18% female	7.33% (0.17%) 25.6 (2.7) kg/m ²	Change in A1c reported graphically only (difficult to interpret) Rosi: decreased at 6m compared to control group (<i>P</i> <0.05)	Weight gain: NSD from baseline level and from control group (data not provided)

Author, Year Quality	Country Setting	Study design	Race/ ethnicity	Concurrent hypoglycemic treatment	Inclusion criteria Exclusion criteria	Mean age (SD) Gender	Baseline A1c (SD) Weight (SD) or BMI (SD)	A1c outcomes	Adverse events and tolerability
Wang, T 2004 (Metabolic syndrome only) Fair	Taiwan Multicenter	RCT, PC, open-label	Chinese (assumed)	Monotherapy	Presence of metabolic syndrome and meet at least of the following 3 criteria: waist circumference of >90 cm in men and >80 cm in women, serum TG > 150 mg/dl, HDL <40 mg/dl in men and <50 mg/dl in women, IFG 110-125 mg/dl, BP >130/85 mm Hg or treated hypertension. Exclusion criteria: Patients with acute coronary events, stroke or coronary revascularization within the preceding 3 months; diabetes mellitus according to the criteria of the American Diabetes Association, overt liver disease, chronic renal failure, hypothyroidism, myopathy alcohol/drug abuse, several other significant diseases, use of other lipid- lowering therapy, immunosuppressants, erythromycin, hormone replacement therapy.	59.5 (NR) y 42% female	NR 25.4 (NR) kg/m²	A1c NR FPG: NSD within or between groups (P>0.05)	AEs reported as none

Author, Year Quality	Country Setting	Study design	Race/ ethnicity	Concurrent hypoglycemic treatment	Inclusion criteria Exclusion criteria	Mean age (SD) Gender	Baseline A1c (SD) Weight (SD) or BMI (SD)	A1c outcomes	Adverse events and tolerability
Manley HJ 2003 Fair (Cohort study)	USA Single Center	Retrospective cohort	e NR	Combined therapy, various	Chart review of patients receiving hemodialysis at a US clinic who were prescribed either rosi or pio from 4/2001 to 5/2002 Diabetes was the cause of ESRD in 92.5% Exclusion criteria: none reported	64.8 (11.5) yr Range: 46-85 yr 35% female	8.6% (2.2%) NR	Comparison of rosi to pio: interdialytic weight change Rosi: 3.6 kg at baseline and 3.97 at 3m follow-up (<i>P</i> = 0.0032); hematocrit: Rosi 34.89 at baseline and 34.0 at follow- up; data not provided for pio, but difference between pio and rosi for these 2 variables was reported as significant, but NR direction of pio effects compared to	No data provided on AEs.

Abbreviations: AE, adverse event; DB, double blind; MI, myocardial infarction; NR, not recorded; NSD, no significant difference; NYHA, New York Heart Association; PC, placebo-controlled; pio, pioglitazone; RCT, randomized controlled trial; rosi, rosiglitazone; SU, sulfonylurea.

CONCLUSIONS

Table 20 summarizes results of this review.

	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
Key question	Quality of evidence	Conclusion
Key Question 1: For persons with type 2 diabetes, do pioglitazone and rosiglitazone differ from each other, from placebo, and from other oral hypoglycemic agents in the ability to reduce and	Good	Pioglitazone compared to rosiglitazone: Prior systematic reviews: - Both drugs appear to have similar effects on A1c, producing a decrease of approximately 1%, similar to the change produced with other oral agents (including metformin, glibenclamide, or glimepiride).
maintain A1c levels?		 5 head-to-head studies demonstrated no significant difference between pioglitazone and rosiglitazone on A1c. Indirect comparison demonstrated no difference between pioglitazone and rosiglitazone (difference: -0.13% (95% CI -0.41, 0.33)]. In the longest duration pioglitazone trial (PROACTIVE, mean follow-up 34.5 months), both treatment groups optimized glycemic control with multiple oral agents. A1c change was -0.8% compared with baseline in the pioglitazone group; change ws -0.3% in the placebo groups. In the RESULT study, A1c change was maintained at 2 years with rosiglitazone compared to placebo with both groups receiving glipizide
		Effect of both pioglitazone and rosiglitazone appears to be similar when used in either monotherapy or combination therapy.
		TZDs compared to other oral hypoglycemic agents: In a prior systematic review, there were no between-group differences between thiazolidinediones and metformin (7 randomized controlled trials) or second- generation sulfonylureas (13 randomized controlled trials). Thiazolidinedione plus metformin compared with a second-generation sulfonylurea plus metformin (2 randomized controlled trials) did not show a consistent effect favoring 1 of the combinations, nor did 2 randomized controlled trials comparing thiazolidinediones with repaglinide. One trial comparing pioglitazone to acarbose favored pioglitazone for A1c reduction.
Key Question 2: For persons with type 2 diabetes, do pioglitazone and rosiglitazone differ from	Insufficient	Data are not sufficient to determine the comparative effectiveness of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone on microvascular or macrovascular complications of diabetes as there are no head-

Table 20. Summary of the evidence by Key Question

Key question	Quality of evidence	Conclusion
each other, from placebo, and from other oral hypoglycemic agents in their effects on macrovascular and microvascular complications, and mortality from diabetes?		to-head data and indirect data are sparse. There are also insufficient data to show that either pio or rosi improves macrovascular complications relative to other oral diabetes agents or to placebo treatment. There are no data on microvascular outcomes.
Key Question 3 (NOT UPDATED): For patients with prediabetes or the metabolic syndrome, do thiazolidinediones differ from one another or from placebo in improving weight control when used as monotherapy? b. when added to metformin?	Body of evidence is insufficient: - There are few studies examining the effect of Pio and Rosi in these populations on the outcomes of weight or abdominal obesity.	- It is not possible to conclude whether there is a difference in weight change between Pio and Rosi.
Key Question 4: For persons with pre- diabetes or the metabolic syndrome, do pioglitazone and rosiglitazone differ from one another or from placebo in delaying or preventing the occurrence of type 2 diabetes?	Insufficient for the comparison of pio to rosi Insufficient for comparisons of thiazolidinediones to other oral hypoglycemic agents Fair for rosiglitazone vs. Placebo	There were insufficient data to determine whether pioglitazone and rosiglitazone have different effects on the incidence of diabetes among persons with either prediabetes or the metabolic syndrome. In a large, placebo-controlled trial (DREAM), the hazard ratio for risk of incident diabetes or death was 0.40 (95% CI 0.35 to 0.46; P <0.0001); the hazard ratio for death alone was 0.91 (95% CI 0.55 to 1.49; P =0.7) and for new onset type 2 diabetes 0.38 (95% CI 0.33 to 0.44; P <0.0001). A smaller trial found a nonsignificant reduction in cases of new onset diabetes with rosiglitazone compared to placebo. (0% compared with 3.3%, P =0.08).
Key Question 5: (NOT UPDATED) For patients with prediabetes or metabolic syndrome, is the use of different thiazolidinediones associated with reversal or slower progression of cardiac risk factors, including lipid levels, central obesity, or elevated blood pressure?	Body of evidence is insufficient - Four fair-quality studies provided data relevant to this question.	 Data are insufficient to determine the comparative effectiveness of Pio and Rosi on cardiovascular risk factors among persons with prediabetes or the metabolic syndrome. There were no data to address comparative effect on blood pressure. One fair-quality head-to-head study demonstrated improved lipid levels with pioglitazone compared to rosiglitazone. Data on both drugs from placebo-controlled trials showed mixed effects on lipid levels. Data on the effect of Pio and Rosi on weight and abdominal obesity are few and, as noted above in Key Question 3, it is not possible to conclude if there is a difference between the two drugs for these two outcomes.
Key Question 6: For persons with type 2 diabetes what are the adverse events related to	Good to fair	Adverse events occurring with pioglitazone and rosiglitazone were similar in 3 head-to-head trials. Withdrawals due to adverse events did not differ

Key question	Quality of evidence	Conclusion
pioglitazone and rosiglitazone, and how do these differ from each other, from placebo, and from other oral hypoglycemic agents?		from placebo in trials of pioglitazone (difference from placebo 0%, 95% CI –2% to 2%) or rosiglitazone (–1%, 95% CI –3% to 0%). The incidence of edema was greater for pioglitazaone and rosiglitazone than for placebo, with pooled risk differences from placebo of 4% for pioglitazone (95% CI 2% to 7%) and 8% for rosiglitazone (95% CI 3% to 13%).
Key Question 7 (NOT UPDATED): How do thiazolidinediones compare to sulfonylureas in serious hypoglycemic events, functional status, and quality of life?	Body of evidence is insufficient - Four fair-quality studies were identified relevant to hypoglycemia and sulfonylureas - There were no comparative data on functional status or quality of life from any efficacy or effectiveness trial which compared thiazolidinediones and sulfonylureas.	 Hypoglycemia: Pioglitazone 1 fair-quality study reported significantly fewer hypoglycemic events with Pio than with a sulfonylurea (<i>P</i><0.05). Severe hypoglycemic episodes were not reported in any patient taking pioglitazone. Rosiglitazone The incidence of hypoglycemia was variable compared to a sulfonylurea (4 studies). Combination therapy (Rosi + various sulfonylureas or Rosi + glibenclamide) increased rates of hypoglycemia over sulfonylurea monotherapy (2 studies).
		Functional status and quality of life - No evidence upon which to draw conclusions
Key Question 8: Are there subgroups of persons with type 2 diabetes based on demographic characteristics or comorbidities for which the benefits and adverse effects of pioglitazone or rosiglitazone differ from those in general populations, compared to each other an to other hypoglycemic agents?	Fair for demographic characteristics Poor for comorbidities and other characteristics	 Demographic characteristics The vast majority of studies were conducted in the United States or in Western Europe and examined Caucasian populations. Indirect evidence suggests that Pio and Rosi are equally effective among minority populations. No conclusions can be drawn as to which drug is more efficacious or effective, or associated with fewer side effects in population subgroups including olderaged persons. Analysis of secondary data suggest that both Pio and Rosi monotherapy are well-tolerated in older adults. Comorbidities and other characteristics No conclusions can be drawn on the comparative effectiveness of the 2 drugs under review among populations with significant comorbidities.

REFERENCES

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Diabetes fact sheet: general information and national estimates on diabetes in the United States, 2007. Atlanta, GA: Department of Health and Human Services. *Centers for Disease Control and Prevention*. 2008.
- 2. American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes Care*. 3/1/06 2006;29(Suppl 1):S43-S48.
- **3.** Fagot-Campagna A, Pettitt DJ, Engelgau MM, et al. Type 2 diabetes among North American children and adolescents: an epidemiologic review and a public health perspective. *J Pediatr.* 2000;136(5):664-672.
- **4.** American Diabetes Association. The Prevention or Delay of Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 1/19/06 2003;26(Suppl 1).
- 5. Irons BK, Mazzolini TA, Greene RS. Delaying the Onset of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Patients with Prediabetes. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2004;24(3):362-371.
- 6. Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group. Reduction in the Incidence of Type 2 Diabetes with Lifestyle Intervention or Metformin. *N Engl J Med.* 1/19/06 2002;346(6).
- 7. Tuomilehto J, Lindstrom J, Eriksson JW, al. E. Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. *N Engl J Med.* 2001;344(18):1343-1350.
- 8. Chiasson JL, Josse RG, Gomis R, Hanefeld M, Karasik A, Laakso M. Acarbose for prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus: the Stop-NIDDM randomised trial. *Lancet*. 2002;359.
- **9.** Buchanan TA, Xiang AH, Peters RK, et al. Preservation of pancreatic beta-cell function and prevention of type 2 diabetes by pharmacological treatment of insulin resistance in high-risk hispanic women. *Diabetes*. 2002;51(9):2796-2803.
- **10.** Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ. The metabolic syndrome. *Lancet*. 2005;365(9468):1415-1428.
- **11.** Reaven GM. Banting lecture 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. *Diabetes*. 1988;37(12):1595-1607.
- **12.** NCEP. Executive Summary of the Third Report of the National Cholestrol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation and Treatment of High Blood Cholestrol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). *JAMA*. 2001;285(19).
- **13.** Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. *Diabet Med.* 1998;15(7):539-553.
- **14.** Einhorn D. American College of Endocrinology position statement on the insulin resistance syndrome. *Endrocrine Practice*. May-June 2003;9(3):236-252.
- **15.** Ford E, Giles W, Dietz W. Prevalence of the Metabolic Syndrome Among US Adults. *JAMA*. 2002;287(3).
- **16.** Cook S, Weitzman M, Auinger P, Nguyen M, Dietz W. Prevalence of a Metabolic Syndrome Phenotype in Adolescents. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* August 2003;157.
- **17.** Hu G, Qiao Q, Tuomilehto J, Balkau B, Borch-Johnsen K, Pyorala K. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome and its relation to all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in nondiabetic European men and women. *Arch Intern Med.* May 2004;164.

- Grundy SM, Brewer Jr HB, Cleeman JI, Smith Jr SC, Lenfant C. Definition of Metabolic Syndrome: Report of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute/American Heart Association Conference on Scientific Issues Related to Definition. *Circulation*. 2004;109(3):433-438.
- National Institutes of Health. Third Report of the National Cholestrol Education Program. Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health; 2001. *NIH publication 01-3670*

[http://www.access.gpo.gov/su_docs/locators/net/net_archive/net121001.html.

- **20.** Wagstaff AJ, Goa KL. Rosiglitazone: a review of its use in the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Drugs.* 2002;62(12):1805-1837.
- **21.** Nesto RW, Bell D, Bonow RO, et al. Thiazolidinedione use, fluid retention, and congestive heart failure: a consensus statement from the American Heart Association and American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care*. Jan 2004;27(1):256-263.
- 22. Yki-Jarvinen H. Thiazolidinediones. N Engl J Med. Sep 9 2004;351(11):1106-1118.
- **23.** Actos (pioglitazone) prescribing information. *Available at: http://www.fda.gov/cder/foi/label/2004/21073s023lbl.pdf.* 2004.
- 24. Avandia (rosiglitazone maleate) prescribing information. *Available at: http://www.fda.gov/cder/foi/label/2005/021071s015lbl.pdf.* 2005.
- **25.** Hadigan C, Yawetz S, Thomas A, Havers F, Sax PE, Grinspoon S. Metabolic effects of rosiglitazone in HIV lipodystrophy: a randomized, controlled trial. *Ann Intern Med.* 2004;140(10):786-794.
- **26.** Legro RS, Azziz R, Ehrmann D, Fereshetian AG, O'Keefe M, Ghazzi MN. Minimal response of circulating lipids in women with polycystic ovary syndrome to improvement in insulin sensitivity with troglitazone. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2003;88(11):5137-5144.
- **27.** Jansen PLM. Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 12/26/2007 2004;16(11):1079-1085.
- **28.** Bolen S, Feldman L, Vassy J, et al. Systematic review: comparative effectiveness and safety of oral medications for type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Ann Intern Med.* Sep 18 2007;147(6):386-399.
- **29.** Harris RP, Helfand M, Woolf S. Current methods of the third US Preventative Services Task Force. *Am J Prev Med.* 2001;20(3S):21-35.
- **30.** Anonymous. Undertaking systematic reviews of research on effectiveness: CRD's guidance for those carrying out or commissioning reviews. CRD Report Number 4 (2nd Edition), York, UK. NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination 2001;4(2nd Edition).
- **31.** Higgins J, Green S, Editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions 4.2.5 (updated May 2005). 12/31/2007 2005.
- **32.** DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analyses in clinical trials. *Control Clin Trials*. 1954;7:177-188.
- **33.** Glenny A, Altman D, Song F, et al. Indirect comparisons of competing interventions. . *Health Technology Assessment (Winchester, England).* 2005;9 (26):1-134.
- **34.** Higgins J, Thompson S, Deeks J, Altman D. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ*. 1/25/06 2003;327:557-560.
- **35.** Henry RR. Insulin resistance: from predisposing factor to therapeutic target in type 2 diabetes. *Clin Ther.* 2003;25 Suppl B:B47-63.

- **36.** Inzucchi SE. Oral antihyperglycemic therapy for type 2 diabetes: scientific review. *JAMA*. 2002;287(3):360-372.
- **37.** Meriden T. Progress with thiazolidinediones in the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Clin Ther.* 2004;26(2):177-190.
- **38.** Noble J, Baerlocher MO, Silverberg J. Management of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Role of thiazolidinediones. *Can Fam Physician*. 2005;51:683-687.
- **39.** Stolar MW, Chilton RJ. Type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular risk, and the link to insulin resistance. *Clin Ther.* 2003;25 Suppl B:B4-31.
- **40.** van Wijk JP, de Koning EJ, Martens EP, Rabelink TJ. Thiazolidinediones and blood lipids in type 2 diabetes. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2003;23(10):1744-1749.
- **41.** Chilcott J, Tappenden P, Jones ML, Wight JP. A systematic review of the clinical effectiveness of pioglitazone in the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Clin Ther.* 2001;23(11):1792-1823.
- **42.** Boucher M, McAuley L, Brown A, Keely E, Skidmore B. Comparative clinical and budget evaluations of rosiglitazone and pioglitazone with other anti-diabetic agents. *Ottawa Canadian Coordinating Office for Health Technology Assessment. Technology overview no.* 9. 2002.
- **43.** Chiquette E, Ramirez G, Defronzo R. A meta-analysis comparing the effect of thiazolidinediones on cardiovascular risk factors. *Arch Intern Med.* 2004;164(19):2097-2104.
- **44.** Czoski-Murray C, Warren E, Chilcott J, Beverley C, Psyllaki MA, Cowan J. Clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone in the treatment of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and economic evaluation. *Health Technol Assess.* 2004;8(13):iii.
- **45.** Berlie HD, Kalus JS, Jaber LA. Thiazolidinediones and the risk of edema: a metaanalysis. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*. May 2007;76(2):279-289.
- **46.** Eurich DT, McAlister FA, Blackburn DF, et al. Benefits and harms of antidiabetic agents in patients with diabetes and heart failure: systematic review. *BMJ*. Sep 8 2007;335(7618):497-.
- **47.** Lago RM, Singh PP, Nesto RW. Congestive heart failure and cardiovascular death in patients with prediabetes and type 2 diabetes given thiazolidinediones: a meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials. *Lancet.* Sep 29 2007;370(9593):1129-1136.
- **48.** Phatak HM, Yin DD. Factors associated with the effect-size of thiazolidinedione (TZD) therapy on HbA(1c): a meta-analysis of published randomized clinical trials. *Curr Med Res Opin.* Nov 2006;22(11):2267-2278.
- **49.** Riche DM, Valderrama R, Henyan NN. Thiazolidinediones and risk of repeat target vessel revascularization following percutaneous coronary intervention: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care.* Feb 2007;30(2):384-388.
- **50.** Richter, Bandeira E, Bergerhoff, Clar, Ebrahim, Sh. Rosiglitazone for type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2007;4:4.
- **51.** Richter B, Bandeira-Echtler E, Bergerhoff K, Clar C, Ebrahim SH. Pioglitazone for type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2006(4):CD006060.
- **52.** Rosmarakis ES, Falagas ME. Effect of thiazolidinedione therapy on restenosis after coronary stent implantation: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Am Heart J*. Jul 2007;154(1):144-150.

- **53.** Singh S, Loke YK, Furberg CD. Long-term risk of cardiovascular events with rosiglitazone: a meta-analysis. *JAMA*. Sep 12 2007;298(10):1189-1195.
- **54.** Singh S, Loke YK, Furberg CD. Thiazolidinediones and heart failure: a teleo-analysis. *Diabetes Care.* Aug 2007;30(8):2148-2153.
- **55.** Richter, Bandeira E, Bergerhoff, Ebrahim, Sh. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitors for type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2007;4:4.
- **56.** Dargie HJ, Hildebrandt PR, Riegger GA, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial assessing the effects of rosiglitazone on echocardiographic function and cardiac status in type 2 diabetic patients with New York Heart Association Functional Class I or II Heart Failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2007;49(16):1696-1704.
- **57.** Kahn SE, Haffner SM, Heise MA, et al. Glycemic durability of rosiglitazone, metformin, or glyburide monotherapy. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2006;355(23):2427-2443.
- **58.** Home PD, Pocock SJ, Beck-Nielsen H, et al. Rosiglitazone evaluated for cardiovascular outcomes--an interim analysis. *N Engl J Med.* Jul 5 2007;357(1):28-38.
- **59.** Investigators DT, Bosch J, Yusuf S, et al. Effect of ramipril on the incidence of diabetes. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2006;355(15):1551-1562.
- **60.** Dormandy JA, Charbonnel B, Eckland DJA, et al. Secondary prevention of macrovascular events in patients with type 2 diabetes in the PROactive Study (PROspective pioglitAzone Clinical Trial In macroVascular Events): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* Oct 8 2005;366(9493):1279-1289.
- **61.** Centre for Reviews and D. Efficacy of rosiglitazone and pioglitazone compared to other anti-diabetic agents: systematic review and budget impact analysis (Structured abstract). *Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effectiveness.* 2006;1:1.
- **62.** Lincoff AM, Wolski K, Nicholls SJ, Nissen SE. Pioglitazone and risk of cardiovascular events in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. *JAMA*. Sep 12 2007;298(10):1180-1188.
- **63.** Nissen SE, Wolski K. Effect of rosiglitazone on the risk of myocardial infarction and death from cardiovascular causes. *N Engl J Med.* Jun 14 2007;356(24):2457-2471.
- **64.** Padwal R, Majumdar SR, Johnson JA, Varney J, McAlister FA. A systematic review of drug therapy to delay or prevent type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2005;28(3):736-744.
- **65.** Derosa G, Cicero AF, Gaddi A, et al. Metabolic effects of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone in patients with diabetes and metabolic syndrome treated with glimepiride: a twelve-month, multicenter, double-blind, randomized, controlled, parallel-group trial. *Clin Ther*. 12/26/07 2004;26(5):744-754.
- **66.** Derosa G, Cicero AFG, Gaddi A, et al. A comparison of the effects of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone combined with glimepiride on prothrombotic state in type 2 diabetic patients with the metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* 2005;69(1):5-13.
- 67. Goldberg RB, Kendall DM, Deeg MA, et al. A comparison of lipid and glycemic effects of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone in patients with type 2 diabetes and dyslipidemia. *Diabetes Care*. 12/26/2007 2005;28(7):1547-1554.
- **68.** Khan MA, St Peter JV, Xue JL. A prospective, randomized comparison of the metabolic effects of pioglitazone or rosiglitazone in patients with type 2 diabetes who were previously treated with troglitazone. *Diabetes Care*. 2002;25(4):708-711.
- **69.** Chappuis B, Braun M, Stettler C, et al. Differential effect of pioglitazone (PGZ) and rosiglitazone (RGZ) on postprandial glucose and lipid metabolism in patients with type 2

diabetes mellitus: a prospective, randomized crossover study. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* Jul 2007;23(5):392-399.

- **70.** Derosa G, Dangelo A, Ragonesi PD, et al. Effects of rosiglitazone and pioglitazone combined with metformin on the prothrombotic state of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and metabolic syndrome. *The Journal of international medical research*. 2006;34(5):545-555.
- **71.** Derosa G, Cicero AF, D'Angelo A, et al. Effects of 1 year of treatment with pioglitazone or rosiglitazone added to glimepiride on lipoprotein (a) and homocysteine concentrations in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and metabolic syndrome: a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, controlled clinical trial. *Clin Ther.* 2006;28(5):679-688.
- 72. Derosa G, D'Angelo A, Ragonesi PD, et al. Metformin-pioglitazone and metforminrosiglitazone effects on non-conventional cardiovascular risk factors plasma level in type 2 diabetic patients with metabolic syndrome. *J Clin Pharm Ther.* 2006;31(4):375-383.
- **73.** Derosa G, D'Angelo A, Ragonesi PD, et al. Metabolic effects of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone in patients with diabetes and metabolic syndrome treated with metformin. *Internal medicine journal*. 2007;37(2):79-86.
- **74.** Derosa G, Fogari E, Cicero AF, et al. Blood pressure control and inflammatory markers in type 2 diabetic patients treated with pioglitazone or rosiglitazone and metformin. *Hypertension research : official journal of the Japanese Society of Hypertension.* 2007;30(5):387-394.
- **75.** Derosa G, Cicero AF, Dangelo A, et al. Thiazolidinedione effects on blood pressure in diabetic patients with metabolic syndrome treated with glimepiride. *Hypertension research : official journal of the Japanese Society of Hypertension*. 2005;28(11):917-924.
- **76.** Saad MF, Greco S, Osei K, et al. Ragaglitazar improves glycemic control and lipid profile in type 2 diabetic subjects: a 12-week, double-blind, placebo-controlled dose-ranging study with an open pioglitazone arm. *Diabetes Care*. 2004;27(6):1324-1329.
- 77. Miyazaki Y, Matsuda M, DeFronzo RA. Dose-response effect of pioglitazone on insulin sensitivity and insulin secretion in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2002;25(3):517-523.
- **78.** Takagi T, Yamamuro A, Tamita K, et al. Pioglitazone reduces neointimal tissue proliferation after coronary stent implantation in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: an intravascular ultrasound scanning study. *Am Heart J.* 2003;146(2):E5.
- **79.** Erdmann E, Dormandy JA, Charbonnel B, et al. The effect of pioglitazone on recurrent myocardial infarction in 2,445 patients with type 2 diabetes and previous myocardial infarction: results from the PROactive (PROactive 05) Study. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2007;49(17):1772-1780.
- **80.** Wilcox R, Bousser MG, Betteridge DJ, et al. Effects of pioglitazone in patients with type 2 diabetes with or without previous stroke: results from PROactive (PROspective pioglitAzone Clinical Trial In macroVascular Events 04). *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation.* 2007;38(3):865-873.
- **81.** Aronoff S, Rosenblatt S, Braithwaite S, Egan JW, Mathisen AL, Schneider RL. Pioglitazone hydrochloride monotherapy improves glycemic control in the treatment of patients with type 2 diabetes: a 6-month randomized placebo-controlled dose-response study. The Pioglitazone 001 Study Group. *Diabetes Care*. 12/26/2007 2000;23(11):1605-1611.

- **82.** Belfort R, Harrison SA, Brown K, et al. A placebo-controlled trial of pioglitazone in subjects with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2006;355(22):2297-2307.
- **83.** Charbonnel B, Schernthaner G, Brunetti P, et al. Long-term efficacy and tolerability of add-on pioglitazone therapy to failing monotherapy compared with addition of gliclazide or metformin in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia*. 2005;48(6):1093-1104.
- **84.** Gastaldelli A, Ferrannini E, Miyazaki Y, Matsuda M, Mari A, DeFronzo RA. Thiazolidinediones improve beta-cell function in type 2 diabetic patients. *Am J Physiol*. 2007;Endocrinology and metabolism. 292(3):E871-883.
- **85.** Herz M, Johns D, Reviriego J, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, clinical trial of the effects of pioglitazone on glycemic control and dyslipidemia in oral antihyperglycemic medication-naive patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Clin Ther*. 2003;25(4):1074-1095.
- **86.** Kipnes MS, Krosnick A, Rendell MS, Egan JW, Mathisen AL, Schneider RL. Pioglitazone hydrochloride in combination with sulfonylurea therapy improves glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomized, placebo-controlled study. *Am J Med.* 2001;111(1):10-17.
- **87.** Mattoo V, Eckland D, Widel M, et al. Metabolic effects of pioglitazone in combination with insulin in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus whose disease is not adequately controlled with insulin therapy: Results of a six-month, randomized, double-blind, prospective, multicenter, parallel-group study. *Clin Ther.* 2005;27(5):554-567.
- **88.** McMahon GT, Plutzky J, Daher E, Bhattacharyya T, Grunberger G, DiCarli MF. Effect of a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-(gamma) agonist on myocardial blood flow in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2005;28(5):1145-1150.
- **89.** Miyazaki Y, Mahankali A, Matsuda M, et al. Improved glycemic control and enhanced insulin sensitivity in type 2 diabetic subjects treated with pioglitazone. *Diabetes Care*. 2001;24(4):710-719.
- **90.** Miyazaki Y, Mahankali A, Wajcberg E, Bajaj M, Mandarino LJ, DeFronzo RA. Effect of pioglitazone on circulating adipocytokine levels and insulin sensitivity in type 2 diabetic patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2004;89(9):4312-4319.
- **91.** Gastaldelli A, Miyazaki Y, Mahankali A, et al. The effect of pioglitazone on the liver: role of adiponectin. *Diabetes Care*. 2006;29(10):2275-2281.
- **92.** Negro R, Dazzi D, Hassan H, Pezzarossa A. Pioglitazone reduces blood pressure in nondipping diabetic patients. *Minerva Endocrinol.* 2004;29(1):11-17.
- **93.** Nishio K, Sakurai M, Kusuyama T, et al. A randomized comparison of pioglitazone to inhibit restenosis after coronary stenting in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. Jan 2006;29(1):101-106.
- **94.** Rosenblatt S, Miskin B, Glazer NB, Prince MJ, Robertson KE. The impact of pioglitazone on glycemic control and atherogenic dyslipidemia in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Coron Artery Dis.* 2001;12(5):413-423.
- **95.** Rosenstock J, Einhorn D, Hershon K, Glazer NB, Yu S. Efficacy and safety of pioglitazone in type 2 diabetes: a randomised, placebo-controlled study in patients receiving stable insulin therapy. *Int J Clin Pract.* 2002;56(4):251-257.
- **96.** Scherbaum WA, Goke B, German Pioglitazone Study G. Metabolic efficacy and safety of once-daily pioglitazone monotherapy in patients with type 2 diabetes: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Horm Metab Res.* 2002;34(10):589-595.

- **97.** Smith SR, De Jonge L, Volaufova J, Li Y, Xie H, Bray GA. Effect of pioglitazone on body composition and energy expenditure: a randomized controlled trial. *Metabolism*. 2005;54(1):24-32.
- **98.** Bogacka I, Xie H, Bray GA, Smith SR. The effect of pioglitazone on peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma target genes related to lipid storage in vivo. *Diabetes Care*. 2004;27(7):1660-1667.
- **99.** Tseng CH, Huang TS. Pioglitazone with sulfonylurea: glycemic and lipid effects in Taiwanese type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* 2005;70(2):193-194.
- **100.** Wallace TM, Levy JC, Matthews DR. An increase in insulin sensitivity and basal betacell function in diabetic subjects treated with pioglitazone in a placebo-controlled randomized study. *Diabet Med.* 2004;21(6):568-576.
- **101.** Honisett SY, Stojanovska L, Sudhir K, Kingwell BA, Dawood T, Komesaroff PA. Rosiglitazone lowers blood pressure and increases arterial compliance in postmenopausal women with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2003;26(11):3194-3195.
- **102.** Raskin P, Rappaport EB, Cole ST, Yan Y, Patwardhan R, Freed MI. Rosiglitazone short-term monotherapy lowers fasting and post-prandial glucose in patients with type II diabetes. *Diabetologia*. 2000;43(3):278-284.
- **103.** Wang G, Wei J, Guan Y, Jin N, Mao J, Wang X. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma agonist rosiglitazone reduces clinical inflammatory responses in type 2 diabetes with coronary artery disease after coronary angioplasty. *Metabolism*. 2005;54(5):590-597.
- **104.** Nolan JJ, Jones NP, Patwardhan R, Deacon LF. Rosiglitazone taken once daily provides effective glycaemic control in patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabet Med.* 2000;17(4):287-294.
- **105.** Dailey GE, Noor MA, Park JS, Bruce S, Fiedorek FT. Glycemic control with glyburide/metformin tablets in combination with rosiglitazone in patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomized, double-blind trial. *Am J Med.* 2004;116(4):223-229.
- **106.** Lautamaki R, Airaksinen KEJ, Seppanen M, et al. Rosiglitazone improves myocardial glucose uptake in patients with type 2 diabetes and coronary artery disease: a 16-week randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Diabetes*. Sep 2005;54(9):2787-2794.
- **107.** Negro R, Mangieri T, Dazzi D, Pezzarossa A, Hassan H. Rosiglitazone effects on blood pressure and metabolic parameters in nondipper diabetic patients. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* Oct 2005;70(1):20-25.
- **108.** Osman A, Otero J, Brizolara A, et al. Effect of rosiglitazone on restenosis after coronary stenting in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Am Heart J*. 2004;147(5):e23.
- **109.** Pfutzner A, Hohberg C, Lubben G, et al. Pioneer study: PPARgamma activation results in overall improvement of clinical and metabolic markers associated with insulin resistance independent of long-term glucose control. *Horm Metab Res.* Aug 2005;37(8):510-515.
- 110. Rosenstock J, Goldstein BJ, Vinik AI, et al. Effect of early addition of rosiglitazone to sulphonylurea therapy in older type 2 diabetes patients (>60 years): the Rosiglitazone Early vs. SULphonylurea Titration (RESULT) study. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 2006;8(1):49-57.

- **111.** Pfutzner A, Schondorf T, Seidel D, et al. Impact of rosiglitazone on beta-cell function, insulin resistance, and adiponectin concentrations: results from a double-blind oral combination study with glimepiride. *Metabolism.* Jan 2006;55(1):20-25.
- **112.** Effects of rosiglitazone maleate when added to a sulfonylurea regimen in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and mild to moderate renal impairment: a post hoc analysis. Version; 2003.
- **113.** Barnett AH, Grant PJ, Hitman GA, et al. Rosiglitazone in Type 2 diabetes mellitus: an evaluation in British Indo-Asian patients. *Diabet Med.* May 2003;20(5):387-393.
- **114.** Fonseca V, Rosenstock J, Patwardhan R, Salzman A. Effect of metformin and rosiglitazone combination therapy in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2000;283(13):1695-1702.
- **115.** Gomez-Perez FJ, Fanghanel-Salmon G, Antonio Barbosa J, et al. Efficacy and safety of rosiglitazone plus metformin in Mexicans with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* 2002;18(2):127-134.
- **116.** Hallsten K, Virtanen KA, Lonnqvist F, et al. Rosiglitazone but not metformin enhances insulin- and exercise-stimulated skeletal muscle glucose uptake in patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*. 2002;51(12):3479-3485.
- **117.** Iozzo P, Hallsten K, Oikonen V, et al. Effects of metformin and rosiglitazone monotherapy on insulin-mediated hepatic glucose uptake and their relation to visceral fat in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2003;26(7):2069-2074.
- **118.** Jones TA, Sautter M, Van Gaal LF, Jones NP. Addition of rosiglitazone to metformin is most effective in obese, insulin-resistant patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 2003;5(3):163-170.
- **119.** Kim YM, Cha BS, Kim DJ, et al. Predictive clinical parameters for therapeutic efficacy of rosiglitazone in Korean type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*. 2005;67(1):43-52.
- **120.** Lebovitz HE, Dole JF, Patwardhan R, Rappaport EB, Freed MI, Rosiglitazone Clinical Trials Study Group. Rosiglitazone monotherapy is effective in patients with type 2 diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2001;86(1):280-288.
- **121.** Miyazaki Y, Glass L, Triplitt C, et al. Effect of rosiglitazone on glucose and nonesterified fatty acid metabolism in Type II diabetic patients. *Diabetologia*. 2001;44(12):2210-2219.
- **122.** Natali A, Baldeweg S, Toschi E, et al. Vascular effects of improving metabolic control with metformin or rosiglitazone in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2004;27(6):1349-1357.
- **123.** Patel J, Anderson RJ, Rappaport EB. Rosiglitazone monotherapy improves glycaemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes: a twelve-week, randomized, placebo-controlled study. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 1999;1(3):165-172.
- **124.** Phillips LS, Grunberger G, Miller E, Patwardhan R, Rappaport EB, Salzman A. Onceand twice-daily dosing with rosiglitazone improves glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2001;24(2):308-315.
- **125.** Raskin P, Rendell M, Riddle MC, Dole JF, Freed MI, Rosenstock J. A randomized trial of rosiglitazone therapy in patients with inadequately controlled insulin-treated type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2001;24(7):1226-1232.

- **126.** Reynolds LR, Konz EC, Frederich RC, Anderson JW. Rosiglitazone amplifies the benefits of lifestyle intervention measures in long-standing type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 2002;4(4):270-275.
- **127.** Tan GD, Fielding BA, Currie JM, et al. The effects of rosiglitazone on fatty acid and triglyceride metabolism in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia*. 2005;48(1):83-95.
- **128.** van Wijk JP, de Koning EJ, Castro Cabezas M, Rabelink TJ. Rosiglitazone improves postprandial triglyceride and free fatty acid metabolism in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2005;28(4):844-849.
- **129.** Virtanen KA, Hallsten K, Parkkola R, et al. Differential effects of rosiglitazone and metformin on adipose tissue distribution and glucose uptake in type 2 diabetic subjects. *Diabetes.* 2003;52(2):283-290.
- **130.** Wolffenbuttel BH, Gomis R, Squatrito S, Jones NP, Patwardhan RN. Addition of lowdose rosiglitazone to sulphonylurea therapy improves glycaemic control in Type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabet Med.* 2000;17(1):40-47.
- **131.** Yang WS, Jeng CY, Wu TJ, et al. Synthetic peroxisome proliferator-activated receptorgamma agonist, rosiglitazone, increases plasma levels of adiponectin in type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Care*. 2002;25(2):376-380.
- **132.** Zhu XX, Pan CY, Li GW, et al. Addition of rosiglitazone to existing sulfonylurea treatment in chinese patients with type 2 diabetes and exposure to hepatitis B or C. *Diabetes Technol Ther.* 2003;5(1):33-42.
- **133.** Agarwal R, Saha C, Battiwala M, et al. A pilot randomized controlled trial of renal protection with pioglitazone in diabetic nephropathy. *Kidney Int.* 2005;68(1):285-292.
- **134.** Basu A, Jensen MD, McCann F, Mukhopadhyay D, Joyner MJ, Rizza RA. Effects of pioglitazone versus glipizide on body fat distribution, body water content, and hemodynamics in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2006;29(3):510-514.
- **135.** Heliovaara MK, Herz M, Teppo AM, Leinonen E, Ebeling P. Pioglitazone has antiinflammatory effects in patients with Type 2 diabetes. *J Endocrinol Invest.* 2007;30(4):292-297.
- **136.** Jain R, Osei K, Kupfer S, Perez AT, Zhang J. Long-term safety of pioglitazone versus glyburide in patients with recently diagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2006;26(10):1388-1395.
- **137.** Mazzone T, Meyer PM, Feinstein SB, et al. Effect of pioglitazone compared with glimepiride on carotid intima-media thickness in type 2 diabetes: a randomized trial. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association.* 2006;296(21):2572-2581.
- **138.** Perriello G, Pampanelli S, Di Pietro C, Brunetti P, Italian Pioglitazone Study G. Comparison of glycaemic control over 1 year with pioglitazone or gliclazide in patients with Type 2 diabetes. *Diabetic medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association*. 2006;23(3):246-252.
- **139.** Sharma PK, Bhansali A, Sialy R, Malhotra S, Pandhi P. Effects of pioglitazone and metformin on plasma adiponectin in newly detected type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Clin Endocrinol.* 2006;65(6):722-728.
- **140.** Teramoto T, Yamada N, Shirai K, Saito Y. Effects of pioglitazone hydrochloride on Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Journal of atherosclerosis and thrombosis.* 2007;14(2):86-93.

- **141.** Umpierrez G, Issa M, Vlajnic A. Glimepiride versus pioglitazone combination therapy in subjects with type 2 diabetes inadequately controlled on metformin monotherapy: results of a randomized clinical trial. *Curr Med Res Opin.* 2006;22(4):751-759.
- 142. Yamanouchi T, Sakai T, Igarashi K, Ichiyanagi K, Watanabe H, Kawasaki T. Comparison of metabolic effects of pioglitazone, metformin, and glimepiride over 1 year in Japanese patients with newly diagnosed Type 2 diabetes. *Diabetic medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association*. 2005;22(8):980-985.
- **143.** Bakris GL, Ruilope LM, McMorn SO, et al. Rosiglitazone reduces microalbuminuria and blood pressure independently of glycemia in type 2 diabetes patients with microalbuminuria. *J Hypertens*. 2006;24(10):2047-2055.
- **144.** Derosa G, Gaddi AV, Piccinni MN, et al. Differential effect of glimepiride and rosiglitazone on metabolic control of type 2 diabetic patients treated with metformin: a randomized, double-blind, clinical trial. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 2006;8(2):197-205.
- **145.** Garber A, Klein E, Bruce S, Sankoh S, Mohideen P. Metformin-glibenclamide versus metformin plus rosiglitazone in patients with type 2 diabetes inadequately controlled on metformin monotherapy. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 2006;8(2):156-163.
- **146.** Goldstein BJ, Weissman PN, Wooddell MJ, Waterhouse BR, Cobitz AR. Reductions in biomarkers of cardiovascular risk in type 2 diabetes with rosiglitazone added to metformin compared with dose escalation of metformin: an EMPIRE trial sub-study. *Curr Med Res Opin.* 2006;22(9):1715-1723.
- **147.** Hanefeld M, Patwardhan R, Jones NP, Rosiglitazone Clinical Trials Study G. A one-year study comparing the efficacy and safety of rosiglitazone and glibenclamide in the treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Nutrition, metabolism, and cardiovascular diseases : NMCD.* 2007;17(1):13-23.
- **148.** Home PD, Jones NP, Pocock SJ, et al. Rosiglitazone RECORD study: glucose control outcomes at 18 months. *Diabet Med.* Jun 2007;24(6):626-634.
- **149.** Kulenovic I. Impact of rosiglitazone on glycaemic control, insulin levels and blood pressure values in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Medicinski arhiv.* 2006;60(3):179-181.
- **150.** Raskin P, McGill J, Saad MF, et al. Combination therapy for type 2 diabetes: repaglinide plus rosiglitazone. *Diabet Med.* 2004;21(4):329-335.
- **151.** Stocker DJ, Taylor AJ, Langley RW, Jezior MR, Vigersky RA. A randomized trial of the effects of rosiglitazone and metformin on inflammation and subclinical atherosclerosis in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Am Heart J.* 2007;153(3):445.e441-446.
- **152.** Choi D, Kim S-K, Choi S-H, et al. Preventative effects of rosiglitazone on restenosis after coronary stent implantation in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. Nov 2004;27(11):2654-2660.
- **153.** Davidson JA, Perez A, Zhang J, The Pioglitazone 343 Study G. Addition of pioglitazone to stable insulin therapy in patients with poorly controlled type 2 diabetes: results of a double-blind, multicentre, randomized study. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 2006;8(2):164-174.
- **154.** Nissen SE, Nicholls SJ, Wolski K, et al. Comparison of pioglitazone vs glimepiride on progression of coronary atherosclerosis in patients with type 2 diabetes: the PERISCOPE randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2008;299(13):1561-1573.
- **155.** Viberti G, Lachin J, Holman R, et al. A Diabetes Outcome Progression Trial (ADOPT): baseline characteristics of Type 2 diabetic patients in North America and Europe. *Diabetic medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association.* 2006;23(12):1289-1294.

- **156.** Durbin RJ. Thiazolidinedione therapy in the prevention/delay of type 2 diabetes in patients with impaired glucose tolerance and insulin resistance. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 12/28/2007 2004;6(4):280-285.
- **157.** Lester JW, Fernandes AW. Pioglitazone in a subgroup of patients with type 2 diabetes meeting the criteria for metabolic syndrome. *Int J Clin Pract.* 2005;59(2):134-142.
- **158.** Wang TD, Chen WJ, Lin JW, Chen MF, Lee YT. Effects of rosiglitazone on endothelial function, C-reactive protein, and components of the metabolic syndrome in nondiabetic patients with the metabolic syndrome. *Am J Cardiol.* 2004;93(3):362-365.
- **159.** Hung YJ, Hsieh CH, Pei D, et al. Rosiglitazone improves insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. *Clin Endocrinol.* 2005;62(1):85-91.
- **160.** Bhatt DL, Chew DP, Grines C, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma agonists for the Prevention of Adverse events following percutaneous coronary Revascularization--results of the PPAR study. *Am Heart J.* 2007;154(1):137-143.
- **161.** DREAM Trial Investigators. Rationale, design and recruitment characteristics of a large, simple international trial of diabetes prevention: the DREAM trial. *Diabetologia*. 2004;47(9):1519-1527.
- **162.** Rasouli N, Raue U, Miles LM, et al. Pioglitazone improves insulin sensitivity through reduction in muscle lipid and redistribution of lipid into adipose tissue. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 2005;288(5 51-5):E930-E934.
- **163.** Bennett SM, Agrawal A, Elasha H, et al. Rosiglitazone improves insulin sensitivity, glucose tolerance and ambulatory blood pressure in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. *Diabet Med.* 2004;21(5):415-422.
- **164.** Kahn SR, Zinman B, Lachin J, al. e. Rosiglitazone-associated fractures in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2008;31(5):845-851.
- **165.** King KA, Levi VE. Prevalence of edema in patients receiving combination therapy with insulin and thiazolidinedione. *Am J Health Syst Pharm.* 2004;61(4):390-393.
- **166.** Hussein Z, Wentworth JM, Nankervis AJ, Proietto J, Colman PG. Effectiveness and side effects of thiazolidinediones for type 2 diabetes: real-life experience from a tertiary hospital. *Med J Aust.* 2004;181(10):536-539.
- **167.** Tang WH, Francis GS, Hoogwerf BJ, Young JB. Fluid retention after initiation of thiazolidinedione therapy in diabetic patients with established chronic heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2003;41(8):1394-1398.
- **168.** GlaxoSmithKline. Dear Healthcare Provider. *Available at: http://www.fda.gov/medwatch/safety/2006/Avandia_DHCPletter.pdf.* 2005.
- **169.** Delea TE, Edelsberg JS, Hagiwara M, Oster G, Phillips LS. Use of thiazolidinediones and risk of heart failure in people with type 2 diabetes: a retrospective cohort study. *Diabetes Care*. 2003;26(11):2983-2989.
- **170.** Boyle PJ, King AB, Olansky L, et al. Effects of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone on blood lipid levels and glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a retrospective review of randomly selected medical records. *Clin Ther.* 2002;24(3):378-396.
- **171.** LaCivita KA, Villarreal G. Differences in lipid profiles of patients given rosiglitazone followed by pioglitazone. *Curr Med Res Opin.* 2002;18(6):363-370.
- 172. Olansky L, Marchetti A, Lau H. Multicenter retrospective assessment of thiazolidinedione monotherapy and combination therapy in patients with type 2 diabetes: comparative subgroup analyses of glycemic control and blood lipid levels. *Clin Ther*. 2003;25 Suppl B:B64-80.

- **173.** Gegick CG, Altheimer MD. Thiazolidinediones: comparison of long-term effects on glycemic control and cardiovascular risk factors. *Curr Med Res Opin.* 2004;20(6):919-930.
- **174.** Harmel AP. Treating diabetes: Cardiovascular benefits of antidiabetes drugs. *Am J Manag Care*. 2002;8(8 SUPPL.):S219-S228.
- **175.** King AB. A comparison in a clinical setting of the efficacy and side effects of three thiazolidinediones. *Diabetes Care*. 2000;23(4):557.
- **176.** Hanefeld M, Pfutzner A, Forst T, Lubben G. Glycemic control and treatment failure with pioglitazone versus glibenclamide in type 2 diabetes mellitus: a 42-month, open-label, observational, primary care study. *Curr Med Res Opin.* Jun 2006;22(6):1211-1215.
- **177.** Johannes CB, Koro CE, Quinn SG, Cutone JA, Seeger JD. The risk of coronary heart disease in type 2 diabetic patients exposed to thiazolidinediones compared to metformin and sulfonylurea therapy. *Pharmacoepidemiology & Drug Safety*. May 2007;16(5):504-512.
- **178.** Kahler KH, Rajan M, Rhoads GG, et al. Impact of oral antihyperglycemic therapy on allcause mortality among patients with diabetes in the Veterans Health Administration. *Diabetes Care.* Jul 2007;30(7):1689-1693.
- **179.** Karter AJ, Ahmed AT, Liu J, Moffet HH, Parker MM. Pioglitazone initiation and subsequent hospitalization for congestive heart failure. *Diabet Med.* Aug 2005;22(8):986-993.
- **180.** Koro C, Barrett S, Qizilbash N. Cancer risks in thiazolidinedione users compared to other anti-diabetic agents. *Pharmacoepidemiology & Drug Safety*. May 2007;16(5):485-492.
- **181.** Masoudi FA, Inzucchi SE, Wang Y, Havranek EP, Foody JM, Krumholz HM. Thiazolidinediones, metformin, and outcomes in older patients with diabetes and heart failure: an observational study. *Circulation*. Feb 8 2005;111(5):583-590.
- **182.** McAfee AT, Koro C, Landon J, Ziyadeh N, Walker AM. Coronary heart disease outcomes in patients receiving antidiabetic agents. *Pharmacoepidemiology & Drug Safety*. Jul 2007;16(7):711-725.
- **183.** Hartung DM, Touchette DR, Bultemeier NC, Haxby DG. Risk of hospitalization for heart failure associated with thiazolidinedione therapy: a medicaid claims-based case-control study. *Pharmacotherapy*. Oct 2005;25(10):1329-1336.
- **184.** Bajaj M, Suraamornkul S, Hardies LJ, Pratipanawatr T, DeFronzo RA. Plasma resistin concentration, hepatic fat content, and hepatic and peripheral insulin resistance in pioglitazone-treated type II diabetic patients. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. 2004;28(6):783-789.
- **185.** Freed MI, Ratner R, Marcovina SM, et al. Effects of rosiglitazone alone and in combination with atorvastatin on the metabolic abnormalities in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Am J Cardiol.* 2002;90(9):947-952.
- **186.** Hayashi Y, Miyachi N, Takeuchi T, et al. Clinical evaluation of pioglitazone in patients with type 2 diabetes using alpha-glucosidase inhibitor and examination of its efficacy profile. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 2003;5(1):58-65.
- **187.** Jung W, Jung S. Effects of pioglitazone and insulin on tight glycaemic control assessed by the continuous glucose monitoring system: A monocentric, parallel-cohort study. *Clin Drug Invest.* 2005;25(5):347-352.

- **188.** Kiayias JA, Vlachou ED, Theodosopoulou E, Lakka-Papadodima E. Rosiglitazone in combination with glimepiride plus metformin in type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Care*. 2002;25(7):1251-1252.
- **189.** King AB, Armstrong DU. Lipid response to pioglitazone in diabetic patients: clinical observations from a retrospective chart review. *Diabetes Technol Ther.* 2002;4(2):145-151.
- **190.** King AB, Armstrong DU, Chinnapongse S. Comparison of glycemic and lipid response to pioglitazone treatment in Mexican-Americans and non-Hispanic Caucasians with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2003;26(1):245-246.
- **191.** Kubo K. Effect of pioglitazone on blood proinsulin levels in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Endocr J.* 2002;49(3):323-328.
- **192.** Marceille JR, Goins JA, Soni R, Biery JC, Lee TA. Chronic heart failure-related interventions after starting rosiglitazone in patients receiving insulin. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2004;24(10):1317-1322.
- **193.** Miyazaki Y, De Filippis E, Bajaj M, et al. Predictors of improved glycaemic control with rosiglitazone therapy in type 2 diabetic patients: A practical approach for the primary care physician. *Br J Diabetes Vas Dis.* 2005;5(1):28-35.
- **194.** Ono M, Ikegami H, Fujisawa T, et al. Improvement of liver function parameters in patients with type 2 diabetes treated with thiazolidinediones. *Metabolism*. 2005;54(4):529-532.
- **195.** Orbay E, Sargin M, Sargin H, Gozu H, Bayramicli OU, Yayla A. Addition of rosiglitazone to glimepiride and metformin combination therapy in type 2 diabetes. *Endocr J.* 2004;51(6):521-527.
- **196.** Osei K, Gaillard T, Kaplow J, Bullock M, Schuster D. Effects of rosglitazone on plasma adiponectin, insulin sensitivity, and insulin secretion in high-risk African Americans with impaired glucose tolerance test and type 2 diabetes. *Metabolism.* 2004;53(12):1552-1557.
- **197.** Pietruck F, Kribben A, Van TN, et al. Rosiglitazone is a safe and effective treatment option of new-onset diabetes mellitus after renal transplantation. *Transpl Int.* 2005;18(4):483-486.
- **198.** Rajagopalan R, Rosenson RS, Fernandes AW, Khan M, Murray FT. Association between congestive heart failure and hospitalization in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus receiving treatment with insulin or pioglitazone: a retrospective data analysis. *Clin Ther.* 2004;26(9):1400-1410.
- **199.** Roy R, Navar M, Palomeno G, Davidson MB. Real world effectiveness of rosiglitazone added to maximal (tolerated) doses of metformin and a sulfonylurea agent: a systematic evaluation of triple oral therapy in a minority population. *Diabetes Care*. 2004;27(7):1741-1742.
- **200.** Sarafidis PA, Lasaridis AN, Nilsson PM, et al. Ambulatory blood pressure reduction after rosiglitazone treatment in patients with type 2 diabetes and hypertension correlates with insulin sensitivity increase. *J Hypertens*. 2004;22(9):1769-1777.
- **201.** Schofl C, Lubben G. Postmarketing Surveillance Study of the Efficacy and Tolerability of Pioglitazone in Insulin-Resistant Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in General Practice. *Clin Drug Invest.* 2003;23(11):725-734.
- **202.** Rajagopalan R, Perez A, Ye Z, Khan M, Murray FT. Pioglitazone is effective therapy for elderly patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Drug Aging*. 2004;21(4):259-271.

- **203.** Chalasani N, Teal E, Hall SD. Effect of rosiglitazone on serum liver biochemistries in diabetic patients with normal and elevated baseline liver enzymes. *Am J Gastroenterol*. 12/31/2007 2005;100(6):1317-1321.
- **204.** Bell DSH, Ovalle F. Long-term glycaemic efficacy and weight changes associated with thiazolidinediones when added at an advanced stage of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* Jan 2006;8(1):110-115.
- **205.** Berria R, Glass L, Mahankali A, et al. Reduction in hematocrit and hemoglobin following pioglitazone treatment is not hemodilutional in Type II diabetes mellitus. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. Sep 2007;82(3):275-281.
- **206.** Biesenbach G, Grafinger P, Raml A. Improvement of glycemic control after a 3-5 day insulin infusion in type 2-diabetic patients with insulin resistance can be maintained with glitazone therapy. *Wiener klinische Wochenschrift.* 2006;118(17-18):543-548.
- **207.** Chiang CK, Ho TI, Peng YS, et al. Rosiglitazone in diabetes control in hemodialysis patients with and without viral hepatitis infection: effectiveness and side effects. *Diabetes Care*. 2007;30(1):3-7.
- **208.** Dorkhan M, Lantz M, Frid A, Groop L, Hallengren B. Treatment with a thiazolidinedione increases eye protrusion in a subgroup of patients with type 2 diabetes. *Clin Endocrinol.* Jul 2006;65(1):35-39.
- **209.** Dorkhan M, Magnusson M, Frid A, Grubb A, Groop L, Jovinge S. Glycaemic and nonglycaemic effects of pioglitazone in triple oral therapy of patients with type 2 diabetes. *J Intern Med.* 2006;260(2):125-133.
- **210.** Kahara T, Takamura T, Misaki T, et al. Relationship between plasma hANP level and pretibial edema by pioglitazone treatment. *Endocr J.* Jun 2005;52(3):373-376.
- **211.** Kawamori R, Kadowaki T, Onji M, Seino Y, Akanuma Y, Group PS. Hepatic safety profile and glycemic control of pioglitazone in more than 20,000 patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: postmarketing surveillance study in Japan. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* May 2007;76(2):229-235.
- **212.** Kim S-K, Hur K-Y, Kim H-J, et al. The increase in abdominal subcutaneous fat depot is an independent factor to determine the glycemic control after rosiglitazone treatment. *Eur J Endocrinol.* Aug 2007;157(2):167-174.
- **213.** Lee J-K, Chu C-H, Chuang M-J, et al. Two-year effect of rosiglitazone in chinese poorly controlled type 2 diabetic patients. *Chang Gung Medical Journal*. Sep-Oct 2006;29(5):486-492.
- **214.** Otto C, Otto B, Goke B, et al. Increase in adiponectin levels during pioglitazone therapy in relation to glucose control, insulin resistance as well as ghrelin and resistin levels. *J Endocrinol Invest.* Mar 2006;29(3):231-236.
- **215.** Panikar V, Joshi SR, Bukkawar A, Nasikkar N, Santwana C. Induction of long-term glycemic control in type 2 diabetic patients using pioglitazone and metformin combination. *J Assoc Physicians India*. May 2007;55:333-337.
- **216.** Rajagopalan R, Xu Y, Abbadessa M, Quartet Study G. The effect of pioglitazone on glycemic and lipid parameters and adverse events in elderly patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a post hoc analysis of four randomized trials. *American Journal Geriatric Pharmacotherapy*. Jun 2006;4(2):123-133.
- **217.** Rosak C, Petzoldt R, Wolf R, Reblin T, Dehmel B, Seidel D. Rosiglitazone plus metformin is effective and well tolerated in clinical practice: results from large

observational studies in people with type 2 diabetes. *Int J Clin Pract*. Oct 2005;59(10):1131-1136.

- **218.** Rosak C, Standl E, Reblin T, Stammer H, Seidel DK. Rosiglitazone is effective and well-tolerated in a range of therapeutic regimens during daily practice in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Int J Clin Pract.* Sep 2006;60(9):1040-1047.
- **219.** Sauer WH, Cappola AR, Berlin JA, Kimmel SE. Insulin sensitizing pharmacotherapy for prevention of myocardial infarction in patients with diabetes mellitus. *Am J Cardiol.* Mar 1 2006;97(5):651-654.
- **220.** Schondorf T, Forst T, Hohberg C, et al. The IRIS III study: pioglitazone improves metabolic control and blood pressure in patients with type 2 diabetes without increasing body weight. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* Jan 2007;9(1):132-133.
- **221.** Shim WS, Do MY, Kim SK, et al. The long-term effects of rosiglitazone on serum lipid concentrations and body weight. *Clin Endocrinol*. Oct 2006;65(4):453-459.
- **222.** Tan M, Johns D, Gonzalez Galvez G, et al. Effects of pioglitazone and glimepiride on glycemic control and insulin sensitivity in Mexican patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A multicenter, randomized, double-blind, parallel-group trial. *Clin Ther.* 2004;26(5):680-693.
- **223.** Tan MH, Johns D, Strand J, et al. Sustained effects of pioglitazone vs. glibenclamide on insulin sensitivity, glycaemic control, and lipid profiles in patients with Type 2 diabetes. *Diabet Med.* 2004;21(8):859-866.
- **224.** St John Sutton M, Rendell M, Dandona P, et al. A comparison of the effects of rosiglitazone and glyburide on cardiovascular function and glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2002;25(11):2058-2064.
- **225.** Baksi A, James RE, Zhou B, Nolan JJ. Comparison of uptitration of gliclazide with the addition of rosiglitazone to gliclazide in patients with type 2 diabetes inadequately controlled on half-maximal doses of a sulphonylurea. *Acta Diabetol.* 2004;41(2):63-69.
- **226.** Vongthavaravat V, Wajchenberg BL, Waitman JN, et al. An international study of the effects of rosiglitazone plus sulphonylurea in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Curr Med Res Opin.* 2002;18(8):456-461.
- **227.** Kerenyi Z, Samer H, James R, Yan Y, Stewart M. Combination therapy with rosiglitazone and glibenclamide compared with upward titration of glibenclamide alone in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* 2004;63(3):213-223.
- **228.** Charbonnel B, Dormandy J, Erdmann E, Massi-Benedetti M, Skene A, PROactive Study Group. The prospective pioglitazone clinical trial in macrovascular events (PROactive): can pioglitazone reduce cardiovascular events in diabetes? Study design and baseline characteristics of 5238 patients. *Diabetes Care*. 2004;27(7):1647-1653.
- **229.** Langenfeld MR, Forst T, Hohberg C, et al. Pioglitazone decreases carotid intima-media thickness independently of glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: Results from a controlled randomized study. *Circulation*. 2005;111(19):2525-2531.
- **230.** Pfutzner A, Marx N, Lubben G, et al. Improvement of cardiovascular risk markers by pioglitazone is independent from glycemic control: results from the pioneer study. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2005;45(12):1925-1931.
- **231.** Matthews DR, Charbonnel BH, Hanefeld M, Brunetti P, Schernthaner G. Long-term therapy with addition of pioglitazone to metformin compared with the addition of gliclazide to metformin in patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomized, comparative study. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* 2005;21(2):167-174.
- **232.** Watanabe A, Komine F, Nirei K, et al. A case of secondary diabetes mellitus with acromegaly improved by pioglitazone. *Diabet Med.* 12/31/2007 2004;21(9):1049-1050.
- **233.** Kreider M, Heise M. Rosiglitazone in the management of older patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Int J Clin Pract.* 2002;56(7):538-541.
- **234.** Jun JK, Gong WC, Mathur R. Effects of pioglitazone on diabetes-related outcomes in Hispanic patients. *Am J Health Syst Pharm.* 2003;60(5):469-473.
- **235.** Chan NN, Tong PC, So WY, Leung WY, Chiu CK, Chan JC. The metabolic effects of insulin and rosiglitazone combination therapy in Chinese type 2 diabetic patients with nephropathy. *Med Sci Mon.* 2004;10(3):PI44-48.
- **236.** Manley HJ, Allcock NM. Thiazolidinedione safety and efficacy in ambulatory patients receiving hemodialysis. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2003;23(7):861-865.
- **237.** Sourij H, Zweiker R, Wascher TC. Effects of pioglitazone on endothelial function, insulin sensitivity, and glucose control in subjects with coronary artery disease and new-onset type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2006;29(5):1039-1045.

Appendix A. Search strategies for update 1

Database: Ovid MEDLINE(R) <1996 to October Week 5 2007> Search Strategy: (duplicate)

- 1 exp THIAZOLIDINEDIONES/ (4461)
- 2 Pioglitazone.mp. (1409)
- 3 Rosiglitazone.mp. (1989)
- 4 THIAZOLIDINEDIONE\$.mp. (5176)
- 5 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 (5482)
- 6 exp Diabetes Mellitus/dt [Drug Therapy] (17188)
- 7 5 and 6 (1694)
- 8 limit 7 to english language (1468)
- 9 limit 8 to (clinical trial or evaluation studies or guideline or meta analysis) (287)
- 10 exp Epidemiologic Studies/ (634578)
- 11 Comparative Study/ (0)
- 12 exp Evaluation Studies/ (326058)
- 13 10 or 11 or 12 (923686)
- 14 7 and 13 (382)
- 15 9 or 14 (609)
- 16 ((2006\$ not (200601\$ or 200602\$)) or 2007\$).ed. (1107381)
- 17 15 and 16 (165)
- 18 from 17 keep 1-165 (165)

Database: Ovid MEDLINE(R) <1996 to October Week 5 2007> Search Strategy:

- 1 exp THIAZOLIDINEDIONES/ (4461)
- 2 (Pioglitazone or Rosiglitazone or THIAZOLIDINEDIONE\$).mp. (5482)
- 3 1 or 2 (5482)
- 4 exp Prediabetic State/ (513)
- 5 exp Metabolic Syndrome X/ (5599)

6 (pre-diabet\$ or prediabet\$).mp. [mp=title, original title, abstract, name of substance word, subject heading word] (1271)

7 (metabolic adj syndrome\$).mp. [mp=title, original title, abstract, name of substance word, subject heading word] (8462)

- 8 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 (9591)
- 9 3 and 8 (333)
- 10 limit 9 to english language (289)
- 11 ((2006\$ not (200601\$ or 200602\$)) or 2007\$).ed. (1107381)
- 12 10 and 11 (116)
- 13 from 12 keep 1-116 (116)

Database: Ovid MEDLINE(R) <1996 to October Week 5 2007>

Search Strategy:

- 1 exp THIAZOLIDINEDIONES/ (4461)
- 2 (Pioglitazone or Rosiglitazone or THIAZOLIDINEDIONE\$).mp. (5482)
- 3 1 or 2 (5482)

4 exp Hemoglobin A, Glycosylated/ or HbA1C.mp. or (hba adj 1c).mp. [mp=title, original title, abstract, name of substance word, subject heading word] (10623)

- 5 3 and 4 (475)
- 6 ((2006\$ not (200601\$ or 200602\$)) or 2007\$).ed. (1107381)
- 7 5 and 6 (135)
- 8 from 7 keep 1-135 (135)

Database: Ovid MEDLINE(R) <1996 to October Week 5 2007>

Search Strategy:

- 1 exp THIAZOLIDINEDIONES/ (4461)
- 2 (Rosiglitazone or Pioglitazone or THIAZOLIDINEDIONE\$).mp. (5482)
- 3 exp Diabetic Angiopathies/ (13326)
- 4 1 and 3 (117)

5 (((vascula\$ or macrovascula\$) adj3 (complicat\$ or disease\$ or damag\$ or disorder\$)) or angiopath\$).mp. [mp=title, original title, abstract, name of substance word, subject heading word] (36059)

6 1 and 5 (228)

- 7 4 or 6 (235)
- 8 limit 7 to english language (196)
- 9 ((2006\$ not (200601\$ or 200602\$)) or 2007\$).ed. (1107381)
- 10 8 and 9 (56)
- 11 from 10 keep 1-56 (56)

Database: Ovid MEDLINE(R) <1996 to October Week 5 2007> Search Strategy:

- 1 (Pioglitazone or Rosiglitazone or THIAZOLIDINEDIONE\$).mp. (5482)
- 2 (ae or po or to or ct).fs. (552630)
- 3 1 and 2 (920)
- 4 limit 3 to (humans and english language) (719)
- 5 ((2006\$ not (200601\$ or 200602\$)) or 2007\$).ed. (1107381)
- 6 4 and 5 (234)
- 7 from 6 keep 1-234 (234)

Database: EBM Reviews - Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials <4th Quarter 2007> Search Strategy:

- 1 Pioglitazone.mp. (220)
- 2 Rosiglitazone.mp. (284)
- 3 THIAZOLIDINEDIONE\$.mp. (549)
- 4 1 or 2 or 3 (622)
- 5 from 4 keep 1-622 (622)

Database: EBM Reviews - Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews <4th Quarter 2007> Search Strategy:

- 1 Pioglitazone.mp. (15)
- 2 Rosiglitazone.mp. (15)
- 3 THIAZOLIDINEDIONE\$.mp. (17)

4	1 or 2 or 3 (22)	
---	------------------	--

5 from 4 keep 1-22 (22)

Database: EBM Reviews - Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects <4th Quarter 2007> Search Strategy:

- 1 Pioglitazone.mp. (6)
- 2 Rosiglitazone.mp. (6)
- 3 THIAZOLIDINEDIONE\$.mp. (10)
- 4 1 or 2 or 3 (10)
- 5 from 4 keep 1-10 (10)

Appendix B. Excluded active-control trials

- 1. Aljabri, K., Kozak, S. E., Thompson, D. M. Addition of pioglitazone or bedtime insulin to maximal doses of sulfonylurea and metformin in type 2 diabetes patients with poor glucose control: a prospective, randomized trial. Am. J. Med. 2004; 116 (4):230-5. Excluded due to wrong outcome.
- 2. Bakris G, Viberti G, Weston WM, Heise M, Porter LE, Freed MI. Rosiglitazone reduces urinary albumin excretion in type II diabetes. J Hum Hypertens 2003; 17 (1):7-12.
- 3. Ceriello, A., Johns, D., Widel, M., Eckland, D. J., Gilmore, K. J., Tan, M. H. Comparison of effect of pioglitazone with metformin or sulfonylurea (monotherapy and combination therapy) on postload glycemia and composite insulin sensitivity index during an oral glucose tolerance test in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2005; 28 (2):266-72. Excluded due to wrong outcome.
- Einhorn, D., Rendell, M., Rosenzweig, J., Egan, J. W., Mathisen, A. L., Schneider, R. L. Pioglitazone hydrochloride in combination with metformin in the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus: A randomized, placebo-controlled study. Clin. Ther. 2000; 22 (12):1395-409. Excluded due to wrong outcome.
- 5. Goke, B., German Pioglitazone Study, G. Improved glycemic control and lipid profile in a randomized study of pioglitazone compared with acarbose in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Treatments in Endocrinology 2002; 1 (5):329-36. Excluded due to wrong outcome.
- Jovanovic, L., Hassman, D. R., Gooch, B., Jain, R., Greco, S., Khutoryansky, N., Hale, P. M. Treatment of type 2 diabetes with a combination regimen of repaglinide plus pioglitazone. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2004; 63 (2):127-34. Excluded due to wrong publication type.
- 7. Lawrence, J. M., Reid, J., Taylor, G. J., Stirling, C., Reckless, J. P. Favorable effects of pioglitazone and metformin compared with gliclazide on lipoprotein subfractions in overweight patients with early type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2004; 27 (1):41-6. Excluded due to wrong outcome.
- 8. McCluskey, D., Touger, M. S., Melis, R., Schleusener, D. S., McCluskey, D. Results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study administering glimepiride to patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus inadequately controlled with rosiglitazone monotherapy. Clin. Ther. 2004; 26 (11):1783-90. Excluded due to wrong outcome.
- Nagasaka, S., Abe, T., Kawakami, A., Kusaka, I., Nakamura, T., Ishikawa, S., Saito, T., Ishibashi, S. Pioglitazone-induced hepatic injury in a patient previously receiving troglitazone with success. Diabet Med 2002; 19 (4):347-8. Excluded due to wrong study design.

- Nakamura, T., Ushiyama, C., Osada, S., Shimada, N., Ebihara, I., Koide, H. Effect of pioglitazone on dyslipidemia in hemodialysis patients with type 2 diabetes. Ren. Fail. 2001; 23 (6):863-4. Excluded due to wrong outcome.
- 11. Pavo, I., Jermendy, G., Varkonyi, T. T., Kerenyi, Z., Gyimesi, A., Shoustov, S., Shestakova, M., Herz, M., Johns, D., Schluchter, B. J., Festa, A., Tan, M. H. Effect of pioglitazone compared with metformin on glycemic control and indicators of insulin sensitivity in recently diagnosed patients with type 2 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003; 88 (4):1637-45. Excluded due to wrong outcome.
- 12. Poulsen, M. K., Henriksen, J. E., Hother-Nielsen, O., Beck-Nielsen, H. The combined effect of triple therapy with rosiglitazone, metformin, and insulin aspart in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 2003; 26 (12):3273-9. Excluded due to wrong outcome.
- 13. Ramachandran, A., Snehalatha, C., Salini, J., Vijay, V. Use of glimepiride and insulin sensitizers in the treatment of type 2 diabetes--a study in Indians. J. Assoc. Physicians India 2004; 52:459-63. Excluded due to wrong outcome.
- 14. Tan, M. H., Johns, D., Glazer, N. B. Pioglitazone reduces atherogenic index of plasma in patients with type 2 diabetes. Clin.Chem. 2004; 50 (7):1184-8. Excluded due to wrong outcome.
- 15. Tan MH, Baksi A, Krahulec B, et al. Comparison of pioglitazone and gliclazide in sustaining glycemic control over 2 years in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* Mar 2005;28(3):544-550.
- 16. Tiikkainen, M., Hakkinen, A. M., Korsheninnikova, E., Nyman, T., Makimattila, S., Yki-Jarvinen, H. Effects of rosiglitazone and metformin on liver fat content, hepatic insulin resistance, insulin clearance, and gene expression in adipose tissue in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes 2004; 53 (8):2169-76. Excluded due to wrong outcome.
- 17. Viberti, G., Kahn, S. E., Greene, D. A., Herman, W. H., Zinman, B., Holman, R. R., Haffner, S. M., Levy, D., Lachin, J. M., Berry, R. A., Heise, M. A., Jones, N. P., Freed, M. I. A diabetes outcome progression trial (ADOPT): an international multicenter study of the comparative efficacy of rosiglitazone, glyburide, and metformin in recently diagnosed type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2002; 25 (10):1737-43. Excluded due to wrong outcome.
- Watanabe, I., Tani, S., Anazawa, T., Kushiro, T., Kanmatsuse, K. Effect of pioglitazone on arteriosclerosis in comparison with that of glibenclamide. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2005; 68 (2):104-10. Excluded due to wrong outcome.
- 19. Yang, J., Di, F., He, R., Zhu, X., Wang, D., Yang, M., Wang, Y., Yuan, S., Chen, J. Effect of addition of low-dose rosiglitazone to sulphonylurea therapy on glycemic control in type 2 diabetic patients. Chin.Med. J. 2003; 116 (5):785-7. Excluded due to

wrong publication type.

 Yosefy, C., Magen, E., Kiselevich, A., Priluk, R., London, D., Volchek, L., Viskoper, R. J., Jr. Rosiglitazone improves, while Glibenclamide worsens blood pressure control in treated hypertensive diabetic and dyslipidemic subjects via modulation of insulin resistance and sympathetic activity. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 2004; 44 (2):215-22. Excluded due to wrong outcome.

Appendix C. Quality assessment methods for drug class reviews for the Drug Effectiveness Review Project

Study quality is objectively assessed using predetermined criteria for internal validity, based on the combination of the US Preventive Services Task Force and the NNS Center for Reviews and Dissemination criteria.

Regardless of design, all studies that are included are assessed for quality and assigned a rating of "good," "fair," or "poor," Studies with fatal flaws are rated poor quality. A fatal flaw is failure to meet combinations of criteria which may be related in indicating the presence of bias. An example would be inadequate procedure for randomization or allocation concealment combined with important differences in prognostic factors at baseline. Studies that meet all criteria are rated good quality, and the remainder is rated fair quality. As the fair-quality category is broad, studies with this rating vary in their strengths and weaknesses: The results of some fair-quality studies are likely to be valid, while others are only probably valid. A poor-quality trial is not valid; the results are at least as likely to reflect flaws in the study design as a true difference between the compared drugs.

Systematic Reviews

1. Does the review report a clear review question and inclusion/exclusion criteria that relate to the primary studies? A good-quality review should focus on a well-defined question or set of questions, which ideally are reflected in the inclusion/exclusion criteria, which guide the decision of whether to include or exclude specific primary studies. The criteria should relate to the 4 components of study design, indications (patient populations), interventions (drugs), and outcomes of interest. In addition, details should be reported relating to the process of decision-making, such as how many reviewers were involved, whether the studies were examined independently, and how disagreements between reviewers were resolved.

2. Is there evidence of a substantial effort to search for all relevant research?

If details of electronic database searches and other identification strategies are given, the answer to this question usually is yes. Ideally, details of the search terms, date, and language restrictions should be presented. In addition, descriptions of hand searching, attempts to identify unpublished material, and any contact with authors, industry, and research institutes should be provided. The appropriateness of the database(s) searched by the authors should also be considered. For example, if only MEDLINE was searched for a review looking at health education, then it is unlikely that all relevant studies were located.

3. Is the validity of included studies adequately assessed?

A systematic assessment of the quality of primary studies should include an explanation of the criteria used (for example, how randomization was done, whether outcome assessment was blinded, whether analysis was on an intention-to-treat basis). Authors may use a published checklist or scale or one that they have designed specifically for their review. Again, the process relating to the assessment should be explained (how many reviewers were

involved, whether the assessment was independent, and how discrepancies between reviewers were resolved).

4. Is sufficient detail of the individual studies presented?

The review should demonstrate that the studies included are suitable to answer the question posed and that a judgment on the appropriateness of the authors' conclusions can be made. If a paper includes a table giving information on the design and results of the individual studies, or includes a narrative description of the studies within the text, this criterion is usually fulfilled. If relevant, the tables or text should include information on study design, sample size in each study group, patient characteristics, description of interventions, settings, outcome measures, follow-up, drop-out rate (withdrawals), effectiveness results, and adverse events.

5. Are the primary studies summarized appropriately?

The authors should attempt to synthesize the results from individual studies. In all cases, there should be a narrative summary of results, which may or may not be accompanied by a quantitative summary (meta-analysis).

For reviews that use a meta-analysis, heterogeneity between studies should be assessed using statistical techniques. If heterogeneity is present, the possible reasons (including chance) should be investigated. In addition, the individual evaluations should be weighted in some way (for example, according to sample size or inverse of the variance) so that studies that are considered to provide the most reliable data have greater impact on the summary statistic.

Controlled Trials

Assessment of Internal Validity

1.	Was assignment to the treatment groups really random?
	Adequate approaches to sequence generation:
	Computer-generated random numbers
	Random numbers tables
	Inferior approaches to sequence generation:
	Use of alternation, case record numbers, dates of birth, or days of week
	Not reported

2. Was the treatment allocation concealed?

Adequate approaches to concealment of randomization:

Centralized or pharmacy-controlled randomization

Serially numbered identical containers

On-site computer-based system with a randomization sequence that is not readable until allocation

Other approaches sequence to clinicians and patients

Inferior approaches to concealment of randomization:

Use of alternation, case record numbers, dates of birth, or days of week Open random numbers lists

Serially numbered envelopes (even sealed opaque envelopes can be subject to manipulation) Not reported

- 3. Were the groups similar at baseline in terms of prognostic factors?
- 4. Were the eligibility criteria specified?
- 5. Were outcome assessors blinded to the treatment allocation?
- 6. Was the care provider blinded?
- 7. Was the patient kept unaware of the treatment received?

8. Did the article include an intention-to-treat analysis, or provide the data needed to calculate it (number assigned to each group, number of subjects who finished in each group, and their results)?

9. Did the study maintain comparable groups?

10. Did the article report attrition, crossovers, adherence, and contamination?

11. Is there important differential loss to follow-up or overall high loss to follow-up? (Give numbers in each group.)

Assessment of External Validity (Generalizability)

- 1. How similar is the population to the population to whom the intervention would be applied?
- 2. How many patients were recruited?
- 3. What were the exclusion criteria for recruitment? (Give numbers excluded at each step.)
- 4. What was the funding source and role of funder in the study?
- 5. Did the control group receive the standard of care?
- 6. What was the length of follow-up? (Give numbers at each stage of attrition.)

Non-randomized studies

Assessment of Internal Validity

1. Was the selection of patients for inclusion unbiased; that is, was any group of patients systematically excluded?

2. Is there important differential loss to follow-up or overall high loss to follow-up? (Give numbers in each group.)

3. Were the investigated events specified and defined?

4. Was there a clear description of the techniques used to identify the events?

5. Was there unbiased and accurate ascertainment of events (independent ascertainers, validation of ascertainment technique)?

6. Were potential confounding variables and risk factors identified and examined using acceptable statistical techniques?

7. Did the duration of follow-up correlate with reasonable timing for investigated events? (Does it meet the stated threshold?)

Assessment of External Validity

- 1. Was the description of the population adequate?
- 2. How similar is the population to the population to whom the intervention would be applied?
- 3. How many patients were recruited?
- 4. What were the exclusion criteria for recruitment? (Give numbers excluded at each step.)
- 5. What was the funding source and role of funder(s) in the study?

References:

Anonymous (2001). Undertaking systematic reviews of research on effectiveness: CRD's guidance for those carrying out or commissioning reviews CRD Report Number 4 (2nd edition). York, UK, NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination.

Harris, R. P., M. Helfand, et al. (2001). "Current methods of the third U.S. Preventive Services Task Force." <u>American Journal of Preventive Medicine</u> **20**(3S): 21-35.

Appendix D. Excluded papers

160 papers were excluded after reviewing the full-text of the paper. Exclusion codes are shown below:

Codes:

- 1 = Foreign language
- 2 =Other outcome
- 3 = Wrong drug (including combination therapy)
- 4 = Wrong population

5 = Wrong publication type (letter, editorial, non-

- systematic review, case report, case series <10 patients)
- 6 = Wrong design (including placebo trials ≤ 3 months'

duration, dose-ranging study, pharmacokinetics, single-

dose study, drug interaction)

7 = cannot find the study

8 = duplicated study

AO = abstract only

Studies	Code
Aljabri, K., Kozak, S.E., Thompson, D.M. Addition of pioglitazone or bedtime insulin to maximal doses of sulfonylurea and metformin in type 2 diabetes patients with poor glucose control: a prospective, randomized trial. Am. J. Med. 2004; 116 (4):230-5.	2
Al-Salman, J., Arjomand, H., Kemp, D. G., Mittal, M. Hepatocellular injury in a patient receiving rosiglitazone. A case report. Ann. Intern. Med. 2000; 132 (2):121-4.	5
Alsheikh-Ali, A. A., Abourjaily, H. M., Karas, R. H. Risk of adverse events with concomitant use of atorvastatin or simvastatin and glucose-lowering drugs (thiazolidinediones, metformin, sulfonylurea, insulin, and acarbose). Am J Cardiol 2002; 89 (11):1308-10.	6
Alsheikh-Ali, A. A., Karas, R. H. Adverse events with concomitant use of simvastatin or atorvastatin and thiazolidinediones. Am J Cardiol 2004; 93 (11):1417-8.	6
Anderson Jr, D. C. Pharmacologic prevention or delay of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Ann. Pharmacother. 2005; 39 (1):102-9.	5
Angelo, J. B., Huang, J., Carden, D. Diabetes prevention: A review of current literature. Advanced Studies in Medicine 2005; 5 (5):250-9.	5
Anonymous. Improved risk profile with pioglitazone. Br J Diabetes Vasc Dis 2003; 3:446.	5
Anonymous. Inhaled insulin superior to rosiglitazone in patients with uncontrolled type 2 diabetes. Formulary 2003; 38:408.	5
Anonymous. Insulin sensitizer has favorable effects on blood pressure, lipids. Formulary 2004; 39:346.	5
Anonymous. Lipid effects of pioglitazone studied. Br J Diabetes Vasc Dis 2004; 4:209.	5
Asnani, S., Richard, B. C., Desouza, C., Fonseca, V. Is weight loss possible in patients treated with thiazolidinediones? Experience with a low-calorie diet. Curr Med Res Opin 2003; 19 (7):609-13.	6
Baba, S. Pioglitazone: a review of Japanese clinical studies. Curr Med Res Opin. 17 (3):166-89.	2

Baba, T., Shimada, K., Neugebauer, S., Yamada, D., Hashimoto, S., Watanabe, T. The oral insulin sensitizer, thiazolidinedione, increases plasma vascular endothelial growth factor in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 2001; 24 (5):953-4.	5
Bailey, C. J., Day, C. Antidiabetic drugs. Br J Cardiol 2003; 10 (2):128-36.	5
Bajaj, M., Suraamornkul, S., Piper, P., Hardies, L. J., Glass, L., Cersosimo, E., Pratipanawatr, T., Miyazaki, Y., DeFronzo, R. A. Decreased plasma adiponectin concentrations are closely related to hepatic fat content and hepatic insulin resistance in pioglitazone-treated type 2 diabetic patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004; 89 (1):200-6.	6
Bajaj, M., Suraamornkul, S., Pratipanawatr, T., Hardies, L. J., Pratipanawatr, W., Glass, L., Cersosimo, E., Miyazaki, Y., DeFronzo, R. A. Pioglitazone reduces hepatic fat content and augments splanchnic glucose uptake in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes 2003; 52 (6):1364-70.	5
Bakris, G., Viberti, G., Weston, W. M., Heise, M., Porter, L. E., Freed, M. I. Rosiglitazone reduces urinary albumin excretion in type II diabetes. J Hum Hypertens 2003; 17 (1):7-12.	2
Baksi, A., James, R. E., Zhou, B., Nolan, J. J. Comparison of uptitration of gliclazide with the addition of rosiglitazone to gliclazide in patients with type 2 diabetes inadequately controlled on half-maximal doses of a sulphonylurea. Acta Diabetol. 2004; 41 (2):63-9.	2
Balkrishnan, R., Rajagopalan, R., Shenolikar, R. A., Camacho, F. T., Whitmire, J. T., Anderson, R. T. Healthcare costs and prescription adherence with introduction of thiazolidinedione therapy in Medicaid type 2 diabetic patients: a retrospective data analysis. Curr Med Res Opin. 20 (10):1633-40.	2
Belcher, G., Matthews, D. R. Safety and tolerability of pioglitazone. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 2000; 108 (Suppliment 2):S267-S73.	2
Bell, D. S., Ovalle, F. How long can insulin therapy be avoided in the patient with type 2 diabetes mellitus by use of a combination of metformin and a sulfonylurea? Endocrine Practice 2000; 6 (4):293-5.	3
Bell, D. S., Ovalle, F. Outcomes of initiation of therapy with once-daily combination of a thiazolidinedione and a biguanide at an early stage of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Obes Metab 2004; 6 (5):363-6.	6
Bell, D. S. H. Management of type 2 diabetes with thiazolidinediones: Link between (beta)-cell preservation and durability of response. Endocrinologist 2004; 14 (5):293-9.	5
Bell, D. S. H., Ovalle, F. Long-term efficacy of triple oral therapy for type 2 diabetes mellitus. Endocr Pract 2002; 8 (4):271-5.	2
Bell, D. S. H., Ovalle, F. Tissue triglyceride levels in type 2 diabetes and the role of thiazolidinediones in reversing the effects of tissue hypertriglyceridemia: Review of the evidence in animals and humans. Endocr Pract 2001; 7 (2):135-8.	6
Berry, P. Severe congestive cardiac failure and ischaemic hepatitis associated with rosiglitazone. Practical Diabetes International 2004; 21 (5):199-200.	6
Bertoni, A. G. Achieving control of diabetic risk factors in primary care settings. Am J Manag Care 2001; 7 (4):411-21.	5
Bloomgarden, Z. T. Definitions of the Insulin Resistance Syndrome: The 1 st World Congress on the Insulin Resistance Syndrome. Diabetes Care 2004; 27 (3):824-30.	5
Bloomgarden, Z. T. Dyslipidemia and the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Care 2004; 27 (12):3009-16.	5
Bluher, M., Lubben, G., Paschke, R. Analysis of the relationship between the Pro12Ala variant in the PPAR-gamma2 gene and the response rate to therapy with pioglitazone in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care	5

2003 26 (3) 825-31	
Bonkovsky H I. Azar P. Bird S. Szabo C. Banner B. Savera cholectatic	
bonkovsky, 11. L., Azar, N., Bird, S., Szabo, G., Barnier, B. Severe chorestatic	6
regisitezono for traditezono. Dia Dia Sai 2002: 47 (7):1622 7	0
Tosiginazone for troginazone. Dig Dis Sci 2002; 47 (7):1632-7.	
Bragg, T. Rosiglitazone and type 2 diabetes mellitus Lancet 2001; 357:1451.	5
Bruun, J. M., Pedersen, S. B., Richelsen, B. Interleukin-8 production in human	
adipose tissue. Inhibitory effects of anti-diabetic compounds, the	3
thiazolidinedione Ciglitazone and the biguanide Metformin. Horm Metab Res	5
2000; 32 (11-12):537-41.	
Buchanan, T. A. Pancreatic beta-cell loss and preservation in type 2 diabetes.	_
Clin Ther 2003: 25 (Suppl B):B32-B46	2
Burk M. Morreale A. P. Cunningham F. Conversion from troglitazone to	
resignitazione er nigglitazione in the VA: A multicenter DUE. Formulary 2004:	6
	0
39 (6):310-7.	
Ceriello, A., Johns, D., Widel, M., Eckland, D. J., Gilmore, K. J., Tan, M. H.	
Comparison of effect of pioglitazone with metformin or sulfonylurea	
(monotherapy and combination therapy) on postload glycemia and composite	2
insulin sensitivity index during an oral glucose tolerance test in patients with	
type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2005; 28 (2):266-72.	
Chan K A Truman A Gurwitz J H Hurley J S Martinson B Platt R	
Everhart J. E. Moselev R. H. Terrault N. Ackerson J. Selby J. V. A	
cohort study of the incidence of serious acute liver injury in diabetic patients	6
tracted with hyperlycemic egents. Areh. Intern. Med. 2002; 162 (6):729.24	
treated with hypoglycemic agents. Arch. Intern. Med. 2003, 163 (6):728-34.	
Chase, M. P., Yarze, J. C. Pioglitazone-associated fulminant hepatic failure.	6
Am. J. Gastroenterol. 2002; 97 (2):502-3.	-
Cheng, A. Y., Fantus, I. G. Thiazolidinedione-induced congestive heart failure.	ĥ
Ann. Pharmacother. 2004; 38 (5):817-20.	8
Chitturi, S., George, J. Hepatotoxicity of commonly used drugs: nonsteroidal	
anti-inflammatory drugs, antihypertensives, antidiabetic agents,	F
anticonvulsants, lipid-lowering agents, psychotropic drugs. Semin. Liver Dis.	5
2002: 22 (2):169-83.	
Cluxton, R. J., Jr., Li, Z., Heaton, P. C., Weiss, S. R., Zuckerman, I. H.,	
Moomaw C. J. Hsu V. D. Rodriguez F. M. Impact of regulatory labeling for	
troditazone and rosialitazone on henatic enzyme monitoring compliance.	5
findings from the state of Ohio Medicaid program. Dharmacoenidemiology &	5
Drug Sefety 2005: 14 (1):1.0	
Drug Salety 2005, 14 (1). 1-9.	
Dandona, P., Aljada, A., Chaudhuri, A. Vascular reactivity and	2
thiazolidinediones. Am. J. Med. 2003; 115 Suppl 8A:815-65.	
Decsi, T., Molnar, D. Insulin resistance syndrome in children :	-
pathophysiology and potential management strategies. Paediatr Drugs 2003;	2
5 (5):291-9.	
Derosa, G., Cicero, A. F. G., Murdolo, G., Ciccarelli, L., Fogari, R.	
Comparison of metabolic effects of orlistat and sibutramine treatment in Type	5
2 diabetic obese patients. Diabetes, Nutri Metab Clin 2004; 17 (4):222-9.	
Desmet, C., Warzee, B., Gosset, P., Melotte, D., Rongvaux, A., Gillet, L.,	
Fievez I. Seumois G. Vanderplasschen A. Staels B. Lekeux P. Bureau	
F Pro-inflammatory properties for thiazolidinediones. Biochem. Pharmacol	2
Dhawan M. Agrawal D. Davis I. Culati S. Silvermen, I. Nethen, C.	
Dilawan, M., Ayrawai, R., Ravi, J., Gulati, S., Silverman, J., Nathan, G.,	0
Kaab, S., Biodmerkei, G., Jr. Kosigiitazone-Induced granulomatous hepatitis.	Ø
J. Clin. Gastroenterol. 2002; 34 (5):582-4.	
Diamant, M., Heine, R. J. Thiazolidinediones in type 2 diabetes mellitus:	5
current clinical evidence. Drugs 2003; 63 (13):1373-405.	5
Ebcioglu, Z., Morgan, J., Carey, C., Capuzzi, D. Paradoxical lowering of high-	5
density lipoprotein cholesterol level in 2 patients receiving fenofibrate and a	5

	1
thiazolidinedione. Ann. Intern. Med. 2003; 139 (9):W80.	
Einhorn, D., Rendell, M., Rosenzweig, J., Egan, J. W., Mathisen, A. L.,	
Schneider, R. L. Pioglitazone hydrochloride in combination with metformin in	2
the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus: A randomized, placebo-controlled	2
study Clin Ther 2000: 22 (12):1395-409	
Earley Hills E. Siyasankar, P. Martin, M. Eatal liver failure associated with	
rancy-i inis, E., Sivasarikai, R., Waruni, W. Falariver failure associated with	6
pioginazone. Br. Med. J. 2004, 329 (7463).429.	
Fonarow, G. C. Approach to the management of diabetic patients with heart	2
failure: role of thiazolidinediones. Am. Heart J. 2004; 148 (4):551-8.	_
Forman, L. M., Simmons, D. A., Diamond, R. H. Hepatic failure in a patient	6
taking rosiglitazone. Ann. Intern. Med. 2000; 132 (2):118-21.	0
Freid, J., Everitt, D., Boscia, J. Rosiglitazone and hepatic failure, Ann. Intern.	_
Med 2000: 132 (2):164	5
Gale E A M Lessons from the alitazones: A story of drug development	
	2
Lancel 2001, 557 (9271). 1670-5.	
Gegick, C. G., Altheimer, M. D. Comparison of effects of thiazolidinediones on	
cardiovascular risk factors: observations from a clinical practice. Endocr Pract	5
2001; 7 (3):162-9.	
Goke, B., German Pioglitazone Study, G. Improved glycemic control and lipid	
profile in a randomized study of pioglitazone compared with acarbose in	
patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Treatments in Endocrinology 2002: 1	2
(0).029-00.	
Gouda, H. E., Khan, A., Schwartz, J., Cohen, R. I. Liver failure in a patient	6
treated with long-term rosiglitazone therapy. Am. J. Med. 2001; 111 (7):584-5.	_
Grossman, E. Rosiglitazone reduces blood pressure and urinary albumin	
excretion in type 2 diabetes: G Bakris et al. J Hum Hypertens 2003; 17 (1):5-	5
6.	
Hachey, D. M., O'Neil, M. P., Force, R. W. Isolated elevation of alkaline	
phosphatase level associated with rosignitazone. Ann. Intern. Med. 2000: 133	6
(q)·752	°,
Upffnar C. M. Craanbarg A. C. Waatan W. M. Chan H. Williama K.	
Frend M. L. Effect of registionent to perturbative difference for the second M. L. Effect of registionent to perturbative difference for the second s	
Freed, M. T. Effect of rosigilitazone treatment of nontraditional markers of	2
cardiovascular disease in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Circulation	
2002; 106 (6):679-84.	
Hanefeld, M., Belcher, G. Safety profile of pioglitazone. Int J Clin Pract.	2
Supplement 2001; (121):27-31.	2
Herman, W. H., Dirani, R. G., Horblyuk, R., O'Neill, M. C., Kravitz, B., Heise,	
M. A., Bakst, A., Freed, M. L., Group, R. S. Reduction in use of healthcare	
services with combination sulfonvlurea and rosiglitazone: findings from the	5
Deciglitazono Early ve Sulfonyluroa Titration (PESULT) study. Am I Manag	6
Core 2005: 11 (A):272.9	
Gale 2003, 11 (4).273-6.	
Hirose, H., Kawai, T., Yamamoto, Y., Taniyama, M., Tomita, M., Matsubara,	
K., Okazaki, Y., Ishii, T., Oguma, Y., Takei, I., Saruta, T. Effects of	
pioglitazone on metabolic parameters, body fat distribution, and serum	6
adiponectin levels in Japanese male patients with type 2 diabetes.	
Metabolism 2002; 51 (3):314-7.	
Honisett, S. Y., Stojanovska, L., Sudhir, K., Kingwell, B. A., Dawood, T.,	
Komesaroff, P. A. Hormone therapy impairs endothelial function in	_
nostmenonausal women with type 2 diabetes mellitus treated with	6
rocialitazono I Olin Endocrinol Motob 2004: 90 (0):4645 0	
IUSIYIILAZUHE. J UIII EHUUUHHUI WELAU ZUU4, 09 (9).4010-9.	
Inzucchi, S. E., Kernan, W. N., Viscoli, C. M., Brass, L. M., Bravata, D. M.,	
McVeety, J. C., Horowitz, R. I. Pioglitazone improves insulin resistance after	5
stroke. Diabetes 2002; 51 (Suppl 2):A139.	
Inzucchi, S. E., Masoudi, F. A., Wang, Y., Kosiborod, M., Foody, J. M.,	e
Setaro, J. F., Havranek, E. P., Krumholz, H. M. Insulin-sensitizing	U

antihyperglycemic drugs and mortality after acute myocardial infarction: Insights from the national heart care project. Diabetes Care 2005; 28 (7):1680-9.	
Isley, W. L. Glitazones: Good for glycemia. Good for the liver? Diabetes Technol Ther 2003; 5 (1):43-4.	5
Isley, W. L. Hepatotoxicity of thiazolidinediones. Expert Opinion on Drug Safety 2003; 2 (6):581-6.	2
Jovanovic, L., Hassman, D. R., Gooch, B., Jain, R., Greco, S., Khutoryansky, N., Hale, P. M. Treatment of type 2 diabetes with a combination regimen of repaglinide plus pioglitazone. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2004; 63 (2):127-34.	5
Kalyoncu, N. I., Yaris, F., Ulku, C., Kadioglu, M., Kesim, M., Unsal, M., Dikici, M., Yaris, E. A case of rosiglitazone exposure in the second trimester of pregnancy. Reprod. Toxicol. 2005; 19 (4):563-4.	6
Kane, M. P., Busch, R. S., Bakst, G., Hamilton, R. A. Substitution of pioglitazone for troglitazone in patients with type 2 diabetes. Endocr Pract 2004; 10 (1):18-23.	5
Kaneko, T., al., e. Clinical evaluation of an insulin-resistance improving agent, AD-4833, in patients with non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus (NIDDM) on diet therapy alone: a placebo controlled double blind clinical study. Jpn J Clin Exp Med 1997; 74:1491-514.	1
Kaneko, T., al., e. Dose finding study of AD-4833 in patients with non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus (NIDDM) on treatment with a sulfonylurea drug: single blind comparative study on four dosages. Jpn J Clin Med 1997; 74:1278-306.	1
Kaneko, T., Baba, S. Clinical efficacy of Pioglitazone (AD-4833)]. Nippon Rinsho - Japanese Journal of Clinical Medicine 1997; 55 Suppl:142-6.	1
Karter, A. J., Moffet, H. H., Liu, J., Parker, M. M., Ahmed, A. T., Ferrara, A., Selby, J. V. Achieving good glycemic control: initiation of new antihyperglycemic therapies in patients with type 2 diabetes from the Kaiser Permanente Northern California Diabetes Registry. Am J Manag Care 2005; 11 (4):262-70.	5
Kernan, W. N., Inzucchi, S. E., Viscoli, C. M., Brass, L. M., Bravata, D. M., Horwitz, R. I. Insulin resistance and risk for stroke. Neurology 2002; 59 (6):809-15.	2
Ko, S. H., Song, K. H., Ahn, Y. B., Yoo, S. J., Son, H. S., Yoon, K. H., Cha, B. Y., Lee, K. W., Son, H. Y., Kang, S. K. The effect of rosiglitazone on serum lipoprotein(a) levels in Korean patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Metabolism 2003; 52 (6):731-4.	5
Lawrence, I. G. Rosiglitazone monotherapy and type 2 diabetes. Diabet Med 2001; 18 (SUPPL. 4):6-8.	5
Lawrence, J. M., Reid, J., Taylor, G. J., Stirling, C., Reckless, J. P. Favorable effects of pioglitazone and metformin compared with gliclazide on lipoprotein subfractions in overweight patients with early type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2004; 27 (1):41-6.	2
Lee, W. M. Drug-induced hepatotoxicity. N. Engl. J. Med. 2003; 349 (5):474-85.	2
Lenhard, M. J., Funk, W. B. Failure to develop hepatic injury from rosiglitazone in a patient with a history of troglitazone-induced hepatitis. Diabetes Care 2001; 24 (1):168-9.	6
Lewin, A. J., Kipnes, M. S., Meneghini, L. F., Plotkin, D. J., Perevozskaya, I. T., Shah, S., Maccubbin, D. L., Mitchel, Y. B., Tobert, J. A., Simvastatin/Thiazolidinedione Study, G. Effects of simvastatin on the lipid profile and attainment of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol goals when added to thiazolidinedione therapy in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Clin. Ther.	6

2004: 26 (3):379-89	
Lien J. F. Feinglos M. N. Protease inhibitor-induced diabetic complications:	
Incidence management and prevention Drug Safety 2005: 28 (3):209-26	2
Maaravi Y Stessman I Mild reversible pancytopenia induced by	
rosiglitazone. Diabetes Care 2005: 28:1536	5
Maeda K Henatocellular injury in a natient receiving pioglitazone. Ann	
Intern Med 2001: 135 (4):306	6
Malinowski, J. M. Bolesta, S. Rosiolitazone in the treatment of type 2	
diabetes mellitus: a critical review Clin Ther 2000: 22 (10):1151-68:	5
discussion 49-50	0
Marcy T R Britton M L Blevins S M Second-generation	
thiazolidinediones and henatotoxicity. Ann. Pharmacother. 2004: 38 (9):1419-	6
23	3
Martens F M Visseren F I Lemay J de Koning F J Rabelink T J	
Metabolic and additional vascular effects of thiazolidinediones. Drugs 2002	2
62 (10)·1463-80	L
Masoudi FA, Inzucchi S, Wang Y, Havranek FP, Foody, IM, Krumbolz HM	
Thiazolidinediones metformin and outcomes in older patients with diabetes	6
and heart failure. Circulation 2005: 111 (5):583-90	5
Matthews D. R. Guidance on rosiglitazone for type 2 diabetes mellitus	
Lancet 2001: 357 (9254):481	5
May I D Lefkowitch I H Kram M T Rubin D E Mixed benatocellular-	
cholestatic liver injury after pioglitazone therapy. Ann. Intern. Med. 2002: 136	6
	8
(0).443-52. McCluskov D. Tougor M.S. Molic P. Schlousopor D.S. McCluskov D.	
Desults of a randomized, double blind, placebe controlled study administering	
alimentride to nation with type 2 diabetes mellitus inadequately controlled	2
with resignitazone monotherany. Clin. Ther. 2004: 26 (11):1783-00	
Mivazaki V He H Mandarino I I DeFronzo P A Posialitazone	
improves downstream insulin recentor signaling in type 2 diabetic nations	6
Diabetes 2003: 52 (8):19/3-50	0
Mudaliar S, Chang A, P, Henry P, P. Thiazolidinadiones peripheral	
edema, and type 2 diabetes: incidence, pathonbysiology, and clinical	2
implications. Endocr Pract 2003: 9 (5):406-16	2
Mukhtar P. Backless, J. P. D. Dyslinidaemia in Type 2 diabetes: Effects of	
the thiazolidinediones pigalitazone and rosialitazone. Diabet Med	2
Supplement 2005: 22 (3):6-10	2
Nag S McCulloch A Jariwala S Liver enzymes and rosiglitazone Br L	
Diabetes Vasc Dis 2003: 3 (1):62-3	6
Nagai V Abe T Nomura G Does nigglitazone like troglitazone increase	
serum levels of linoprotein(a) in diabetic patients? Diabetes Care 2001: 24	2
(2)· (2) · (2)	2
(2).400-3. Nagasaka S. Δbe T. Kawakami Δ. Kusaka I. Nakamura T. Ishikawa S.	
Saito T Ishibashi S Pionlitazone-induced benatic injuny in a patient	
previously receiving troalitazone with success. Diabet Med 2002: 19 (4):347-	6
Nagasaka S. Aiso Y. Yoshizawa K. Ishibashi S. Comparison of	
nighted as a sessment	2
Diabet Med 2004: 21 (2):136-41.	-
Nagashima, K., Lopez, C., Donovan, D., Ngai, C., Fontanez, N., Bensadoun	
A Fruchart-Najib J Holleran S Cohn J S Ramakrishnan R Ginsherg	
H N Effects of the PPAR(gamma) agonist nigglitazone on linoprotein	6
metabolism in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J. Clin. Invest. 2005: 115	5
(5):1323-32.	
Nakamura, T., Ushiyama, C., Osada, S., Shimada, N., Fhihara, I., Koide, H.	2
	-

Effect of pioglitazone on dyslipidemia in hemodialysis patients with type 2 diabetes. Ren. Fail. 2001; 23 (6):863-4.	
Nesto, R. W., Bell, D., Bonow, R. O., Fonseca, V., Grundy, S. M., Horton, E. S., Le Winter, M., Porte, D., Semenkovich, C. F., Smith, S., Young, L. H., Kahn, R., American Heart, A., American Diabetes, A. Thiazolidinedione use, fluid retention, and congestive heart failure: a consensus statement from the American Heart Association and American Diabetes Association. October 7, 2003. Circulation 2003; 108 (23):2941-8.	5
Niemeyer, N. V., Janney, L. M. Thiazolidinedione-induced edema. Pharmacotherapy 2002; 22 (7):924-9.	5
Normen, L., Frohlich, J., Montaner, J., Harris, M., Elliott, T., Bondy, G. Combination therapy with fenofibrate and rosiglitazone paradoxically lowers serum HDL cholesterol. Diabetes Care 2004; 27 (9):2241-2.	6
Ovalle, F., Bell, D. S. Lipoprotein effects of different thiazolidinediones in clinical practice. Endocr Pract 2002; 8 (6):406-10.	4
Owens, D. R. Thiazolidinediones: A pharmacological overview. Clin Drug Invest 2002: 22 (8):485-505.	2
Padwal, R., Majumdar, S. R., Johnson, J. A., Varney, J., McAlister, F. A. A systematic review of drug therapy to delay or prevent type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2005; 28 (3):736-44.	2
Page, R. L., 2 nd , Gozansky, W. S., Ruscin, J. M. Possible heart failure exacerbation associated with rosiglitazone: case report and literature review. Pharmacotherapy 2003; 23 (7):945-54.	6
Palmer, A. J., Valentine, W. J., Ray, J. A. Thiazolidinediones for diabetes mellitus: Considerations for reimbursements by third-party payers. Disease Management and Health Outcomes 2004; 12 (6):363-75.	2
Panigrahy, D., Shen, L. Q., Kieran, M. W., Kaipainen, A. Therapeutic potential of thiazolidinediones as anticancer agents. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 2003; 12 (12):1925-37.	2
Parhofer, K. G., Otto, C., Geiss, H. C., Laubach, E., Goke, B. Effect of pioglitazone on lipids in well controlled patients with diabetes mellitus type 2 results of a pilot study. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 2005; 113 (1):49-52.	5
Patel, C., Wyne, K. L., McGuire, D. K. Thiazolidinediones, peripheral oedema and congestive heart failure: What is the evidence? Diabetes Vasc Disease Research 2005; 2 (2):61-6.	5
 Pavo, I., Jermendy, G., Varkonyi, T. T., Kerenyi, Z., Gyimesi, A., Shoustov, S., Shestakova, M., Herz, M., Johns, D., Schluchter, B. J., Festa, A., Tan, M. H. Effect of pioglitazone compared with metformin on glycemic control and indicators of insulin sensitivity in recently diagnosed patients with type 2 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003; 88 (4):1637-45. 	2
Peters Harmel, A. L., Kendall, D. M., Buse, J. B., Boyle, P. J., Marchetti, A., Lau, H. Impact of adjunctive thiazolidinedione therapy on blood lipid levels and glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes. Curr Med Res Opin 2004; 20 (2):215-23.	5
Petersen, K. U. From toxic precursors to safe drugs. Mechanisms and relevance of idiosyncratic drug reactions. Arzneimittelforschung 2002; 52 (6):423-9.	5
Petrofsky, J., Lee, S., Bweir, S., Laymon, M. Improvement in Autonomic Function with Rosiglitazone in Type 2 Diabetes. J Appl Res 2003; 3 (3):270- 81.	5
Pfutzner, A., Marx, N., Lubben, G., Langenfeld, M., Walcher, D., Konrad, T., Forst, T. Improvement of cardiovascular risk markers by pioglitazone is independent from glycemic control: results from the pioneer study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005; 45 (12):1925-31.	2
Pinto, A. G., Cummings, O. W., Chalasani, N. Severe but reversible	6

cholestatic liver injury after pioglitazone therapy. Ann. Intern. Med. 2002; 137 (10):857.	
Pistrosch, F., Passauer, J., Fischer, S., Fuecker, K., Hanefeld, M., Gross, P. In type 2 diabetes, rosiglitazone therapy for insulin resistance ameliorates endothelial dysfunction independent of glucose control. Diabetes Care 2004; 27 (2):484-90.	2
Poulsen, M. K., Henriksen, J. E., Hother-Nielsen, O., Beck-Nielsen, H. The combined effect of triple therapy with rosiglitazone, metformin, and insulin aspart in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 2003; 26 (12):3273-9.	2
Ramachandran, A., Snehalatha, C., Salini, J., Vijay, V. Use of glimepiride and insulin sensitizers in the treatment of type 2 diabetes—a study in Indians. J. Assoc. Physicians India 2004; 52:459-63.	2
Ramsdell, J. W., Braunstein, S. N., Stephens, J. M., Bell, C. F., Botteman, M. F., Devine, S. T. Economic model of first-line drug strategies to achieve recommended glycaemic control in newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus. Pharmacoeconomics 2003; 21 (11):819-37.	5
Ravinuthala, R. S., Nori, U. Rosiglitazone toxicity. Ann. Intern. Med. 2000; 133 (8):658.	6
Raz, I., Mouritzen, U., Vaz, J., Hershkovitz, T., Wainstein, J., Harman-Boehm, I. Addition of biphasic insulin aspart 30 to rosiglitazone in type 2 diabetes mellitus that is poorly controlled with glibenclamide monotherapy. Clin. Ther. 2003; 25 (12):3109-23.	6
Rendell, M. S., Glazer, N. B., Ye, Z. Combination therapy with pioglitazone plus metformin or sulfonylurea in patients with Type 2 diabetes: influence of prior antidiabetic drug regimen. J Diabetes Complications 2003; 17 (4):211-7.	5
Reusch, J. E. B., Regensteiner, J. G., Watson, P. A. Novel actions of thiazolidinediones on vascular function and exercise capacity. Am. J. Med. 2003; 115 (8 Suppl. 1):69-74.	5
Roman Ramos, R., Flores Saenz, J. L. E., Alarcon Aguilar, F. J., Contreras Weber, C. C., Rivas Vilchis, J. F., Trujillo Arriaga, H. M. Normalization of impaired glucose tolerance with rosiglitazone. Investigacion Medica Internacional 2000; 27 (1):9-13.	1
Saenz, A., Fernandez-Esteban, I., Mataix, A., Ausejo, M., Roque, M., Moher, D. Metformin monotherapy for type 2 diabetes mellitus Cochrane Database of Syst Rev 2005; 3:3.	2
Sarafidis, P. A., Lasaridis, A. N., Nilsson, P. M., Hitoglou-Makedou, A. D., Pagkalos, E. M., Yovos, J. G., Pliakos, C. I., Tourkantonis, A. A. The effect of rosiglitazone on urine albumin excretion in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and hypertension. Am. J. Hypertens. 2005; 18 (2):227-34.	5
Sarker, A., Semple, R. K., Dinneen, S. F., O'Rahilly, S., Martin, S. C. Severe hypo-alpha-lipoproteinemia during treatment with rosiglitazone. Diabetes Care 2004; 27 (11):2577-80.	6
Scheen, A. J. Combined thiazolidinedione-insulin therapy: should we be concerned about safety? Drug Safety 2004; 27 (12):841-56.	5
Scheen, A. J. Hepatotoxicity with thiazolidinediones: is it a class effect? Drug Safety 2001; 24 (12):873-88.	2
Schwartz, S., Sievers, R., Strange, P., Lyness, W. H., Hollander, P. Insulin 70/30 mix plus metformin versus triple oral therapy in the treatment of type 2 diabetes after failure of two oral drugs: Efficacy, safety, and cost analysis. Diabetes Care 2003; 26 (8):2238-43.	6
Seino, H., Yamaguchi, H., Misaki, A., Sakata, Y., Kitagawa, M., Yamazaki, T., Kikuchi, H., Abe, R. Clinical effect of combination therapy of pioglitazone and an alpha-glucosidase inhibitor. Curr Med Res Opin 2003; 19 (8):675-82.	2
Seufert, J., Lubben, G., Dietrich, K., Bates, P. C. A comparison of the effects of thiazolidinediones and metformin on metabolic control in patients with type	2

2 diabates mollitus. Clin. Ther. 2004; 26 (6):805.18	
2 diabetes mellitus. Cim. mel. 2004, 20 (0).005-10.	
Shadid, S., Jensen, M. D. Angioneurotic edema as a side effect of	6
ploglitazone. Diabetes Care 2002; 25 (2):405.	
Shah, M., Kolandaivelu, A., Fearon, W. F. Pioglitazone-induced heart failure	6
despite normal left ventricular function. Am. J. Med. 2004; 117 (12):973-4.	
Sidhu, J. S., Cowan, D., Kaski, J. C. The effects of rosiglitazone, a	
peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma agonist, on markers of	
endothelial cell activation, C-reactive protein, and fibrinogen levels in non-	5
diabetic coronary artery disease patients. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003; 42	
(10):1757-63.	
Singh. N. Rosiglitazone and heart failure: long-term vigilance. Journal of	0
Cardiovascular Pharmacology & Therapeutics 2004: 9 (1):21-5.	6
Srivastava A K Mehdi M Z Insulino-mimetic and anti-diabetic effects of	
vanadium compounds. Diabetic Medicine 2005: 22 (1):2-13	5
Starkov K. Houfolder A. Baker G. Joha W. Evans M. Davies S.	
Starkey, N., Heuleiuei, A., Dakei, G., Juba, W., Evalis, W., Davies, S.,	
Ludyale, M. Peroxisolite promerator-activated receptor-gamma in thyroid eye	6
disease: contraindication for thiazolidinedione use? J Clin Endocrinol Metab	
2003; 88 (1):55-9.	
Tan, M. H., Johns, D., Glazer, N. B. Pioglitazone reduces atherogenic index	2
of plasma in patients with type 2 diabetes. Clin. Chem. 2004; 50 (7):1184-8.	2
Thomas, M. L., Lloyd, S. J. Pulmonary edema associated with rosiglitazone	6
and troglitazone. Ann. Pharmacother. 2001; 35 (1):123-4.	0
Tiikkainen, M., Hakkinen, A. M., Korsheninnikova, E., Nyman, T., Makimattila,	
S., Yki-Jarvinen, H. Effects of rosiglitazone and metformin on liver fat content.	
henatic insulin resistance insulin clearance and gene expression in adinose	2
tissue in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes 2004: 53 (8):2160-76	
Tolman, K. G. Thiazolidingdione benatotoxicity: a class effect? Int I Clin	
Dract Supplement 2000: (112):20.24	5
Pract. Supplement 2000, (113).29-34.	
Viberti, G., Kann, S. E., Greene, D. A., Herman, W. H., Zinman, B., Hoiman,	
R. R., Haffner, S. M., Levy, D., Lachin, J. M., Berry, R. A., Heise, M. A.,	
Jones, N. P., Freed, M. I. A diabetes outcome progression trial (ADOPT): an	2
international multicenter study of the comparative efficacy of rosiglitazone,	E
glyburide, and metformin in recently diagnosed type 2 diabetes. Diabetes	
Care 2002; 25 (10):1737-43.	
Vikram, N. K., Misra, A., Devi, J. R. Accelerated hypertension due to	0
rosiglitazone therapy, Indian Heart J. 2002: 54 (6):733.	6
Wagstaff, A. J., Goa, K. L. Spotlight on rosiglitazone in the management of	_
type 2 diabetes mellitus. Treat Endocrinol 2002: 1 (6):411-4	5
Watanabe I Tani S Anazawa T Kushiro T Kanmatsuse K Effect of	
pioglitazono on arteriosolorosis in comparison with that of glibonolamido	2
piopitazone on alterioscierosis in comparison with that of glipericiamide.	2
Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2005, 68 (2):104-10.	
Winokur, A., SS, I., GC, E., Urgunart, R., Mariz, S. Time course of efficacy of	5
pioglitazone. Diabetes 2004; 53 (Suppl 2):A482.	-
Wooltorton, E. Rosiglitazone (Avandia) and pioglitazone (Actos) and heart	5
failure. CMAJ 2002; 166 (2):219.	5
Yamasaki, Y., Kawamori, R., Wasada, T., Sato, A., Omori, Y., Eguchi, H.,	
Tominaga, M., Sasaki, H., Ikeda, M., Kubota, M., Ishida, Y., Hozumi, T.,	
Baba, S., Uehara, M., Shichiri, M., Kaneko, T. Pioglitazone (AD-4833)	2
ameliorates insulin resistance in patients with NIDDM AD-4833 Glucose	
Clamp Study Group Japan Tohoku J Exp Med 1997 183 (3) 173-83	
Yanagawa T Araki A Sasamoto K Shirahe S Vamanouchi T Effect of	
antidiabatic medications on microalbuminuria in patients with two 2 diabates	Б
antionabeliem 2004: 53 (3):252 7	0
Were L Di E Lle D. Zhu V. Were D. Vere M. Mere V. Vere C.	
rang, J., DI, F., He, K., Znu, X., Wang, D., Yang, M., Wang, Y., Yuan, S.,	2
Chen, J. Effect of addition of low-dose rosiglitazone to sulphonylurea therapy	-

on glycemic control in type 2 diabetic patients. Chin. Med. J. 2003; 116	
Yang, J. K., Di, F. S., He, R. H., Zhu, X. S., Wang, D. Q., Yang, M. G., Wang, Y. G., Yang, T., LiuXh, Chen, J. W. Clinical study on rosiglitazone	2
monotherapy of early type 2 diabetes. China Pharmacy 2002; 13 (10):608-10. Yaris, F., Yaris, E., Kadioglu, M., Ulku, C., Kesim, M., Kalyoncu, N. I. Normal	
pregnancy outcome following inadvertent exposure to rosiglitazone, gliclazide, and atorvastatin in a diabetic and hypertensive woman. Reprod. Toxicol. 2004; 18 (4):619-21.	6
Yates, S. W. Comparative effects of available thiazolidinediones: A review of the literature. P and T 2004; 29 (9):584-8+90.	5
Yosefy, C., Magen, E., Kiselevich, A., Priluk, R., London, D., Volchek, L., Viskoper, R. J., Jr. Rosiglitazone improves, while Glibenclamide worsens blood pressure control in treated hypertensive diabetic and dyslipidemic subjects via modulation of insulin resistance and sympathetic activity. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 2004; 44 (2):215-22.	2
Zhou, Z., Li, X., Huang, G., Peng, J., Yang, L., Yan, X., Wang, J. Rosiglitazone combined with insulin preserves islet beta cell function in adult- onset latent autoimmune diabetes (LADA). Diabetes Metab Res Rev 2005; 21 (2):203-8.	4
Zinman, B. PPAR gamma agonists in type 2 diabetes: how far have we come in 'preventing the inevitable'? A review of the metabolic effects of rosiglitazone. Diabetes Obes Metab 2001; 3 Suppl 1:S34-43.	2

Excluded papers Update 1

41 papers were excluded after reviewing full text of the paper.

Excluded Studies	Code
Bailey CJ, Bagdonas A, Rubes J, et al. Rosiglitazone/metformin fixed-dose combination compared with uptitrated metformin alone in type 2 diabetes mellitus: a 24-week, multicenter, randomized, double-blind, parallel-group study. Clin Ther. Oct 2005;27(10):1548-1561.	3
Berhanu P, Kipnes MS, Khan MA, et al. Effects of pioglitazone on lipid and lipoprotein profiles in patients with type 2 diabetes and dyslipidaemia after treatment conversion from rosiglitazone while continuing stable statin therapy.[erratum appears in Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2006 Sep;3(2):71]. Diabetes & Vascular Disease Research. May 2006;3(1):39-44.	6
Cao Z, Zhou YJ, Zhao YX, Liu YY, Guo YH, Cheng WJ. Rosiglitazone could improve clinical outcomes after coronary stent implantation in nondiabetic patients with metabolic syndrome. Chin Med J. 2006;119(14):1171-1175.	2
Cobitz A, Zambanini A, Sowell M, al. e. A retrospective evaluation of congestive heart failure and myocardial ischemia events in 14 237 patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus enrolled in 42 short-term, double-blind, randomized clinical studies with rosiglitazone. Pharmacoepidemiology & Drug Safety. 2008;17:769-781.	6
Colucciello M. Vision loss due to macular edema induced by rosiglitazone treatment of diabetes mellitus. Arch Ophthalmol. Sep 2005;123(9):1273-1275.	5
Dagdelen S, Gedik O. Rosiglitazone-associated pseudotumour cerebri. Diabetologia. Jan 2006;49(1):207-208.	5
Davidson JA, Perez A, Zhang J, The Pioglitazone 343 Study G. Addition of	6

Excluded Studies	Code
pioglitazone to stable insulin therapy in patients with poorly controlled type 2	
diabetes: results of a double-blind, multicentre, randomized study. Diabetes Obes	
Metab. 2006;8(2):164-174.	
Esposito K, Ciotola M, Carleo D, et al. Effect of rosiglitazone on endothelial	
function and inflammatory markers in patients with the metabolic syndrome.	2
Diabetes Care. 2006;29(5):1071-1076.	
Feig DS, Briggs GG, Koren G. Oral antidiabetic agents in pregnancy and	-
lactation: a paradigm shift? The Annals of pharmacotherapy. 2007;41(7):1174-	5
1180. Corra D. Conal J. Janes CD. Desiglitazone: sefety and officery in combination	
Garg R, Gopar J, Jones GR. Rosigiliazone: salely and enicacy in combination with insulin in paerly controlled type 2 diabetes mellitus nationate treated with	6
insulin alone lournal of diabetes and its complications 2007;21(1):1.6	0
Coldstein B L Weissman DN. Wooddell M L Waterbouse BD. Cobitz AD	
Reductions in biomarkers of cardiovascular risk in type 2 diabetes with	
rosignitazione added to metformin compared with dose escalation of metformin: an	3
EMPIRE trial sub-study. Curr Med Res Opin. 2006;22(9):1715-1723	
Govindarajan R. Ratnasinghe L. Simmons DL. et al. Thiazolidinediones and the	
risk of lung, prostate, and colon cancer in patients with diabetes. J Clin Oncol.	2
Apr 20 2007;25(12):1476-1481.	
Hollander P, Yu D, Chou HS. Low-dose rosiglitazone in patients with insulin-	G
requiring type 2 diabetes. Arch Intern Med. 2007;167(12):1284-1290.	0
Home PD, Bailey CJ, Donaldson J, Chen H, Stewart MW. A double-blind	
randomized study comparing the effects of continuing or not continuing	6
rosiglitazone + metformin therapy when starting insulin therapy in people with	0
Type 2 diabetes. Diabet Med. Jun 2007;24(6):618-625.	
Investigators DT, Bosch J, Yusuf S, et al. Effect of ramipril on the incidence of	3
diabetes. The New England journal of medicine. 2006;355(15):1551-1562.	
Jacob AN, Salinas K, Adams-Huet B, Raskin P. Weight gain in type 2 diabetes	3
Mendell C. Weelterten F. Desiglitazone (Avendie) and mesuler adams. CMA I	
Canadian Medical Association, Journal, Eeb 28 2006:174(5):623	5
Khan M. Murray FT. Karunarathe M. Perez A. Pionlitazone and reductions in	
post-challenge glucose levels in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Obes	2
Metab. 2006:8(1):31-38.	-
Ko GT, Tsang PC, Wai HP, Kan EC, Chan HC, Rosiglitazone versus bedtime	
insulin in the treatment of patients with conventional oral antidiabetic drug failure:	6
a 1-year randomized clinical trial. Advances in therapy. 2006;23(5):799-808.	
Meymeh RH, Wooltorton E. Diabetes drug pioglitazone (Actos): risk of fracture.	5
CMAJ Canadian Medical Association Journal. Sep 25 2007;177(7):723-724.	5
Nichols GA, Gomez-Caminero A. Weight changes following the initiation of new	6
anti-hyperglycaemic therapies. Diabetes Obes Metab. Jan 2007;9(1):96-102.	•
Osei K, Gaillard T, Cook C, Kaplow J, Bullock M, Schuster D. Discrepancies in	
the regulation of plasma adiponectin and TNF-alpha levels and adipose tissue	6
gene expression in obese African Americans with glucose intolerance: a pilot	
study using rosigilitazone. Ethnicity & Disease. 2005;15(4):641-648.	
Raz I, Stranks S, Filipczak R, et al. Enicacy and safety of diphasic insulin aspan 30 combined with nightazono in type 2 diabates poorly controlled on	
alibenclamide (alvhuride) monotherany or combination therany: an 18-week	6
randomized open-label study Clin Ther 2005:27(9):1432-1443	
Revnolds LR. Kingslev FJ. Karounos DG. Tannock I R. Differential effects of	
rosiglitazone and insulin glargine on inflammatory markers, glycemic control, and	6
lipids in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2007;77(2):180-187.	-
Riedel AA, Heien H, Wogen J, Plauschinat CA. Secondary failure of glycemic	e
control for patients adding thiazolidinedione or sulfonylurea therapy to a	0

Excluded Studies	Code
metformin regimen. Am J Manag Care. Aug 2007;13(8):457-463.	
Riedel AA, Heien H, Wogen J, Plauschinat CA. Loss of glycemic control in	
patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus who were receiving initial metformin,	G
sulfonylurea, or thiazolidinedione monotherapy. Pharmacotherapy. Aug	0
2007;27(8):1102-1110.	
Roden M, Laakso M, Johns D, et al. Long-term effects of pioglitazone and	
metformin on insulin sensitivity in patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetic	8
medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association. 2005;22(8):1101-1106.	
Rosenstock J, Sugimoto D, Strange P, Stewart JA, Soltes-Rak E, Dailey G. Triple	
therapy in type 2 diabetes: insulin glargine or rosiglitazone added to combination	6
therapy of sulfonylurea plus metformin in insulin-naive patients. Diabetes Care.	0
2006;29(3):554-559.	
Seber S, Ucak S, Basat O, Altuntas Y. The effect of dual PPAR alpha/gamma	
stimulation with combination of rosiglitazone and fenofibrate on metabolic	6
parameters in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. Jan	0
2006;71(1):52-58.	
Sivagnanam G. Rosiglitazone and macular edema. CMAJ Canadian Medical	Б
Association Journal. Aug 1 2006;175(3):276.	5
Stewart MW, Cirkel DT, Furuseth K, et al. Effect of metformin plus roziglitazone	
compared with metformin alone on glycaemic control in well-controlled Type 2	3
diabetes. Diabetic medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association.	5
2006;23(10):1069-1078.	
Strowig SM, Raskin P. The effect of rosiglitazone on overweight subjects with	1
type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2005;28(7):1562-1567.	4
Tang WHW. Do thiazolidinediones cause heart failure? A critical review.[erratum	
appears in Cleve Clin J Med. 2006 Jun;73(6):588]. Cleveland Clinic Journal of	5
Medicine. Apr 2006;73(4):390-397.	
Tran MT, Navar MD, Davidson MB. Comparison of the glycemic effects of	
rosiglitazone and pioglitazone in triple oral therapy in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes	6
Care. Jun 2006;29(6):1395-1396.	
Triplitt C, Glass L, Miyazaki Y, et al. Comparison of glargine insulin versus	
rosiglitazone addition in poorly controlled type 2 diabetic patients on metformin	6
plus sulfonylurea. Diabetes Care. Nov 2006;29(11):2371-2377.	
Turk T, Pietruck F, Dolff S, et al. Repaglinide in the management of new-onset	
diabetes mellitus after renal transplantation. American journal of transplantation :	3
official journal of the American Society of Transplantation and the American	-
Society of Transplant Surgeons. 2006;6(4):842-846.	
Villanueva G, Baldwin D. Rosiglitazone therapy of posttransplant diabetes	6
meilitus. Transplantation. Nov 27 2005;80(10):1402-1405.	
Vinik AI, Zhang Q. Adding insulin glargine versus rosiglitazone: health-related	6
quality-of-life impact in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2007;30(4):795-800.	-
Weissman PN, Goldstein BJ, Rosenstock J, et al. Effects of rosiglitazone added	0
to submaximal doses of metformin compared with dose escalation of metformin in	6
type 2 diabetes: the EMPIKE Study. Cult Med Res Opin. 2005;21(12):2029-2035.	
Xiang AH, Peters RK, Kjos SL, et al. Effect of pioglitazone on pancreatic beta-cell	4
Tunction and diabetes risk in hispanic women with prior gestational diabetes.	4
Diabetes. Feb 2000,00(2).01/-022.	
TOKOYAINA J, SULON N, FIIGUINA T, ET AL. ETTICACY AND SATETY OF IOW-OOSE	
prograzone after primary coronary anyioplasty with time 2 dispetee mellitus at	6
impaired duces tolerance. Heart & Vessels, May 2007;22(2):146, 151	
impared glucose tolerance. Teart α vessels. May 2007,22(3). 140-131.	

Year	A inc	Databases searched; Literature search dates;		Number of trials/ Number of	Characteristics of identified articles:	Characteristics of identified articles:
	AIMS		Eligibility criteria		Study designs	populations
Berlie 2007	estimate of the odds for developing TZD- induced edema and to compare rates between pio and rosi and with various combinations of oral agents	(1982-5/2006), Cochrane Control Trials Register (to 1st quarter 2006), EMBASE (1996- 2005) "manual search for review articles and original manuscript" (no details) Abstracts; ADA, AHA, ACC (2003-present) Takeda and GlaxoSmithKline were contacted for studies in their new Drug Applications	active- or placebo- controlled; monotherapy or combined therapy; data on edema	15,332 subjects with DM2	trials	Air subjects with Div2 Average age range across studies: 53.7 to 61.9y Average duration diabetes across studies: 5.6m to 13.6y Mean baseline A1c across studies 7.5 to 10.2% with pio and 7.9 to 9.1% with rosi

Quality	Characteristics of identified articles: Interventions	Efficacy and effectiveness results	Subgroups	Adverse events	Comments
Berlie 2007	Total daily dosage (mg) Monotherapy-placebo trials: pio 7.5-45, rosi 4-8 Combination trials: pio 15-30; rosi 4-8	A1c mean reduction; 0.56 - 2.3%	None	 Weight gain (kg): pio -0.59 3.86; rosi 1.2 to 5.0 Pooled OR: All included studies (pio and rosi, all comparators): 2.26(95% CI, 2.02 - 2.53), P<0.000001 Placebo-controlled pio compared with rosi, indirect comparisons: 3.03(95% CI, 2.15 - 3.91) TZD monotherapy placebo-controlled studies: 2.35 (95% CI, 1.40 - 3.91) TZD combination therapy placebo- or no-treatment control: 2.14 (95% CI, 1.88 - 2.43) 	

Author Year		Databases searched; Literature search dates;		Number of trials/ Number of	Characteristics of identified articles:	Characteristics of identified articles:
Quality	Aims	Other data sources	Eligibility criteria	patients	Study designs	populations
Bolen 2007 (and AHRQ 2007 Review)	To summarize the literature on the benefits and harms of oral agents in the treatment of adults with type 2 diabetes	Medline, EMBASE, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (inception to 1/2006); industry data and FDA web-site; hand search 15 journals, reviewed reference lists	English-language, assessed benefits and/or harms of oral diabetes drugs (excluding 1st generation SU) compared to other oral agents (not insulin)	RCTs: 216 Systematic reviews: 2	Intermediate outcomes: 135 RCTs and 1 systematic review Final health outcomes: Adverse events: 167 studies, 1/3 of which were RCTs; 2 systematic reviews	Adults with type 2 diabetes

	Characteristics of identified	Efficacy and			
Quality	articles: Interventions	effectiveness results	Subgroups	Adverse events	Comments
Bolen 2007 (and AHRQ 2007 Review)	Various dosages and combinations	A1c: decreased 1% which was similar to SU and metformin HDL: pio increased more than rosi (1-2 mg/dL); pio increased compared with metformin or SU (3-5 mg/dL) LDL: rosi increased LDL more than pio (10-15 mg/dL) Triglycerides: pio decreased (15-52 mg/dL) compared with rosi (increase 6-13 mg/dL); pio decreased more than metformin	Age, sex, comorbidities	Mortality: insufficient data CV D mortality: insufficient data CHF: risk is increased with TZDs compared with other oral agents Microvascular outcomes: insufficient data Weight: TZDs increased weight similar to SU (3kg) as monotherapy or in combination with other oral agents; TZDs increased weight compared with metformin, acarbose, and repaglinide Hypoglycemia: less frequent with TZDs than SU (risk difference 4-9%) Edema: TZDs higher risk than SU (absolute risk difference 2 to 21%) CHF: TZDs higher risk than with metformin or SU, absolute risks 0.8 to 3.6%; absolute risk difference 0.7 to 2.2%) Mild anemia: TZDs higher risk than other drugs (absolute risk difference 1 to 5%) Elevated ALT: low rates (<1%) with TZDs Hospitalizations for acute cholecystitis: pio 12 patients compared with placebo 1 patient (pooled, unpublished analysis of 1526 patients)	
Eurich 2007	TZD compared with a variety of comparators and placebo	NR	NR	Pooled OR for TZDs compared with other treatments for all cause mortality: 0.83 (95% CI, 0.71 - 0.97) Pooled OR for TZDs compared with other treatments on hospital admissions for heart failure 1.13 (95% CI, 0.1.04 - 1.22)	Pooled estimates included observational studies and RCTs AEs

Year		Databases searched; Literature search dates;		Number of trials/ Number of	Characteristics of identified articles:	Characteristics of identified articles:
Quality	Aims	Other data sources	Eligibility criteria	patients	Study designs	populations
Lagu 2007	To examine the risk of heart failure and of cardiac death in patients given TZDs	Medline, Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects, Cochrane Library; up to 3/2007; start date NR; databases of European Society of Cardiology, AHA, ACC, ADA by hand; reference lists	RCTs, double-blind studies with risk estimates or frequency data for congestive heart failure and cardiovascular death	7 trials 20191 patients	RCTs only	Diabetes and prediabetes

Phatak, 2006	To examine factors affecting the size of A1c response to	PubMed, EBSCO, Sci-lit; dates NR GlaxoSmithKline public web-site	RCTs, English- language, placebo- and active-	42 8322 subjects	RCTs only	Diabetes; mean age 57.5y; 42.3% female subjects; baseline A1c 8.9% (SD 0.8)
	TZDs		controlled			

Quality	Characteristics of identified articles: Interventions	Efficacy and effectiveness results	Subgroups	Adverse events	Comments
Lagu 2007	TZD compared with a variety of comparators and placebo	NR	NR	Risk of CHF compared to controls (placebo- and active- controlled trials): RR 1.72 (95% Cl, 1.21 - 2.42), P=0.002; placebo-controlled trials only: RR 1.97 (95% Cl, 0.94 - 4.13); pio only: RR 1.32 (95% Cl, 1.04 - 1.68); rosi only: RR 2.18 (95% Cl, 1.44 - 3.32), P=0.0003 Risk of cardiovascular death compared to controls: RR 0.93 (95% Cl, 0.67 - 1.29), P =0.68; placebo-controlled trials only: RR 1.08 (95% Cl, 0.66 - 1.76): pio only: RR 1.01 (95% Cl, 0.51 - 2.09); rosi only: RR 0.91 (95% Cl, 0.63 - 1.3) Pio: Overall event rate for CHF: TZD 2.3%; comparator group 1.4% NNH for CHF 107 over 29.7m F/U; range 35 to 491	
Phatak, 2006	TZDs compared with a variety of comparators and placebo; 50% of studies were monotherapy; mean baseline A1c 9.1%(SD 1.0)	Weighted between-group change in A1c (all comparators) TZDs: -0.82% (SD 0.13) Pio: -1.04% (SD 0.07) Rosi: -0.67% (SD 0.10) Weighted between-group change in A1c for placebo- controlled trials: Pio: -1.03 (SD 0.19) Rosi: -0.98 (SD 0.18) Change in A1c greater with higher baseline A1c (>9.0%) (no statistics) Duration of study treatment correlated with decrease in A1c (<i>P</i> =0.003)	Study duration, age, sex duration therapy examined with meta-regression	NR	

Author						
Year		Databases searched; Literature search dates;		Number of trials/ Number of	Characteristics of identified articles:	Characteristics of identified articles:
Quality	Aims	Other data sources	Eligibility criteria	patients	Study designs	populations
Riche, 2007	To evaluate the impact of TZDs on repeat TVR after PCI	Medline, EMBASE, CINAHL, Cochrane database; through 7/2006 (start date NR); English only; abstracts from AHA, ACC, ADA searched 2001 - 2006	RCTS evaluating TZDs compared with standards of care; ≥ 6m follow- up; data provided on repeat TVR with number of patients receiving repeat TVR reported	7 608 subjects	RCTs only; all placebo- controlled with comparator standard drug therapy	1/7 studies non-diabetic; 1/7 metabolic syndrome; 5/7 type 2 diabetes
Richter, 2007 (Rosi cochran)	To assess the effects of rosi in the treatment of type 2 diabetes	Medline, EMBASE, Cochrane database; last search 8/2006; reference lists searched	RCTs in adults with type 2 diabetes; study duration ≥ 24w	18 3888	RCTs only; various comparators	Type 2 diabetes, largely Caucasian populations; mostly persons on other oral hypoglycemic agents; mean age patients 47 - 61y; diabetes duration 4 - 9y; baseline A1c 6.8 - 9.5%, mean 8.8%

Quality	Characteristics of identified articles: Interventions	Efficacy and effectiveness results	Subaroups	Adverse events	Comments
Riche, 2007	Pio or rosi given at various dosages either 1-day pre- operatively or 1-2 weeks post- operatively	Repeat TVR RR Overall: range 0.13 to 0.67; pooled estimate 0.35 (95% Cl, 0.22 - 0.57) Pio: 0.24 (95% Cl, 0.11 - 0.51) Rosi: 0.45 (95% Cl, 0.25 - 0.83) Diabetes: 0.34 (95% Cl, 0.19 - 0.63) No diabetes: 0.37 (95% Cl, 0.18 - 0.77)	Pio, rosi, diabetes, no diabetes	NR	
Richter, 2007 (Rosi cochran)	Rosi mono- or combined therapy at various dosages	Mortality: only reported by 1 study (ADOPT): 2.3% with rosi, 2.1% metformin, 2.2% glyburide A1c: similar reductions with rosi as metformin, glibenclamide, or glimepiride	NR	Edema: OR rosi compared with comparators, random effects model: 4.62 (95% Cl, 2.28 - 9.38) Severe hypoglycemic episodes: somewhat lower with rosi than active monotherapy, particularly SU no pooled data and no statistics From ADOPT trial only: CVD events: % serious/% total events: rosi 3.4/4.3; metformin 3.2/4.0; glyburide 1.8/ 2.8 CHF, total events (%): rosi 1.5, metformin 1.3, glyburide 0.6 Fracture rates: higher with rosi than; no statistics reported	;

Year Quality	Aims	Databases searched; Literature search dates; Other data sources	Eligibility criteria	Number of trials/ Number of patients	Characteristics of identified articles: Study designs	Characteristics of identified articles: populations
Richter, 2006 (Pio cochran)	To assess the effects of pio in the treatment of type 2 diabetes	Medline, EMBASE, Cochrane database; last search 8/2006; reference lists searched	RCTs in adults with type 2 diabetes; study duration ≥ 24w	22 6200	RCTs only; various comparators	Type 2 diabetes, largely Caucasian populations; mostly persons on other oral hypoglycemic agents; mean age patients 53 - 63y; diabetes duration 3 - 14y; baseline A1c 7.4 - 10.3%
Rosmarakis, 2007	To review RCT evidence on the effect of TZDs on in- stent restenosis after PCI	PubMed, last search 6/2006; reference lists reviewed	RCTs examining TZDs compared with various comparators and effect on in-stent restenosis after coronary stent implantation; in	5 235 (text states 259)	RCTs only; various comparators	4/5 studies diabetes; 1/5 non diabetes
Singh 2007 (Diabetes Care)	To evaluate the risk of CHF with TZDs in type 2 diabetes and to classify this AE under the dose-time- susceptibility system	RCTS: existing reviews; PubMed (1/2003 to 9/2006); manufacturer's web-site Controlled observational studies and case reports: PubMed (to 9/2006, start date NR); Web of Knowledge Cited References and PubMed related articles Case reports also: EMBASE, Google Scholar (to 9/2006, start date NR)	Controlled observational studies with data to calculate OR of new onset CHF in patients receiving TZDs compared with other oral agents Case reports with CHF and TZD	RCTs: 3 10,731 Observational studies: 4 67,382 Case reports: 162 case subjects	RCTs, observational studies, case reports	Prediabetes or diabetes

	Characteristics of identified	Efficacy and			
Quality	articles: Interventions	effectiveness results	Subgroups	Adverse events	Comments
Richter, 2006 (Pio cochran)	Pio mono- or combined therapy at various dosages	Mortality: only reported by 1 study (Proactive) as part of a composite endpoint (mortality, stroke, nonfatal MI, surgical vascular intervention: placebo- controlled, HR 0.90 (95% CI, 0.80 - 1.02)	NR	7/22 trials reported AEs Overall and serious AEs comparable between intervention groups Hb: decrease noted in 6 studies examining this outcome: range 0.5 - 0.75 g/dL Weight: increased in 15 studies examining this outcome: up to 3.9kg	
		A1c: reductions similar to other oral agents		Edema: RR 2.86 (95% CI, 1.14 - 3.18) Hypoglycemia episodes: Pio rates < SU rates; pio + insulin increased rates No pooled data and no statistics	
Rosmarakis, 2007	Pio or rosi; dosages and use of other oral agents NR; first dose of TZD given between 1d prior to procedure up to 2w after; 3/5 studies compared pio to standard treatment; 2/5 studies compared pio to rosi; all studies 6 month duration	Restenosis rate measured with quantitative coronary angiography at 6m: pio or rosi compared with standard therapy: OR 0.29 (95% CI, 0.15 - 0.56)	NR	Mortality: 2/259: 1 in control arm; 1 with TZD "No drug-related side effects"	
Singh 2007 (Diabetes Care)	TZD compared with placebo at various dosages	NR	NR	New onset CHF: RCTs: (3): OR 2.1 (95% CI, 1.08 - 4.08) Observational studies: (4): OR 1.55 (95% CI, 1.33 - 1.80) Case reports: 162 case subjects with 99 analyzable cases; median duration of onset of CHF 24w; CHF occurred in subjects <60y (26% of cases) and with low and high dosage	

Year	Aims	Databases searched; Literature search dates; Other data sources	Eligibility criteria	Number of trials/ Number of patients	Characteristics of identified articles: Study designs	Characteristics of identified articles: populations
Singh 2007 (JAMA)	To review the long- term cardiovascular risks of rosi	Medline, GlaxoSmithKline clinical trials register, FDA web- site; product information sheets; last search 5/2007	RCTs in DM2 or IGT and trial duration ≥ 12m; provided numerical data on all AEs and monitored CVD AEs	4 14,291 Also 3 systematic reviews	RCTs, systematic reviews, meta- analyses; rosi compared with placebo or active oral agent	Prediabetes or type 2 diabetes

Author Year

Quality	Characteristics of identified articles: Interventions	Efficacy and effectiveness results	Subgroups	Adverse events	Comments
Singh 2007 (JAMA)	Rosi compared with active drug or placebo	NR	NR	Relative risk (95% CI) rosi compared with comparator: MI: 1.42 (1.06 - 1.91) Heart failure: 2.09 (1.52 - 2.88) CV mortality: 0.90 (0.63 - 1.26) Number needed to harm: MI: 822 per year with rosi if baseline risk 0.29% (low risk, ADOPT)	
				(low risk, ADOPT)	

Abbreviations: ACC, American College of Cardiology; AEs, adverse events; ADA, American Diabetes Association; AHA, American Heart Association; CHF, congestive heart failure; CVD, cardiovascular disease; DM2, type 2 diabetes mellitus; m, month(s); MI, myocardial infarction; NR, not reported; NSD, no significant difference; OR, odds ratio; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; pio, pioglitazone; RCTs, randomized controlled trials; rosi, rosiglitazone; RR, relative risk; SU, sulfonylurea; TVR, target vessel revascularization; TZD, thiazolidinedione; w, week(s); y, year(s).
				Number studies
Review	Objective	Databases and search dates	Study designs	Number patients
Berlie 2007	To obtain a precise estimate of the odds for developing TZD-induced edema and to compare rates between pio and rosi and with various combinations of oral agents	Medline (1966-5/2006), CINHAL (1982-5/2006), Cochrane Control Trials Register (to 1st quarter 2006), EMBASE (1996- 2005) "manual search for review articles and original manuscript" (no details) Abstracts; ADA, AHA, ACC (2003-present) Takeda and GlaxoSmithKline were contacted for studies in their new Drug Applications	RCTs, mono- and combined therapy Type 2 diabetes	RCTs: 26 15,332

Review	Weight change	Edema	Congestive heart failure
Berlie 2007	Weight gain (kg): Pio -0.59 3.86; rosi 1.2 to 5.0 Pooled OR: All included studies (pio and rosi, all comparators): 2.26(95% CI, 2.02 - 2.53), <i>P</i> <0.000001 Placebo-controlled pio compared with rosi, indirect comparisons: 3.03 (95% CI, 2.15 - 3.91) TZD monotherapy placebo-controlled studies: 2.35 (95% CI, 1.40 - 3.91) TZD combination therapy placebo- or no-treatment control: 2.14 (95% CI, 1.88 - 2.43)		

Review	Myocardial infarction	Anemia	Elevated liver function tests	Cardiovascular mortality
Berlie 2007				

Review	Total mortality	Hypoglycemia	Other
Berlie 2007			

Review	Objective	Databases and search dates	Study designs	Number studies Number patients
Bolen 2007 (and AHRQ 2007	To summarize the	Medline, EMBASE, Cochrane	RCTs and	RCTs, all
Review)	literature on the benefits	Central Register of Controlled	observational	included drugs:
	and harms of oral agents	Trials (inception to 1/2006);	studies, mono-	216
	in the treatment of adults	industry data and FDA web-site;	and combined	Systematic
	with type 2 diabetes	hand search 15 journals, reviewed reference lists	therapy	reviews, all included drugs:
			Type 2 diabetes	28

Boucher M 2002, 2003 COHTA Report	To evaluate the evidence that compares rosiglitazone or	1999-2001	RCTs, mono- and combined therapy	Rosi: 11 studies (3 full-text, 8 abstracts)
	pioglitazone with other oral antidiabetic agents, either when used alone or when added to non- thiazolidinedione agent in the treatment of type 2 diabetes		Type 2 diabetes	Pio: 8 studies

Review	Weight change	Edema	Congestive heart failure
Bolen 2007 (and AHRQ 2007	Weight: TZDs increased weight	Edema: TZDs higher risk than SU	CHF: risk is increased with TZDs
Review)	similar to SU (3kg) as monotherapy or in combination with other oral	(absolute risk difference 2 to 21%)	compared with other oral agents
	agents; TZDs increased weight compared with metformin, acarbose, and repaglinide		CHF: TZDs higher risk than with metformin or SU, absolute risks 0.8 to 3.6%; absolute risk difference 0.7 to 2.2%)

si: Increased up to 5.3 kg; higher	Rosi: 2.5 to 3.5% on monotherapy;
eases with insulin	10.8% when combined with
	gliclazide, 13.1 to 16.2% when
Gained 0.95 to 3.6 kg; highest	combined with insulin
urrence of edema when used with	
ılin	Pio: Most marked with insulin
i e u	: Increased up to 5.3 kg; higher eases with insulin Gained 0.95 to 3.6 kg; highest irrence of edema when used with in

			Elevated liver function	Cardiovascular
Review	Myocardial infarction	Anemia	tests	mortality
Bolen 2007 (and AHRQ 2007		Mild anemia: TZDs higher	Elevated ALT: low rates	CV D mortality:
Review)		risk than other drugs	(<1%) with TZDs	Insufficient data
		(absolute risk difference 1		
		to 5%)		

cher M 2002, 2003Rosi: Hb change -3.9 to 12 Rosi: Vast majority of g/l; rarely led to clinical anemia; 2 withdrawals due maintained normal liver		Rosi: Vast majority of subjects in trials maintained normal liver
	to anemia	enzyme levels; no serious liver AEs noted
	Pio: small decrease in Hb	
	(-0.48 g/dL compared to SU, <i>P</i> <0.05) and	Pio: Vast majority of subjects in trials
	hematocrit; stabilized within 12 weeks; no patient withdrew due to anemia	maintained normal liver enzyme levels; no serious liver AEs noted

Review	Total mortality	Hypoglycemia	Other	
Bolen 2007 (and AHRQ 2007 Review)	Mortality: insufficient data to assess	Hypoglycemia: less frequent with TZDs than SU (risk difference 4-9%)	Microvascular outcomes: Insufficient data	
			Hospitalizations for acute cholecystitis: Pio 12 patients compared with placebo 1 patient (pooled, unpublished analysis of 1526 patients)	

Boucher M 2002, 2003	Rosi monotherapy; 0.5 to 1.0%; when	
COHTA Report	used as add-on therapy: 2.6 to 6.1%;	
	particularly common when combined	
	with insulin; 4 withdrawals due to	
	hypoglycemia	
	Pio: uncommon; increased	
	occurrence when used as add-on,	
	especially with insulin; no withdrawals	
	for hypoglycemia	

				Number studies
Review	Objective	Databases and search dates	Study designs	Number patients
Chiquette E 2004	To review RCTs of pio and rosi in patients with type 2 diabetes to evaluate their effect on glycemic control	1966 (or start of database) - 1/2004	RCTs, mono- and combined therapy	23 studies
	lipids, blood pressure, and weight			
Czoski-Murray 2004 HTA report	To evaluate the use of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone, in terms of	1966 (or start of database) - 6/2002	RCTs, mono- and combined therapy	Rosi: 8 studies, data NR for 7/8 as proprietary
	both clinical and cost- effectiveness in the treatment of type 2 diabetes		Type 2 diabetes	(Table 6) Pio: 3 studies of combination therapy
Eurich 2007	To review literature on the association between antidiabetic agents and morbidity and mortality in people with heart failure and diabetes	Medline, Health-STAR, EMBASE, CINAHL, international Pharmaceutical Abstracts, Allied and Complementary Medicine, cochran Controlled Trials Register date of inception to 7/07 Manual search reference lists; contacted experts	Contemporaneous comparison group	4 TZD trials 22,476 patients

Review	Weight change	Edema	Congestive heart failure
Chiquette E 2004	Weight change within 6 months of starting treatment: 2.7 kg (95% CI 1.8 to 3.7 kg)		
Czoski-Murray 2004 HTA report		Rosi: Edema higher with rosi combination therapies than for controls	
		Pioglitazone See Chilcott 2001 review	
Eurich 2007			

Review	Myocardial infarction	Anemia	Elevated liver function tests	Cardiovascular mortality
Chiquette E 2004				
Czoski-Murray 2004		Rosi: anemia higher with		
HTA report		rosi combination therapies		
		Pioglitazone		
		See Chilcott 2001 review		
Eurich 2007				

Review	Total mortality	Hypoglycemia	Other
Chiquette E 2004			
Czoski-Murray 2004		Rosi: Addition to metformin	
HIA report		associated with significant reduction	
		significant effect when added to SU	
		Pioglitazone	
		See Chilcott 2001 review	
Eurich 2007	Pooled OR for TZDs		Pooled OR for TZDs compared with
	compared with other		other treatments on hospital
	treatments for all cause		admissions for heart failure 1.13
	0.71 - 0.97)		(95% CI, 0.1.04 - 1.22)

				Number studies
Review	Objective	Databases and search dates	Study designs	Number patients
Inzucchi SE 2002	To review the literature regarding the efficacy of oral antidiabetic agents	Medline; dates NR	RCTs of oral agents	3 studies identified: Rosi compared
	both as monotherapy and in combination		Type 2 diabetes	with placebo: 493+959 Pio compared with placebo: 408 (3 trials of troglitazone also reported)
Lago 2007	To examine the risk of heart failure and of cardiac death in patients given	Medline, Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects, Cochrane Library; up to 3/2007; start date	RCTs, mono- and combined therapy	7 20191 patients
	IZDs	NR; databases of European Society of Cardiology, AHA, ACC, ADA by hand; reference lists	and prediabetes	
Rosmarakis, 2007	To review RCT evidence on the effect of TZDs on in- stent restenosis after PCI	PubMed, last search 6/2006; - reference lists reviewed	RCTs, mono- and combined therapy Type 2 diabetes	5 235 (text states 259)

ReviewWeight changeEdemaCongestive heart failureInzucchi SE 2002Weight gain, which can be as great
or greater than with SUFedemaCongestive heart failure

Lago 2007	Risk of CHF compared to controls (placebo- and active-controlled trials):
	RR 1.72 (95% CI, 1.21 - 2.42),
	P=0.002; placebo-controlled trials
	only: RR 1.97 (95% Cl, 0.94 - 4.13);
	pio only: RR 1.32 (95% CI, 1.04 -
	1.68); rosi only: RR 2.18 (95% CI,
	1.44 - 3.32), <i>P</i> =0.0003
	Risk of cardiovascular death
	compared to controls: RR 0.93 (95%
	CI, 0.67 - 1.29), <i>P</i> =0.68; placebo-
	controlled trials only: RR 1.08 (95%
	CI, 0.66 - 1.76): pio only: RR 1.01
	(95% CI, 0.51 - 2.09); rosi only: RR
	0.91 (95% CL 0.63 - 1.3)

Rosmarakis, 2007

			Elevated liver function	Cardiovascular
Review	Myocardial infarction	Anemia	tests	mortality
Inzucchi SE 2002			Pio and rosi not coincidentally associated with liver injury	

Lago 2007

Rosmarakis, 2007

Review	Total mortality	Hypoglycemia	Other
Inzucchi SE 2002			

Lago 2007

Rosmarakis, 2007

Mortality: 2/259: 1 in control arm; 1 with TZD

No drug-related side effects

Review	Objective	Databases and search dates	Study designs	Number studies Number patients
Singh 2007 (Diabetes Care)	To evaluate the risk of CHF with TZDs in type 2 diabetes and to classify	RCTS: existing reviews; PubMed (1/2003 to 9/2006); manufacturer's web-site	Controlled observational studies, case	RCTs: 3 10,731
	this AE under the dose- time-susceptibility system	Controlled observational studies and case reports: PubMed (to 9/2006, start date NR); Web of Knowledge Cited References	reports New onset CHF in patients receiving TZDs compared	Observational studies: 4 67,382
		and PubMed related articles Case reports also: EMBASE, Google Scholar (to 9/2006, start date NR)	with other oral agents	Case reports: 162 case subjects
Stolar 2003 Review of AEs only	To provide an overview of the cardiovascular risk profile of patients with type 2 diabetes and discusses the cardiovascular consequences of use of the [TZDs] in the treatment of type 2 diabetes	Medline: 1966-4/2003	NR	NR; total number of studies NR

Review	Weight change	Edema	Congestive heart failure
Singh 2007 (Diabetes Care)			New onset CHF: RCTs: (3): OR 2.1 (95% CI, 1.08 - 4.08) Observational studies: (4): OR 1.55 (95% CI, 1.33 - 1.80) Case reports: 162 case subjects with 99 analyzable cases; median duration of onset of CHF 24w; CHF occurred in subjects <60y (26% of cases) and with low and high dosage
Stolar 2003 Review of AEs only		Peripheral edema occurs in approximately 2 to 5% of patients receiving rosi or pio	

Review	Myocardial infarction	Anemia	Elevated liver function tests	Cardiovascular mortality
Singh 2007 (Diabetes Care)				

Stolar 2003 Review of AEs only

Review	Total mortality	Hypoglycemia	Other
Singh 2007 (Diabetes Care)			

Stolar 2003 Review of AEs only

Review	Objective	Databases and search dates	Study designs	Number studies Number patients
Adverse effects of rosiglitazone in systematic reviews				
Richter, 2007 (Rosi cochrane)	To assess the effects of rosi in the treatment of type 2 diabetes	Medline, EMBASE, Cochrane database; last search 8/2006; reference lists searched	RCTs, mono- and combined therapy	18 3888
			Type 2 diabetes	
Singh 2007 (JAMA)	To review the long-term cardiovascular risks of rosi	Medline, GlaxoSmithKline clinical trials register, FDA web-	RCTs	4 14,291
		site; product information sheets; last search 5/2007	Type 2 diabetes or IGT	Also 3 systematic reviews

Review	Weight change	Edema	Congestive heart failure
Adverse effects of rosiglitazone in			
systematic reviews			
Richter, 2007 (Rosi cochrane)		Edema: OR rosi compared with comparators, random effects model: 4.62 (95% CI, 2.28 - 9.38)	CHF, total events (%): rosi 1.5, metformin 1.3, glyburide 0.6 (from ADOPT trial only)
Singh 2007 (JAMA)			Relative risk (95% CI) rosi compared with comparator: Heart failure: 2.09 (1.52 - 2.88)
			Number needed to harm: CHF; 383 per year with rosi if baseline risk 0.24 (low risk, ADOPT)

Review	Myocardial infarction	Anemia	Elevated liver function tests	Cardiovascular mortality
Adverse effects of rosiglitazone in systematic reviews				
Richter, 2007 (Rosi cochrane)	CVD events: % serious/% total events: rosi 3.4/4.3; metformin 3.2/4.0; glyburide 1.8/ 2.8 (from ADOPT trial only)			
Singh 2007 (JAMA)	Relative risk (95% CI) rosi compared with comparator: MI: 1.42 (1.06 - 1.91)			Relative risk (95% CI) rosi compared with comparator: CV mortality: 0.90 (0.63 - 1.26)
	Number needed to harm: MI: 822 per year with rosi if baseline risk 0.29% (low risk, ADOPT)			

Review	Total mortality	Hypoglycemia	Other	
Adverse effects of				
rosiglitazone in				
systematic reviews				
Richter, 2007 (Rosi		Severe hypoglycemic episodes:	Fracture rates: higher with rosi than;	
cochrane)		somewhat lower with rosi than active	no statistics reported (from ADOPT	
,		monotherapy, particularly SU; no	trial only)	
		pooled data and no statistics		

Singh 2007 (JAMA)

Review	Objective	Databases and search dates	Study designs	Number studies Number patients
Adverse effects of pioglitazone in systematic reviews				
Chilcott J 2001 overlaps with HTA report; examines Pio only	"presents a systematic review of the published literature on the	1966 (or start of database) - 3/2001	RCTs, mono- and combined therapy	11 studies ; total 2669 patients
	effectiveness of pioglitazone in the treatment of type 2 diabetes"		Type 2 diabetes	

Richter, 2006 (Pio cochrane)	To assess the effects of	Medline, EMBASE, Cochrane	RCTs, mono- and	22
	pio in the treatment of type	database; last search 8/2006;	combined therapy	6200
	2 diabetes	reference lists searched		
			Type 2 diabetes	

Review	Weight change	Edema	Congestive heart failure
Adverse effects of			
pioglitazone in			
systematic reviews			
Chilcott J 2001		Edema: more frequent in pio than	
overlaps with HTA report;		placebo; overall 'figures' 6.6% Pio,	
examines Pio only		2.3% placebo (FDA 2000); Japanese	
		studies 1.55 to 11.7%, more common	
		treatment than placebo groups	
		treatment than placebo groups	

Richter, 2006 (Pio cochrane)	Weight: increased in 15 studies	Edema: RR 2.86 (95% CI, 1.14 -
	examining this outcome: up to 3.9kg	3.18)

Review	Myocardial infarction	Anemia	Elevated liver function tests	Cardiovascular mortality
Adverse effects of		7.11011114		mortanty
pioglitazone in				
systematic reviews				
Chilcott J 2001 overlaps with HTA report; examines Pio only		Reduction in Hb: small decrease noted with pio monotherapy; thought to be due to hemodilution; clinical anemia not a concern	Hepatotoxicity: FDA 2000: incidence of alanine aminotransferase levels >3 times upper limit normal: NSD pio and placebo; pio 0.26%; NSD in 3 Japanese studies	
Richter, 2006 (Pio cochrane)		Hb: decrease noted in 6 studies examining this outcome: range 0.5 - 0.75		

Review	Total mortality	Hypoglycemia	Other
Adverse effects of			
pioglitazone in			
systematic reviews			
Chilcott J 2001			Cardiac effects: (FDA 2000): 1 report
overlaps with HTA report;			LVH and LBBB; new ECG finds NSD
examines Pio only			placebo or pio groups; in Japanese
			studies NS cardiac abnormalities with
			pio
			Elevation creatine phosphokinase:
			FDA 2000: 7/1510 patients in
			treatment arms had increased CPK
			>10 times normal; placebo data NR;
			other studies reported 9.6%
			compared with 2.8% placebo and
			6.0% compared with 1.5% placebo;
			no information about skeletal muscle
			symptoms
Richter, 2006 (Pio cochrane)		Hypoglycemia episodes: Pio rates <	Overall and serious AEs comparable
		SU rates; pio + insulin increased rates	between intervention groups
		No pooled data or statistics	7/22 trials reported AEs

Abbreviations: ACC, American College of Cardiology; AEs, adverse events; ADA, American Diabetes Association; AHA, American Heart Association; CHF, congestive heart failure; CVD, cardiovascular disease; DM2, type 2 diabetes mellitus; m, month(s); MI, myocardial infarction; NR, not reported; NSD, no significant difference; OR, odds ratio; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; pio, pioglitazone; RCTs, randomized controlled trials; rosi, rosiglitazone; RR, relative risk; SU, sulfonylurea; TVR, target vessel revascularization; TZD, thiazolidinedione; w, week(s); y, year(s).

Author Year Quality	Aims	Databases searched; Literature search dates; Other data sources	Eligibility criteria	Number of trials/ Number of patients	Characteristics of identified articles:	Characteristics of identified articles:
Lincoff, 2007	To evaluate the effect of pio on ischemic CVD complications in diabetes	Database of individual patient data from Takeda (manufacturers of pio)	RCTs, double- blind, active- or placebo-controlled	19 16,390 patients	RCTs only	Diabetes

Nissen, 2007	To assess the	FDA web-site, a clinical	RCTs, similar	42	RCTs only	Largely type 2 diabetes;
	effect of	trials registry	duration of	27,847		also prediabetes,
	rosiglitazone on	maintained by	treatment in all			psoriasis, Alzheimer's
	cardiovascular	GlaxoSmithKline,	groups, >24 weeks			disease
	outcomes	search of the published	duration, outcome			
		literature; 2 large trials	data on MI and			
		included from the	death from CVD			
		published literature; no	causes			
		information provided on				
		additional searching of				
		bibliographic				
		databases				

Author Year

Characteristics of	Efficacy and
Characteristics of	Lincacy and

	identified articles:	effectiveness			
Quality	interventions	results	Subgroups	Adverse events	Comments
Lincoff, 2007	TZD compared with a variety of comparators and placebo	NR	Age, sex, BMI, study duration, control therapyPrimary composite endpoint (death, nonfatal MI, nonfatal stroke): HR 0.82 (95% CI, 0.72 - 0.94), P=0.005; for placebo only trials HR 0.09 (95% CI, 0.01 - 0.84) MI: HR 0.81 (95% CI, 0.64 - 1.02) Stroke: HR 0.80 (95% CI, 0.62 - 1.04 Serious heart failure: HR 1.41 (95% CI, 1.14 - 1.76)		Not a systematic review
				Subgroups NSD between sexes, age > or < 65y, or BMI < or > 30 mg/m ²	
Nissen, 2007	Rosi compared with a variety of comparators and placebo	NR	NR	MI, OR: 1.43 (95% CI, 1.03 – 1.98) Death from cardiovascular causes, OR: 1.64 (95% CI, 0.98 – 2.74).	Not a systematic review

Author Year		Databases searched; Literature search dates;		Number of trials/ Number of	Characteristics of identified articles:	Characteristics of identified articles:
Quality	Aims	Other data sources	Eligibility criteria	patients	study designs	populations
Paudwal, 2005	To review the evidence for the prevention of type 2 diabetes by pharmacological therapies	Medline, EMBASE, Cochrane controlled Trials Register (inception date to 6/2004)	RCTS and cohort studies with relevant data and an intention-to- treat analysis	2 (for TZDs) 438	RCTs and cohort studies with TZD compared to placebo or control group	Both studies examined troglitazone

Author

Year	Characteristics of identified articles:	Efficacy and effectiveness			
Quality	interventions	results	Subgroups	Adverse events	Comments
Paudwal, 2005	Both studies examined troglitazone	Not relevant (troglitazone)	NR	Not relevant (troglitazone)	Not relevant (troglitazone)

Abbreviations: ACC, American College of Cardiology; AEs, adverse events; ADA, American Diabetes Association; AHA, American Heart Association; CHF, congestive heart failure; CVD, cardiovascular disease; DM2, type 2 diabetes mellitus; m, month(s); MI, myocardial infarction; NR, not reported; NSD, no significant difference; OR, odds ratio; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; pio, pioglitazone; RCTs, randomized controlled trials; rosi, rosiglitazone; RR, relative risk; SU, sulfonylurea; TVR, target vessel revascularization; TZD, thiazolidinedione; w, week(s); y, year(s).

Adverse event	Pioglitazone compared with placebo	Rosiglitazone compared with placebo
Anemia Monotherapy	·	Change in Hb: rosi 4-8 mg daily -1.19 g/dL compared with placebo 0.13 g/dL ¹
Combination therapy	Decreased Hb: 1.1% compared with 0 % (glyburide/metformin) ²	1.9% compared with 0.7% ³ , (SU) 7.1% compared with 2.2% ⁴ (MET) ^a Incidence "low" rosi 4 mg daily (with SU) ⁵
Arthralgia, myalgia, back pain, leg pain Monotherapy	3% (30 mg), 10% ^a (45 mg) compared with 2% ⁶ 0% (15 mg), 4% (30 mg) compared with 5% ⁷	
Combination therapy	Muscular pain: 6 compared with 12% (glyburide/metformin) ²	2% compared with 7% ⁸ (SU)
Cardiac-related events Monotherapy	3.6% compared with 6.3% ⁹ Major adverse cardiac events: 7.7% pio 30 mg daily, placebo 60.7%, <i>P</i> <0.0001) ¹⁰	MI: Rosi 4-8 mg daily 4.5% compared with placebo 0% ¹
Combination therapy	5.9% compared with 5% ¹¹ (SU) 7.9% compared with 7.0% ¹² (insulin)	0.2% compared with 0% ¹³ (SU) 3.9% compared with 2.9% ¹⁴ (MET)
Congestive heart failure Monotherapy	11% compared with 8% ^{a15} Severe CHF: 0% pio 30 mg daily, placebo 0% ¹⁰	Worsening CHF: 4-8 mg daily 4.5% compared with placebo $3.5\% (P=0.858)^1$ Worsening of NYHA functional class: Rosi 4-8 mg daily 16.8% compared with placebo 17.5% ¹
Combination therapy	1% compared with 0% ¹² (insulin) 12.5% compared with 0% ¹⁶ (insulin)	3.4% (4 mg daily) compared with 2.7% placebo (with SU) ⁵
Cough		
Combination therapy	11.5% pio 30 mg, placebo 8% (with SU) ¹⁷ 8 compared with 6% (glyburide/metformin) ²	7% compared with 5% ⁸ (SU)
Diarrhea, flatulence Monotherapy		
Combination therapy	6 compared with 7 % (glyburide/metformin) ²	12.7% compared with 15.6% ⁴ (MET) 7% compared with 2% ⁸ (SU)
Dizziness		
Monotherapy Combination therapy		5% compared with 8% ⁸ (SU)
Edema, peripheral	0% (15 mg), 3% (30 mg)	5.2% (4 mg), 6.4% (8 mg), 4.1%
Monotherapy	compared with 0% ⁷ 3.6% compared with 0% ⁹ 5% compared with 1% ¹⁸	(2 mg twice daily), 6.6% (4 mg twice daily) ^a compared with 1.6% ^{a20}

Appendix H. Adverse events reported in placebo-controlled trials (% of patients)

Adverse event	Pioglitazone compared with placebo	Rosiglitazone compared with placebo
	14% (30 mg), 16% (45 mg) compared with 16% ⁶ 15.3% compared with 7% ^{a12} 22% compared with 13% ^{a15} 45 mg daily 4.5% (1 case), placebo 0% ¹⁹ 0% pio 30 mg daily, placebo $0%^{10}$	Edema: Rosi 4-8 mg daily 25% compared with placebo 8% (<i>P</i> =0.005) ¹
Combination therapy	7% ¹¹ compared with 2% (SU) ^a 12.5% compared with 0% ¹⁶ (insulin) 14.1% compared with 3.4% ²¹ (insulin) ^a 8% compared with 2% (glyburide/metformin) ²	2.5% (4 mg), 3.5% (8 mg) compared with $1.6\%^{22}$ (MET) 4.1% compared with $<1\%^{3}$ (SU) ^a 5.2% compared with $0\%^{14}$ (MET) Legs: 9.5% (4 mg) ^a , 12.2% (8 mg) ^a compared with 0% Face: 4.1% (4 mg) ^a , 5.0% (8 mg) ^a compared with 0% (SU) ¹³ 23%(4 mg daily) compared with 9% placebo (with SU) ⁵
Fatigue		
Combination therapy	6% compared with 5%	5.9% compared with 4.0% ⁴
combination thorapy	(glyburide/metformin) ²	(MET)
Headache	5.3% compared with 0% ²³	
Monotherapy	12.4% compared with 10.1%°	
Combination therapy		4.9% compared with 7.9%° (SU) 6% compared with 9% ⁸ (SU) 6.5% compared with 8.9% ⁴ (MET)
Hyperglycemia		
Combination therapy		1% compared with 9% ⁸ (SU)
Combination therapy		5.3% (4 mg), 9.3% (2 mg), compared with 17.2% ²⁴ (SU)
Hypoglycemia Monotherapy	0% compared with 0% ¹⁸ 1.2% compared with 0% ⁹ 10% (30 mg), 11% (45 mg), compared with 11% ⁶ 28% compared with 20% ^{a15}	
Combination therapy	0% (15 mg), 3.8% (30 mg) compared with <1% ¹¹ (SU) 8% (15 mg), 15% (30 mg) ^a compared with 5% (insulin) ¹² 37.5% compared with 12.5% ¹⁶ (insulin) 63.4% compared with 51.0% ^a (insulin) ²¹ 53% compared with 25% (glyburide/metformin) ²	3.4% (2 mg), $5.3%$ (4 mg) compared with $2.0\%^{24}$ (SU) 5.1% compared with $2.9\%^3$ (SU) 12% compared with $6\%^8$ (SU) 2.6% (4 mg), $4.5%$ (8 mg) compared with $1.8\%^{22}$ Symptomatic: 32% (4 mg daily) compared with 27% placebo (with SU) ⁵
Influenza-like symptoms	2% (15 mg), 9% (30 mg) compared with 8% ⁷	
Combination therapy		10% compared with 14% ⁸ (SU)
Injury/accident	2% compared with 2% ¹⁵	

Adverse event	Pioglitazone compared with placebo	Rosiglitazone compared with placebo
Monotherapy	·	·
Combination therapy		0.9% (4 mg), 1.4% (8 mg) compared with 5.4% ¹³ (SU) 6.6% compared with 5.7% ³ (SU) 8% compared with 7.6% ⁴ (Metformin)
Liver function test abnormal (ALT>3 times ULN) Monotherapy	0.77% compared with 1.3% ¹⁵ 1.3% (7.5 mg, 2.4% (30 mg) compared with 1.3% ⁹	0.44% compared with $0\%^{25}$ 0% (2 mg), 0.6% (4 mg) compared with $0\%^{26}$ 0% compared with $0\%^{27}$ 0.14% compared with $0\%^{20}$
Combination therapy	0% compared with 0% ¹¹ (SU) 0% (15 mg), 0.5% (30 mg) compared with 0% ¹² (insulin) 0% pio 30 mg, 0% placebo ¹⁷ 1.7% compared with 0.5% % (glyburide/metformin) ²	0% compared with 0% ¹⁴ (Metformin)) 0% compared with 0.5% ³ (SU) 0% rosi (4 mg daily) and 0% placebo (with SU) ⁵
Nausea		
Combination therapy	6 compored with 70/	
	6 compared with 7% (glyburide/metformin) ²	
Paresthesia		
Combination therapy		6% compared with 3% ⁸ (SU)
Thrombocytopenia		
Monotherapy		
Combination therapy		4.1% (4 mg), 7.7 ^a (8 mg) compared with 3.6% ¹³ (SU)
URTI, rhinitis, sinusitis, bronchitis Monotherapy	3% (15 mg), 4% (30 mg) compared with 6% ⁷ 15.2% compared with 11.4% ⁹ URTI: 24 compared with 20% % (glyburide/metformin) ² Sinus abnormality: 11% compared with 9% (glyburide/metformin) ²	
Combination therapy		8% compared with 2% ⁸ (SU) 8.6% compared with 7.9% ³ (SU) 15.9% compared with 8.9% ^{a4} 16.7% (4 mg), 10.0% (8 mg) ^a compared with 5.4% ¹³ (SU)
Urinary tract infection, cystitis Monotherapy	6.7% (15 mg), 3.8% (30 mg) compared with 7% ⁷	
Combination therapy		9.0% (4 mg), ^a 10.9% (8 mg) ^a compared with 7.1% (SU) ¹³
Vision abnormal		
Monotherapy		
Combination therapy		2.3% compared with 0% (SU) ¹³
Abbreviations: MI, myocardial infar	ction; pio, pioglitazone; rosi, rosiglita	azone; SU, sulfonylurea

Abbreviations: MI, myocardial infarction; pio, pioglitazone; rosi, rosiglitazone; SU, sulfonylure ^a Significantly greater than placebo (*P*<0.05)

References for Appendix H

- 1. Dargie HJ, Hildebrandt PR, Riegger GA, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial assessing the effects of rosiglitazone on echocardiographic function and cardiac status in type 2 diabetic patients with New York Heart Association Functional Class I or II Heart Failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2007;49(16):1696-1704.
- 2. Dailey GE, Noor MA, Park JS, Bruce S, Fiedorek FT. Glycemic control with glyburide/metformin tablets in combination with rosiglitazone in patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomized, double-blind trial. *Am J Med.* 2004;116(4):223-229.
- **3.** Effects of rosiglitazone maleate when added to a sulfonylurea regimen in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and mild to moderate renal impairment: a post hoc analysis [computer program]. Version; 2003.
- 4. Jones TA, Sautter M, Van Gaal LF, Jones NP. Addition of rosiglitazone to metformin is most effective in obese, insulin-resistant patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 2003;5(3):163-170.
- 5. Rosenstock J, Goldstein BJ, Vinik AI, et al. Effect of early addition of rosiglitazone to sulphonylurea therapy in older type 2 diabetes patients (>60 years): the Rosiglitazone Early vs. SULphonylurea Titration (RESULT) study. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 2006;8(1):49-57.
- 6. Herz M, Johns D, Reviriego J, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, clinical trial of the effects of pioglitazone on glycemic control and dyslipidemia in oral antihyperglycemic medication-naive patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Clin Ther*. 2003;25(4):1074-1095.
- 7. Scherbaum WA, Goke B, German Pioglitazone Study G. Metabolic efficacy and safety of once-daily pioglitazone monotherapy in patients with type 2 diabetes: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Horm Metab Res.* 2002;34(10):589-595.
- **8.** Barnett AH, Grant PJ, Hitman GA, et al. Rosiglitazone in Type 2 diabetes mellitus: an evaluation in British Indo-Asian patients. *Diabet Med.* May 2003;20(5):387-393.
- **9.** Aronoff S, Rosenblatt S, Braithwaite S, Egan JW, Mathisen AL, Schneider RL. Pioglitazone hydrochloride monotherapy improves glycemic control in the treatment of patients with type 2 diabetes: a 6-month randomized placebo-controlled dose-response study. The Pioglitazone 001 Study Group. *Diabetes Care*. 12/26/2007 2000;23(11):1605-1611.
- **10.** Nishio K, Sakurai M, Kusuyama T, et al. A randomized comparison of pioglitazone to inhibit restenosis after coronary stenting in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. Jan 2006;29(1):101-106.
- **11.** Kipnes MS, Krosnick A, Rendell MS, Egan JW, Mathisen AL, Schneider RL. Pioglitazone hydrochloride in combination with sulfonylurea therapy improves glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomized, placebo-controlled study. *Am J Med.* 2001;111(1):10-17.
- **12.** Rosenstock J, Einhorn D, Hershon K, Glazer NB, Yu S. Efficacy and safety of pioglitazone in type 2 diabetes: a randomised, placebo-controlled study in patients receiving stable insulin therapy. *Int J Clin Pract.* 2002;56(4):251-257.
- **13.** Zhu XX, Pan CY, Li GW, et al. Addition of rosiglitazone to existing sulfonylurea treatment in chinese patients with type 2 diabetes and exposure to hepatitis B or C. *Diabetes Technol Ther.* 2003;5(1):33-42.
- **14.** Gomez-Perez FJ, Fanghanel-Salmon G, Antonio Barbosa J, et al. Efficacy and safety of rosiglitazone plus metformin in Mexicans with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* 2002;18(2):127-134.
- **15.** Dormandy JA, Charbonnel B, Eckland DJA, et al. Secondary prevention of macrovascular events in patients with type 2 diabetes in the PROactive Study (PROspective pioglitAzone Clinical Trial In macroVascular Events): a randomised controlled trial.[see comment]. *Lancet*. Oct 8 2005;366(9493):1279-1289.
- **16.** McMahon GT, Plutzky J, Daher E, Bhattacharyya T, Grunberger G, DiCarli MF. Effect of a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-(gamma) agonist on myocardial blood flow in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2005;28(5):1145-1150.
- **17.** Tseng CH, Huang TS. Pioglitazone with sulfonylurea: glycemic and lipid effects in Taiwanese type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* 2005;70(2):193-194.
- **18.** Rosenblatt S, Miskin B, Glazer NB, Prince MJ, Robertson KE. The impact of pioglitazone on glycemic control and atherogenic dyslipidemia in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Coron Artery Dis.* 2001;12(5):413-423.
- **19.** Belfort R, Harrison SA, Brown K, et al. A placebo-controlled trial of pioglitazone in subjects with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2006;355(22):2297-2307.
- **20.** Phillips LS, Grunberger G, Miller E, Patwardhan R, Rappaport EB, Salzman A. Onceand twice-daily dosing with rosiglitazone improves glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2001;24(2):308-315.
- **21.** Mattoo V, Eckland D, Widel M, et al. Metabolic effects of pioglitazone in combination with insulin in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus whose disease is not adequately controlled with insulin therapy: Results of a six-month, randomized, double-blind, prospective, multicenter, parallel-group study. *Clin Ther.* 2005;27(5):554-567.
- 22. Fonseca V, Rosenstock J, Patwardhan R, Salzman A. Effect of metformin and rosiglitazone combination therapy in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2000;283(13):1695-1702.
- **23.** Wallace TM, Levy JC, Matthews DR. An increase in insulin sensitivity and basal betacell function in diabetic subjects treated with pioglitazone in a placebo-controlled randomized study. *Diabet Med.* 2004;21(6):568-576.
- 24. Wolffenbuttel BH, Gomis R, Squatrito S, Jones NP, Patwardhan RN. Addition of lowdose rosiglitazone to sulphonylurea therapy improves glycaemic control in Type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabet Med.* 2000;17(1):40-47.
- **25.** Patel J, Anderson RJ, Rappaport EB. Rosiglitazone monotherapy improves glycaemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes: a twelve-week, randomized, placebo-controlled study. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 1999;1(3):165-172.
- **26.** Lebovitz HE, Dole JF, Patwardhan R, Rappaport EB, Freed MI, Rosiglitazone Clinical Trials Study Group. Rosiglitazone monotherapy is effective in patients with type 2 diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2001;86(1):280-288.
- 27. Nolan JJ, Jones NP, Patwardhan R, Deacon LF. Rosiglitazone taken once daily provides effective glycaemic control in patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabet Med.* 2000;17(4):287-294.

Monotherapy	Pioglitazone	Rosiglitazone
Total withdrawals	Pio: 1/22(4.5%); glipizide: 3/22 (13.6%) Agarwal 2005 ¹	Rosi 4 mg: 47/207 (22.7%); rosi 8 mg: 33/191 (17.3%); glibenclamide: 34/207 (16.4%) (Hanefeld 2007) ²
	Pio: NR; Glibenclamide: NR Heliovaara, 2007 ³	Rosi: 539/1456 (37%); metformin 551/1454 (37.9%); glyburide 634/1441 (44%) (Kahn 2006) ⁴
	Pio: 2/8 (25%); glipizide 0/11(0%) Basu, 2006 ⁵	
	Pio: 123/251 (49.0%); glyguride: 117/251(46.6%) Jain, 2006 ⁶	
	Pio: NR, gliclazide: NR Parriello, 2006 ⁷	
	Pio: 3/38 (7.9%); mettormin: 2/39 (5.1%); glimepiride 3/37(8.1%) Yamanouchi, 2005 ⁸	
Withdrawals due to adverse events	Pio: 0/22 (0%); glipizide: 0/22 (0%) Agarwal 2005 ¹	Rosi 4 mg: 12/200 (6%); rosi 8 mg: 9/191 (4.7%); glibenclamide: 13/207 (6.3%) (Hanefeld 2007) ²
	Pio: 0/8 (0%); glipizide 0/11(0%) Basu, 2006 ⁵	Rosi: 169/1456 (11.6%); metformin 178/1454 (12.2%); glyburide 215/1441 (14.9%) (Kahn 2006) ⁴
	Pio: NR; Glibenclamide: NR Heliovaara, 2007 ³	
	Pio: 14/251(5.57%); glyguride: 25/251(10%) Jain, 2006 ⁶	
	Pio: 7/140(5%); gliclazide: 11/135(8.1%) Parriello, 2006 ⁷	
	Pio: 1/46 (2.17%); glibenclamide 3/46 (6.5%) Teramoto, 2007 ⁹	
	Pio: 2/38 (5.3%); mettormin: 0/39 (0%); glimepiride 0/37 (0%)Yamanouchi, 2005 ⁸	
Subjects with severe AEs	Pio: 7/22 (31.8%); glipizide: 7/22 (31.8%) Agarwal 2005 ¹	Rosi: 346/1456 (23.8%); metformin 331/1454 (22.8%); glyburide 308/1441 (21.4%) (Kahn 2006) ⁴
	Pio: 23/251 (9.1%); glyguride: 22/251 (8.8%) Jain,2006 ⁶	
	Pio: NR gliclazide: NR Parriello,2006 ⁷	
Subjects with mild AEs	Agarwal 2005: NR Pio: 40/140 (28.6%); gliclazide: 31/135 (23%) (Parriello, 2006) ⁷	
Subjects with any AEs	Pio: NR; Glibenclamide: NR (Heliovaara 2007) ³	Rosi 4 mg: 150/200 (75%); rosi 8 mg: 144/191 (75.4%); glibenclamide: 144/207 (69.6%) (Hanefeld 2007) ²

Appendix I. Adverse events reported in active-control trials

	Pio: 205/251 (81.7%); glyguride: 209/251 (83.3%) (Jain 2006) ⁶	Rosi: 1338/1456 (91.9%); metformin 1341/1454 (92.2%); glyburide 1321/1441 (91.7%) (Kahn 2006) ⁴
	Pio: 30/46 (65.2%); glibenclamide 32/46 (69.6%) (Teramoto 2007) ⁹	
	Pio: 4/38 (10.5%); metformin: 0/39; glimepiride: 1/37 (2.7%) (Yamanouchi 2005) ⁸	
Death	Pio: 0/22 (0%); glipizide: 1/22 (4.5%)(Agarwal 2005) ¹	Rosi 4 mg: 0/200; rosi 8 mg: 0/191 (0%); glibenclamide: 0/207 (0%) (Hanefeld 2007)
	Pio: 0/8 (0%); glipizide 0/11 (0%) (Basu 2006) ⁵	Rosi: 34/1456 (2.3%); metformin 31/1454 (2.1%); glyburide 31/1441 (2.2%) (Kahn 2006) ⁴
	Pio: 0/251 (0%); glyguride: 2/251 (0.8%) (coronary heart disease and respiratory failure) (Jain 2006) ⁶	
	Pio: 0/140 (0%); gliclazide: 0/135 (0%) (Perriello 2006) ⁷	
	Pio: 0/38 (0%); metformin: 0/39; glimepiride: 0/37 (0%) (Yamanouchi 2005) ⁸	
Combination therapy	Pioglitazone	Rosiglitazone
	5	·····g·····
Total withdrawals	Pio: 2/17 (11.8%); metformin 3/18 (16.7%) (unknown % on gliclazide) (Sharma 2006) ¹⁰	Rosi: 1/47 (2.1%); glimepiride: 2/48 (4.2%) (metformin) (Derosa 2006, pg 197)
Total withdrawals	Pio: 2/17 (11.8%); metformin 3/18 (16.7%) (unknown % on gliclazide) (Sharma 2006) ¹⁰ Pio: 9/92 (9.8%); glimepiride: 6/87 (6.9%) (unknown % on other oral agents) (Pfutzner 2005) ¹¹	Rosi: 1/47 (2.1%); glimepiride: 2/48 (4.2%) (metformin) (Derosa 2006, pg 197) Rosi: 40/204 (19.6%); glyburide: 31/185 (16.8%) (metformin) (Bakris 2006) ¹²
Total withdrawals	Pio: 2/17 (11.8%); metformin 3/18 (16.7%) (unknown % on gliclazide) (Sharma 2006) ¹⁰ Pio: 9/92 (9.8%); glimepiride: 6/87 (6.9%) (unknown % on other oral agents) (Pfutzner 2005) ¹¹ Pio: 15/109 (13.8%); glimepiride: 11/101(10.9%) (metformin) (Umpierrez 2006) ¹³	Rosi: 1/47 (2.1%); glimepiride: 2/48 (4.2%) (metformin) (Derosa 2006, pg 197) Rosi: 40/204 (19.6%); glyburide: 31/185 (16.8%) (metformin) (Bakris 2006) ¹² Rosi: 25/158 (15.8%); glibenclamide: 29/160 (18.1%)(metformin) (Garber 2006) ¹⁴
Total withdrawals	Pio: 2/17 (11.8%); metformin 3/18 (16.7%) (unknown % on gliclazide) (Sharma 2006) ¹⁰ Pio: 9/92 (9.8%); glimepiride: 6/87 (6.9%) (unknown % on other oral agents) (Pfutzner 2005) ¹¹ Pio: 15/109 (13.8%); glimepiride: 11/101(10.9%) (metformin) (Umpierrez 2006) ¹³ Pio: 72/232 (31.0%); glimepiride 63/230 (27.4%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	Rosi: 1/47 (2.1%); glimepiride: 2/48 (4.2%) (metformin) (Derosa 2006, pg 197) Rosi: 40/204 (19.6%); glyburide: 31/185 (16.8%) (metformin) (Bakris 2006) ¹² Rosi: 25/158 (15.8%); glibenclamide: 29/160 (18.1%)(metformin) (Garber 2006) ¹⁴ Rosi: NR, no treatment: NR (for CV biomarkers study) (metformin) (Goldstein 2006) ¹⁶
Total withdrawals	Pio: 2/17 (11.8%); metformin 3/18 (16.7%) (unknown % on gliclazide) (Sharma 2006) ¹⁰ Pio: 9/92 (9.8%); glimepiride: 6/87 (6.9%) (unknown % on other oral agents) (Pfutzner 2005) ¹¹ Pio: 15/109 (13.8%); glimepiride: 11/101(10.9%) (metformin) (Umpierrez 2006) ¹³ Pio: 72/232 (31.0%); glimepiride 63/230 (27.4%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	Rosi: 1/47 (2.1%); glimepiride: 2/48 (4.2%) (metformin) (Derosa 2006, pg 197) Rosi: 40/204 (19.6%); glyburide: 31/185 (16.8%) (metformin) (Bakris 2006) ¹² Rosi: 25/158 (15.8%); glibenclamide: 29/160 (18.1%)(metformin) (Garber 2006) ¹⁴ Rosi: NR, no treatment: NR (for CV biomarkers study) (metformin) (Goldstein 2006) ¹⁶ Rosi: 8/45 (17.8%); metformin 9/47 (19.1%) (unknown % on sulfonylurea) (Stocker 2007) ¹⁷
Total withdrawals	Pio: 2/17 (11.8%); metformin 3/18 (16.7%) (unknown % on gliclazide) (Sharma 2006) ¹⁰ Pio: 9/92 (9.8%); glimepiride: 6/87 (6.9%) (unknown % on other oral agents) (Pfutzner 2005) ¹¹ Pio: 15/109 (13.8%); glimepiride: 11/101(10.9%) (metformin) (Umpierrez 2006) ¹³ Pio: 72/232 (31.0%); glimepiride 63/230 (27.4%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	Rosi: 1/47 (2.1%); glimepiride: 2/48 (4.2%) (metformin) (Derosa 2006, pg 197) Rosi: 40/204 (19.6%); glyburide: 31/185 (16.8%) (metformin) (Bakris 2006) ¹² Rosi: 25/158 (15.8%); glibenclamide: 29/160 (18.1%)(metformin) (Garber 2006) ¹⁴ Rosi: NR, no treatment: NR (for CV biomarkers study) (metformin) (Goldstein 2006) ¹⁶ Rosi: 8/45 (17.8%); metformin 9/47 (19.1%) (unknown % on sulfonylurea) (Stocker 2007) ¹⁷ Rosi: 292/2220 (13.2%); control: 313/2227(14.1%) (Home 2007 NEJM) ¹⁸
Total withdrawals	Pio: 2/17 (11.8%); metformin 3/18 (16.7%) (unknown % on gliclazide) (Sharma 2006) ¹⁰ Pio: 9/92 (9.8%); glimepiride: 6/87 (6.9%) (unknown % on other oral agents) (Pfutzner 2005) ¹¹ Pio: 15/109 (13.8%); glimepiride: 11/101(10.9%) (metformin) (Umpierrez 2006) ¹³ Pio: 72/232 (31.0%); glimepiride 63/230 (27.4%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	Rosi: 1/47 (2.1%); glimepiride: 2/48 (4.2%) (metformin) (Derosa 2006, pg 197) Rosi: 40/204 (19.6%); glyburide: 31/185 (16.8%) (metformin) (Bakris 2006) ¹² Rosi: 25/158 (15.8%); glibenclamide: 29/160 (18.1%)(metformin) (Garber 2006) ¹⁴ Rosi: NR, no treatment: NR (for CV biomarkers study) (metformin) (Goldstein 2006) ¹⁶ Rosi: 8/45 (17.8%); metformin 9/47 (19.1%) (unknown % on sulfonylurea) (Stocker 2007) ¹⁷ Rosi: 292/2220 (13.2%); control: 313/2227(14.1%) (Home 2007 NEJM) ¹⁸ Rosi: 25/62 (40.3%); repeglanide: 25/63 (39.7%); rosi+repeglanide: 21/127 (77.8%) (Raskin 2004) ¹⁹

	Pio: 1/92 (1.1%); glimepiride: 0/87	Rosi: 13/204 (6.4%); glyburide:
	(0%)	15/185 (8.1%) (metformin)
	(unknown % on other oral agents) (Pfutzner 2005) ¹¹	(Bakris 2006) ²
	Pio: 4/109 (3.7%); glimepiride:	Rosi: 2/158 (1.3%);
	1/101(10%) (metformin) (Umpierrez	glibenclamide: 9/160 (5.6%)
	2006) ¹³	(metformin) (Garber 2006) ¹⁴
	Pio: 26/230 (11.3%); glimepiride	Rosi: NR, no treatment: NR
	19/228 (8.3%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	(for CV biomarkers study)
		(metformin) (Goldstein 2006) ¹⁰
		Rosi: $4/45$ (8.9%); metformin
		7/47 (14.9%) (UNKNOWN % ON
		Bosi: 6/62 (9.7%): repedanide:
		4/63 (6.3%); rosi+repedianide:
		4/127 (3.1%) (Raskin 2004) ¹⁹
Any AEs	Pio: NR: metformin NR (unknown %	Rosi: 13/133 (9.8%): glvburide:
5	on gliclazide) (Sharma 2006) ¹⁰	17/124(13.7%) (metformin)
	o , x ,	(Bakris 2006) ¹²
	Pio: NR; glimepiride: NR	Rosi: 98/158 (62.0%);
	(unknown % on other oral agents)	glibenclamide: 108/160
	(Pfutzner 2005) ¹¹	(67.5%) (metformin) (Garber
		2006)
	PIO: 206/230 (89.6%); glimepiride	Rosi: 36/75 (48%); no
	203/228 (89.0%) (Mazzone 2006)	CV biomarkara atudy)
		(metformin) (Goldstein 2006) ¹⁶
		Rosi: NR: metformin NR
		(unknown % on sulfonvlureas)
		(Stocker 2007) ¹⁷
		Rosi: NR; repéglanide: NR;
		rosi+repeglanide: NR (Raskin
		2004) ¹⁹
Subjects with severe AEs	Pio: 7/109 (6.4%); glimepiride:	Rosi: 0/47 (0%); glimepiride:
	7/101(6.9%) (metformin) (Umpierrez	0/48 (0%) (metformin) (Derosa
	2006) ¹⁰ Dia: 25/220 (10.0%): glimonisida	2006, pg 197) ⁻²
	PIO: 25/230 (10.9%); giimepinde 30/228(13.2%) (Mazzapa 2006) ¹⁵	RUSI: $0/158 (0\%)$;
	30/220(13.270) (Mazzone 2000)	(overdose) (metformin)
		$(Garber 2006)^{14}$
-		Rosi: 0/75 (0%); no treatment:
		0/60 (0%) (for CV biomarkers
		study) (metformin) (Goldstein
		2006) ¹⁶
Subjects with mild AEs		Rosi: 4/47 (8.5%); glimepiride:
		6/48 (metformin) (Derosa
		2006, pg 197) ⁻⁰
		KOSI: 30/75 (3048%); NO
		CV biomarkers study)
		(metformin) (Goldstein 2006) ¹⁶
Death	Pio: 0/17 (0%): metformin 0/18	Rosi: 0/47 (0%): alimeniride:
	(0%)(unknown % on aliclazide)	0/48 (0%) (metformin) (Derosa
	(Sharma 2006) ¹⁰	2006, pg 197) ²⁰

Pio: 09/92 (9.8%); glimepiride: 0/87 (0%) (unknown % on other oral agents) (Pfutzner 2005) ¹¹	Rosi: 1/204 (0.5%); glyburide: 0/185 (0%) (metformin) (Bakris 2006) ¹²
Pio: 0/109 (0%); glimepiride: 0/101(0%) (metformin) (Umpierrez 2006) ¹³	Rosi: 0/158 (0%); glibenclamide: 0/160 (0%) (metformin) (Garber 2006) ¹⁴
Pio: 1/230 (0.4%)(pancreatic cancer); glimepiride 0/228 (0%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	Rosi: 0/75 (0%); no treatment: 0/60 (0%) (for CV biomarkers study) (metformin) (Goldstein 2006) ¹⁶
	Rosi: 0; metformin 0 (unknown % on sulfonylureas) (Stocker 2007) ¹⁷
	Rosi: 74/2220 (3.3%); control: 80/2227 (3.6%) (Home 2007 NEJM) ¹⁸

Adverse event	Pioglitazone	Rosiglitazone
Anemia Monotherapy		Change hematocrit: Rosi 4 mg: - 1.92%; rosi 8 mg: -3.33%; glibenclamide: NR (Hanefeld 2007) ²
		Hematocrit \geq 5 percentage points below reference rage (% of patients): Rosi: 2.8; metformin 1.5; glyburide: 1.0; rosi compared with metformin or glyburide P<0.001 (Kahn 2006) ⁴
Combination therapy	Pio: 0/17(0%); metformin 0/18 (0%)(unknown % on gliclazide) (Sharma 2006) ¹⁰	Rosi: 9/133 (6.8%); glyburide: 12/124(9.7%) (metformin) (Bakris 2006) ¹²
Arthralgia, myalgia, back pain, leg pain Monotherapy	Arthrlagia: Pio: 13/251(5.2%); glyguride: 19/251(7.6%)(Jain 2006) ⁶ Back pain: Pio: 12/251(4.8%); glyguride: 18/251(7.2%) (Jain 2006) ⁶ Pain in limb: Pio: 10/251(4%); glyguride: 14/251 (5.6%) (Jain 2006) ⁶	Back pain: Rosi 4 mg: 14/200 (7%); rosi 8 mg: 13/191(6.8%); glibenclamide: 13/207 (6.3%) (Hanefeld 2007) ²
Combination therapy	Arthralgia, extremity or back pain combined; Pio: 53/230 (23%); glimepiride: 53/228 (23.2%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	Rosi: 14/155 (9.0%); glibenclamide: 14/159 (8.8%) URTI (metformin) (Garber 2006) ¹⁴
		Backpain: Rosi: 2/62 (3.2%); repeglanide: 5/63 (7.9%); rosi+repeglanide: 10/127 (37.0%)
Cancer Monotherapy	Colon: Pio: 0/251(0%); glyguride: 2/251(0.8%) (Jain 2006) ⁶	
Combination therapy		

Adverse event	Pioglitazone	Rosiglitazone
Cardiac-related events Monotherapy	Arrhythmia: Pio: 0/22 (0%); glipizide: 1/22 (4.5%) (Agarwal 2005) ¹	Fatal MI: Rosi: $2/1456 (0.1\%)$; metformin $2/1454 (0.1\%)$; glyburide $3/1441(0.2\%)$ (Kahn $2006)^4$ Nonfatal MI: Rosi: $25/1456$ (1.7%); metformin $21/1454$ (1.4%); glyburide $15/1441(1.040)$ (Kahn $2006)^4$
	Any CV event: Pio: 22/251(8.8%); glyguride: 11/251(4.4%) (<i>P</i> =0.0478) (Jain 2006) ⁶ Myocardial infarct: Pio: 2/251(0.8%); glyguride: 2/251 (0.8%) (Jain 2006) ⁶	
	Pio: 6/140 (4.3%); gliclazide:	
	2006) Pio: 0/38 (0%); metformin: 0/39 (0%); glimepiride: 0/37 (0%) (Yamanouchi 2005) ⁸	
Combination therapy	Cardiac disorders not specified: Pio: 2/109 (1.8%); glimepiride: 3/101(3%)(metformin) (Umpierrez 2006) ¹³	
Congrotive heart failure	Nonfatal MI: Pio: 0/230 (0%); glimepiride 1/228 (0.4%) Coronary revascularization Pio: 3/230 (1.3%); glimepiride 8/228 (3.5%) PCI: Pio: 2/230 (0.9%); glimepiride 6/228 (2.6%) CABG: Pio: 1/230 (0.4%); glimepiride 2/228 (0.9%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵ CEA or stenting; hospitalization for unstable angina: none in either group	
Congestive heart failure Monotherapy	Pio: 2/22 (9.1%); glipizide: 2/22 (9.1%) (Agarwal 2005) ¹	Rosi: 22/1456 (1.5%); metformin 19/1454 (1.3%); glyburide 9/1441(0.6%); for adjudicated CHF (total 21 cases, rosi compared with glybiride P =0.26 HR rosi compared with glyburide: 2.23 (1.01 to 4.79) HR rosi compared with metformin: 1.22 (0.66 to 2.26) (Kahn 2006) ⁴
	Pio: 1/251 (0.4%); glyguride: 1/251 (0.4%)(Jain 2006) ⁶	

Adverse event	Pioglitazone	Rosiglitazone
Combination therapy	Pio: 2/92 (2.2%) (requiring hospitalization); glimepiride: 0/87 (unknown % on other oral agents) (Pfutzner 2005) ¹¹	Rosi: 0/45 (0%); metformin 0/47 (0%)(unknown % on sulfonylureas) (Stocker 2007) ¹⁷
	Pio: NR; glimepiride: NR (metformin) (Umpierrez 2006) ¹³	
	New CHF: Pio: 1/230 (0.4%); glimepiride 0/228 (0%) (no exacerbated CHF ineither group) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	
Constipation Monotherapy		
Combination therapy		Rosi: 4/75 (5.3%); no treatment: 0/60 (0%) (for CV biomarkers study) (metformin) (Goldstein 2006) ¹⁶
Cough Monotherapy		2000)
Combination therapy	Pio: 16/230 (7%); glimepiride 15/228 (6.6%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	
Diarrhea, flatulence Monotherapy	Pio: 15/251(5.8%); glyguride: 16/251(6.4%) (Jain 2006) ⁶	Rosi 4 mg: 11/200 (5.5%); rosi 8 mg: 5/191 (2.6%); glibenclamide: 7/207 (3.4%) (Hanefeld 2007) ²
		Rosi: 129/1456 (8.9%); metformin 345/1454 (23.7%); glyburide 142/1441(9.9%) (Kahn 2006) ⁴
Combination therapy	Pio: 5/109 (4.6%); glimepiride: 6/101(5.9%) (metformin) (Umpierrez 2006) ¹³	Rosi: 5/155 (3.2%); glibenclamide: 10/159 (6.3%)(metformin) (Garber 2006) ¹⁴
	Pio: 16/230 (7%); glimepiride 17/228 (7.5%)(Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	Diarrhea: Rosi: 4/75 (5.3%); no treatment: 6/60 (10%); flatulence rosi 6/75 (8%); no treatment 1/60 (1.7%) (for CV biomarkers study) (metformin) (Goldstein 2006) ¹⁶
Dizziness Monotherapy		
Combination therapy	Pio: 15/230 (6.5%); glimepiride 22/228(9.6%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	
Dyspnea Monotherapy		
Combination therapy	Pio: 3/92 (3.3%); glimepiride: 0/87(0%) (unknown % on other oral agents) (Pfutzner 2005, Forst 2005 Microcirculation) ^{11, 21}	
Edema Monotherapy	Pio: 2/8 (25%); glipizide 0/11(0%) (Basu 2006) ⁵	Rosi 4 mg: 7/200 (3.5%); rosi 8 mg: 17/191 (3.7%); glibenclamide: 4/207(1.9%) (Hanefeld 2007) ²

Adverse event	Pioglitazone	Rosiglitazone
	Pio: 20/251(8%); glyguride: 12/251(4.8%); 1 Pio subject discontinued because of edema (Jain 2006) ⁶	Rosi: 205/1456 (14.1%); metformin 104/1454 (7.2%); glyburide 123/1441 (8.5%); rosi compared with metformin or glyburide <i>P</i> <0.001 (Kahn 2006) ⁴
	Pio: 3/140 (2.1%); gliclazide: 1/135 (0.7%)(Perriello 2006) ⁷	
	Pio: 4/38 (10.5%) (2 discontinued study); metformin: 0/39 (0%); glimepiride: 0/37(0%) (Yamanouchi 2005) ⁸	
Combination therapy	Pio: 3/17 (17.6%); metformin 0/18 (0%) (unknown % on gliclazide) (Sharma 2006) ¹⁰	Rosi: 11/133 (8.3%); glyburide: 4/124 (3.2%)(metformin) (Bakris 2006) ¹²
	Pio: 21/92 (22.8%); glimepiride: 2/87 (2.3%) (unknown % on other oral agents) (Pfutzner 2005) ¹¹	Rosi: 8/45 (17.8%) (3 withdrew); metformin 0/47 (0%) (unknown % on sulfonylureas) (Stocker 2007) ¹⁷
	Pio: 4/109 (3.7%); glimepiride: 1/101(1%) (metformin) (Umpierrez 2006) ¹³	Rosi: 2/62 (3.2%); repeglanide: 0/63 (0%); rosi+repeglanide: 5/127 (4%) (Raskin 2004) ¹⁹
	Pio: 30/230 (13.0%); glimepiride 16/228 (7.0%)(Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	
Eye disorders Monotherapy		
Combination therapy	Unspecified: Pio: 3/109 (2.8%); glimepiride: 4/101(4%) (metformin) (Umpierrez 2006) ¹³	
Fatigue Monotherapy		
Combination therapy	Pio: 16/230 (7%); glimepiride 18/228 (7.9%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	Rosi: 1/62 (1.6%); repeglanide: 1/63 (1.6%); rosi+repeglanide: 7/127 (5.5%) (Raskin 2004) ¹⁹
Gastrointestinal, not otherwise specified Montherapy		Nausea + vomiting (combined): Rosi: 170/1456 (11.7%); metformin 254/1454 (17.5%); glyburide 144/1441 (10%) (Kahn 2006) ⁴
Combination therapy	Rosi: 0/45 (0%); metformin 15/47(31.9%) (6 withdrew) (unknown % on sulfonylureas) (Stocker 2007) ¹⁷	Rosi: 16/155 (10.3%); glibenclamide: 18/159 (11.3%) (overdose) (metformin) (Garber 2006) ¹⁴
		Rosi: 6/75 (8%); no treatment: 3/60 (5%) (for CV biomarkers study) (metformin) (Goldstein 2006) ¹⁶
Headache Monotherapy	Pio: 19/251(7.6%); glyguride: 22/251(8.8%) (Jain 2006) ⁶	Rosi: 2/47 (4.3%); glimepiride: 2/48 (4.2%)(metformin) (Derosa 2006, pg 197) ²⁰

Adverse event	Pioglitazone	Rosiglitazone
		Rosi 4 mg: 17/200 (8.5%); rosi 8 mg: 16/191 (7.9%); glibenclamide: 14/207 (6.8%) (Hanefeld 2007) ²
Combination therapy	Pio: 20/230 (8.7%); glimepiride 23/228 (10.1%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	Rosi: 12/155 (7.7%); glibenclamide: 9/159 (5.7%) URTI (metformin) (Garber 2006) ¹⁴
Hematology Monotherapy	Decreased hematocrit in Pio at 12m (<i>P</i> =0.005), NSD with gliclazide (Perriello 2006) ⁷	
Combined therapy		
Hyperglycemia Monotherapy		Rosi 4 mg: 11/200 (5.5%); rosi 8 mg: 3/191 (1.6%); glibenclamide: 3/207 (Hanefeld 2007) ²
Combination therapy		
Hypertension Monotherapy		
Combination therapy	Pio: 12/230 (5.2%); glimepiride 14/228 (6.1%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	
Hypoglycemia Monotherapy	Pio: 2/22 (9.0%); glipizide: 1/22 (4.5%) (Agarwal 2005) ¹	Rosi 4 mg: 1/200 (0.5%); rosi 8 mg: 3/191 (1.6%); glibenclamide: 25/207 (12.1%) (Hanefeld 2007) ²
	Pio: 11/251 (4.4%); glyguride: 61/251(24.3%) (<i>P</i> <0.001) (Jain 2006)	Rosi: 142/1456 (9.8%); metformin 168/1454 (11.6%); glyburide 557/1441 (38.7%); rosi compared with glyburide <i>P</i> <0.001 (Kahn 2006) ⁴
	Pio: 1/140 (0.7%); gliclazide: 2/135 (1.5%) (Perriello 2006) ⁷	
Combination therapy	Pio: 3/17 (17.6%) (undocumented); metformin 0/18(0%) (unknown % on gliclazide) (Sharma 2006) ¹⁰	Rosi: 2/133 (1.5%); glyburide: 23/124 (18.5%) (severity NR) (metformin) (Bakris 2006) ¹²
	Severe: Pio: 0/92 (0%); glimepiride: 0/87 (0%) (unknown % on other oral agents) (Pfutzner 2005) ¹¹ Hypoglycemia episodes: 21/92 (22.8%); glimepiride: 26/87 (29.9%)	Rosi: 41/155 (26.5%); glibenclamide: 116/159 (73%; all mild-moderate (metformin) (Garber 2006) ¹⁴
	Pio: $1/109 (0.9\%)$; glimepiride: 33/101 (32.7%), <i>P</i> =0.0001; no severe hypoglycemia in either group (metformin) (Umpierrez 2006) ¹³	Minor: Rosi: 1/62 (1.6%); repeglanide: 4/63 (6.3%); rosi+repeglanide: 11/127 (8.7%); RR rosi compared with combination therapy 0.17(0.02 to 1.3) Major: Rosi: 0/62 (0%); repeglanide: 0/63 (0%); rosi+repeglanide: 1/127 (0.8%) (Raskin 2004) ¹⁹

Adverse event	Pioglitazone	Rosiglitazone
	Pio: 0/38 (0%); metformin: 0/39; glimepiride: 1/37 (2.7%) (Yamanouchi 2005) ⁸	
	Pio: 45/230 (19.6%); glimepiride 53/228 (23.2%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	
Infection Monotherapy		
Combination therapy		Rosi: 5/75 (6.7%); no treatment: 1/60 (1.7%) (for CV biomarkers study) (metformin) (Goldstein 2006) ¹⁶
Influenza		
Combination therapy	Pio: 20/230 (8.8%); glimepiride 21/228 (9.2%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	
Injury/accident Monotherapy		Rosi 4 mg: 17/200 (8.5%); rosi 8 mg: 16/191 (8.4%); glibenclamide: 14/207 (6.8%) (Hanefeld 2007) ²
Combination therapy		Rosi: 2/75 (2.7%); no treatment: 4/60 (for CV biomarkers study) (metformin) (Goldstein 2006) ¹⁶
Liver function test abnormal (ALT>3 times ULN) Monotherapy	Pio: 1/251(0.4%) (discontinued drug); glyburide: 0/251 (0%) (Jain 2006) ⁶	No significant increases in any group: rosi 4 mg; rosi 8 mg; glibenclamide (Hanefeld 2007) ²
	Pio: 5/140 (3.8%); gliclazide: 5/135 (3.7%) (degree NR) (Perriello 2006) ⁷	(%) Rosi: 1.0; metformin 1.1; glyburide 0.8 (Kahn 2006) ⁴
	Pio: 0/38 (0%); metformin: 0/39 (0%); glimepiride: 0/37 (0%) (Yamanouchi 2005) ⁸	
Combination therapy	Pio: 1/17 (5.9%); metformin 0/18 (0%) (<3 times ULN) (unknown % on gliclazide) (Sharma 2006) ¹⁰	Rosi: 0/47 (0%); glimepiride: 0/48 (0%) (metformin); transient elevation 1.5 times normal in 3/47 rosi (6.4%) (Derosa 2006, pg 197) ²⁰
		Rosi: 2/155 (1.3%); glibenclamide: 3/159 (1.9%), drug not discontinued (metformin) (Garber 2006) ¹⁴
		Rosi: 0/62 (0%); repeglanide: 1/63 (1.6%); rosi+repeglanide: 0/127 (0%) (Raskin 2004) ¹⁹
Nausea		
Combined therapy	Pio: 14/230 (6.1%); glimepiride: 9/228 (3.9%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	Rosi: 1 0/62 (16.1%); repeglanide: 0/63 (0%); rosi+repeglanide: 6/127 (4.7%) (Raskin 2004) ¹⁹
Paresthesia		· · ·
monourierapy		

Adverse event	Pioglitazone	Rosiglitazone
Combination therapy		
Stroke Monotherapy		Rosi: 205/1456 (14.1%); metformin 104/1454 (7.2%); glyburide 123/1441(8.5%) (Kahn 2006) ⁴
Combination therapy	Nonfatal: Pio: 0/230 (0%); glimepiride 1/228 (0.4%) (Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	
Thrombocytopenia Monotherapy		
Combination therapy		
URTI, rhinitis, sinusitis, bronchitis Monotherapy	URTI: Pio: $32/251(12.7\%)$; glyguride: $31/251(12.4\%)$ (Jain 2006) ⁶ Sinusitis: Pio: $15/251(6\%)$; glyguride: $24/251(9.6\%)$ (Jain 2006) ⁶ Bronchitis: Pio: $19/251(7.6\%)$; glyguride: $8/251(3.2\%)$ (Jain 2006) ⁶	URTI: Rosi 4 mg: 6/200 (3%); rosi 8 mg: 12/191 (6.3%); glibenclamide: 13/207 (6.3%) (Hanefeld 2007) Various URT infections/symptoms (combined); Rosi 4 mg: 62/200 (31%); rosi 8 mg: 44/191 (23.0%); glibenclamide: 58/207 (28.0%) (Hanefeld 2007) ²
Combination therapy	URTI: Pio: 26/230 (11.3%); glimepiride; 20/228 (8.8%) Nasopharyngitis: Pio: 30/230 (13.0%); glimepiride 33/228 (14.5%)(Mazzone 2006) ¹⁵	Rosi: 22/155 (14.2%); glibenclamide: 21/159 (13.2%)URTI (metformin) (Garber 2006) ¹⁴
		Rosi: 10/75 (13.3%); no treatment: 6/60 (10%) (for CV biomarkers study) (metformin) (Goldstein 2006) ¹⁶
		URTI: Rosi: 3/62 (4.8%); repeglanide: 6/63 (9.5%); rosi+repeglanide: 16/127 (12.6%) Sinusitis, bronchitis combined: Rosi: 0/62 (0%); repeglanide: 3/63 (4.8%); rosi+repeglanide: 14/127 (11.0%) (Raskin 2004) ¹⁹
Urinary tract infection, cystitis Monotherapy		Rosi 4 mg: 18/200 (9%); rosi 8 mg: 6/191 (3.1%); glibenclamide: 10/207 (4.8%) (Hanefeld 2007) ²
Combination therapy		
Vision abnormal Monotherapy		
Combination therapy		
Weight gain (kg) Monotherapy	BMI: Pio: 0.5 (NR); Glibenclamide: 0.2 (NR) (Heliovaara 2007) ³	BMI: Rosi: -0.4(NR); glibenclamide: 1.2(NR) (Kulanovic 2006) ²²
	Pio: 3.66 (SD 6.138); glyguride: 1.95 (SE 5.354; P <0.001); 1 subject in each group discnotinued for weight gain (Jain 2006) ⁶	Rosi 4 mg: 1.75; rosi 8 mg: 2.95; glibenclamide: 1.90; rosi 8 compared with glibemclamide: P=0.01 (Hanefeld 2007) ²

Adverse event	Pioglitazone	Rosiglitazone
	Pio: 2; gliclazide: 2; <i>P</i> =0.005 both groups (Perriello 2006) ⁷	Difference at 4y: Rosi compared with metformin: 6.9 (6.3 to 7.4), P < 0.001 Rosi compared with glyburide; $2.5 (2.0 \text{ to } 3.1), P < 0.001 (Kahn 2006)^4$
	Pio: 0.9; metformin: 0.7; glimepiride: -0.2 (Yamanouchi 2005) ⁸	
Combination therapy	Pio: 4.35; metformin 1.5 (unknown % on gliclazide) (Sharma 2006) ¹⁰	Rosi: 1.94 (SE 4.63); glyburide: 1.50 (SE 3.53) (metformin) (Bakris 2006) ¹²
	BMI: Pio: 0.1(NR); glimepiride: - 1.3(NR), between-group <i>P</i> <0.001 (unknown % on other oral agents) (Pfutzner 2005) ¹¹	Rosi: 1.4; glibenclamide: 3.0; between-group <i>P</i> <0.001 (metformin) (Garber 2006) ¹⁴
	Rosi: 1.6(1.5); metformin - 2.0(1.4); between-group <i>P</i> =0.001 (unknown % on sulfonylureas) (Stocker 2007) ¹⁷	Rosiglitazone (background metformin): 2.3 (95% CI, 1.7 to 2.9) Rosiglitazone (background SU): 3.4 (3.9 to 4.0) SU (background metformin): 1.1 (0.6 to 1.6) Metformin (background SU): -0.9 (-1.4 to -0.4) (mean follow-up 3.75y) Home 2007 NEJM) ¹⁸
	Pio: 1.85(SE 0.38); glimepiride: 1.74(SE 0.41) (between-group <i>P</i> =0.84) (metformin) (Umpierrez 2006) ¹³	Rosi: 2.3; repeglanide: 1.6; rosi+repeglanide: 4.4 (Raskin 2004) ¹⁹

Abbreviations: ACC, American College of Cardiology; AEs, adverse events; ADA, American Diabetes Association; AHA, American Heart Association; BMI, body mass index; CHF, congestive heart failure; CVD, cardiovascular disease; DM2, type 2 diabetes mellitus; m, month(s); MI, myocardial infarction; NR, not reported; NSD, no significant difference; OR, odds ratio; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; pio, pioglitazone; RCTs, randomized controlled trials; rosi, rosiglitazone; RR, relative risk; SU, sulfonylurea; TVR, target vessel revascularization; TZD, thiazolidinedione; w, week(s); y, year(s).

References for Appendix I

- **1.** Agarwal R, Saha C, Battiwala M, et al. A pilot randomized controlled trial of renal protection with pioglitazone in diabetic nephropathy. *Kidney Int.* 2005;68(1):285-292.
- 2. Hanefeld M, Patwardhan R, Jones NP, Rosiglitazone Clinical Trials Study G. A one-year study comparing the efficacy and safety of rosiglitazone and glibenclamide in the treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Nutrition, metabolism, and cardiovascular diseases : NMCD.* 2007;17(1):13-23.

- **3.** Heliovaara MK, Herz M, Teppo AM, Leinonen E, Ebeling P. Pioglitazone has antiinflammatory effects in patients with Type 2 diabetes. *J Endocrinol Invest*. 2007;30(4):292-297.
- **4.** Kahn SE, Haffner SM, Heise MA, et al. Glycemic durability of rosiglitazone, metformin, or glyburide monotherapy. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2006;355(23):2427-2443.
- 5. Basu A, Jensen MD, McCann F, Mukhopadhyay D, Joyner MJ, Rizza RA. Effects of pioglitazone versus glipizide on body fat distribution, body water content, and hemodynamics in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2006;29(3):510-514.
- 6. Jain R, Osei K, Kupfer S, Perez AT, Zhang J. Long-term safety of pioglitazone versus glyburide in patients with recently diagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2006;26(10):1388-1395.
- 7. Perriello G, Pampanelli S, Di Pietro C, Brunetti P, Italian Pioglitazone Study G. Comparison of glycaemic control over 1 year with pioglitazone or gliclazide in patients with Type 2 diabetes. *Diabetic medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association*. 2006;23(3):246-252.
- 8. Yamanouchi T, Sakai T, Igarashi K, Ichiyanagi K, Watanabe H, Kawasaki T. Comparison of metabolic effects of pioglitazone, metformin, and glimepiride over 1 year in Japanese patients with newly diagnosed Type 2 diabetes. *Diabetic medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association*. 2005;22(8):980-985.
- **9.** Teramoto T, Yamada N, Shirai K, Saito Y. Effects of pioglitazone hydrochloride on Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Journal of atherosclerosis and thrombosis*. 2007;14(2):86-93.
- **10.** Sharma PK, Bhansali A, Sialy R, Malhotra S, Pandhi P. Effects of pioglitazone and metformin on plasma adiponectin in newly detected type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Clin Endocrinol.* 2006;65(6):722-728.
- **11.** Pfutzner A, Hohberg C, Lubben G, et al. Pioneer study: PPARgamma activation results in overall improvement of clinical and metabolic markers associated with insulin resistance independent of long-term glucose control. *Horm Metab Res.* Aug 2005;37(8):510-515.
- **12.** Bakris GL, Ruilope LM, McMorn SO, et al. Rosiglitazone reduces microalbuminuria and blood pressure independently of glycemia in type 2 diabetes patients with microalbuminuria. *J Hypertens*. 2006;24(10):2047-2055.
- **13.** Umpierrez G, Issa M, Vlajnic A. Glimepiride versus pioglitazone combination therapy in subjects with type 2 diabetes inadequately controlled on metformin monotherapy: results of a randomized clinical trial. *Curr Med Res Opin.* 2006;22(4):751-759.
- **14.** Garber A, Klein E, Bruce S, Sankoh S, Mohideen P. Metformin-glibenclamide versus metformin plus rosiglitazone in patients with type 2 diabetes inadequately controlled on metformin monotherapy. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 2006;8(2):156-163.
- **15.** Mazzone T, Meyer PM, Feinstein SB, et al. Effect of pioglitazone compared with glimepiride on carotid intima-media thickness in type 2 diabetes: a randomized trial. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association.* 2006;296(21):2572-2581.
- **16.** Goldstein BJ, Weissman PN, Wooddell MJ, Waterhouse BR, Cobitz AR. Reductions in biomarkers of cardiovascular risk in type 2 diabetes with rosiglitazone added to metformin compared with dose escalation of metformin: an EMPIRE trial sub-study. *Curr Med Res Opin.* 2006;22(9):1715-1723.

- **17.** Stocker DJ, Taylor AJ, Langley RW, Jezior MR, Vigersky RA. A randomized trial of the effects of rosiglitazone and metformin on inflammation and subclinical atherosclerosis in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Am Heart J.* 2007;153(3):445.e441-446.
- **18.** Home PD, Pocock SJ, Beck-Nielsen H, et al. Rosiglitazone evaluated for cardiovascular outcomes--an interim analysis.[see comment]. *N Engl J Med.* Jul 5 2007;357(1):28-38.
- **19.** Raskin P, McGill J, Saad MF, et al. Combination therapy for type 2 diabetes: repaglinide plus rosiglitazone. *Diabet Med.* 2004;21(4):329-335.
- **20.** Derosa G, Gaddi AV, Piccinni MN, et al. Differential effect of glimepiride and rosiglitazone on metabolic control of type 2 diabetic patients treated with metformin: a randomized, double-blind, clinical trial. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 2006;8(2):197-205.
- **21.** Forst T, Lubben G, Hohberg C, et al. Influence of glucose control and improvement of insulin resistance on microvascular blood flow and endothelial function in patients with diabetes mellitus type 2. *Microcirculation*. Oct-Nov 2005;12(7):543-550.
- **22.** Kulenovic I. Impact of rosiglitazone on glycaemic control, insulin levels and blood pressure values in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Medicinski arhiv.* 2006;60(3):179-181.